This thesis is presented for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy of The Universitá Politecnica delle Marche



DOCTORAL THESIS

Sustainable Improvement of Fertility of Acid Arenosols: Application of Phosphate Rock, Dolostone and Biochar

Author Rogério Borguete Alves Rafael (MSc in Environment and Natural Resource; BSc in Agronomic Engineering)

November 30th, 2017

UNIVERSITÀ POLITECNICA DELLE MARCHE

Department of Agriculture, Food and Environmental Sciences (D3A) Division: AGR/14 – Pedology



Ph.D. IN AGRICULTURE, FOOD AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE

Scientific field: Soil Science and Plant Nutrition

XVI (16°) edition (2014 – 2017)

Sustainable Improvement of Fertility of Acid Arenosol: Application of **Phosphate Rock, Dolostone and Biochar**

PhD Candidate: RAFAEL, Rogério Borguete Alves Supervisor: Prof. CORTI, Giuseppe (PhD)

Royer is Borguite A. Rof

Co-Supervisors: Prof. FERNÁNDEZ-MARCOS, Maria L. (PhD) & Dr. COCCO, Stefania (PhD)

Referees

Prof. FERNÁNDEZ-SANJURJO, Maria José (PhD) **Prof. WEINDORF, David (PhD)**

> The Coordinator of the PhD Program Prof. MEZZETTI, Bruno (PhD)

November 30th, 2017

This thesis is dedicated to my family: my sons ("Dhara Audrey Padil Rafael - Dharusca" and "Aaron Afro Padil Rafael") and wife ("Afiza Irene Salimo Padil Rafael")

Acknowledgements

First of all, I want to acknowledge GOD for giving health and strength to pursue this path, motivating me to be persistent on my goals. I want to acknowledge my parents "father: *Borguete Alves Rafael* and mother: *Lidia Cossa*", without you I couldn't even exist. Thank you for good education you provided to me since birth. I also want to acknowledge my family (my wife and sons) for sacrificing themselves during the period I was abroad.

Secondly, I want to express my deeply acknowledgement to my supervisors who become my family during the years of PhD course. Prof. Maria Luisa Fernández Marcos, without you I couldn't have finished MSc or meet the amazing Professors Giuseppe Corti "Beppe" and Stefania Cocco "Stefy", therefore I am very thankful for your support. Prof. Beppe and Stefy, thank you for teaching me much. I have improved my knowledge during this years' experience.

Thirdly, I want to acknowledge the "Applied Research and Multi-sectorial Program" (FIAM)" granted by Italian Cooperation and Development Agency (ICDA) to the Universidade Eduardo Mondlane, under project contract No. 5.2.1 for funding the research activities. Also, I want to acknowledge the Polytechnic University of Marche (Ancona, Italy) scholarship provided to me.

Finally, I want to acknowledge the Professors from PhD program and colleague Valeria Cardelli from UNIVPM, my graduate students (Andrea Salvucci, Hélio Dia Valentim, Leonardo Ngoca, and Ernest Mboya) for helping me during the establishment and monitoring the experiments.

Thank you very much for your support!

List of publications

International Journals

 <u>Rogério Borguete Alves RAFAEL</u>; Maria Luisa FERNANDEZ-MARCOS; Stefania COCCO; Maria Letizia RUELLO; David C. WEINDORF; Valeria CARDELLI, Giuseppe CORTI (*in press*). Assessment of potential nutrient release from phosphate rock and dolostone for application in acid soils. Pedosphere. doi: 10.1016/S1002-0160(17)60437-5

International Conferences/Workshops with Peer Review

- <u>Rogério Borguete Alves RAFAEL</u>; Maria Luisa FERNANDEZ-MARCOS; Stefania COCCO; Maria Letizia RUELLO; Flavio FORNASIER, Giuseppe CORTI (2017). Benefits of biochars for soil quality, nutrient use efficiency and cowpea growth in acid Arenosol. 1st World Conference on Soil and Water Conservation under Global Change (CONSOWA) – Lleida, Catalonia, Spain, from 12-16 June 2017.
- <u>Rogério Borguete Alves RAFAEL</u>; Giuseppe CORTI; Maria Luisa FERNANDEZ-MARCOS; David WEINDORF, Stefania COCCO, Valeria CARDELLI (2016). Chemical assessment of different sizes of fluoroapatite rock and dolostone with potential to be used in agriculture. 2016 ESSC Conference: "Soil - Our Common Future", held in Cluj-Napoca, Romania (15-18, June).

Others

 <u>Rogério Borguete Alves RAFAEL</u>; Maria Luisa FERNANDEZ-MARCOS; Stefania COCCO; Maria Letizia RUELLO; Valeria CARDELLI, Giuseppe CORTI (2016). Phosphorus availability to corn through interaction between biochar, phosphate rock and dolostone in acidic sandy soil. 41° Congresso Nazionale. Ancona, 5-7 dicembre 2016.

Thesis Declaration

I, Rogério Borguete Alves Rafael, certify that:

 \checkmark This thesis has been substantially accomplished during enrolment in the degree.

 \checkmark This thesis does not contain material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in my name, in any university or other tertiary institution.

 \checkmark No part of this work will, in the future, be used in a submission in my name, for any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution.

 \checkmark This thesis does not contain any material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text.

 \checkmark The work(s) are not in any way a violation or infringement of any copyright, trademark, patent, or other rights whatsoever of any person.

✓ The work described in this thesis was funded by Applied Research and Multi-sectorial Program" (FIAM)" granted by Italian Cooperation and Development Agency (ICDA) to the Universidade Eduardo Mondlane, under the project contract No. 5.2.1.

 \checkmark This thesis contains published work and/or work prepared for publication.

Royer is Borguste A. Rof Signature:

Date: 30th November 2017

Abstract

Tropical acid soils are infertile and low nutrient content. In Mozambique the use of lower fertilizer rates, shifting cultivation, and rain fed agriculture lead to food insecurity and soil deterioration. Implementation of practical, low-cost and result oriented long-term strategies that address the need of poor farmers and for sustainable long-term care of the soil are of paramount importance. Soil application of rock fertilizers/amendments has the advantage of slow nutrient release with benefit of liming. Biochar as organic amendment can improve soil properties and reduce trace metal availability. In this study, we aim to: i) investigate the feasibility of phosphate rock and dolostone; ii) assess the effects of simultaneous application of phosphate rock, dolostone, and biochar on soil fertility improvement; and iii) assess the role of biochars in improving NPK fertilizer efficiency. Laboratory and pot experiments were established to assess the reactivity, nutrients release, and agronomic performance of rocks and biochar with an acid Arenosol. The soils were separated in rhizosphere and bulk soils to understand nutrients and metal dynamics in the soil-plant systems. Soil and plant parameters were determined following standard methods.

These rocks are slow release fertilizer and potential source of P, Ca, and Mg with benefit of liming in acid soils. Higher pH in phosphate rock and biochar treatment increased activities of C, N, and P related enzymes. We demonstrated that rhizosphere is an active environment that regulates nutrient availability through activation of extracellular enzymes. Application of phosphate or dolostone to acid Arenosols fails to improve soil fertility, but it dramatically improves if applied in combination with biochar. Therefore, corn and cowpea yield increased dramatically. Cowpea yield was the same with full or half dose of NPK for each biochar type. Yield increase reflect increased profit and food security, but further evaluation on field conditions assessing both agronomic effectiveness and economic benefit is necessary to validate these results.

Sommario

I suoli tropicali sono poco fertili a causa della loro acidità e del basso contenuto di nutrienti. In Mozambico il ridotto uso di fertilizzanti, l'agricoltura itinerante e la non irrigazione riducono le rese e deteriorano il suolo. È di primaria importanza intraprendere pratiche a basso costo, orientate verso strategie a lungo termine di un uso sostenibile del suolo. L'applicazione di rocce fosfatiche e dolomite come fertilizzanti/ammendanti ha il vantaggio di un lento rilascio di nutrienti, mentre il biochar è un ammendante organico che può migliorare le proprietà del suolo e ridurre la disponibilità di metalli pesanti. In questo studio, gli scopi sono stati: i) investigare l'impiego di roccia fosfatica e dolomite; ii) valutare l'effetto di una applicazione simultanea di roccia fosfatica, dolomite e biochar sul miglioramento della fertilità del suolo; iii) valutare il ruolo del biochar sul miglioramento dell'efficacia di fertilizzanti NPK. Esperimenti di laboratorio e in vaso hanno permesso di valutare reattività, rilascio di nutrienti e performances agronomiche di rocce e biochar su suoli acidi.

Il suolo su cui sono stati svolti gli esperimenti è stato anche separato in bulk e rizosfera per comprendere le dinamiche di nutrient e metallic pesanti nel Sistema suolo-pianta. Le rocce rilasciano lentamente nutrienti quali P, Ca e Mg, e aumentano il pH di suoli acidi. Incrementi di pH e aggiunte di biochar aumentano l'attività di enzimi coinvolti nei cicli di C, N e P. La rizosfera, inoltre, regola la disponibilità di nutrienti attivando enzimi extracellulari. Al contrario, l'applicazione di roccia fosfatica o dolomite non migliora la fertilità del suolo se non in combinazione con biochar. I test sono stati effettuati su mais e fagiolo dall'occhio, le cui rese sono sensibilmente aumentate. Il fagiolo dall'occhio mostra un uguale rendimento con dose intera o dimezzata di NPK per ogni tipo di biochar. L'aumento delle rese si traduce in maggiori profitti e una maggiore sicurezza alimentare. Ulteriori valutazioni in campo sono necessarie per validare i risultati.

Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	II
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	III
THESIS DECLARATION	IV
ABSTRACT	V
SOMMARIO	VI
CONTENTS	VII
INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK	VIII
CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION	- 1 -
1.1. Background and context	- 2 -
1.2. Agro-geological practices as sustainable fertilizer or amendments sources	- 3 -
1.2.1. Phosphate rock as slow release fertilizer	- 4 -
1.2.2. Calcareous rock as amendment to acid soils	- 7 -
1.3. Biochar as organic amendment	- 8 -
1.4. Methods to study phosphate rock, calcareous rock and biochar	- 10 -
1.5. Research questions, objectives and hypothesis	- 12 -
1.5.1. Research questions	- 12 -
1.5.2. Objectives	- 13 -
1.5.3. Hypothesis	- 13 -
1.6. Thesis structure	- 14 -
Bibliography	- 15 -
CHAPTER 2 - PHOSPHATE AND CALCAREOUS ROCK ASSESSMENT	- 27 -
CHAPTER 3 - PHOSPHATE ROCK, DOLOSTONE, AND BIOCHAR APPLICATION TO A	N ACID
ARENOSOL	- 56 -
CHAPTER 4 - BIOCHAR AND PHOSPHATE ROCK – IMPLICATION ON SOIL BIOLOGIC	CAL AND
BIOCHEMISTRY PROPERTIES	- 97 -
CHAPTER 5 - BENEFITS OF BIOCHAR FOR SOIL QUALITY	- 142 -
CHAPTER 6 - DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	- 185 -

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION

1.1. Background and context

The increase of food production is paramount to eradicate food insecurity in developing countries (Agegnehu and Amede, 2017). Therefore, exploring natural resources such as soils is the immediate alternative to fulfill this goal (Nkonya and Mirzabaev, 2016). Soils can provide food and fiber, but also a wide range of other essential ecosystem services, such as carbon sequestration, water purification, etc. (Materechera, 2001; Wang et al., 2014; Nkonya and Mirzabaev, 2016). However, soil deterioration due unsustainable practices can lead to decrease of soil fertility and functions (Materechera, 2001; Sosibo et al., 2017). For example, excess of ploughing and hoeing can accelerate organic matter decomposition, losses of nutrients and soil particles through increased erosion and leaching (Materechera, 2001). Loss of organic matter can occur if agriculture is practiced on poor infertile soils without sufficient application of manure or fertilizer, leading to soil deterioration and decreased production (Jones et al., 2013). The impact of soil deterioration depends on type of soil and farming system (Kassa et al., 2017).

Tropical sandy soils are generally infertile due to the low water retention capacity, soil organic matter, and nutrients (Lahmar et al., 2012; Fujii et al., 2017). These soils are susceptible to further acidification due to their low acid neutralization capacity (Sposito, 2008). Soils with sandy texture have inherently low available water capacity and high air capacity, and are not conducive for crop production (Jeffery et al., 2015; Obia et al., 2016). Arenosols also has low aggregate stability (Molnár et al., 2015). In Mozambique, these types of soil cover ~ 40% of South region (Gouveia and Azevedo, 1949). Cultivation of annual crops under these sandy soils would require management of inputs that generally are not economically justifiable (FAO, 2015), but in large areas they are the only soils available for agriculture.

In Mozambique, the use of fertilizers by farmers is low and has been estimated by TIA¹ to be, on average, 3 kg ha⁻¹ per Mozambican farmer (Benson et al., 2012; Rafael and Nhancale, 2013). This value is lower than the average fertilizer dose in African countries (e.g. 8 kg ha⁻¹) and even much lower than the target value set by the African Union in the Abuja Declaration (12 June 2006) to increase average rate to at least 50 kg ha⁻¹ in African countries by 2015 (NEPAD², 2011; Zandamela, 2013). Inorganic fertilizers are one of the production factors that boost agricultural productivity (Stancheva et al., 2004; Karaivazoglou et al., 2007; Zahoor et al., 2017). In this context, the

¹ TIA – Agrarian Inquiry Survey

² NEPAD – New Partnership for Africa Development

production process should include this input to ensure a good harvest. Low fertilizer rate, shifting cultivation, and rain-fed agriculture in Mozambique stressed cultivation conditions leading to failure of the agriculture system, and increases the risk of malnutrition and food insecurity (Jones et al., 2016). For instance, corn (*Zea mays* L.), rice (*Oryza sativa* L.), and bean (*Vigna unguiculata*) yields in the ranges ~ 0.7-1.3 ton ha⁻¹, 0.6-1 ton ha⁻¹ and 0.3-0.6 ton ha⁻¹, which have potential yields above 4.5 ton ha⁻¹, 4.5 ton ha⁻¹ and 1 ton ha⁻¹ respectively, to farming families that own properties with 3 hectares (Cunguara, 2013; TIA, 2007).

Therefore, the continuous exportation of essential nutrients through the harvest of food crops leads to soil nutrient depletion and acidification (Agegnehu and Amede, 2017). Also, some soils have inherently low fertility because overly "infertile" rock formations (Van Straaten, 2006). Since agriculture is the basic activity and sustains 90% of the Mozambican population (TIA, 2007), the country is dependent on the discovery of low-cost technologies that can boost agricultural production (Van Straaten, 2006). Soil fertility restoration must be the starting point to reverse both the current trend of pressure on land and soil degradation (Bekunda et al., 2002; Malavolta, 2006; Van Straaten, 2006; Prochnow, 2010; Van Raij, 2011).

1.2. Agro-geological practices as sustainable fertilizer or amendments sources

Implementation of practical, low-cost and result-oriented long-term strategies that address the needs of poor farmers and for sustainable long-term care of the soil are of paramount importance (Van Straaten, 2006). The application of agro-geological practices is one of the biophysical tools that can tackle long-term soil related problems (Van Straaten, 2002; 2006). Tropical soils are mainly depleted of macronutrients such as N, P, and K (Buresh et al., 1997). Therefore, while N can be obtained from the air by biological nitrogen fixation (BNF) and organic sources, P and K and others plant nutrients must be provided from rocks and minerals (Zahran, 1999; Salvagiotti et al., 2008). For instance, feldspars are alkali aluminosilicates and important sources of K, Ca and Na (Lee et al., 1998), while mica group minerals also can be a source of K, Mg, Zn and Mn (Gilkes et al., 1972). Apatite minerals are a source of P and Ca to plants (Dorozhkin, 2002; 2012). Conversely, limestone and dolomite are source of Ca and Mg to plants (Liu et al., 2005). These phosphate rock fertilizers has liming effect in acid soils (Harley and Gilkes, 2000; Van Straaten, 2006). Unfortunately, phosphate rocks are not abundant among soil parent materials and are not evenly distributed throughout the world; therefore, phosphorus has to be applied in the form of fertilizer in most

agricultural soils.

Phosphate rocks are more effective in tropical environments due the high temperatures and moisture regime which play a key role in rock dissolution; but, at the same time, the soils are depleted, high rates of weathering and leaching, highly receptive addition of nutrients (Gilman et al., 2000; 2002). Rock fertilizers have the advantages of providing a large number of macronutrients (e.g. P, K, Ca, and Mg), micronutrients (e.g. Cu, Zn, and Mn) and beneficial elements (e.g. Si) (Epstein, 1999; Van Straaten, 2006). However, the effectiveness of rock fertilizers in agriculture has been questioned due to conflicting experimental data, and the generally low reactivity and subsequent low availability of nutrients to plants, as well as the practicability of applying large amounts of ground rock to soils (Bolland and Baker, 2000; Harley and Gilkes, 2000).

In soils the mineral dissolution is enhanced by disequilibrium between the soil solution and the mineral phases, resulting from removal by processes such as leaching and nutrient uptake by plants (Hinsinger et al., 1995). In addition, rhizosphere processes and other biological activity may further increase mineral dissolution through the release of H⁺ ions and complexing organic compounds, which react with mineral surfaces (Hinsinger, 1998; Harley and Gilkes, 2000). Therefore, understanding these surface reactions may lead to preparative methods to enhance nutrient release mineral surface. The mineralogical and geochemical processes determining the pathways and the rate limiting reactions that Control nutrient release from rocks are well documented (Harley and Gilkes, 2000; Davis et al., 2007; Dorozhkin, 2012; Oliva et al., 2012) however, limited information has been reported regarding nutrient release to plants from rock powders applied to tropical acid soils.

Rock fertilizers represent inexpensive and environmentally sound fertilizer options for farmers in areas of the world with infertile soils and suitable climates (Khasawneh and Doll, 1979; Appleton, 2002). Therefore, with the right choice of locally available rock materials for the right soils, these materials have to local agriculture, especially when modified or blended with locally available organic resources (Van Straaten, 2006; Biswas, 2010).

1.2.1. Phosphate rock as slow release fertilizer

Phosphate rock is the major raw material used to produce all water soluble phosphate fertilizers (Van Kauwenbergh, 2001a). Direct application of phosphate rock to soils has the advantage of slow nutrient release to plants due its low reactivity (Msolla et al., 2005; Biswas, 2010), in addition to the considerable savings involved. Depending on the origin and its geological history, apatite minerals have widely differing chemical and mineralogical characteristics and physical properties (Bao et al.,

2016; Kirkland et al., 2017; Prokopyev et al., 2017). The mineralogical, chemical, and textural characteristics of phosphate ores and concentrates determines the suitability the ore and suitability for use as direct application fertilizer (Reijnders, 2014). For instance, phosphate rock from igneous deposit are low in grade and contain apatite of fluoroapatite ($Ca_{10}(PO_4)_6F_2$) and hydroxyapatite ($Ca_{10}(PO_4)_6OH_2$) varieties that are relatively unreactive and must be ground very finely for direct application (Van Kauwenbergh, 2001a, b). Conversely, sedimentary deposits are high grade, reactive, and most suitable for direct application (Msolla et al., 2007). Sedimentary phosphate rock that has been subjected to a deep pressure and perhaps shearing forces and /or heat maybe further form metamorphic phosphate rock, which assume most of the characteristics of igneous phosphate rock (Van Kauwenbergh, 2001a). High temperature igneous minerals are associated with igneous apatite deposits, while clastic sedimentary minerals such as quartz and clays or biological or chemical precipitates such as carbonates are associated with sedimentary phosphate rock (Van Kauwenbergh, 2001a).

Ground rock has been recommended as slow release fertilizer for highly weathered soils and leaching environments where soluble fertilizer may be easily removed (Maene, 2001; Van Straaten, 2006). Direct application of ground phosphate rock is suitable on tropical acid soils as low-cost alternative where local deposit of phosphate are located (Chien, 2001) Several studies have reported the increased agricultural yield by direct application of phosphate rock fertilizers (Vanlauwe et al., 2000; Weil, 2000; Msolla et al., 2005; Odongo et al., 2007; Chien et al., 2010). Husnain et al. (2014) reported an improvement of soil fertility and corn yield by direct application of Moroccan phosphate rock to an Ultisol under field conditions. Szilas et al. (2007) demonstrated that Minjingu phosphate rock from Tanzania can replace the triple superphosphate (TSP) in acid, severely weathered tropical soils low to very low available P and exchangeable Ca. Biswas (2010) showed an improvement of soil fertility and potatoe yield after application of compost and low grade phosphate rock in an Inceptisol. These results demonstrated the opportunity of making use of this resource for direct application in acid tropical soils, mainly for poor farmers that cannot afford water-soluble fertilizers. Low grade phosphate rock can be modified to increase agronomic effectiveness (Weil, 2000; Van Straaten, 2006).

Low cost modification of low grade phosphate rock include fine grinding, blending, and phosphocomposting (Van Straaten, 2006). Blending phosphate rock with locally produced fertilizer, pelleting, combining with cattle manure and composting showed an increase of corn yield in Zimbabwe (Dhliwayo, 1999). In Kenya combining Minjingu phosphate rock with an organic source enriched with N and K such as shrub *Tithonia diversifolia* obtained similar yields as those found with urea and TSP (Sanchez et al., 1997). Promising results on phosphate fertilizer production were found by Biswas and Narayanasamy (2006), who produced an organic compost enriched with high reactivity phosphate rock. Odongo et al. (2007) demonstrated that the application of organic compost enriched with phosphate rock provided an increase in available phosphorus and crop yield in different soils, with higher performance than TSP. It is possible to increase the reactivity of phosphate rock through bio-solubilisation with bacteria and /or fungi inoculation (phosphate rock solubilizing microorganisms (PRSM)) (Van Straaten, 2006). For instance, Nahas et al. (1990) succeeded in the production of phosphate biological fertilizers (PBF) through solubilisation of natural phosphates with *Aspergillus niger* combined with bagasse. Also, Ghani et al. (1994) produced PBF 15 times more soluble than phosphate rock through solubilisation with elemental sulphur and *Thiobacilli* bacteria population in growth medium. Kaur and Reddy (2015) demonstrated that the production of PBF is a more cost effective alternative compared with the use of diammonium phosphate (DAP) and can replace DAP in sustainable production systems.

The mechanism behind the increase in PBF reactivity was reported by Kpomblekou and Tabatabai (2003), Goyne et al. (2006; 2010) and Calvaruso et al. (2013), who explained that the increase in PBF reactivity is associated with production of rhizospheric acids (low molecular weight organic acids) by the phosphate solubilizing microorganisms. Other examples of success have been found by Asomaning et al. (2009) through production of phosphate fertilizers by 50% partial acidification of phosphate rock with sulphuric acid, resulting in phosphate fertilizer with efficiency equivalent to TSP. This combinations of modified P sources and organic sources provide a slow release fertilizer and multi-nutrient input to a deficient acid soil (Van Straaten, 2006; Odongo et al., 2007). There is a synergy to combine organic resources with phosphate rock, resulting in an organic fertilizer with better properties when compared to their individual sources (Nishanth and Biswas, 2008). This practice of using locally available organic sources in combination with P sources including available phosphate rock brought approximately 150000 families in Western Kenia out of poverty (Sanchez, 2002).

In Mozambique, apart from numerous small guano deposits, there are large phosphate deposits of metamorphic, igneous, and sedimentary origins (Appleton, 2002; Van Straaten, 2002). The large phosphate deposit is located in Monapo district, in Evate, 100 km east of Nampula province close to Nacala Port (Van Straaten, 2002). The Evate apatite/magnetite/biotite occurs in the oval-shaped Monapo structure composed of a metasedimentary sequence of biotite and graphitic gneiss with two

separate marble horizons (Van Straaten, 2002). Preliminary reserve estimates indicate a resource of ~ 155,413,000 tonnes of apatite ore with 9.32% P₂O₅, 5.76% Fe, and 1.12% TiO₂ (Ministry of Mineral Resources and Energy, 1997). The reserve was calculated to be at 100 m depth above sea level, and with ~14.5 million tonnes of P₂O₅, being one of the largest phosphate deposit in east-central Africa (Appleton, 2002; Van Straaten, 2002). Sedimentary phosphate deposits have been reported near Magude, 29 km northwest of Maputo province on the left bank of Incomati river (Manhiça, 1991; Van Straaten, 2002). Guano deposits also have been reported in several regions of the country, the Cheringoma (Sofala province) deposit the largest guano accumulations with ~ 600,000 tonnes (5.14% P₂O₅, 2.74% NO₃, and 1.37% K₂O) estimated reserve, followed by Buzi (Sofala province) with ~ 132,700 tonnes (3.88% P₂O₅, 3.26% NO₃, and 1.52% K₂O), and Vilanculos (Inhambane province) deposits with ~ 22,000 tonnes (8 to 13% P₂O₅) (Manhiça, 1991). The use of local natural rocks for direct application can also be less costly and sustainable alternative to reduce the dependence on imported soluble fertilizers (Sanchez, 2000). These resources are not being used for agriculture purposes, neither been reported studies assessing their agronomic effectiveness in Mozambique.

1.2.2. Calcareous rock as amendment to acid soils

Calcareous rock has been considered a viable strategy to increase crop productivity in acid soils (Anikwe et al., 2016; Carmeis Filho et al., 2017). Application of calcareous rocks to acid soils can correct soil acidity and consequently increase crop yield (Flower and Crabtree, 2011; Raboin et al., 2016). There are two main types of carbonates rocks, which are dolomites (CaMg(CO₃)₂) and limestones (CaCO₃) (Bucher and Grapes, 2011). These rocks normally occurs evaporite environments particularly in phanerozoic sediments (e.g. limestones and siliceous dolomites) or metamorphic origin, widely associated with orogenic belts (e.g. dolomitic marbles and calcitic marbles) (Bucher and Grapes, 2011). Dominant mineralogy of sedimentary carbonates rocks include mainly dolomite, calcite, and quartz, while metamorphic ones have also dolomite or calcite marbles with water bearing minerals in the pores (Bucher and Grapes, 2011; Liu et al., 2005). Generally, dolomite forms through the chemical alteration of calcite or aragonite as these minerals are thermodynamically unstable (Al-Awadi et al., 2009). Higher porosity and permeability are expected to be preserved in dolostone than in limestone because the supporting framework of dolomite crystals provides greater compressive strength, therefore the limestone is more susceptible to compaction (Gillott, 1963; Churcher et al., 1991; Al-Awadi et al., 2009; Luhmann et al., 2014).

The reactivity of calcareous rock is affected by the heterogeneous surface reaction of the rock and

mass transport of ions from the rock surface to solution via diffusion (Liu et al., 2005). The dissolution of dolomite is more homogeneous determined by surface reaction and is lower than limestone (Davis et al., 2007; Pokrovsky et al., 2009; Yasuda et al., 2013). A thorough understanding of carbonate rock dissolution is paramount to the successful application to the soil as amendment, with significant environmental and geochemical implications (Xu et al., 2013). Application of calcareous rock to acid soils is the most feasible cost-effective strategy for alleviating soil acidity, and for correcting chemical deficiencies (Carmeis Fihlo et al., 2016). In countries that cannot afford costly fertilizers, the exploitation of their own rock outcrops is a possible alternative (Appleton 2002; Van Straaten 2002; 2006; Odongo et al., 2007).

In Mozambique, limestone/dolomite resources are sedimentary, metamorphic and igneous (Van Straaten, 2002). Extremely large sedimentary deposits of limestones are found in Cheringoma south of Inhaminga (Sofala province) with at least 100 millions tonnes, followed by Salamanga (South of Maputo), and near Nacala along the coast between Tanzania border and Pemba (Van Straaten, 2002). Metamorphic limestone and dolomite resource are mainly found in north and central Mozambique, 50 km north of Lichinga (Niassa province) (Pinna et al., 1993), north and northwest of Tete province in the Massamba and Monte Muande area, in Monapo structures (Nampula province), and at Lurio river near Namapa (Van Straaten, 2002). The main igneous limestone/dolomite are found at Muande (Tete province) and Xiluvo (Sofala province), with complex of carbonate rock (Gittins, 1966; Markwich, 1996). These calcareous resources are mainly used by cement industry, and limited information is available regarding the use in agriculture. Application of limestone/dolomite to acid soils has advantage of increasing soil pH, resulting in precipitation of trace metals, and availability of other nutrients and crop yield (Van der Perre et al., 2012).

1.3. Biochar as organic amendment

Biochar is a solid product obtained through pyrolysis of biomass at temperatures between 300 to 900 °C intended to be used as soil amendment (Lehmann et al., 2011; Enders et al., 2012). Biochar can be produced via slow pyrolysis (SP), fast pyrolysis (FP), and gasification (G), in which feedstock biomass is combusted from minutes to h at 350-800 °C in absence of oxygen, for two seconds at 425-550 °C in absence of oxygen, and from seconds to h at > 800 °C in presence of oxygen, for SP, FP, and G respectively (Hussain et al., 2017). Recently biochar has been proposed as soil amendment to increase soil fertility and mitigate climate change (Chan et al., 2007; Lehmann et al., 2011; Wang et

al., 2015).

Application of biochar to soil can increase soil C storage (Steinbeiss et al., 2009; Yao et al., 2015), and improve soil physical (aggregation, porosity, water retention), chemical (pH, cation exchange capacity (CEC), nutrients sorption and desorption, etc.), soil biological (soil microbial biomass, root nodulation, mycorrhiza colonization, etc.) and biochemical (enzyme activities) properties, and reduce trace metal availability (Warnock et al., 2007; Xu et al., 2014; Wiszniewska et al., 2016; Ajayi and Horn, 2017; Hussain et al., 2017). Also, the efficiency of fertilizer may be enhanced by biochar application, due sorption properties of biochar, and subsequent reduction of N, P, and K leaching (Borchard et al., 2014). Recently it has been reported biochar application leads to immobilization of soil contaminants, thereby limiting their bioavailability and phytotoxicity (Wiszniewska et al., 2016). The greatest chemical difference between biochar and other organic matter is the much larger proportion of aromatic C and the occurrence of condensed aromatic structures (Lehmann et al., 2011).

These properties of biochar strongly depend on pyrolysis conditions and types of feedstock (Jindo et al., 2014; Purakayastha et al., 2015). Brunn et al. (2012) found lower pH and particle size, higher surface area in wheat straw biochar produced by FP compared with SP. Biochar produced by SP and FP differ in their physicochemical properties and different behaviour in soil (Brewer et al., 2009; Hussain et al., 2017). SP is a conversion technique that maximizes the yield of biochar per unit of feedstock (Borchard et al., 2014). The temperature of pyrolysis also affects biochar properties (Hussain et al., 2017). Rafiq et al. (2016), demonstrated that the C concentration in corn stover biochar increased from 45 to 65% with increasing of pyrolysis temperatures (from 300 to 500 °C), and higher stability of biochar was found at 500 °C. Higher pyrolysis temperatures causes higher ash content, pH, surface basicity, specific surface area, and mineral element concentrations, while lower surface acidity, CEC and nitrogen concentrations (Zhang and Wang, 2015). Particle size of biochar decreases with the increase of pyrolysis temperatures from 450-700 °C (Downie et al., 2009). Karunanithi et al. (2015) found higher total N, organic carbon, but low C/N ratio and total P and K concentrations in biochar produced at low temperature (300 °C).

The type of feedstock used for producing biochar may also affect overall properties of biochar in soils (Farrell et al., 2013; Jindo et al., 2014). Different biochars can induce different soil chemical and microbial community structure changes (Muhammad et al., 2014). Naisse et al. (2014) found very low proportion of rye grass (*Dactylus glomerata*) biochar mineralized compared with plant material. Similar found by Calderón et al. (2015) using corn residue biochar. Soil CEC of manure

based biochar is higher compared with wood (*Eucalyptus*) biochar (Singh et al., 2010) however, woodchip biochar application in soil results in higher hydraulic conductivity than manure biochar (Lei and Zhang, 2012). Enders et al. (2012) reported that wood biochar has higher volatile matter than non-wood biochars. The biochar derived from rice material normally has high ash content at all temperature ranges probably due the high Si concentration in rice plants, which is strongly related with ash in biochar (Jindo et al., 2014). Purakayastha et al. (2015) reported that corn biochar enhanced N and P concentration in soil, wheat biochar increased available K in soil, and rice husk biochar being relatively labile in soil fuelled the proliferation of microbial biomass, and thereby enhanced the physiological efficiency of microbes measured in terms of dehydrogenase activity. Therefore, biochar properties must be well understood as a function of pyrolysis conditions and type of feedstock in order to match the soil needs with the appropriate biochar type.

1.4. Methods to study phosphate rock, calcareous rock and biochar

Several analytical methods are used to evaluate rock samples in order to provide an integrated approach (Rajan et al., 1992; Szilas et al., 2008). Microscopic analytical methods include optical microscopy and scanning electron microscopy to identify mineral species, type of mineral particles, and examine the texture of consolidated rocks and grain size of various components (Pecher et al., 2003; Szmaja, 2013). These techniques are used to identify minerals that have very fine crystal structures (Chien, 2001). Conversely, mineral phases can be identified using X ray diffraction (XRD) spectroscopy, which is broadly used for qualitative and semi-quantitative mineral identification (Das and Hendry, 2011; Louër, 2017). Copper Ka radiation is often used to irradiate powder packs of samples and the diffracted X-rays are analyzed in terms of the angles at which they are emitted and intensity (number of counts at angular increments) (Szilas et al., 2008; Louër, 2017). Mineral phases in biochar can also be determined by XRD (Domingues et al., 2017). In case minerals cannot be identified using the previous methods, scanning electron microscopy method (SEM) can be very useful when coupled with energy dispersive X –ray analysis (EDX) (Korte et al., 2017; Šorša et al., 2017). Electron beam can be focused on small particles in order to generate X-ray, which in turn are analyzed to give a qualitative or semi-quantitative estimate of the chemical composition of rock sample (Korte et al., 2017). Elemental analysis in rocks can be determined using wet extraction methods or portable X-ray fluorescence (PXRF) procedure as reported by Weindorf and Chakraborty (2016).

Phosphate rock reactivity (solubility) is determined by extracting P concentration using neutral ammonium citrate (NAC), 2% citric acid, and 2% formic acid (Rajan et al., 1992; Chien et al., 2011). Citric acid can underestimate phosphate rock reactivity if the phosphate rock contains significant amount of free carbonates (calcite/dolomite) resulting in Ca common ion depressive effect (Chien et al., 2011). The suitability of phosphate rock for direct application can be determined using these extractants (Rajan et al., 1992). The methods vary depending on the extraction media used and the specific extraction procedure, and the variables in the extraction procedure may include size fractions, amount of sample, temperature of shaker bath, length of time the sample is agitated in shaker bath (Chien et al., 2011). A single extraction dissolution method generally does not assess the mid to long-term reactivity of phosphate rock (Chien et al., 2011). In addition, the reactivity feedback of rock particle size during a single extraction procedure most related with presence of easily dissolvable mineral surfaces probably activated during the grinding process (Truong and Fayard, 1995; Zapata and Roy, 2004), which could overestimate the nutrient release efficiency. Because of this, the use of dissolution experiments could be the most appropriate for assessing the mid to long-term reactivity of phosphate rock for direct appropriate for assessing the mid to long-term reactivity of phosphate rock for direct appropriate for assessing the mid to long-term reactivity of phosphate rock for direct appropriate for assessing the mid to long-term reactivity of phosphate rock for direct appropriate for assessing the mid to long-term reactivity of phosphate rock for direct appropriate for assessing the mid to long-term reactivity of phosphate rock for direct appropriate for assessing the mid to long-term reactivity of phosphate rock for direct applications, but is time consuming (Truong and Fayard, 1995).

Total carbonates determination is based on neutralization of samples by titrated acid, and all present minerals (calcite, dolomite, magnesite, etc.) in the samples will be dissolved (Pansu and Gautheyrou, 2006). The reactivity of calcareous rock can also be determined by using low molecular weight organic acids (LMWOA) such as acetic acid, citric acid, formic acid, etc. (Sengul et al., 2006). These LMWOAs are produced in soil as plant exudates from dead or living cells or microbial metabolites (Kpomblekou-A and Tabatabai, 2003; Wei et al., 2011). Therefore, the LMWOAs play a paramount role in plant rhizosphere processes (Sokolova, 2015). Thus, the reactivity of calcareous rock in LMWOAs helps to predict possible rhizosphere processes (Hinsinger et al., 2006). Calcareous rock reactivity in soil is determined by measuring the active carbonate by titration of excess of ammonium oxalate remaining after the attack of samples with ammonium oxalate under standard time conditions for attack and agitation (Pansu and Gautheyrou, 2006). The application of LMWOAs and dissolution trials to assess the mid to long-term reactivity represents a new perspective in calcareous rock research.

Biochar total C, O, H, N, S concentration can be determined by elemental analyzer equipments (e.g.: Thermo Flash EA-1112; Thermo Flash EA-1110, Carlo Erba Instruments, etc.) at 1020 °C (Graber et al., 2010; Jeffery et al., 2015; Raya-Moreno et al., 2017). Easily oxidizible organic C (EOOC) can be determined by using the Walkey and Black procedure (Agegnehu et al., 2016; Raya-

Moreno et al., 2017). Inorganic C in biochar can be determined by titration with acid (Wang et al., 2014), and the recalcitrant organic C in soil can be estimated by subtracting the EOOC from TOC (Suárez-Abelenda et al., 2015). Biochar reactivity can be determined by using LMWOAs as in the case of rock materials (Zhang et al., 2016). Biochar physical attributes (ash and volatile matter) contents are determined by ASTM³ D 1762-84 protocol, in which samples are dried at 105 °C, then volatilized at 950 °C, before finally being combusted at 750 °C (Jindo et al., 2014; Jeffery et al., 2015). Volatile matter refers to an ASTM standard methodology that was developed to evaluate the quality of coals as fuel, and is only beginning to be evaluated as a material property with explanatory value for biochar stability (Lehmann et al., 2011). Methods for biochar characterization still need standardization as in the case of soil or plants samples (Raya-Moreno et al., 2017). Other technics such as thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) and nuclear magnetic resonance (¹³C - NMR) analysis can be applied to understand the thermal decomposition and mass loss at different temperatures and the type of functional groups of organic matter in biochar, respectively (Jindo et al., 2014; Antunes et al., 2017). These technics are useful to identify and quantify the organic compounds responsible for biochar recalcitrance (Zhang et al., 2015).

1.5. Research questions, objectives and hypothesis

1.5.1. Research questions

1. How the reactivity of phosphate and calcareous rock with different grain sizes and acidneutralising agents during the selected reaction times as long-term estimation?

2. What combination phosphate rock, calcareous rock, and biochar improve the fertility of an acid Arenosol and P availability to corn?

3. What is the implication of application of high rates of phosphate rock to an acid Arenosol microbial community and trace metal availability to different crops, and how biochar help prevent potential negative effects?

4. How different feedstocks affect biochar properties, and how these biochars contribute for acid Arenosol fertility improvement and reducing inorganic fertilizer?

Rogério Borguete Alves Rafael, PhD Thesis

³ Standard Test Method for Chemical Analysis for Wood Charcoal

1.5.2. Objectives

The final objective of this study is to increase the productivity of corn and cowpea in Mozambique by improving the fertility of acid Arenosol by applying local phosphate, calcareous rocks, and biochar, contributing to the improvement of livehood of rural population.

1. To investigate the feasibility of using phosphate rock and dolostone from local sources in Mozambique, ground to different grain sizes (0.063-0.25, 0.25-0.5, and 0.5-2 mm), as sources of P, Ca, and Mg;

2. To assess in pot experiments the effects of the simultaneous application of phosphate rock (as sparingly soluble P source), dolostone (as liming material), and biochar (contributing soluble P and retaining capacity) from local sources in Mozambique on acid Arenosol chemical and biochemical improvement, phosphorus flows and uptake, growth and yield of corn (*Zea mays* L.);

3. To assess the contribution of pH and root-induced changes to alteration in soil biochemical and biological properties mediated by phosphate rock and biochar application to acid Arenosol;

4. To determine in pot experiments the effect of biochars in combination with NPK fertilizer on acid Arenosol chemical and biochemical improvement, nutrients use efficiency, growth and yield of cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L.).

1.5.3. Hypothesis

1. In the first specific objective we hypothesize that both rocks will provide substantive nutrient release in support of agronomic production and that finer particle size will facilitate enhanced solubility.

2. In the second specific objective: a) Since in acid Arenosol crop yields are low, the use of phosphate and calcareous rocks and biochar should improve soil chemical and biochemical properties and, as a result, corn yield will increase. In fact, the overall increase of pH and improvement of soil properties should directly or indirectly increase nutrient availability and decrease nutrient leaching (because of biochar), so to improve soil fertility; b) The response of the soil enzyme activity should be enzyme specific, as reported by Hussain et al. (2017); c) Since plants can exudate phosphatases and organic molecules to mobilize organic P and increase the availability of P from phosphate rock and biochar (Marschner et al., 2004; Hinsinger et al., 2006; Neumann and Römheld 2012), the rhizosphere should affect differently than the bulk soil the enzyme activity patterns to increase availability of P.

3. In the third specific objective we hypothesized that simultaneous application of phosphate rock and biochar can improve soil biochemical quality, and biochar addition would synergistically reduce the negative impact of high dose of phosphate rock; response of soil enzyme activity, respiration, and microbial C will be crop specific and that rhizosphere processes would affect differently enzyme activity patterns;

4. In the fourth specific objective we hypothesized that biochars will affect significantly soil properties which will increase NPK fertilizer efficiency and cowpea yield, while reducing environmental problems due the leaching of nutrients. Nutrient contents and recalcitrance of biochars will determine their interaction with soil and influence on plant growth.

1.6. Thesis structure

The following thesis chapters (5) report the research made during years of PhD course which was prepared as independent manuscript. These chapters refer to:

✓ *Chapter 2* – Reports the activities made to respond the specific objective 1. Here we focused on laboratory characterization of both phosphate and calcareous rock;

✓ *Chapter 3* – Reports the activities made on specific objective 2. Soil fertility improvement and agronomic effectiveness of various combination of phosphate and calcareous rock and biochar assessed in pot trials with corn (*Zea mays* L., cultivar: MRI594 - Hybrid white early maturity);

✓ Chapter 4 – Reports the activities made on specific objective 3. Soil biological and biochemical response due the application of high rate of phosphate rock, biochar, as well the corn (Zea mays L., cultivar: MRI594 - Hybrid white early maturity) and cowpea (Vigna unguiculata, cultivar: IT98K-1105-5 early maturity cultivar) yield response is assessed in pot trials;

✓ *Chapter 5* – Reports the activities made on specific objective 4. Soil fertility improvement and agronomic effectiveness of different biochars and inorganic fertilizer is assessed in pot trials with cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata*, cultivar: IT98K-1105-5 early maturity cultivar);

✓ *Chapter 6* – Reports the final consideration of the research made summarizing the main findings from chapters 2, 3, 4, and 5.

Bibliography

Agegnehu, G., Amede, T. 2017. Integrated soil fertility and plant nutrient management in tropical agro-ecosystems: A Review. *Pedosphere*. **27**:662–680.

Agegnehu, G., Nelson, P.N., Bird, M.I. 2016. The effects of biochar, compost and their mixture and nitrogen fertilizer on yield and nitrogen use efficiency of barley grown on a Nitisol in the highlands of Ethiopia. *Sci. Total Env.* **569**:869-879.

Ajayi, A.E., Horn, R. 2017. Biochar-induced changes in soil resilience: effects of soil texture and biochar dosage. *Pedosphere*. **27**:236–247.

Al-Awadi, M., Ray Moore, W., Clark, W.J., Herron, M., Zhang, T., Zhao, W., Hurley, N., Kho, D., Montaron, B., Sadooni, F. 2009. Dolomite: Perspectives on Perplexing Mineral. *Oilf. Rev.* **21**:32–45. Anikwe, M.A.N., Eze, J.C., Ibudialo, A.N. 2016. Influence of lime and gypsum application on soil properties and yield of cassava (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz.) in a degraded Ultisol in Agbani, Enugu Southeastern Nigeria. *Soil Till. Res.* **158**:32–38.

Antunes, E., Schumann, J., Brodie, G., Jacob, M. V., Schneider, P.A. 2017. Biochar produced from biosolids using a single-mode microwave: Characterisation and its potential for phosphorus removal. *J. Env. Manage.* **196**:119–126.

Asomaning, S., Abekoe, M., Owusu-Bennoah, E. 2009. Phosphate rock dissolution and availability in some soils of semi-deciduous Rainforest Zone of Ghana. West African *J. Appl. Ecol.* 10. doi:10.4314/wajae.v10i1.45715

Bao, B., Webster, J.D., Zhang, D.H., Goldoff, B.A., Zhang, R.Z. 2016. Compositions of biotite, amphibole, apatite and silicate melt inclusions from the Tongchang mine, Dexing porphyry deposit, SE China: Implications for the behavior of halogens in mineralized porphyry systems. *Ore Geol. Rev.* 79:443–462.

Benson, T., Cunguara, B., Mogues, T. 2012. The supply of inorganic fertilizers to smallholder farmers in mozambique. Evidence for fertilizer policy development. IFPRI. 40pp.

Biswas, D.R. 2010. Nutrient recycling potential of rock phosphate and waste mica enriched compost on crop productivity and changes in soil fertility under potato-soybean cropping sequence in an Inceptisol of Indo-Gangetic Plains of India. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecos.* **89**:15–30.

Biswas, D.R., Narayanasamy, G. 2006. Rock phosphate enriched compost: an approach to improve low-grade Indian rock phosphate. *Bioresour. Technol.* **97**:2243–2251.

Bolland, M.D.A., Baker, M.J. 2000. Powdered granite is not an effective fertilizer for clover and wheat in sandy soils from Western Australia. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecos.* **56**:59–68.

Borchard, N., Siemens, J., Ladd, B., Möller, A., Amelung, W. 2014. Application of biochars to sandy and silty soil failed to increase maize yield under common agricultural practice. *Soil Till. Res.* **144**, 184–194.

Brewer, C.E., Schmidt-Rohr, K., Satrio, J.A., Brown, R.C. 2009. Characterization of biochar from fast pyrolysis and gasification sys- tems. *Env. Prog. Sust. Ener.* **28**:386–396

Bruun, E.W., Ambus, P., Egsgaard, H., Hauggaard-Nielsen, H. 2012. Effects of slow and fast pyrolysis biochar on soil C and N turnover dynam- ics. Soil Biol Biochem 46:73–79.

Bucher K., Grapes R. 2011a. Metamorphism of Pelitic Rocks (Metapelites). In: Petrogenesis of Metamorphic Rocks. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Bucher, K., Grapes, R. 2011b. Petrogenesis of Metamorphic Rocks 8th Edition, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling. Springer-Verlag Berlin. 414p. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-74169-5

Buresh, R.J., Smithson, P.C., Heliums, D.T. 1997. Building soil phosphorus capital in Africa. In: Buresh, R.J., Sanchez, P.A., Calhoun, F. (eds.). Replenishing soil Fertility in Africa. Soil Science Society of America, Madison, Wisconsin, USA, 111–149. doi:10.2136/sssaspecpub51.c6

Calderón, F.J., Benjamin, J., Vigil, M.F., 2015. A comparison of corn (*Zea mays* L.) residue and its biochar on soil C and plant growth. *PLoS One*. 10:1–16.

Calvaruso, C., Turpault, M.P., Frey-Klett, P., Uroz, S., Pierret, M.C., Tosheva, Z., Kies, A. 2013. Increase of apatite dissolution rate by scots pine roots associated or not with burkholderia glathei PML1(12) Rp in open-system flow microcosms. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta.* **106**:287–306.

Carmeis Fihlo, A., Crusciol, C., Guimaraes, T., Calonegro, J., Mooney, S. 2016. Impact of amendments on the physical properties of soil under tropical long-term: No till conditions. *PLOS one*. **11(12)**: 1-21.

Carmeis Filho, A.C.A., Crusciol, C.A.C., Castilhos, A.M. 2017. Liming demand and plant growth improvements for an Oxisol under long-term no-till cropping. *J. Agric. Sci.* 1–20.

Chan, K.Y., Van Zwieten, L., Meszaros, I., Downie, A., Joseph, S. 2007. Agronomic values of green waste biochar as a soil amendment. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* **45**:629–634.

Chien, S.H. 2001. IFDC'S Evaluation of modified phosphate rock products. In (eds): IFDC (2001). Direct application of phosphate rock and related appropriate technology – Latest developments and practical experience. Proceeding of an International Meeting. pp.49-62.

Chien, S.H., Prochnow, L.I., Mikkelsen, R. 2010. Agronomic use of phosphate rock for direct application. *Better Crop.* **4**:21–23.

Chien, S.H., Prochnow, L.I., Tu, S., Snyder, C.S. 2011. Agronomic and environmental aspects of

phosphate fertilizers varying in source and solubility: An update review. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecos.* **89**:229–255.

Churcher, P.L., French, P.R., Shaw, J.C., Schramm, L.L. 1991. Rock properties of Berea sandstone, baker dolomite, and Indiana limestone. SPE International Symposium of Oilfield Chemistry held in Anahein, California, USA.

Cunguara, B., Garrett, J., Donovan, C., Cassimo, C. 2013. Análise situacional, constrangimentos e oportunidades para o crescimento agrário em Moçambique. Relatório de Pesquisa 73P. Maputo, Moçambique: Direcção de Economia, Ministério de Agricultura. 86pp.

Das, S., Hendry, M.J. 2011. Application of Raman spectroscopy to identify iron minerals commonly found in mine wastes. *Chem. Geol.* **290**:101–108.

Davis, K.J., Nealson, K.H., Lüttge, A. 2007. Calcite and dolomite dissolution rates in the context of microbe-mineral surface interactions. *Geobiology*. **5**:191–205.

Dhliwayo, D.D. 1999. Evaluation of agronomic poten- tial and effectiveness of Zimbabwe (Dorowa) phos- phate rock-based fertilizer materials. Ph.D. thesis. University of Zimbabwe.

Domingues, R.R., Trugilho, P.F., Silva, C.A., De Melo, I.C.N.A., Melo, L.C.A., Magriotis, Z.M., Sánchez-Monedero, M.A. 2017. Properties of biochar derived from wood and high-nutrient biomasses with the aim of agronomic and environmental benefits. *PLoS One*. **12**:1–19.

Dorozhkin, S.V, 2012. Dissolution mechanism of calcium apatites in acids: A review of literature. *World J. Meth.* **2**:1–17.

Dorozhkin, S.V. 2002. A review on the dissolution models of calcium apatites. *Prog. Cryst. Growth Charact. Mater.* **44**:45–61.

Downie, A., Crosky, A., Munroe, P. 2009. Physical properties of biochar. In: Lehmann J, Joseph S (eds) Biochar for environmentalmanagement: science and technology. Earthscan, London, pp 13–32.

Enders, A., Hanley, K., Whitman, T., Joseph, S., Lehmann, J. 2012. Characterization of biochars to evaluate recalcitrance and agronomic performance. *Bioresour. Tech.* **114** :644–653.

Epstein, E. 1999. Silicon. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 641-664.

Farrell, M., Kuhn, T.K., Macdonald, L.M., Maddern, T.M., Murphy, D. V., Hall, P. a., Singh, B.P., Baumann, K., Krull, E.S., Baldock, J.A. 2013. Microbial utilisation of biochar-derived carbon. *Sci. Total Env.* 465:288–297.

Flower, K.C., Crabtree, W.L. 2011. Soil pH change after surface application of lime related to the levels of soil disturbance caused by no-tillage seeding machinery. *Field Crop. Res.* **121**:75–87.

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). 2015. World reference base for soil resources 2014. International soil classification system for naming soils and creating legends for soil maps. Rome, Italy.

Fujii, K., Hayakawa, C., Panitkasate, T., Maskhao, I., Funakawa, S., Kosaki, T., Nawata, E. 2017. Acidification and buffering mechanisms of tropical sandy soil in northeast Thailand. *Soil Till. Res.* **165**:80–87.

Ghani, A., Rajan, S.S.S., Lee, A. 1994. Enhancement of phosphate rock solubility through biological processes. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **26**:127–136.

Gilkes, R.J., Young, R.C., Quirk, J.P. 1972. The oxidation of octahedral iron in biotite. *Clays Clay Miner*. **20**:303–315.

Gillman GP, Buekkett DC., Coventry RJ. 2000. A laboratory study of application of basalt dust to highly weathered soils: effects ion soil cation chemistry. *Austr. J. Soil Res.* **39**:799–811.

Gillman, G.P., Burkett, D.C., Coventry, R.J. 2002. Amending highly weathered soils with finely ground basalt rock. *Appl. Geoch.* **17**: 987–1001.

Gillott, J.E., 1963. Petrology of Dolomitic Limestones, 759–778.

Gittins, J. 1966. Summaries and bibliographies of carbonatite complexes. In: Turtle OF and J Gittins (eds.) Carbonatites. Interscience Publ. New York, 417-570.

Gouveia, D.H., Azevedo, E.A. 1949. Caracteristicas e distribuição dos solos de Moçambique: I – Carta provisória dos solos do sul do Save; II – Esboço Pedologico da Colónia de Moçambique. Trabalhos do Centro de Investigação Científica Algodoeira, Moçambique.

Goyne, K.W., Brantley, S.L., Chorover, J. 2006. Effects of organic acids and dissolved oxygen on apatite and chalcopyrite dissolution: Implications for using elements as organomarkers and oxymarkers. *Chem. Geol.* **234**:28–45.

Goyne, K.W., Brantley, S.L., Chorover, J. 2010. Rare earth element release from phosphate minerals in the presence of organic acids. *Chem. Geol.* **278**:1–14.

Graber, E.R., Harel, Y.M., Kolton, M., Cytryn, E., Silber, A., David, D.R., Tsechansky, L., Borenshtein, M., Elad, Y. 2010. Biochar impact on development and productivity of pepper and tomato grown in fertigated soilless media. *Plant Soil*. 337:481–496.

Harley, A.D., Gilkes, R.J. 2000. Factors influencing the release of plant nutrient elements from silicate rock powders: A geochemical overview. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecos.* **56**:11–36.

Hinsinger, P. 1998. How Do Plant Roots Acquire Mineral Nutrients? Chemical Processes Involved in the rhizosphere, Advances in Agronomy. Elsevier Masson SAS. doi:10.1016/S0065-

2113(08)60506-4

Hinsinger, P., Bolland, M.D.A., Gilkes, R.J. 1995. Silicate rock powder: effect on selected chemical properties of a range of soils from Western Australia and on plant growth as assessed in a glasshouse experiment. *Fertil. Res.* **45**:69–79.

Hinsinger, P., Plassard, C., Jaillard, B. 2006. Rhizosphere: A new frontier for soil biogeochemistry. J. Geoch. Explor. 88:210–213.

Husnain, Rochayati, S., Sutriadi, T., Nassir, A., Sarwani, M. 2014. Improvement of soil fertility and crop production through direct application of phosphate rock on Maize in Indonesia. *Procedia Eng.* **83**:336–343.

Hussain, M., Farooq, M., Nawaz, A., Al-Sadi, A.M., Solaiman, Z.M., Alghamdi, S.S., Ammara, U., Ok, Y.S., Siddique, K.H.M. 2017. Biochar for crop production: potential benefits and risks, Journal of Soils and Sediments. *J. Soils Sed.* doi:10.1007/s11368-016-1360-2

Jeffery, S., Meinders, M.B.J., Stoof, C.R., Bezemer, T.M., van de Voorde, T.F.J., Mommer, L., van Groenigen, J.W. 2015. Biochar application does not improve the soil hydrological function of a sandy soil. *Geoderma*. **251–252**: 47–54.

Jindo, K., Mizumoto, H., Sawada, Y., Sanchez-Monedero, M.A., Sonoki, T. 2014. Physical and chemical characterization of biochars derived from different agricultural residues. *Biogeosciences*. **11**:6613–6621.

Jones, A., Breuning-Madsen, H., Brossard, M., Dampha, A., Deckers, J., Dewitte, O., Gallali, T., Hallett, S., Jones, R., Kilasara, M., Le Roux, P., Micheli, E., Montanarella, L., Spaargaren, O., Thiombiano, L., Van Ranst, E., Yemefack, M., Zougmoré R. (eds.). 2013. Soil Atlas of Africa. European Commission, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg. 176 pp.

Karaivazoglou, N.A., Tsotsolis, N.C., Tsadilas, C.D. 2007. Influence of liming and form of nitrogen fertilizer on nutrient uptake, growth, yield, and quality of Virginia (flue-cured) tobacco. *Field Crop Res.* **100**:52–60.

Karunanithi, R., Szogi, A., Bolan, N., Naidu, R., Loganathan, P., Hunt, P.G., Vanotti, M.B., Saint, C.P., Ok, Y.S., Krishnamoorthy, S. 2015. Phosphorus recovery and reuse from waste streams. *Adv. Agron.* **131**:173–250.

Kassa, H., Dondeyne, S., Poesen, J., Frankl, A., Nyssen, J. 2017. Impact of deforestation on soil fertility, soil carbon and nitrogen stocks: the case of the Gacheb catchment in the White Nile Basin, Ethiopia. *Agric. Ecosyst. Env.* **247**:273–282.

Kaur, G., Reddy, M.S. 2015. Effects of Phosphate-Solubilizing Bacteria, Rock Phosphate and

Chemical Fertilizers on Maize-Wheat Cropping Cycle and Economics. *Pedosphere*. 25: 428–437.

Kirkland, C.L., Hollis, J., Danišík, M., Petersen, J., Evans, N.J., McDonald, B.J. 2017. Apatite and titanite from the Karrat Group, Greenland; implications for charting the thermal evolution of crust from the U-Pb geochronology of common Pb bearing phases. *Precambrian Res.* **300**:107–120.

Korte, D., Kaukler, D., Fanetti, M., Cabrera, H., Daubront, E., Franko, M. 2017. Determination of petrophysical properties of sedimentary rocks by optical methods. *Sed. Geol.* **350**:72–79.

Kpomblekou-A, K., Tabatabai, M.A. 2003. Effect of low-molecular weight organic acids on phosphorus release and phytoavailability of phosphorus in phosphate rocks added to soils. *Agric. Ecosyst. Env.* **100**:275–284.

Lahmar, R., Bationo, B.A., Dan Lamso, N., Guéro, Y., Tittonell, P. 2012. Tailoring conservation agriculture technologies to West Africa semi-arid zones: Building on traditional local practices for soil restoration. *Field Crop. Res.* **132**:158–167.

Lee, M.R., Hodson, M.E., Parsons, I. 1998. The role of intragranular microtextures and microstructures in chemical and mechanical weathering: Direct comparisons of experimentally and naturally weathered alkali feldspars. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta.* **62**:2771–2788.

Lehmann, J., Rillig, M.C., Thies, J., Masiello, C.A., Hockaday, W.C., Crowley, D. 2011. Biochar effects on soil biota - A review. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **43**:1812–1836.

Lei, O., Zhang, R. 2013. Effects of biochars derived from different feedstocks and pyrolysis temperatures on soil physical and hydraulic properties *J. Soil. Sed.* 13:1561–1572.

Liu, Z., Yuan, D., Dreybrodt, W. 2005. Comparative study of dissolution rate-determining mechanisms of limestone and dolomite. *Env. Geol.* **49**:274–279.

Louër, D. 2017. Powder X-Ray Diffraction, Applications. Encycl. Spectrosc. Spectrom. 723–731.

Luhmann, A.J., Kong, X.-Z., Tutolo, B.M., Garapati, N., Bagley, B.C., Saar, M.O., Seyfried, W.E. 2014. Experimental dissolution of dolomite by CO2-charged brine at 100°C and 150bar: Evolution of porosity, permeability, and reactive surface area. *Chem. Geol.* **380**:145–160.

Maene, L.M. 2001. Direct application of phosphate rock: A global perspective of the past, present and future. In Rajan, S.S.S. and Chien, S.H. (eds): IFDC (2001). Direct application of phosphate rock and related appropriate technology – Latest developments and practical experience. Proceeding of an International Meeting.pp.1-9.

Manhica, A. 1991. Phosphates and apatite of Mozambique. Fert. Res. 30:167-175

Markwich, H. 1996. Mozambique. In: Bosse H-R, Gwosdz W, Lorenz W, Markwich, Roth W and F Wolff (eds.) Limestone and dolomite resources of Africa. Geol. Jb., D, 297-309.

Materechera, S., 2001. Influence of land-use on properties of a ferralitic soil under low external input farming in southeastern Swaziland. *Soil Tillage Res.* **62**:15–25.

Ministry of Mineral Resources and Energy. 1997. Mineral resources development and investment opportunities. Maputo, Mozambique, 36pp.

Molnár, M., Vaszita, E., Farkas, É., Ujaczki, É., Fekete-Kertész, I., Tolner, M., Klebercz, O., Kirchkeszner, C., Gruiz, K., Uzinger, N., Feigl, V. 2015. Acidic sandy soil improvement with biochar - A microcosm study. *Sci. Total Envi.* **563–564**:855–865.

Msolla, M.M., Semoka, J.M.R., Borggaard, O.K. 2005. Hard Minjingu phosphate rock: An alternative P source for maize production on acid soils in Tanzania. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecos.* **72:** 299–308.

Msolla, M.M., Semoka, J.M.R., Szilas, C., Borggaard, O.K. 2007. Crop (Maize) response to direct application of local phosphate rock on selected acid soils of Tanzania. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* **38**:93–106.

Muhammad, N., Dai, Z., Xiao, K., Meng, J., Brookes, P.C., Liu, X., Wang, H., Wu, J., Xu, J. 2014. Changes in microbial community structure due to biochars generated from different feedstocks and their relationships with soil chemical properties. *Geoderma*. **226–227**:270–278.

Nahas, E., Banzatto, D.A., Assis, L.C. 1990. Fluorapatite solubilization by Aspergillus niger in vinasse medium. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **22**:1097–1101.

Naisse, C., Girardin, C., Davasse, B., Chabbi, A., Rumpel, C. 2014. Effect of biochar addition on C mineralisation and soil organic matter priming in two subsoil horizons. *J. Soils Sed.* **15**:825–832.

Neumann, G., Römheld, V. 2012. Chapter 14 – Rhizosphere Chemistry in Relation to Plant Nutrition, in: Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants. pp. 347–368. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-384905-2.00014-5

Nishanth, D., Biswas, D.R. 2008. Kinetics of phosphorus and potassium release from rock phosphate and waste mica enriched compost and their effect on yield and nutrient uptake by wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). *Bioresour. Tech.* **99**:3342–53.

Nkonya, E., Mirzabaev, A. 2016. Economics of Land Degradation and Improvement – A Global Assessment for Sustainable Development. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-19168-3

Obia, A., Mulder, J., Martinsen, V., Cornelissen, G., Børresen, T. 2016. In situ effects of biochar on aggregation, water retention and porosity in light-textured tropical soils. *Soil Till. Res.* **155**:35–44.

Odongo, N.E., Hyoung-Ho, K., Choi, H.-C., van Straaten, P., McBride, B.W., Romney, D.L. 2007. Improving rock phosphate availability through feeding, mixing and processing with composting manure. Bioresour. Tech. 98:2911-8.

Oliva, J., Cama, J., Cortina, J.L., Ayora, C., De Pablo, J. 2012. Biogenic hydroxyapatite (Apatite IITM) dissolution kinetics and metal removal from acid mine drainage. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **213–214**:7–18.

Pansu, M., Gautheyrou, J. 2006. Handbook of soil analysis: Mineralogical, Organic and Inorganic Methods. Springer-Verlad, Berlin Heidelberg, New York.

Pecher, K., McCubbery, D., Kneedler, E., Rothe, J., Bargar, J., Meigs, G., Cox, L., Nealson, K., Tonner, B. 2003. Quantitative charge state analysis of manganese biominerals in aqueous suspension using scanning transmission X-ray microscopy (STXM). *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta.* **67**:1089–1098.

Pinna, P., Jourde, G., Calvez, J.Y., Mroz, J.P., Marques, J.M. 1993. The Mozambique Belt in northern Mozambique: Neoproterozoic (110-850 Ma) crustal growth and tectogenesis, and superimposed Pan-Africa (800-550 Ma) tectonism. *Precambr. Res.* **62**:1-59.

Pokrovsky, O.S., Golubev, S. V., Schott, J., Castillo, A. 2009. Calcite, dolomite and magnesite dissolution kinetics in aqueous solutions at acid to circumneutral pH, 25 to 150 °C and 1 to 55 atm pCO2: New constraints on CO2 sequestration in sedimentary basins. *Chem. Geol.* **265**:20–32.

Prokopyev, I.R., Doroshkevich, A.G., Ponomarchuk, A. V., Sergeev, S.A. 2017. Mineralogy, age and genesis of apatite-dolomite ores at the Seligdar apatite deposit (Central Aldan, Russia). *Ore Geol. Rev.* **81**:296–308.

Purakayastha, T.J., Kumari, S., Pathak, H. 2015. Characterisation, stability, and microbial effects of four biochars produced from crop residues. *Geoderma*. **239–240**:293–303. doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2014.11.009

Raboin, L.M., Razafimahafaly, A.H.D., Rabenjarisoa, M.B., Rabary, B., Dusserre, J., Becquer, T. 2016. Improving the fertility of tropical acid soils: Liming versus biochar application? A long term comparison in the highlands of Madagascar. *Field Crop. Res.* **199**:99–108.

Rafael, R.B.A., Nhancale, I.T. 2013. Socioeconomic evaluation of inorganic fertilizer use in main crops from Mozambique. Mozambique Soil Health Node.80pp.

Rafiq, M.K., Bachmann, R.T., Rafiq, M.T., Shang, Z., Joseph, S., Long, R.L. 2016. Influence of pyrolysis temperature on physico-chemical properties of corn stover (*Zea mays* L.) biochar and feasibility for carbon capture and energy balance. *PLoS One*. **11**:1–17.

Rajan, S.S.S., Brown, M.W., Boyes, M.K., Upsdell, M.P. 1992. Extractable phosphorus to predict agronomic effectiveness of ground and unground phosphate rocks. *Fertil. Res.* **32**:291–302.

Raya-Moreno, I., Cañizares, R., Domene, X., Carabassa, V., Alcañiz, J.M. 2017. Comparing current

chemical methods to assess biochar organic carbon in a Mediterranean agricultural soil amended with two different biochars. *Sci. Total Env.* **598**:604–618.

Reijnders, L. 2014. Phosphorus resources, their depletion and conservation, a review. *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.* **93**:32–49.

Salvagiotti, F., Cassman, K.G., Specht, J.E., Walters, D.T., Weiss, A., Dobermann, A. 2008. Nitrogen uptake, fixation and response to fertilizer N in soybeans: A review. *Field Crop. Res.* **108**:1–13.

Sanchez, P. A., 2000. Linking climate change research with food security and poverty reduction in the tropics. *Agric. Ecosyst. Env.* **82**:371–383.

Sanchez, P. A 2002. Soil fertility and hunger in Africa. Science. 295:2019–2020.

Sanchez PA, Shepherd KD, Soule MJ, Place FM, Buresh RJ, Izac AN, Mokwunye AU, Kwesiga FR, Ndiritu CG, Woomer PL. 1997. Soil fertility replenishment in Africa: an in- vestment in natural resource capital. In: Buresh RJ, Sanchez PA, Calhoun F (Eds), Replen- ishing soil fertility in Africa. *SSSA Spec Publ.* **51**:1–46

Sengul, H., Ozer, A.K., Gulaboglu, M.S. 2006. Beneficiation of Mardin-Mazıdaği (Turkey) calcareous phosphate rock using dilute acetic acid solutions. *Chem. Eng. J.* **122**:135–140.

Singh, B., Singh B. P., and Cowie, A. L. 2010. Characterisation and evaluation of biochars for their applications a soil amendment. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* **48**:516–525

Sokolova, T.A. 2015. Specificity of soil properties in the rhizosphere: Analysis of literature data. *Eurasian Soil Sci.* **48**:968–980.

Šorša, A., Miler, M., Gosar, M., Halamić, J. 2017. Follow-up geochemical studies and mineralogical investigations by scanning electron microscopy/energy dispersive spectroscopy (SEM/EDS) of soil samples from the industrial zone of Sisak, Croatia. *J. Geoche. Explor.* doi:10.1016/j.gexplo.2017.07.015

Sosibo, N.Z., Muchaonyerwa, P., Visser, L., Barnard, A., Dube, E., Tsilo, T.J. 2017. Soil fertility constraints and yield gaps of irrigation wheat in South Africa. *S. Afr. J. Sci.* **113**:1–9.

Sposito, G. 2008. The Chemistry of Soils: 2nd Edition.

Stancheva, I., Mitova, I., Petkova, Z. 2004. Effects of different nitrogen fertilizer sources on the yield, nitrate content and other physiological parameters in garden beans. *Envi. Exp. Bot.* **52**:277–282.

Steinbeiss, S., Gleixner, G., Antonietti, M. 2009. Effect of biochar amendment on soil carbon balance and soil microbial activity. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **41**:1301–1310.

Suárez-Abelenda, M., Ahmad, R., Camps-Arbestain, M., Herath, S.H.M.S.K. 2015. Changes in the chemical composition of soil organic matter over time in the presence and absence of living roots: a

pyrolysis GC/MS study. Plant Soil. doi:10.1007/s11104-015-2423-7

Szilas, C., Koch, C.B., Msolla, M.M., Borggaard, O.K. 2008. The reactivity of Tanzanian Minjingu phosphate rock can be assessed from the chemical and mineralogical composition. *Geoderma*. **147**:172–177.

Szilas, C., Semoka, J.M.R., Borggaard, O.K. 2007. Can local Minjingu phosphate rock replace superphosphate on acid soils in Tanzania? *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecos.* **77:**257–268.

Szmaja, W., 2013. Improvements in magnetic domain studies by the colloid-scanning electron microscopy technique. Mater. Lett. 105, 68–71. doi:10.1016/j.matlet.2013.04.060

Van der Perre, R., Jonard, M., André, F., Nys, C., Legout, A., Ponette, Q. 2012. Liming effect on radial growth depends on time since application and on climate in Norway spruce stands. *For. Ecol. Manage*. **281**:59–67.

Van Kauwenbergh, S.J. 2001a. Mineralogy and characterization of phosphate rock for direct application. In Rajan, S.S.S. and Chien, S.H. (eds): IFDC 2001. Direct application of phosphate rock and related appropriate technology – Latest developments and practical experience. Proceedings of an International Meeting.pp.28-49.

Van Kauwenbergh, S.J. 2001b. Overview of world phosphate rock production. In (eds): IFDC (2001). Direct application of phosphate rock and related appropriate technology – Latest developments and practical experience. Proceeding of an International Meeting. pp.9-27

Van Straaten, P., 2006. Farming with rocks and minerals: Challenges and opportunities. *An. Acad. Bras. Cienc.* **78**:731–747.

Vanlauwe, B., Nwoke, O.C., Diels, J., Sanginga, N., Carsky, R.J., Deckers, J., Merckx, R. 2000.
Utilization of rock phosphate by crops on a representative toposequence in the Northern Guinea savanna zone of Nigeria: response by Mucuna pruriens, Lablab purpureus and maize. *Soil Biol. Bioch.*32:2063–2077.

Wang, N., Xie, J., Han, J., Luo, L. 2014. A comprehensive framework on land-water resources development in Mu Us Sandy Land. *Land use policy*. **40**:69–73.

Wang, T., Camps-Arbestain, M., Hedley, M., Singh, B.P., Calvelo-Pereira, R., Wang, C. 2014. Determination of carbonate-C in biochars. *Soil Res.* **52**:495–504.

Wang, X., Zhou, W., Liang, G., Song, D., Zhang, X. 2015. Characteristics of maize biochar with different pyrolysis temperatures and its effects on organic carbon, nitrogen and enzymatic activities after addition to fluvo-aquic soil. *Sci. Total Env.* **538**:137–144.

Warnock, D.D., Lehmann, J., Kuyper, T.W., Rillig, M.C. 2007. Mycorrhizal responses to biochar in

soil - Concepts and mechanisms. Plant Soil. 300: 9-20.

Wei, W., Zhang, X., Cui, J., Wei, Z. 2011. Interaction between low molecular weight organic acids and hydroxyapatite with different degrees of crystallinity. *Coll. Surf. Physicochem. Eng. Asp.* **392**: 67–75.

Weil, R.R. 2000. Soil and plant influences on crop response to two African phosphate rocks. *Agron. J.* **92**:1167–1175.

Weindorf, D. C., Chakraborty, S. 2016. Portable X-ray fluorescence spectrometry analysis of soils. *Methods of Soil Analysis. Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. J.* **1**:2-8.

Wiszniewska, A., Hanus-Fajerska, E., Muszyńska, E., Ciarkowska, K. 2016. Natural organic amendments for improved phytoremediation of polluted soils: a review of recent progress. *Pedosphere*. **26**:1–12.

Xu, G., Sun, J., Shao, H., Chang, S.X. 2014. Biochar had effects on phosphorus sorption and desorption in three soils with differing acidity. *Ecol. Eng.* **62**:54–60.

Xu, M., Sullivan, K., Vanness, G., Knauss, K.G., Higgins, S.R. 2013. Dissolution kinetics and mechanisms at dolomite-water interfaces: Effects of electrolyte specific ionic strength. *Env. Sci. Tech.*47:110–118.

Yao, C., Joseph, S., Li, L., Pan, G., Lin, Y., Munroe, P., Pace, B., Taherymoosavi, S., Van Zwieten, L., Thomas, T., Nielsen, S., Ye, J., Donne, S. 2015. Developing more effective enhanced biochar fertilisers for improvement of pepper yield and quality. *Pedosphere*. **25**:703–712.

Yasuda, E.Y., Santos, R.G. dos, Vidal Trevisan, O. 2013. Kinetics of carbonate dissolution and its effects on the porosity and permeability of consolidated porous media. *J. Pet. Sci. Eng.* **112**:284–289. Zahoor, R., Dong, H., Abid, M., Zhao, W., Wang, Y., Zhou, Z. 2017. Potassium fertilizer improves drought stress alleviation potential in cotton by enhancing photosynthesis and carbohydrate metabolism. *Env. Exp. Bot.* **137**:73–83.

Zahran, H.H. 1999. Rhizobium-legume symbiosis and nitrogen fixation under severe conditions and in an arid climate. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol.* Rev. **63**:968–89.

Zandamela, C.B. 2013. Assessment of the Feasibility for Increased Local Fertilizer Blending and Local Production in Mozambique. Mozambique Soil Health Node. 48pp.

Zhang, H., Chen, C., Gray, E.M., Boyd, S.E., Yang, H., Zhang, D. 2016. Roles of biochar in improving phosphorus availability in soils: A phosphate adsorbent and a source of available phosphorus. *Geoderma*. **276**:1–6.

Zhang, H., Voroney, R.P., Price, G.W. 2015. Effects of temperature and processing conditions on

biochar chemical properties and their influence on soil C and N transformations. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **83**:19–28.

Zhang, J., Wang, Q. 2015. Sustainable mechanisms of biochar derived from brewers' spent grain and sewage sludge for ammonia-nitrogen capture. *J. Clean. Prod.* **112**:3927–3934.
CHAPTER 2 - PHOSPHATE AND CALCAREOUS ROCK ASSESSMENT⁴

Rogério Borguete Alves Rafael, PhD Thesis

⁴ Published: **Rafael RBA**, Fernández-Marcos ML, Cocco S, Ruello ML, Weindorf DC, Cardelli V, Corti G. (*in press*). Assessment of potential nutrient release from phosphate rock and dolostone for application in acid soils. *Pedosphere*. in press. DOI 10.1016/S1002-0160(17)60437-5

ScienceDirect	Journals Books				
	Purchase PDF Export ~				
Outline Abstract Key Words References	Pedosphere Provener Available online 5 August 2017 In Press, Accepted Manuscript				
	Assessment of potential nutrient release from phosphate rock and dolostone for application in acid soils				
	Rogério Borguete Alves Rafael ^{a, b} , Maria Luisa Fernandez-Marcos ^c , Stefania Cocco ^b , Maria Letizia Ruello ^d , David C. Weindorf ^e , Valeria Cardelli ^b , Giuseppe Corti ^b				
	Show more				
	https://doi.org/10.1016/S1002-0160(17)60437-5 Get rights and content				

Abstract

The aim of this study was to evaluate the feasibility of using phosphate rock and dolostone as fertilizer and amendment, respectively, for application in tropical acid soils. The dissolution of different particle-size fractions by water and citric acid was studied. Laboratory column experiments were run following a completely randomized design, by using 0.063 - 0.25, 0.25 - 0.5, and 0.5 - 2 mm particlesize fractions of both rocks. Each rock particle-size was subjected to exhaustive dissolution with distilled water, citric acid solution at pH 4, and citric acid solution at pH 2, with the following extraction times: 1, 3, 5, 7, 12, 24, 72, 144, 240, and 360 h. The dissolution of both rocks depended on particle-size, leaching solution and extraction time. The dissolution rate of rock-forming minerals augmented as the specific surface area increased, corresponding to a decrease in particle-size. In all cases, the kinetics of release was characterized by two phases: 1) a first stage of rapid release that lasted 24 h, which would ensure short-term nutrient release, and 2) a second stage of slow release (after 24 h), representing the long-term nutrient release efficiency. Both rocks are suitable as slow release fertilizers in strongly acid soils and would ensure the replenishment of P, Ca, and Mg. A combination of fine and medium particle-size fractions should be used to ensure high nutrient release efficiency. Much work has to be done to assess the overall impact of considerable amounts of fresh rocks in soils.

Key words: citric acid, soil fertility, rock weathering, nutrient release

1. Introduction

Worldwide acid soils are mainly present into two belts: 1) humid northern temperate zones, which are mostly occupied by coniferous forest, and 2) humid tropics, which host savannah systems and tropical rainforests (FAO, 2016). Acid soils are deficient in plant nutrients, while having increased availability of phytotoxic elements (van Straaten, 2002; 2006; Caires et al., 2005; van Raij, 2011; FAO, 2016). These deficient elements (with exception of N) are mostly derived from rocks and minerals (Chien et al., 2011).

Since soil acidification strongly reduces crop production, amelioration of acid soils is paramount for food security and agriculture sustainability. Application of fertilizers can satisfy the nutrient deficiency in acid soils (Chien et al., 2011), but the cost of fertilizers, particularly of P fertilizers, has increased substantially worldwide (van Straaten, 2002; 2006; Chien et al., 2011). Therefore, finding alternative local sources of plant nutrients which could supply P or other elements for sustainable crop production is a practical, low-cost, long-term strategy that addresses the need of poor farmers (Appleton, 2002; van Straaten, 2002; 2006; Zapata and Roy, 2004).

Apatites and calcareous rich rocks have been tested for their application in agricultural acid soils. For instance, it is known that the reactivity of apatites can be increased through grinding, and this increases P availability and produces similar yields responses and agronomic effects to those of water soluble fertilizer (van Straaten, 2002; 2006; Szilas et al., 2008).

Thus the application of limestone, possibly with a certain amount of dolomite, can mitigate soil acidity, prevent Al and Mn toxicity (Álvarez et al., 2012; van Straaten, 2002; 2006; 2007), and provide Ca and Mg to the soil. Consequently, food production and quality are enhanced (Maria and Yost, 2006). In addition, both apatitic and calcareous rocks may contain a wide rage of minor chemical elements, some of which are beneficial plant nutrients (IAEA, 2002; Szilas et al., 2007; van Straaten, 2006).

In Mozambique, acid soils cover ~70% of the country (Gouveia and Azevedo, 1949). Here, two important rock outcrops merit consideration: a metamorphic phosphate rock and a dolostone. Mineralogically, these two rocks are extremely relevant for mitigating acidity and replenishing P, Ca, and Mg. Their importance is even more significant considering that African countries cannot afford to purchase expensive water soluble phosphatic fertilizers, but could exploit their own rock outcrops, with reduced and Controlled environmental risks (Khasawneh and Doll, 1978; Appleton, 2002; van Straaten, 2006; 2007).

Phosphatic rocks and dolostones vary widely in their mineralogical and physic-chemical properties. Consequently, their reactivity and agronomic potential also vary (IAEA, 2002; Szilas, 2002; Szilas et al., 2007; 2008). Thus, it is prudent to evaluate their fertility value in terms of nutrient release to assess their possible use for crop production while minimizing fertilizer requirements (van Straaten, 2002; Zapata and Roy, 2004).

The dissolution rate of rocks tested for their possible use in agriculture mainly depends on their mineral composition as well as on the solubilizing acid and pH of the extracting solution (Goyne et al., 2006; Calvaruso et al., 2013). Low molecular weight organic acids (LMWOAs) are preferred to others, citric and oxalic acids being the most used (IAEA, 2002). In fact, citric acid originates in soil from the secretions of plant roots and soil microorganisms like fungi, lichens, and prokaryotes (Olsson and Wallander, 1998; Goyne et al., 2006; Joergensen and Wichern, 2008; Klugh-Stewart and Cumming, 2009; Goyne et al., 2010), and can simulate the weathering occurring in the rhizosphere (Turpault et al., 2009; Calvaruso et al., 2013).

For instance, when apatites are exposed to citrate and oxalate ligands, the release of P and Ca is the highest (Goyne et al., 2006, 2010). Instead, the dissolution of calcareous minerals such as calcite (CaCO₃) and dolomite [CaMg(CO₃)₂] depends on solution pH, pCO₂, temperature, and mineral properties such as crystallinity (Yasuda et al., 2013) as well as specific surface area (van Straaten, 2002, 2006, 2007). Dolomite dissolution rates are usually lower than those of calcite (Liu et al., 2005; Dewaide et al., 2014).

This study aims to investigate the feasibility of using a phosphate rock and a dolostone from local sources in Mozambique, ground to different grain sizes (0.063-0.25, 0.25-0.5, and 0.5-2 mm), as sources of P, Ca, and Mg. Further, we seek to assess their effectiveness as acid-neutralising agents, by testing their solubility in water and different concentrations of citric acid solutions in open-system columns under Controlled conditions. We hypothesize that both rocks will provide substantive nutrient release in support of agronomic production and that finer particle size will facilitate enhanced solubility.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Sample preparation

Both studied rocks are from Mozambique. The phosphate rock was collected from the Nampula Province deposit in the Evate district, while dolostone was collected from the Mount Muambe deposit located in the Tete Province. Blocks of rocks were fragmented by using a grinding press; then the rock fragments were ground using an agate mortar. For both rocks, three size-fractions were obtained by dry sieving: 0.063-0.25, 0.25-0.5 and 0.5-2 mm.

2.2. General characterization

The mineralogical composition was determined on powdered rocks by X-ray diffraction with a Philips PW 1830 diffractometer, using the Fe-filtered Co K α 1 radiation (35 kV and 25 mA); the step size was 0.02° 2 θ and the scanning speed was one second per step. A semi-quantitative estimation was obtained after the identification of the minerals on the basis of their characteristic peaks as reported by Dixon and Schulze (2002), and MINCRYST database (http://database.iem.ac.ru/mincryst, accessed on 22th June 2016).

The elemental analysis of both rocks was obtained using DP-6000 Delta Premium portable X-ray fluorescence (PXRF) spectrometer (Olympus, Waltham, MA, USA) accordingly to Weindorf and Chakraborty (2016). The instrument features a Rh X-ray tube operated at 15–40 kV with quantification via ultra-high resolution (165 eV) silicon drift detector. The analysis was firstly conducted in "Soil Mode" (three beams of 30 s each), and secondly in "Geochem Mode" (two beams of 30 s each). Therefore, the contents of Al, Si, P, Mg, Ca, and S were validated using "Geochem Mode" readings, and the remaining elements were validated using "Soil Mode" (Weindorf and Chakraborty, 2016).

Total C concentration in dolostone was determined using CHNS-O analyser (EA1110, Carlo Erba Instruments, Milan, Italy). The fractions of phosphate rock were analysed for water soluble P, P extractable with neutral ammonium citrate (NAC-P), P extractable with 2% citric acid solution (citric-P), and P extractable with 2% formic acids solution (formic-P) as per Rajan et al., (1992). For each size- fraction of both rocks, 10 g of sample was added to 25 mL of distilled water, and the abrasion pH was measured after 6 min of solid – liquid contact (Romero et al., 1987). To measure the pH at 1.5 h, the suspension was stirred for 1 h on an oscillating table and left to rest for 30 min before

repeating the pH measurement; in a similar way, pH was measured at 24 h (Pansu and Gautheyrou, 2006).

2.3. Leaching experiment

To assess the long-term dissolution (reactivity) of the different size-fractions of both rocks, two sets of column experiments were conducted using a completely randomized design. Samples of the three particle-size fractions (0.063 - 0.25, 0.25 - 0.5 and 0.5 - 2 mm) of both rocks were treated for 15 d with different leaching solutions (distilled water, citric acid solution at pH 4 and citric acid solution at pH 2); leachates were retrieved at the following extraction times: 1, 3, 5, 7, 12, 24, 72, 144, 240, and 360 h. Similarly, percolations without rock sample were conducted as Controls. The experimental design consisted of three replicates for each fraction and leaching solutions.

The experiments were conducted in an isolated room at a temperature of $25 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C. The leaching solutions were prepared 24 h prior to use by dissolving monohydrate citric acid crystals (AR manufactured by Carlo Erba Reagents) in distilled water. The citric acid solution at pH 4 ($\approx 10^{-4}$ M) was considered representative of the soil solution conditions of acid soils from tropical environments, while the citric acid solution at pH 2 ($\approx 10^{-1}$ M) was taken as an example of extreme acidity conditions that only rarely can occur in soil, even in the rhizosphere.

Each column (diameter x length of 30 x 400 mm) of 200 mL capacity was fitted with 0.3 g of fiberglass at the bottom to prevent rock fragments loss. Thus, 1.000 g of each rock size-fraction was put into the column, and 100 mL of leaching solution added (solid:liquid ratio of 1:100, w:v); At each extraction time, the liquid was allowed to percolate at a constant rate (100 mL h⁻¹). Thus, 100 mL of fresh leaching solution was added to each column.

The elements measured in the leachate of both rocks were Ca, Mg, K, Na, Ba, Al, Fe, Mn, Zn, Cd, Ni, and Pb; only in those from phosphate rock fractions was P also determined. The analyses of leachates were carried out the same day they were collected. The cations were measured by an inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometer (Perkin Elmer Optima 8300) as described by Boss and Fredeen (1997), while a simple colorimetric method based on ascorbic acid reduction of the ammonium phosphomolybdate complex (Kuo, 1996) was used to measure P in the leachates.

2.4. Kinetic analysis

The Langmuir (1997) equation below was used to determine the release rate using the data obtained by the leaching experiment, assuming that the dissolution of minerals in phosphate rock and dolostone were controlled by surface reaction:

$$dC_{(t)}/dt = k; (1)$$

Integrated rate law:
$$C = C_o + kt$$
, (2)

where $C_{(t)}$ (mol L⁻¹) is the concentration of released species in the bulk solution at the time *t*; *C* (mol L⁻¹) is the concentration of released species in the leachate after the release, C_o (mol L⁻¹) is the initial concentration of the species in bulk solution before the release starts; *k* (mol L⁻¹ s⁻¹) is the constant rate.

2.5. Statistical analysis

R version 3.1.2 (2014-10-31) was used for statistical analysis. Single extraction data were analysed for analysis of variance (ANOVA) after a *boxcox* transformation (Meloun et al., 2005) of the data to perform parametric tests (Shapiro-Wilk normality test and Bartlett test of homogeneity of variances). A multiple comparison Tukey test (at 5% significance) was used to compare the means. Similarly, data obtained from the leaching experiments were analysed using parametric tests, but they revealed a non-normal distribution and heteroscedasticity. Therefore, summary statistics (mean, variance, standard error and deviation) were used whenever possible.

3. Results and discussion

3.1 Mineralogical and chemical composition of the two rocks

X-ray diffraction analysis showed that the phosphate rock was mainly made of fluoroapatite, while the dolostone was made of dolomite (Fig. 1). Both rocks contained traces of phyllosilicates. The major constituent elements of the phosphate rock were Ca and P, followed by Si, Al, Fe, K, Sr, and Ba; all the other elements were present in concentrations close to or <1000 mg kg⁻¹ (Table 1).

The rock P content was ~24%, equivalent to 55% of P_2O_5 , which satisfies the European legislation in terms of total P content to be used for direct application to the soil, as it exceeds the threshold value of 25% of P_2O_5 (European Commission, 2000). The concentrations of trace elements were similar to those commonly reported for phosphate rocks (Adriano, 2013). The concentrations of As and Hg were moderately high, but they should not be problematic for the application of phosphate rock to soils at moderate rates.

The major elements in the dolostone were Ca, Mg, and C, followed by Si, P, Al, Fe, K, Mn, Ba, S, Sr, and Ti, with the other elements present in amounts <40 mg kg⁻¹ (Table 1). The richness in Ca, Mg, and C was ~ 29.4, 18.2, and 8.2%, respectively, equivalent to ~ 41, 30, and 41% of the respective oxides. The Ca:Mg molar ratio of 1:1 confirmed the mineralogical observation indicating that the main rock forming mineral was dolomite (Al-Awadi et al., 2009). This dolostone can be considered completely safe given its low concentration of potentially hazardous trace elements.



Fig. 1 X-ray diffractogram, using Co K_{α} 1 radiation, of phosphate rock and dolostone obtained from Mozambique, indicating a composition mostly made of fluoroapatite and dolomite, respectively, with traces of phyllosilicates. d(A) represents the d spacing expressed in Ångström (1 Å = 10⁻¹⁰ m).

	Phosphate rock				Dolostone			
Elements	mg kg ⁻¹	Oxides	mmol kg ⁻¹	Elements	mg kg ⁻¹	Oxides	mmol kg ⁻¹	
Si	20,160.96 (240.21) ^{a)}	SiO ₂	717.98 (8.55)	Si	12,941.70 (242.05)	SiO ₂	460.89 (8.62)	
С	< LOD	CO_2	< LOD	С	82,121.7 (3,249.59)	CO_2	6,843.42 (270.80)	
Al	7,684.33 (484.64)	Al_2O_3	142.83 (9.01)	Al	2,438.91 (1,241.23)	Al_2O_3	45.33 (23.07)	
Fe	7,378.00 (63.00)	Fe_2O_3	66.11 (0.56)	Fe	1,410.50 (19.00)	Fe_2O_3	12.64 (0.17)	
Р	239,666.10 (689.95)	P_2O_5	3865.58 (11.13)	Р	2,801.29 (160.30)	P_2O_5	45.18 (2.59)	
Ca	362,922.97 (5,277.00)	CaO	9073.07 (131.93)	Ca	293,958.27 (1,751.26)	CaO	7,348.96 (43.78)	
Mg	<lod< td=""><td>MgO</td><td><lod< td=""><td>Mg</td><td>181,719.405 (4508.33)</td><td>MgO</td><td>7,478.16 (185.53)</td></lod<></td></lod<>	MgO	<lod< td=""><td>Mg</td><td>181,719.405 (4508.33)</td><td>MgO</td><td>7,478.16 (185.53)</td></lod<>	Mg	181,719.405 (4508.33)	MgO	7,478.16 (185.53)	
K	3,275.00 (123.00)	K ₂ O	41.99 (1.58)	K	695.00 (67.00)	K_2O	8.91 (0.86)	
S	<lod< td=""><td>SO_3</td><td><lod< td=""><td>S</td><td>314.88 (30.66)</td><td>SO_3</td><td>9.84 (0.96)</td></lod<></td></lod<>	SO_3	<lod< td=""><td>S</td><td>314.88 (30.66)</td><td>SO_3</td><td>9.84 (0.96)</td></lod<>	S	314.88 (30.66)	SO_3	9.84 (0.96)	
Ba	2,004.00 (112.00)	BaO	14.59 (0.82)	Ba	332.00 (56.00)	BaO	2.42 (0.41)	
Sr	2,572.00 (39.00)	SrO	29.36 (0.45)	Sr	285.00 (4.00)	SrO	3.25 (0.05)	
Cl	1,254.00 (171.00)	ClO_2	35.37 (4.82)	Cl	<lod< td=""><td>ClO_2</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	ClO_2	<lod< td=""></lod<>	
Ti	1,227.91 (22.00)	TiO ₂	25.66 (0.46)	Ti	114.00 (8.00)	TiO ₂	2.38 (0.17)	
Mn	498.00 (11.00)	MnO_2	9.07 (0.20)	Mn	448.00 (8.00)	MnO_2	8.16 (0.15)	
V	120.00 (4.00)	V_2O_5	2.36 (0.08)	V	4.40 (1.20)	V_2O_5	0.09 (0.02)	
Cr	129.00 (6.00)	Cr_2O_3	2.48 (0.12)	Cr	<lod< td=""><td>Cr_2O_3</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	Cr_2O_3	<lod< td=""></lod<>	
Ni	58.00 (7.00)	NiO	0.98 (0.12)	Ni	36.00 (5.00)	NiO	0.61 (0.08)	
Cu	17.00 (3.00)	CuO	0.27 (0.05)	Cu	<lod< td=""><td>CuO</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	CuO	<lod< td=""></lod<>	
Zn	36.00 (2.00)	ZnO	0.55 (0.03)	Zn	12.05 (1.20)	ZnO	0.09 (0.01)	
As	36.90 (2.00)	As_2O_3	0.49 (0.03)	As	<lod< td=""><td>As_2O_5</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	As_2O_5	<lod< td=""></lod<>	
Rb	21.60 (1.10)	Rb ₂ O	0.25 (0.01)	Rb	3.30 (0.50)	Rb ₂ O	0.02 (0.00)	
Cd	<lod< td=""><td>CdO</td><td><lod< td=""><td>Cd</td><td><lod< td=""><td>CdO</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	CdO	<lod< td=""><td>Cd</td><td><lod< td=""><td>CdO</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	Cd	<lod< td=""><td>CdO</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	CdO	<lod< td=""></lod<>	
Y	152.77 (1.65)	Y_2O_3	0.86 (0.01)	Y	<lod< td=""><td>Y_2O_3</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	Y_2O_3	<lod< td=""></lod<>	
Zr	51.00 (6.00)	ZrO_2	0.28 (0.03)	Zr	11.40 (1.60)	ZrO_2	0.13 (0.02)	
Hg	11.70 (1.90)	HgO	0.03 (0.00)	Hg	<lod< td=""><td>HgO</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	HgO	<lod< td=""></lod<>	
Mo	9.70 (1.20)	MoO ₃	0.05 (0.01)	Mo	<lod< td=""><td>MoO₃</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	MoO ₃	<lod< td=""></lod<>	
W	24.45 (4.05)	WO_3	0.07 (0.01)	W	<lod< td=""><td>WO_3</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	WO_3	<lod< td=""></lod<>	
Se	6.10 (0.80)	Se_2O_3	0.04 (0.01)	Se	1.70 (1.40)	Se_2O_3	0.01 (0.01)	
Pb	26.00 (2.00)	PbO ₂	0.13 (0.01)	Pb	4.00 (1.00)	PbO ₂	0.02 (0.00)	

 Table 1

 Elemental analysis and corresponding composition in oxides of the phosphate rock and dolostone from Mozambique used for the trials.

^{a)}Numbers in parentheses are the standard deviation (n=3). LOD - Limit of detection.

3.2. Phosphate rock

3.2.1. General properties

For the phosphate rock, the abrasion pH decreased significantly (P < 0.05) with contact time for all fractions, ranging from 9.36 for the finest fraction at 6 min of solid-liquid contact, to 7.81 for the coarsest fraction after 24 h (Table 2). As expected, the finest fraction presented higher pH values (P < 0.05) compared with the other fractions. This was ascribed to the higher specific surface area of this fraction. Newly formed mineral surfaces like those obtained by grinding are able to release alkaline and alkaline-earth elements and adsorb H⁺, so to induce an abrasion pH that lasts until other factors perturb the suspension (Grant, 1969; Romero et al., 1987). The temporal decrease of abrasion pH was ascribed to the dissolution of atmospheric CO₂ (Grant, 1969) and possibly to surface passivation (Cuniglio et al., 2009).

Single extractions of P by water, NAC, 2% citric acid solution and 2% formic acid solution showed that the 2% formic acid solution was able to extract the highest (P < 0.001) amount of P (Table 3). The increase of extractable P with the grinding for all the extractants except water was explained with the highest reactivity of the finest fraction of this rock (Rajan et al., 1992). Therefore, taking 2% formic acid solution as the best predictor of agronomic effectiveness of phosphate rock (Rajan et al., 1992), the finest size fraction features high potential (P < 0.001) for a direct application in strongly acid soils (Ghani et al., 1994; Rajan et al., 1996; Zapata and Roy, 2004).

3.2.2. Long-term release in column experiments

(i) Cumulative releasing pattern of P, Ca, and Mg

The cumulative release of P, Ca, and Mg in water and in citric acid solutions at pH 4 and pH 2 from different particle sizes of phosphate rock calculated for the different extraction times. Other elements such as K, Na, Ba, Al, Fe, Mn, Zn, Cd, Ni, and Pb were leached in concentrations always lower than 100 mmol kg⁻¹. The cumulative release of P, Ca and Mg showed an increasing trend for all leaching solutions (Fig. 2). The rate of release was relatively high in the first 24 h of leaching and decreased thereafter, indicating that most of the extractable nutrients were released within 24 h. For all nutrients and leaching solutions, the highest cumulative release was obtained for the finest fraction (P < 0.01), followed by the medium and, then, by the coarse fraction (Table 4).

Table 2

Abrasion pH at different contact times of different particle size fractions of phosphate rock and dolostone from Mozambique and analysis of variance (ANOVA) for extraction time, particle-size fraction, and their interaction

Contact time	Pa		ANOVA			
(h)	0.063 – 0.25 mm	0.25 – 0.5 mm	0.5 – 2 mm	Extraction time	Particle-size fraction	Extraction time × Particle-size fraction
			Phosphate rock			
0.1	9.36 (0.01) $^{\rm a)}aA^{\rm \ b)}$	8.63 (0.23) bA	8.66 (0.02) bA			
1.5	8.24 (0.07) aB	7.79 (0.01) bB	7.69 (0.01) bB	***	***	**
24	8.23 (0.08) aB	7.98 (0.03) bB	7.81 (0.03) bB			
			Dolostone			
0.1	9.36 (0.04) aA	9.57 (0.14) aA	9.50 (0.11) aA			
1.5	8.73 (0.10) aB	8.81 (0.05) aB	8.66 (0.03) aB	***	*	**
24	8.29 (0.03) aC	8.27 (0.03) aC	8.25 (0.03) aC			

*, **, *** Significant at P = 0.05, P = 0.01 and P = 0.001, respectively. ^{a)} Means (standard deviations, n=3); ^{b)} Means followed by the same lowercase letter within each row are not significantly different at P < 0.05 by multiple-comparison Tukey test and those followed by the same uppercase letter within each column for a given rock are not significantly different at P < 0.05by multiple-comparison Tukey test.

Table 3

P extraction (expressed as P_2O_5 content) by water, neutral ammonium citrate (NAC), 2% citric acid solution (CA), and 2% formic acid solution (FA) in different particle-size fractions of phosphate rock collected from Mozambique and analysis of variance (ANOVA) for particle-size fraction, extractant, and their interaction.

Particle-size fractions		ANOVA			
	Water	NAC	2% citric acid	2% formic acid	11110111
0.063 – 0.25 mm	$0.14~(0.01)^{a)}dA^{b)}$	1.90 (0.42) cA	8.74 (0.04) bA	13.34 (1.33) aA	
0.25 - 0.5 mm	0.11 (0.01) dA	0.63 (0.13) cB	5.34 (0.26) bB	7.19 (0.26) aB	***
0.5 – 2 mm	0.08 (0.00) cA	0.37 (0.25) bB	4.35 (0.37) aB	5.42 (0.63) aC	

*** Significant at P = 0.001.^a)Means (standard deviations, n=3).^b)Means followed by the same lowercase letter within each row are not significantly different at P < 0.05 by multiple-comparison Tukey test and those followed by the same uppercase letter within each column are not significantly different at P < 0.05 by multiple-comparison Tukey test.

Table 4

Cumulative release of P, Ca, and Mg in water, citric acid solution (CA) at pH 4, and CA at pH 2 during the extraction time between 24 and 360 h from different particle-size fractions of phosphate rock collected from Mozambique and analysis of variance (ANOVA) for leaching solution, particle-size fraction, and their interaction.

			ANOVA				
Elements	Leaching solutions	0.063 - 0.25 mm	0.25 - 0.5 mm	0.5 – 2 mm	Rock size fraction	Leaching solution	Rock size fraction vs. Leaching solution
	Water	11.8 (3.1) ^{a)} aA ^{b)}	6. 7 (0.5) bA	7.7 (0.6) bA			
Р	Citric acid at pH 4	67.6 (2.3) aB	49.3 (5.9) bB	61.6 (4.9) aB	***	***	**
	Citric acid at pH 2	1874.7 (23.8) aC	1826 (35) aC	1702 (118) aC			
	Water	4.9 (1.6) aA	2 (0.6) bA	1.1 (0.1) bA			
Ca	Citric acid at pH 4	16.3 (0.8) aB	4.8 (0.3) bB	8.2 (0.8) cB	***	***	**
	Citric acid at pH 2	1367 (95) aC	1244 (124) aC	1308 (212) aC			
	Water	1.7 (0.7) aA	0.9 (0.43) bA	0.6 (0.1) bA			
Mg	Citric acid at pH 4	0.8 (0.2) aB	0.6 (0.2) aA	1.2 (0.0) aB	***	***	**
	Citric acid at pH 2	14.2 (1.3) aC	27.4 (2.4) bB	25.0 (5.4) bC			

, *Significant at P = 0.01 and P = 0.001, respectively. ^{a)}Means (standard deviations, n=3). ^{b)} Means followed by the same lowercase letter within each row are not significantly different at P < 0.05 by multiple-comparison Tukey test and those followed by the same uppercase letter within each column for a given element are not significantly different at P < 0.05 by multiple-comparison Tukey test.

The citric acid solution at pH 2 leached the highest amount of nutrients. For instance, at the end of the experiment, citric acid at pH 2 had leached from the finest fraction 27 and 86 times the amount of P obtained with the citric acid at pH 4 and water, respectively. The amounts of P and Ca extracted by the leaching experiment were higher than those extracted by single extraction in both water and 2% citric acid solution (Table 5).

For Ca there was no difference between the coarse and medium size-fractions in water and citric acid solution at pH 4 and for all the extraction times. The same was true for Mg in the finest and medium size-fractions in the case of citric acid solution at pH 2 during the first 72 h of extraction; thereafter the medium size-fraction presented a slightly higher cumulative release than the fine size fraction.

(ii) Release kinetics of P and Ca

The release kinetics was determined for both P and Ca, the most important nutrients in the phosphate rock fractions. During the leaching period the release rate decreased sharply up to 24 h, to steadily decrease until reaching values close to zero (Fig. 3). The finest fraction showed a higher release rate than the other particle-size fractions, which did not differ significantly between them, indicating that the kinetics was Controlled by superficial processes (Dorozhkin, 2012).

The citric acid solution at pH 2 showed the highest release rate, followed by citric acid solution at pH 4. The cumulative curves showed two leaching stages: 1) a rapid release during the first 24 h of leaching ascribed to the presence of easily dissolvable mineral surfaces probably activated during the grinding process, which could be taken as the short-term nutrient release efficiency (Truong and Fayard, 1995; Zapata and Roy, 2004; Gholizadeh et al., 2009), and 2) a slow release after 24 h of leaching, where the dissolution of the bulk mineral begins representing the medium- to long-term nutrient release efficiency, which is agronomically relevant.

Most of the solid had not dissolved when the near-zero release rate was reached, and therefore only the thin layer of superficial, very fine, poorly crystalline mineral material had dissolved. The amount of P and Ca extracted in this stage was similar among the particle-size fractions (P < 0.01) for citric acid at pH 2 (Table 4).



Fig. 2 Cumulative release of P, Ca, and Mg in water, citric acid solution (CA) at pH 4, and CA at pH 2 during the extraction time of 360 h from different particle-size fractions of phosphate rock collected from Mozambique. Vertical bars indicate standard errors of the means (n = 3).

Table 5

Amounts of P and Ca released in water and 2% citric acid solution (CA) during single extraction and leaching experiments from different size fractions of phosphate rock collected from Mozambique and analysis of variance (ANOVA) for extraction type, particle-size fraction, and their interaction.

Elements Extractants		Extraction	Pa	article-size fractions	5		
		type	0.063 – 0.25 mm	0.25 - 0.5 mm	0.5 - 2 mm	ANOVA	
D	Water	Single	19.7 (1.5) ^{a)} aA ^{b)}	15.0 (1.7) bA	11.0 (0.0) cA		
	water	Leaching	62.7 (4.6) aB	35.3 (3.2) bB	30.7 (2.1) bB	***	
Γ	20% Citria said	Single	1231 (5) aA	751.7 (36.1) bA	613.0 (52.0) bB		
	2% Chine actu	Leaching	5375 (135) aB	4590 (197) aB	3492 (296) bB		
	Water	Single	1.0 (0.0) aA	1.0 (0.0) aA	1.0 (0.0) aA	***	
Ca		Leaching	16.7 (2.5) aB	9.0 (0.0) bB	7.7 (1.5) bB		
Ca	20% Citria agid	Single	485.3 (18.5) aA	219.3 (17.4) bA	165.7 (4.6) bA		
	2% Chine actu	Leaching	4328 (263) aB	3094 (192) bB	2285 (320) bB		
	Watan	Single	0.05 (0.03) aA	0.07 (0.01) aA	0.09 (0.01) aA		
Ca:P	water	Leaching	0.27 (0.06) aB	0.25 (0.02) aB	0.25 (0.03) aB	ste ste ste	
	2% Citria agid	Single	0.39 (0.02) aA	0.29 (0.01) aA	0.26 (0.02) aA	***	
	2% Citric acid	Leaching	0.81 (0.05) aB	0.67 (0.02) aB	0.65 (0.05) aB		

*** Significant at P = 0.001. ^a)Means (standard deviations, n=3). ^b)Means followed by the same lowercase letter within each row are not significantly different at P < 0.05 by multiple-comparison Tukey test and those followed by the same uppercase letter within each column for a given element and a given extractant are not significantly different at P < 0.05 by multiple-comparison Tukey test.



Fig. 3 Logarithms of dissolution rates (*k*) of P and Ca (k_P and k_{Ca} , respectively) in water, citric acid solution (CA) at pH 4, and CA at pH 2 during the extraction time of 360 h from different particle-size fractions of phosphate rock collected from Mozambique. Vertical bars indicate standard errors of the means (n = 3).

The bulk mineral in the second stage was approaching the equilibrium by reaching the metastable conditions characterized by the persistence of apatite crystals with a passivated surface that reduces the reactivity of the mineral grain (Cuniglio et al., 2009). Because of this, mineral grains in contact with unsaturated solutions release lesser amounts of ions than expected from the mineral formula (Dorozhkin, 2012).

In our trial we demonstrated that the size of rock fragments and the leaching solution strength were the determinant factors for the release rates. The ideal (congruent) dissolution of fluoroapatite promoted by an organic acid is given below (adapted from Calvaruso et al., 2013):

$$Ca_5(PO_4)_3F + 6 AH \leftrightarrows 5 Ca^{2+} + 6A^{-} + 3 H_2PO_4^{-} + F^{-},$$
 (3)

where A⁻ represents the organic anion

An appropriate supply of protons (H⁺) and the removal of the reaction products (Ca²⁺, H₂PO₄⁻, and F) are necessary for the reaction to proceed forward (Robarge, 1999). The open system used in this study (columns) ensured the removal of the reaction products through solution percolation, while the citric acid solutions supplied H⁺ so the release could go forward. The mechanism of dissolution of fluoroapatite by LMWOAs such as citric acid is ascribed to the supply of H⁺, the formation of surface complexes that weaken and break the bonds among metals and lattice oxygen (Goyne et al., 2006; Dorozhkin, 2002; 2012), and the complexation of metals (Ca, Fe, and Al) by carboxyl ligands (-COOH). All of these reactions entail the release of phosphorus (H₂PO₄⁻) from the mineral (Goyne et al., 2006; Calvaruso et al., 2013).

The phosphate rock had a molar Ca/P ratio of ~ 1.2 (Table I). During the leaching in water and citric acid solution at pH 4, the molar Ca/P ratio in solution did not reach 0.5 (Fig. 4). The much lower Ca/P ratio in the leachates indicates the occurrence of an incongruent dissolution of fluoroapatite because P was being released preferentially over Ca. However, with citric acid solution at pH 2, the fluoroapatite dissolution seemed to be incongruent too, even though between 24 and 72 h of leaching the Ca/P ratio reached values close to the Ca/P ratio in the initial solid phase. Yet, the finest size-fraction always displayed the highest Ca/P ratio.



Fig. 4 Molar Ca:P and Ca:Mg ratios in water, citric acid solution (CA) at pH 4, and CA at pH 2 during the extraction time of 360 h in different particle-size fractions of phosphate rock and dolostone collected from Mozambique. Vertical bars indicate standard errors of the means (n = 3).

According to Harouiya et al., (2007), Dorozhkin (2002; 2012), and Crundwell (2014; 2015; 2016) Ca-apatites in acid solutions dissolve by ionic detachment of Ca and orthophosphate ions from the solid toward the solution. In our case, the formation of a Ca-rich layer (self – inhibition model) in both water and citric acid solution at pH 4, probably was determinant in decreasing the dissolution rate of apatite in the second stage.

Hence, the diffusion of Ca and orthophosphate ions occurred from the surface layer formed, so leading to incongruent dissolution (Dorozhkin, 2002; 2012). The Ca rich layer was probably thicker in the second stage of leaching because of the major contact time between the unsaturated solutions and apatite crystals. Because of this, the dissolution of fluoroapatite in citric acid solution at pH 2 proceeded at a certain rate in first 72 h of extraction, and decreased thereafter due the lack of removal of the Ca rich layer formed during the longer periods of solid-solution contact.

The citrate anion (and others such as oxalic, formic, etc.) have higher affinity for Ca than orthophosphate (Goyne et al., 2006; Dorozhkin, 2002; 2012) and play a considerable role in the dissolution of phosphate rock (Wei et al., 2011; Calvaruso et al., 2013). Therefore, the citric acid used in the leaching experiments may allow predicting the dissolution of phosphate rocks in acid soils.

However, the LMWOAs produced in the soil rhizosphere by root exudates and microbial activity (Marschner et al., 2011; Wei et al., 2011) have the capability to sparingly solubilize phosphatic particles and increase the availability of P (Kpomblekou and Tabatabai, 2003; Li et al., 2011; Cocco et al., 2013; Gómez and Carpena, 2014; De Feudis et al., 2016).

The dissolution of phosphate rock fractions can be increased by the removal of reaction products, in the plant-soil system and, even more, in the rhizosphere. Thus, Ca uptake may increase rock particle solubilization and, consequently, the availability of P for plants and microrganisms (Marschner et al., 2011; Panhwar et al., 2014).

3.3. Dolostone

3.3.1. General properties

Similar to phosphate rock, the abrasion pH of dolostone decreased significantly with contact time for all the particle-size fractions ranging from 9.57 at 6 min for the medium size fraction (0.25-0.5 mm) to 8.25 after 24 h for the coarse size fraction (Table 2). There were no significant differences among the size fractions during the contact time. As in the case of the phosphate rock fractions, the temporal decrease of abrasion pH can be attributed to the dissolution of atmospheric CO₂.

3.3.2. Long-term release in column experiments

(i) Cumulative releasing pattern of Ca, Mg, and K

The Ca and Mg were the major elements leached during the extraction period. Other elements such as Na, Ba, Zn, Cd, Ni, and Pb were present in concentrations close to 5 mmol kg⁻¹. Despite elements such as Fe, Mn, and Al being leached in concentrations lower than 30 mmol kg⁻¹, namely higher than K, here we discuss K together with Ca and Mg as plant macronutrients. The cumulative release of Ca, Mg, and K showed an increasing trend in all leaching solutions (Fig. 5). The release rate for Ca and Mg was relatively high in the first 24 h of leaching, and decreased thereafter. Among the particle-size fractions, the finest one showed the maximum cumulative release, followed by the medium size for Ca and Mg.



Fig. 5 Cumulative release of Ca, Mg, and K in water, citric acid solution (CA) at pH 4, and CA at pH 2 during the extraction time of 360 h from different particle-size fractions of dolostone collected from Mozambique. Vertical bars indicate standard errors of the means (n = 3).

As expected, the citric acid solution at pH 2 extracted substantively more nutrients than the other leaching solutions. The cumulative pattern of K differed from other nutrients as the medium and coarse size-fractions showed a linear trend after 72 h of leaching for both citric acid solutions at pH 4 and 2. Interestingly, more K dissolved from the finest fraction by water, not by citric acid at pH 4. *(ii) Release kinetics of Ca and Mg*

The kinetics of release was assessed for both Ca and Mg as they were the most important nutrients in dolostone. During the leaching period the release rate decreased sharply up to 24 h, followed by a steady decrease until reaching values close to zero (Fig. 6). The finest size fraction showed a slightly higher release rate than the other fractions. There were no significant differences between the medium and coarse sizes. The citric acid solution at pH 2 showed much higher release rates than the other leaching solutions.

Two stages of release were evident for all leaching solutions: 1) a stage of fast release in the first 24 h, and 2) a stage of slow release after 24 h for all leaching solutions, probably due to the precipitation of calcium citrate during the long period of solid/liquid contact (Al-Khaldi et al., 2007). During this second stage, probably characterized by incongruent dissolution, the release rate curves of the different size fractions became much closer, indicating a negligible effect of the particle size. The amounts of Ca and Mg leached during the second stage were higher for medium and coarse particle-size fractions (P < 0.01) in citric acid solution at pH 2, while there was not much difference among particle size fractions in water and citric acid solution at pH 4 (Fig. 6, Table 6).



Fig. 6 Logarithms of dissolution rates (*k*) of Ca and Mg (k_{Ca} and k_{Mg} , respectively) in water, citric acid solution (CA) at pH 4, and CA at pH 2 during the extraction time of 360 h from different particle-size fractions of dolostone collected from Mozambique. Vertical bars indicate standard errors of the means (n = 3).

Table 6

Cumulative release of Ca, Mg, and K in water, citric acid solution (CA) at pH 4, and CA at pH 2 during the extraction time between 24 and 360 h from different particle-size fractions of dolostone collected from Mozambique and analysis of variance (ANOVA) for leaching solution, particle-size fraction, and their interaction

El anno 1940	Leaching				
Elements	solutions	0.063 - 0.25 mm	0.25 - 0.5 mm	0.5 – 2 mm	ANOVA
	Water	57.7 (0.7) ^{a)} aA ^{b)}	37.9 (4.3) bA	26. 9 (1.6) cA	
Ca	Citric acid at pH 4	73.2 (16.0) aA	55.8 (1.2) aA	56.3 (4.6) bB	***
	Citric acid at pH 2	643.0(413.1) aB	1747 (293) bC	1600 (64) bC	
	Water	26.5 (0.4) aA	23.6 (3.6) aA	13.72 (2.61) bA	
Mg	Citric acid at pH 4	37.1 (9.0) aB	30.8 (2.2) aA	27.4 (1.7) aB	***
	Citric acid at pH 2	579. 9 (327.0) aC	1913 (261.0) bB	1781.7 (59.1) bC	
	Water	0.6 (0.0) aA	0.7 (0.3) aA	0.4 (0.2) bA	
K	Citric acid at pH 4	0.0 (0.0) aB	0.1 (0.0) aB	0.5 (0.1) bA	**
	Citric acid at pH 2	0.8 (0.1) aC	4.9 (0.5) bC	3.6 (0.5) bB	

, *Significant at P = 0.01 and P = 0.001, respectively; ^{a)}Means (standard deviations, n=3). rock size fraction; and interaction: leaching solutions x rock size fraction; ^{b)}Means followed by the same lowercase letter within each row are not significantly different at P < 0.05 by multiple-comparison Tukey test and those followed by the same uppercase letter within each column for a given element are not significantly different at P < 0.05 by multiplecomparison Tukey test

The release rate of Ca was twice those of Mg in both water and citric acid solution at pH 4, and similar for both elements in citric acid solution at pH 2 because of the considerable amounts of Mg dissolved by this leaching solution. In water and citric acid solution at pH 4, Ca dissolved preferentially compared to Mg during most of the extraction time and the releasing was non-stoichiometric (Fig. 4). In citric acid solution at pH 2, after a short period of preferential release of Ca, the molar Ca/Mg ratio dropped to values close to 1, the Ca/Mg ratio in dissolved rock, because of the low pH (Pokrovsky et al., 2009). The ideal (congruent) dissolution of calcareous minerals due to an organic acid is given below (adapted from Pansu and Gautheyrou, 2006):

 $CaCO_3 + 2AH \leftrightarrows Ca^{2+} + 2A^{-} + H_2O + CO_2 \text{ (fast reaction)}$ (4)

 $MgCO_3 + 2AH \leftrightarrows Mg^{2+} + 2A^{-} + H_2O + CO_2 \text{ (slow reaction)}$ (5)

where A⁻ represents the organic anion

The dissolution rate of dolomite generally slower than that of calcite and in acid solution is affected by the transport rate of the reactants, surface reaction, and transport rate of products away from the surface (Yasuda et al., 2013). The same as in the phosphate rock, the open system of columns used in this study ensured the removal of products and the supply of H^+ by citric acid solutions, so favouring the dissolution of dolostone.

This explanation is in accordance with the sharp decrease of Ca/Mg ratio in the first 24 h of leaching, which was due to the increase of Mg release. In citric acid solution at pH 2, the steady decrease of Ca/Mg ratio after 24 h of leaching was ascribed to higher dissolution of the remaining carbonates (enriched in Mg). The higher affinity of the citrate anion for Ca over Mg (Dorozhkin, 2002, 2012) and the leaching of the reaction products were the driving force of dolostone dissolution. The high citrate concentration in citrate solution at pH 2 favored the complexation of Mg, rendering the dissolution congruent in the later periods of leaching. Thus, this type of rock can be used for pH correction and Ca plus Mg replenishment for plant uptake, while mitigating Al toxicity (Conyers et al., 1996; Conyers, 2003; Viadé et al., 2011; Bothe, 2015; da Costa and Crusciol, 2016; Tiritan et al., 2016).

The LMWOAs such as citric acid promote dolostone dissolution by complexing both Ca and Mg from the rock surface (Manahan, 2000; Zimdahl, 2015) resulting in an increase of nutrients (Panhwar et al., 2014; da Costa and Crusciol, 2016). Based on leaching curves, the dolostone will have a much higher impact in strongly acid soils, even though the slower release rate of dolomite within the dolostone will ensure the long-term efficiency of nutrient release.

4. Conclusions

The leaching experiments run in an open-system (columns) under Controlled conditions showed that the nutrient release from phosphate rock and dolostone fraction was mainly a function of particlesize, strength of the leaching solution, and time. Increased concentrations of citric acid solution resulted in a greater dissolution. The application of the tested rocks fractions to strongly acid soils from tropical areas is suitable as they behave like slow release fertilizers that are able to replenish the soil with P, Ca, and Mg with the benefit of liming.

Application of the coarse size fraction (0.5 - 2 mm) of both rocks demands less energy inputs for crushing and grinding than other sizes; however, the reactivity of this size fraction is low, and its application to the soil would be much less effective than finer size-fractions. The application of both fine and medium grained materials might represent a good balancing to ensure a short and medium-term release of nutrients and alkalizing species. Managing the rhizosphere activities to promote the production of LMWOAs will be a good strategy to improve nutrient release by these rock fractions in acid soils. Much work has to be done to transfer these lab results to the field, in particular on the overall impact of considerable amounts of fresh rocks added to tropical soils.

Acknowledgments

Funds for this work were mainly obtained from the "Applied Research and Multi-sectorial Program" (FIAM)" granted by Italian Cooperation and Development Agency (ICDA) to the *Universidade Eduardo Mondlane*, under project contract No. 5.2.1. The authors also acknowledge the Polytechnic University of Marche (Ancona, Italy) for PhD scholarship provided to the first author. Any findings, conclusion and recommendation presented in this document do not necessary reflect the views of the donors.

Bibliography

Adriano, D.C. 2013. Trace Elements in the Terrestrial Environment. Springer Science and Business Media, New York.

Al-Awadi, M., Clark, W.J., Moore, W.R., Herron, M., Zhang, T., Zhao, W., Hurley, N., Kho, D., Montaron, B., Sadooni, F. 2009. Dolomite: Perspectives on Perplexing Mineral. *Oilfield Review*.
21:32–45.

Al-Khaldi, M.H., Nasr-El-Din, H.A., Mehta, S., Al-Aamri, A.D. 2007. Reaction of citric acid with calcite. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* **62**:5880–5896.

Álvarez, E., Fernández-Sanjurjo, M.J., Nuñez, A., Seco, N., Corti, G. 2012. Aluminium fractionation and speciation in bulk and rhizosphere of grass soil amended with mussel shells or lime. *Geoderma*. **173**:322–329.

Appleton, J.D. 2002. Local phosphate resources for sustainable development in Sub-Saharan Africa. British Geological Survey Report, CR/02/121/N. Keyworth, Nottingham, UK.

Beckingham, L.E., Mitnick, E.H., Steefel, C.I., Zhang, S., Voltolini, M., Swift, A.M., Yang, Li, Cole, D., Sheets, J.M., Ajo-Franklin, J.B., DePaolo, D.J., Mito, S., Xue, Z. 2016. Evaluation of mineral reactive surface area estimates for prediction of reactivity of a multi-mineral sediment. *Geoch. Cosmoch. Acta.* **188**:310–329.

Boss, C.B., Fredeen, K.J. 1997. Concepts, instrumentation and techniques in Inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry. Perkin Elemer, USA.

Bothe, H. 2015. The lime-silicate question. Soil Biol. Bioch. 89:172–183.

Caires, E.F., Alleoni, L.R.F., Cambri, M.A., Barth, G. 2005. Surface application of lime for crop grain production under a no-till system. *Agron. J.* **97**:791–798.

Calvaruso, C., Turpault, M.P., Frey-Klett, P., Uroz, S., Pierret, M.C., Tosheva, Z., Kies, A. 2013. Increase of apatite dissolution rate by Scots pine roots associated or not with *Burkholderia glathei* PML1(12) Rp in open-system flow microcosms. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*. **106**:287–306.

Chien, S., Prochnow, L., Tu, S., Snyder, C.S. 2011. Agronomic and environmental aspects of phosphate fertilizers varying in source and solubility: an update review. *Nutri. Cycl. Agroecos.* **89**:229–255.

Cocco, S., Agnelli, A., Gobran, G.R., Corti, G. 2013. Changes induced by the roots of *Erica arborea* L. to create a suitable environment in a soil developed from alkaline and fine-texture marine sediments. *Plant Soil*. **368**:297–313.

Conyers, M. 2003. Amelioration of acidity with time by limestone under contrasting tillage. *Soil Till. Res.* **72**:85–94.

Conyers, M.K., Scott, B.J., Fisher, R., Lill, W. 1996. Predicting the field performance of twelve commercial liming materials from southern Australia. *Fert. Res.* **44**:151–161.

Crundwell, F.K. 2014. The mechanism of dissolution of minerals in acidic and alkaline solutions: Part I — A new theory of non-oxidation dissolution. *Hydrometallurgy*. **149**:252–264.

Crundwell, F.K. 2015. The mechanism of dissolution of the feldspars: Part I. Dissolution at conditions far from equilibrium. *Hydrometallurgy*. **151**:151–162.

Crundwell, F.K. 2016. The mechanism of dissolution of minerals in acidic and alkaline solutions: Part VI a molecular viewpoint. *Hydrometallurgy*. **161**:34–44.

Cuniglio, R., Corti, G., Agnelli A. 2009. Rock fragments evolution and nutrient release in vineyard soils developed on a thinly layered limestone (Tuscany, Italy). *Geoderma*. **148**:375–383.

da Costa, C.H.M., Crusciol, C.A.C. 2016. Long-term effects of lime and phosphogypsum application on tropical no-till soybean–oat–sorghum rotation and soil chemical properties. *Europ. J. Agron.* **74**:119–132.

De Feudis, M., Cardelli, V., Massaccesi, L., Bol, R., Willbold, S., Cocco, S., Corti, G., Agnelli, A. 2016. Effect of beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) rhizosphere on phosphorous availability in soils at different altitudes (central Italy). *Geoderma*. **276**:53–63.

Dewaide, L., Baele, J.M., Collon-Drouaillet, P., Quinif, Y., Rochez, G., Vandycke, S., Hallet, V. 2014. Karstification in dolomitized Waulsortian mudmounds (Belgium). *Geo. Belgica*. **17**:43–51.

Dixon, J.B., Schulze, S.G. 2002. Soil Mineralogy with Environmental Applications. Soil Science Society of America Book Series. No 7. Soil Science Society of America, Inc., Madison, Wisconsin, USA.

Dorozhkin, S.V. 2002. A review on the dissolution models of calcium apatites. *Progr. Crystal Growth Charact. Mat.* **44**:45–61.

Dorozhkin, S.V. 2012. Dissolution mechanism of calcium apatites in acids: A review of literature. *World J. Method.* **2**:1–17.

European Commission. 2000. Official Journal of the European Communities. 269:1–15.

FAO. 2016. Acid Soils. Available online at http://www.fao.org/soils-portal/soilmanagement/management-of-some-problem-soils/acid-soils/en/ (verified on April 24, 2016).

Gholizadeh, A., Ardalan, M., Tehrani, M.M., Hossein, H. M., Karimian, N. 2009. Solubility test in some phosphate rocks and their potential for direct application in soil. *World Appl. Sci. J.* **6**:182–190.

Gómez, D.A., Carpena, R.O. 2014. Effect of 1-naphthaleneacetic acid on organic acid exudation by the roots of white lupin plants grown under phosphorus-deficient conditions. *J. Plant Phys.* **171**:1354–1361.

Gouveia, D.H., Azevedo, E.A. 1949. Caracteristicas e Distribuição dos Solos de Moçambique: I – Carta Provisória dos Solos do Sul do Save; II – Esboço Pedologico da Colónia de Moçambique. Trabalhos do Centro de Investigação Científica Algodoeira, Moçambique.

Goyne, K.W., Brantley, S.L., Chorover, J. 2006. Effects of organic acids and dissolved oxygen on apatite and chalcopyrite dissolution: Implications for using elements as organomarkers and oxymarkers. *Chem. Geo.* **234**:28–45.

Goyne, K.W., Brantley, S.L., Chorover, J. 2010. Rare earth element release from phosphate minerals in the presence of organic acids. *Chem. Geo.* **278**:1–14.

Grant, W.H. 1969. Abrasion pH, an index of chemical weathering. Clays Clay Miner. 17:151–155.

Harouiya, N., Chairat, C., Köhler, S.J., Gout, R., Oelkers, E.H. 2007. The dissolution kinetics and apparent solubility of natural apatite in closed reactors at temperatures from 5 to 50 °C and pH from 1 to 6. *Chem. Geo.* **244**:554–568.

IAEA (International Atomic Energy Agency). 2002. Assessment of soil phosphorus status and management of phosphatic fertilisers to optimise crop production. IAEA, Austria.

Joergensen, R.G., Wichern, F. 2008. Quantitative assessment of the fungal contribution to microbial tissue in soil. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **40**:2977–2991.

Khasawneh, F.E., Doll, E.C. 1978. The use of phosphate rock for direct application to soil. *Adv. Agron.* **30**:159-206.

Klugh-Stewart, K., Cumming, J.R. 2009. Organic acid exudation by mycorrhizal *Andropogon virginicus* L. (broomsedge) roots in response to aluminum. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **41**:367–373.

Kpomblekou, A.K., Tabatabai, M. 2003. Effect of low-molecular weight organic acids on phosphorus release and phytoavailability of phosphorus in phosphate rocks added to soils. *Agr. Ecosyst. Envir.* **100**:275-284.

Kuo, S. 1996. Phosphorus. *In* Sparks, *et al.*, (eds.), Methods of Soil Analysis Part 3 – Chemical Methods. Soil Science Society of America, American Society of Agronomy, Madison. pp. 869–919. Langmuir, D. 1997. Aqueous environmental geochemistry. Prentice Hall, New Jersey.

Lasaga, A.C. 1995. Fundamental approaches in describing mineral dissolution and precipitation reactions. *Revi. Miner. Geoche.* **31**:23-86.

Lasaga, A.C. 1998. Kinetic theory in the earth sciences. Princeton University Press, New Jersey.

Li, Y.S., Gao, Y., Tian, Q.Y., Shi, F.L., Li, L.H., Zhang, W.H. 2011. Stimulation of root acid phosphatase by phosphorus deficiency is regulated by ethylene in *Medicago falcata*. *Envi. Exp. Bot.* **71**:114–120.

Liu, Z., Yuan, D., Dreybrodt, W. 2005. Comparative study of dissolution rate-determining mechanisms of limestone and dolomite. *Env. Geo.* **49**:274–279.

Manahan, S.E. 2000. Soil Environmental Chemistry. Environmental Chemistry. Boca Raton: CRC Press LLC, USA.

Maria, R.M., Yost, R. 2006. A survey of soil fertility status of four agroecological zones of Mozambique. *Soil Sci.* **171**:902–914.

Marschner, P., Crowley, D., Rengel, Z. 2011. Rhizosphere interactions between microorganisms and plants govern iron and phosphorus acquisition along the root axis - model and research methods. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **43**:883–894.

Meloun, M., Sánka, M., Nemec, P., Kritková, S., Kupka, K. 2005. The analysis of soil cores polluted with certain metals using the Box-Cox transformation. *Envi. Poll.* **137**:273–280.

Olsson, P.A., Wallander, H. 1998. Interactions between ectomycorrhizal fungi and the bacterial community in soils amended with various primary minerals. *FEMS Micro. Eco.* **27**:195–205.

Panhwar, Q.A., Naher, U.A., Radziah, O., Shamshuddin, J., Mohd Razi, I. 2014. Fertilizer, ground magnesium limestone and basalt applications may improve chemical properties of Malaysian acid sulfate soils and rice growth. *Pedosphere*. **24**:827–835.

Pansu, M., Gautheyrou, J. 2006. Handbook of soil analysis: Mineralogical, Organic and Inorganic Methods. Springer-Verlad, Berlin Heidelberg, New York.

Pennell, K.D. 2016. Specific Surface Area. Ency. Soils Env. 1:13–19.

Pokrovsky, O.S., Golubev, S.V., Schott, J., Castillo, A. 2009. Calcite, dolomite and magnesite

dissolution kinetics in aqueous solutions at acid to circumneutral pH, 25 to 150 °C and 1 to 55 atm pCO₂: New constraints on CO₂ sequestration in sedimentary basins. *Chem. Geoy.* **265**:20–32.

Rajan, S.S.S., Brown, M.W., Boyes, M.K., Upsdell, M.P. 1992. Extractable phosphorus to predict agronomic effectiveness of ground and unground phosphate rocks. *Fert. Res.* **32**:291–302.

Robarge, W.P. 1999. Precipitation/Dissolution reactions in soils. *In*: Sparks, D.L. (eds). Soil physical chemistry. 2nd Edn. CRC Press, USA. pp. 193-238.

Romero, R., Taboada, T.M., Garcia, C., Macías, F. 1987. Use of abrasion pH as an index of weathering and pedogenesis degree in granitic soils of A Coruña (Spain). *Cuad. Lab. Xeoló. Laxe*. (In Spanish). **11**:171-182.

Szilas, C. 2002. The Tanzanian Minjingu Phosphate Rocks – possibilities and limitation for direct application. PhD Dissertation, Royal Veterinary and Agricultural University, Denmark.

Szilas, C., Koch, C.B., Msolla, M.M., Borggaard, O.K. 2008. The reactivity of Tanzanian Minjingu phosphate rock can be assessed from the chemical and mineralogical composition. *Geoderma*. **147**:172–177.

Szilas, C., Semoka, J. M.R., Borggaard, O.K. 2007. Can local Minjingu phosphate rock replace superphosphate on acid soils in Tanzania? *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*. **77**:257-268.

Tang, C., Zhu, J., Li, Z., Zhu, R., Zhou, Q., Wei, J., He, H., Tao, Qi. 2015. Surface chemistry and reactivity of SiO₂ polymorphs: A comparative study on α-quartz and α-cristobalite. *Appl. Surface Sci.* **355**:1161–1167.

Tiritan, C.S., Büll, L., Crusciol, C., Antonio, C.A., Carmeis, F. 2016. Tillage system and lime application in a tropical region: Soil chemical fertility and corn yield in succession to degraded pastures. *Soil Till. Res.* **155**:437–447.

Truong, B., Fayard, C. 1995. Small-scale fertilizer production units using raw and partially solubilized phosphate. *In:* H. Gerner and A.U. Mokwunye (eds). Use of phosphate rock for sustainable agriculture in West Africa. Muscle Shoals, Alabama, USA. pp. 181–198.

Turpault, M.P., Nys, C., Calvaruso, C. 2009. Rhizosphere impact on the dissolution of test minerals in a forest ecosystem. *Geoderma*. **153**:147–154.

Van Raij, B. 2011. Fertilidade do solo e Maneio de Nutrientes. *Inst. Agronómico de Campinas*, Piracicaba, Brasil.

Van Straaten, P. 2002. Rocks for crops: Agrominerals of sub-Saharan Africa. ICRAF, Nairobi, Kenya.

Van Straaten, P. 2006. Farming with rocks and minerals: challenges and opportunities. *Ana. Acad. Brasil. Cienc.* **78**:731-747.

Van Straaten, P. 2007. Agrogeology: The use of rocks for crops. Enviroquest Ltd., Canada.

Viadé, A. Fernandez-Marcos, M.L., Hernández-Nistal, J., Álvarez, E. 2011. Effect of particle size of limestone on Ca, Mg and K contents in soil and in sward plants. *Sci. Agricola*. **68**:200–208.

Wei, W., Zhang, J., Cui, J., Wei, Z. 2011. Interaction between low molecular weight organic acids and hydroxyapatite with different degrees of crystallinity. *Colloids Surf. Physicochem. Eng. Aspects.* **392**:67–75.

Weindorf, D.C., Chakraborty, S. 2016. Portable X-ray fluorescence spectrometry analysis of soils. *Methods of Soil Analysis. Soil Sci. Soc. America J.* **1**:2-8.

Yasuda, E.Y., dos Santos, R.G., Trevisan, O.V. 2013. Kinetics of carbonate dissolution and its effects on the porosity and permeability of consolidated porous media. *J. Petroleum Sci. Eng.* 112:284–289.
Zapata, F., Roy, R.N. 2004. Use of phosphate rocks for sustainable agriculture. FAO, Rome, Italy.
Zimdahl, R.L. 2015. Chapter 3 – Lime: A Soil Amendment. *In* Zimdahl, R.L. (eds.) Six Chemicals That Changed Agriculture, Academic Press, Elsevier, Netherlands. pp. 41–54.

CHAPTER 3 - PHOSPHATE ROCK, DOLOSTONE, AND BIOCHAR APPLICATION TO AN ACID ARENOSOL

Increased phosphorus availability to corn as a result of the simultaneous application of phosphate rock, dolostone and biochar to an acid Arenosol

^{ab,}*Rafael, Rogério Borguete Alves; ^{cf}Fernández-Marcos, Maria Luisa; ^bCocco, Stefania; ^dRuello, Maria Letizia;

^eFornasier, Flavio; ^bCorti, Giuseppe

^aDepartment of Rural Engineering, Faculty of Agronomy and Forestry Engineering, Universidade Eduardo Mondlane, 257, Maputo, Mozambique

^bDepartment of Agriculture, Food and Environmental Sciences, Università Politecnica delle Marche, 60131 Ancona, Italy ^cDepartment of Soil Science and Agricultural Chemistry, Universidad de Santiago de Compostela, 27002 Lugo, Spain

^dDepartment of Materials, Environmental Sciences and Urban Planning, Università Politecnica delle Marche, 60131 Ancona, Italy

^eConsiglio per la Ricerca e la Sperimentazione in Agricoltura, Centro di Ricerca per lo Studio delle Relazioni tra Pianta e Suolo (C.R.E.A.-R.P.S.), Gorizia, Italy

^fInstituto de Biodiversidade Agraria e Desenvolvemento Rural, Universidad de Santiago de Compostela, 27002 Lugo, Spain

*Corresponding author: rogerborguete@gmail.com; rogerio.rafael@uem.mz

Other authors: mluisa.fernandez@usc.es; s.cocco@univpm.it; m.l.ruello@univpm.it; flavio.fornasier@crea.gov.it; g.corti@univpm.it

Manuscript is under review by Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science Journal

Preliminary results were published as oral communication on 40° National congress of SISS, held in Ancona, Italy (1-3, December 2016)

Abstract

Phosphorus (P) deficiency is one of the main constrains for crop production in acid soils, including many Arenosols. The aim of this study is to investigate the chemical and biochemical responses of an acid Arenosol treated with phosphate rock, dolostone, and biochar, and implication in corn yield. The experiment used a surface soil (0-20 cm) from Marracuene district, Mozambique. The following treatments were assessed, in which corn was grown for 110 d: Control, WSP (zinc phosphite as soluble P), PR (phosphate rock), WSP+D (calcareous rock), WSP+BC (biochar), WSP+D+BC, PR+BC, and PR+D+BC. Biochar was produced by pyrolysis of babycorn peels for 4 h at 450°C and applied at 1.1 % (w:w) rate. The soil pH_{H20} was highest in the PR+D+BC treatment, but no significant difference among WSP+D, WSP+D+BC and PR+BC treatments was found. Easily oxidizable organic C (EOOC), CEC, base saturation, and available P were higher in treatments including biochar compared to Control. Treatments containing dolostone and/or biochar led to the highest activity of alkaline phosphomonoesterase, phosphodiesterase and α -glucosidase, increasing phosphorus availability, and gave the highest biomass and yields. Biochar supplied most P in treatments including WSP.

Key words: enzyme activity; soil fertility; fertilizers; Arenosols

1. Introduction

Phosphorus, being a scarce element in most natural soils, is one of the nutrients that most often limit agricultural yields. In agricultural soils, P must generally be supplied through fertilizers (Holford, 1997). In most developed countries agriculture contributes a net excess of P, which leads to an increase of soil P stock and the risk of exportation of this element to water bodies, in developing countries soils are often P-deficient (McDowell et al., 2016).

Acid Arenosols are among the most problematic soils for crop growth because of their acidity and low cation exchange capacity, water holding capacity and organic matter content (Molnár et al., 2015; Price et al., 2015), as well as deficiency of plant essential nutrients (van Straaten 2002; 2006; van Raij, 2011). Phosphorus deficiency in particular, especially in tropical and sub-tropical areas, is critical (Zhang et al., 2016). Liming has often been used to increase P availability as it can improve the fertility of soils that have P in unavailable forms (Bhat et al., 2010). However, the amounts of both total and available P in acid Arenosols are usually so low that the addition of P fertilizers is the only practice that may ensure sufficient yields. Unfortunately, in many areas with acid Arenosols the high cost of commercial fertilizers represents an insurmountable obstacle.

Therefore, finding alternative local organic or inorganic resources that can supply nutrients for sustainable crop production is a practical, low-cost and long-term strategy that addresses the needs of poor farmers (Haque et al., 1999; Odongo et al., 2007; Asomaning et al., 2009). In countries that cannot afford costly fertilizers, the exploitation of their own rock outcrops is a possible alternative (Appleton, 2002; Van Straaten, 2002; 2006; Odongo et al., 2007). Phosphate and calcareous rocks can be considered suitable for direct application as P fertilizer and liming material, respectively, in acid soils (Szilas et al., 2008; Rafael et al., *in press*). Application of phosphate rock to acid soils can increase soil pH as well as crop yields (Weil, 2000). Application of lime to acid soil can improve significantly soil physic-chemical properties, reducing Al and Mn toxicity (Alvarez et al., 2009), improving nutrient uptake, aeration and P availability (Viadé et al., 2011) and leading to optimum pH for crop growth (Anikwe et al., 2016).

Also, the application of biochar to degraded, poor, tropical soils has positive effects on soil properties (Dari et al., 2016; Hussain et al., 2017). In acid Arenosols, biochar can improve soil physicchemical properties by boosting the soil organic C pool, water holding capacity, nutrient availability and adsorption through CEC improvement (Lehmann et al., 2011; Głąb et al., 2016; Obia et al., 2016). Biochar in soil can act as phosphate adsorbent and/or source of available P (Alburquerque et al., 2014; Qayyum et al., 2015; Dari et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2016). Atkinson et al. (2010) and Zhang et al. (2016) stated that the increase of P availability in soil after biochar application was due to the increase of anion exchange capacity of the soil. Other researchers attributed the increase of P availability in soil amended with biochar to the increase of pH (Alling et al., 2014; Ding et al., 2016; Berihun et al., 2017), or to the competition between phosphate and negatively charged organic species dissolved from biochar for the adsorption sites on colloids (Warnock et al., 2007; Soinne et al., 2014).

Some types of biochars (ex.: Pinus biochar) can also promote the growth of phosphate solubilizing bacteria (Anderson et al., 2011), which play a key role in the dissolution of sparingly soluble P fertilizers such as phosphate rocks. Biochar produced from corn straw has been reported to improve the quality of acid soils by raising soil pH, exchangeable cations, base saturation and CEC, while reducing Al activity, besides contributing available P and P adsorbing capacity and improving soil physical properties. So, corn straw biochar improves agricultural yields (Chintala et al., 2014a and b; Kauffman et al., 2014; Wan et al., 2014; Bai et al., 2017; Sandhu et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2017). It has also been reported that corn biochars influence microbial activity in soils with low organic matter content (Khadem and Raiesi, 2017).

Soil enzyme activity has been used as indicator of biological equilibrium and soil quality (Gil-Sotres et al., 2005; Shukla and Varma, 2011). Biochar may affect availability of nutrients as it is able to increase several soil enzyme activities, in particular those involved in the C, N, and P cycles (Shukla and Varma, 2011; Quilliam et al., 2013; Pandey et al., 2016). However, biochar nutrients content and properties are mostly defined by feedstock source and pyrolysis conditions (Alburquerque et al., 2014; Ding et al., 2016). Notwithstanding the knowledge amassed on the effect of phosphate rock, calcareous rock, and biochar on soil, as far as we know there is no published research on the synergies between biochar and rocky materials, and modifications of the soil chemical and biochemical properties due to their simultaneous application in tropical acid soils. Therefore, more information on these subjects are needed to increase crop production while protecting the environment.

The aim of this study is to investigate the chemical and biochemical responses of an acid Arenosol treated with phosphate rock, dolostone, and babycorn peel biochar. Specifically, we aim to assess in pot experiments the effects of the simultaneous application of phosphate rock (as sparingly soluble P source), dolostone (as liming material), and biochar (contributing soluble P and retaining capacity)

on: a) soil chemical and biochemical (enzyme activity) properties, b) corn growth and yield, and c) P flows and uptake.

The hypotheses tested were: 1) Since in acid Arenosols of disadvantaged countries crop yields tend to reduce, the use of phosphate and calcareous rocks and biochar should improve soil chemical and biochemical properties and, as a result, corn yield increase. In fact, the overall increase of pH and improvement of soil properties should directly or indirectly increase nutrient availability and decrease nutrient leaching (because of biochar), so to improve soil fertility. 2) The response of the soil enzyme activity should be enzyme specific, as reported by Hussain et al. (2017). 3) Since plants can exudate phosphate sand organic molecules to mobilize organic P and increase the availability of P from phosphate rock and biochar (Marschner et al., 2004; Hinsinger et al., 2006; Neumann and Römheld, 2012), the rhizosphere should affect differently than the bulk soil the enzyme activity patterns to increase availability of P.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Soil sampling and inputs preparation

The A horizon (0-20 cm thickness) of an albic Arenosol was collected in an open scrubland located in southern Mozambique, Marracuene district (25.72577° S, 032.64835° E). Prior to use, the soil was air dried and sieved at 2 mm to remove gravels and roots. As water soluble P fertilizer a commercial zinc phosphite solution (28% of P₂O₅ and 8% Zn, w:w) was used. A nutrient solution with the following composition was also prepared (adapted from Vanek and Lehmann, 2014): 2 mmol L⁻¹ of NH₄NO₃, 2.56 mmol L⁻¹ of KCl, 1 mmol L⁻¹ of MgSO₄, 25 µmol L⁻¹ of H₃BO₃, 2 µmol L⁻¹ of MnSO₄, 2 µmol L⁻¹ of ZnSO₄, 0.5 µmol L⁻¹ of CuSO₄, 0.5 µmol L⁻¹ of (NH₄)₆Mo₇O₂₄. In the treatments where zinc phosphate was applied, the nutrient solution did not include ZnSO₄ to avoid excess of Zn application.

Both rocks (phosphate and calcareous) from Mozambique. The phosphate rock (PR) was collected from the Evate district (Nampula Province), while the calcareous rock, a dolostone (D), was collected from Mount Muambe (Tete Province). Blocks of both rocks were fragmented by using a grinding press, and the fragments were then ground using an agate mortar. Both rock powders were reduced to two particle-size fractions: 0.063-0.25 mm and 0.25-0.5 mm. The dimensions of the fractions were obtained as per Rafael et al. (2017). Babycorn peel was used as feedstock for biochar production using a low-cost home-made pyrolyser made of two concentric cylinders. The babycorn

peel was placed into the inner cylinder, while firewood was burnt in the outer cylinder providing energy to heat the inner cylinder. The babycorn peel was pyrolysed for 4 h and the temperature reached about 450°C. After the carbonisation process, the biochar was washed twice with distilled water to eliminate the excess ash and was then dried in an oven for 48 h at 60 °C. Prior to be analysed and used, the biochar was ground using a mortar until the particles were in the range 0.063 - 0.25 mm.

2.2. Pot experiments

In the facility of the Faculty of Agronomy and Forest Engineering (Eduardo Mondlane University, Maputo, Mozambique), a pot trial was designed as a completely random test with eight treatments: 1) Control soil, with no addition; 2) soil with water soluble zinc phosphite fertilizer (WSP); 3) soil with ground phosphate rock (PR); 4) soil with WSP and ground dolostone (WSP+D); 5) soil with WSP and biochar (WSP+BC); 6) soil with WSP, D, and BC (WSP+D+BC); 7) soil with PR and BC (PR+BC); 8) soil with PR, D, and BC (PR+D+BC). For each treatment tree replications were applied. The use of zinc phosphite was preferred over other water soluble P bearing fertilizers as it is highly soluble and, once in soil, phosphite is gradually transformed to phosphate (Adams, 1953). We did not includ biochar or dolostone treatments alone since it has been widely documented that the application of biochar alone may fail to increase crop production (Gaskin et al., 2010; Spokas, 2010; Calderón et al., 2015; Hussain et al., 2017), and similarly may happen with applications of calcareous rock alone to acid Arenosol in the short-term (Musharo and Nyamangara, 2011; Rothwell et al., 2015).

The pots were prepared with 17 L plastic buckets with 3 small holes of 10 mm in diameter at the bottom to avoid stagnant water. Each pot was prepared with a soil layer of 6 kg on the bottom, and then a layer of 4 kg of the same soil homogenized with the inputs so to make a 15 cm thickness with an approximate bulk density of 1.50 kg dm^{-3} . Dolostone was applied as a 1:1 mixture of both 0.063-0.25 and 0.25-0.5 mm fractions, at a rate of 5 g pot⁻¹ each, equivalent to about 7.5 ton ha⁻¹ of dolostone (considering a soil depth of 20 cm with a bulk density of 1.5 kg dm⁻³). Phosphate rock was applied as a mixture made of 9 g pot⁻¹ of the 0.063-0.25 mm fraction, and 26 g pot⁻¹ of the 0.25-0.5 mm fraction, so as to provide 140 mg pot⁻¹ of available P. These amounts were equivalent to about 26.25 ton ha⁻¹ of phosphate rock and 105 kg ha⁻¹ of available P (20 cm soil depth, bulk density of 1.5 kg dm⁻³) predicted by neutral ammonium citrate extraction (Rafael et al., *in press*). In the treatments without PR, WSP was used as a P source and was applied at a rate of 1.14 g pot⁻¹ so as to provide 140 mg pot⁻¹ of available P, which is equivalent to 105 kg ha⁻¹. Biochar was applied at 1.1 % (w:w)
rate, equivalent to about 33 ton ha⁻¹ (for a soil depth of 20 cm with a soil bulk density of 1.5 kg dm⁻³).

The soil in the pots was pre-incubated for 7 d to allow an initial dissolution of both dolostone and phosphate fragments, and to avoid possible negative effects on plant growth due to biochar volatile substances (Vanek and Lehmann, 2014; Dutta et al., 2017). During the pre-incubation, each pot was irrigated three times per week with 500 mL of distilled water. After this period, 3 corn seeds per pot (MRI594 - Hybrid white early maturity cultivar) were sown (March 28th, 2016), but only one emerged plant per pot was left. During the growing period (90 d) the soil temperature ranged from 24.0 \pm 2.0 to 28.0 \pm 1.2°C, and all the pots were watered with 500 mL of distilled water once per week, and fertirrigated every two d with 300 mL of nutrient solution (NS). Fertirrigation was made during the first 70 d, while watering lasted growing period. The watering frequency was increased to three times per week due the high water demand of corn plants in vegetative stage, starting from 6 weeks after the emergence.

Pests were Controlled by an alternating weekly distribution of fungicide Amistar Top (active substances: azoxystrobin + difenoconazole) + insecticide/acaricide Agromectin 1.8 EC (active substance: abamectin) with fungicide Ridomil Gold (active substances: metalaxyl + mancozeb) + HITCEL 44% EC (active substances: profenofos + cypermethrin). Plants were harvested 90 d after germination, during flowering. Dry (60 °C) total biomass and shoot weight were determined. Soil samples were collected separating the rhizosphere from the bulk soil so as to assess the P flux between these two soil compartments. The soil adhering to the roots was considered as rhizospheric soil and separated according to Corti et al. (2005).

2.3. Soil, plant, and biochar analysis

The soil particle-size distribution was determined by the pipette method (Day, 1965), after maintaining the samples submerged in deionized water for 24 h. The sand fraction was retrieved by wet sieving at 0.05 mm, while silt was separated from the clay by sedimentation after dispersion in 0.01 M NaOH. The pH was determined potentiometrically on dry soil (1:2.5 w:v) and biochar (1:100 w:v) in both water and 1M KCl solution. For biochar, the suspensions were heated to 90°C in a water bath, stirred for 20 min to allow dissolution of the soluble components, and the pH determined after cooling to room temperature (Ahmedna et al., 1997).

Total carbon, total nitrogen (TN) and total sulphur (TS) in soil, plant portions (roots, shoots, and cobs), and biochar were determined using a CHNS analyser (EA1110, Carlo Erba Instruments, Milan,

Italy). Since the soil had an acid pH, TC was considered as total organic C (TOC). The total contents of P, Ca, Mg, and K in plant portions and biochar were determined by heating 0.5000 g of sample at 500 °C in a muffle furnace for 16 h, and dissolving the ashes in 5M HCl solution (Lambert, 1976). A simple colorimetric method based on ascorbic acid reduction of the ammonium phosphomolybdate complex was used to measure P in the solutions (Kuo, 1996). The concentration of Ca, Mg, and K were measured by an inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometer (ICP-OES Perkin Elmer Optima 8300). The Walkey-Black method was used to estimate the easily oxidizable organic C (EOOC) in soil and biochar. The recalcitrant organic carbon in soil was estimated by subtracting the EOOC from TOC (Suárez-Abelenda et al., 2014).

The Mehlich-3 protocol (Mehlich, 1984) was used to estimate available P in soil samples. In the biochar, extractable P was determined by water, 2% citric acid solution, and 2% formic acid solution using 0.1000 g of sample and 30 mL of extractant (Zhang et al., 2016). The suspension was shaken (120 rpm) for 48 h in centrifuge tubes, centrifuged (\approx 2700 g, 15 min), and the supernatant filtered through Whatman 42 filter paper before the colorimetric determination (Zhang et al., 2016). Cation exchange capacity and exchangeable cations (Ca, Mg, K, Na, and Al) in soil and biochar were determined by the BaCl₂ method (Gillman and Sumpter, 1986; Agnelli et al., 2017). Biochar volatile matter was determined by weight loss after heating the muffle furnace to 950 °C, then heated for 2 min on the outer ledge of the furnace (300 °C) with the door open, and then for 3 min on the edge of furnace (500 °C) (Zhao et al., 2015); the biochar ash content was determined as the weight remaining at 750 °C (Jindo et al., 2014).

Enzyme activities in soil were determined as per Fornasier and Margon (2007), who desorbed enzymes by heteromolecular exchange using an excess of exogenous protein. Thus, 250 mg of samples were placed in 2-mL Eppendorf tubes with glass beads and 1 mL of 50 mM tris–HCl buffer solution at pH 7.5, containing lysozyme as desorbing protein. The tube was subjected to bead-beating (3 min, 30 strokes s⁻¹) using a Retsch MM400 mill, then centrifuged for 5 min at 20,000 g. The enzymatic activity was assayed fluorometrically in microplates using 4-methyl-umbelliferyl and Lleucine-7-amino-4-methylcoumarine derivatives (Fornasier and Margon, 2007). The activities of acid phosphomonoesterase, alkaline phosphomonoesterase, α -glucosidase, arylsulfatase, β -glucosidase, phosphodiesterase, chitinase, nonanoate-esterase, pyrophosphatase-phosphodiesterase, glucuronidase, and xylosidase were determined in 200 mM morpholineethanesulfonic acid solution at pH 6, while the activity of leucine-aminopeptidase was assessed in 50 mM tris–HCl buffer solution at pH 7.5. Double-strand DNA (dsDNA) was determined through aliquots of 500 mg of sample placed in 2-mL Eppendorf tubes glass beads and 1 mL of 0.12 M sodium phosphate buffer (pH 8.0) solution. The tubes were submitted to bead-beating (2 min, 30 strokes s⁻¹) and then centrifuged for 5 min at 20,000 g. The dsDNA content was quantified on aliquots of the supernatant by fluorimetry using PicoGreen1 reagent (Life Technologies) according to the instructions of the manufacturer.

2.4. Calculation of phosphorus use efficiency

Nutrients taken up (mg pot⁻¹) by roots, shoots (stem + leaves), and cobs were calculated by multiplying the nutrient concentration (mg kg⁻¹) by the respective biomass weight. Phosphorus harvest index (PHI) was calculated as follows (Agegnehu et al., 2016a):

$$PHI \ (\%) = \frac{GPU}{TPU} \times 100$$

where: GPU is P in the cobs (mg pot⁻¹), and TPU is total P in the plant (cob + shoot) (mg pot⁻¹). Fertilizer P use efficiency was expressed by the following components:

i) Agronomic efficiency (AE) is defined as the grain production per unit of P applied, and was

calculated as:

$$AE (g g^{-1}) = \frac{GY_{f-} GY_u}{P_a}$$

where: GY_f is the cob yield of the fertilized pot (g), GYu is the cob yield of the not fertilized pot (g), and P_a is the quantity of P applied as biochar and/or P fertilizer (g) (Agegnehu et al., 2016a).

ii) Apparent P recovery efficiency (ARE), or P uptake efficiency, was calculated as:

$$ARE (\%) = \frac{P_f - P_u}{P_a} \times 100$$

where: P_f is the P in cob + shoot of the fertilized pot (g), P_u is the P in cob + shoot of the not fertilized pot (g), and P_a is the quantity of P applied (g) (Agegnehu et al., 2016a).

iii) Physiological efficiency (PE), which expresses the ability of the plant to transform P absorbed from fertilizers into grain yield, was calculated as:

$$PE (gg^{-1}) = \frac{GY_f - GY_u}{P_f - P_u}$$

where: GY_f is the cob yield of the fertilized pot (g), GYu is the cob yield of the not fertilized pot

(g), P_f is the P in cob + shoot of the fertilized pot (g), P_u is the P in cob + shoot of the not fertilized pot (g) (Agegnehu et al., 2016a).

iv) The P translocation factor (TF) was calculated as:

$$TF = \frac{P_{shoots}}{P_{roots}}$$

where: P_{shoots} and P_{roots} are the P concentration (mg kg⁻¹) in shoots and roots, respectively. TF > 1 indicate that the plant translocated P effectively from the roots to the shoots (stem, leaves, and cobs), TF < 1 indicate that translocation is ineffective (Liu et al., 2014).

2.5. Statistical analysis

R version 3.1.2 (2014-10-31) was used for statistical analysis. The experimental data were analysed by analysis of variance (ANOVA) after a *boxcox* transformation (Meloun et al., 2005) of the data to perform parametric tests (Shapiro-Wilk normality test and Bartlett test of homogeneity of variances) when necessary. A multiple comparison Duncan test at 5% significance level was used to compare the means. Principal components analysis (PCA) was performed on the response variables data to assess the correlation among enzymatic activities, chemical properties, and corn yield determined as response of treatments and rhizosphere processes.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Characteristics of soil and inputs used in pot experiment

The soil used in the experiment was strongly acid (Table 1). This condition, together with the sandy texture, the low concentrations of EOOC and nutrients, and the low CEC (Table 1) may severely reduce the crop yield (Ritchey and Carter Jr., 1993; Bhat et al., 2010). The soil used in the experiment had a generalized low activity for all the enzymes considered (Table 1), and this was probably due to the low EOOC content (e.g. Bastida et al., 2006; Hannachi et al., 2014; Godin et al., 2015). Since the soil microbial community produces enzymes in reply to any soil change that modifies the organic substrate or other soil factors (Sinsabaugh et al., 2002), the enzyme activity can be used as an indicator of soil changes (Schloter et al., 2003; Allen et al., 2011; Jain et al., 2016).

Both phosphate rock and dolostone showed alkaline pH and contained high amounts of P, Ca, and Mg (Table 1). Because of this, these rocks were considered as suitable to be applied to the soil so to increase the pH (Oliveira and Pavan, 1996) and to provide nutrients (Chien et al., 2010; Rafael

et al., *in press*). Babycorn peel biochar displayed a strong alkaline pH, and high concentrations of TOC, EOOC and TN (Table 1). Because of this, as also reported by Lehmann et al. (2011), it is expected that the application of biochar to the soil will increase both pH and CEC. This biochar can also be a potential source of available P and K.

3.2. Soil properties after the experiment

3.2.1. Chemical properties

The treatments had a significant impact on almost all the parameters considered, except exchangeable Na and A1 (Table 2). Soil pH, EOOC, CEC, and available P were higher in the treatments including rocks and/or biochar. The highest increase of pH_{H20} was observed in treatments in which both dolostone and biochar were applied, probably because the liming properties of the two amendments add up. Similar results were often reported with the addition of these materials (e.g. Van Zwieten et al., 2010; Yuan et al., 2011; Valentinuzzi et al., 2015; Berihun et al., 2017). All treatments including biochar increased the content of both TOC and EOOC. Although biochar is usually considered to be mainly made of recalcitrant C, Skjemstad and Taylor (1999) reported that the Walkley-Black method can recover a substantial part of charcoal, particularly the finely fragmented charcoal. Calvelo Pereira et al. (2011) suggested that EOOC obtained by dichromate oxidation reflects the degree of carbonization of biochar, and can be used to estimate the labile C fraction in biochar. The EOOC accounted from 19 to 41% of TOC, with concentrations being higher in treatments including biochar. This suggests that biochar may have a priming effect on soil organic matter decomposition (Luo et al., 2011; Zimmerman et al., 2011).

Treatments including biochar or dolostone increased the exchangeable Ca and Mg compared to the Control, with the highest values in the treatments with dolostone. However, also the WSP treatment increased the exchangeable Mg compared to Control, and all treatments increased the exchangeable K, with the highest value in PR+BC treatment. The fact that CEC increased in all treatments including biochar or dolostone was ascribed to the increase of TOC and of the corresponding carboxylic groups that, at the highest pH values, are deprotonated and act as cationic exchangeable complex (Sposito, 2008).

The PR+BC treatment showed the highest concentration of available P, followed by PR+D+BC and WSP+BC, WSP showed an available P concentration significantly similar to that of the Control (Table 2). As reported by Liang et al. (2006), Lehmann et al. (2011), Jiang et al. (2015), Heitkötter and Marschner (2015) and Zhang et al. (2017), biochar may adsorb P, but it also provides additional

available P. In our experiments, biochar from baby corn peel, having a high concentration of soluble P, appeared to provide substantial amounts of available P to soil.

Zhang et al. (2016) also demonstrated that biochar can improve P availability through direct P supply of soluble P and P sorption from fertilizers, so that P is less leached and can be slowly released from the adsorbent. However, these capabilities depend largely on the type of biochar and, to a lesser extent, on the temperature of pyrolysis (Wang et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2016; Berihun et al., 2017). The application of WSP alone was not effective to increase available P. Leaching of P up to 90% has been documented for water soluble P fertilizers applied to acid Arenosols (Chen et al., 2006). Although some water percolating out the bottom of the pots was observed in treatments WSP and Control during growing season, the amounts were too small to be sampled and analysed. Nevertheless, some P was probably leached during the growing period.

Another possible explanation is that phosphite did not oxidize into phosphate during the trial, so it was not measured by the spectrophotometric method used. However, WSP and biochar showed a synergy when applied together, probably because the biochar retained water and adsorbed phosphate (and phosphite) groups, preventing their leaching (Dari et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2016) while increasing soil biological activity. The application of phosphate rock alone was less effective than together with biochar, probably because of the beneficial effect of biochar in facilitating root and microorganism colonization of biochar that resulted in an increase of phosphate rock reactivity (Vanek and Lehmann, 2014). Hence, as also reported by Molnár et al. (2015), because of its reactivity and implication in many chemical processes, biochar represents an important potential amendment for acid Arenosols.

Table 1

Physical, chemical, and biological properties of soil, and physicochemical properties of phosphate rock, calcareous
rocks, and biochar used in the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique.

Parameters	Soil before the	Phosphate	Calcareous	Babycorn peel
	trial	rock	rock	biochar
pH _{H2O}	$4.3 (0.2)^{a}$	8.2 (0.1)	8.3 (0.0)	9.6 (0.1)
pH _{KCl}	4.3 (0.0)	-	-	8.9 (0.2)
Sand $(g kg^{-1})$	937 (4)	-	-	_
Silt (g kg ⁻¹)	47 (9)	-	-	-
Clay (g kg ⁻¹)	16 (5)	-	-	-
$EC (dS m^{-1})$	0.0 (-)	-	-	0.86 (0.0)
TOC $(g kg^{-1})$	22.4 (0.9)	-	-	579.4 (102.6)
EOOC $(g kg^{-1})$	3.1 (0.8)	-	-	289.7 (27.0)
$TN (g kg^{-1})$	< d1	-	-	27.1 (1.1)
$TS (g kg^{-1})$	< d1	-	-	53.9 (6.9)
$TP(g kg^{-1})$	-	239 (1)	-	7.9 (1.0)
Total Ca (g kg ⁻¹)	-	-	294 (2)	-
Total Mg (g kg ⁻¹)	-	-	182 (5)	-
Water-P (mg kg ⁻¹)	-	1400 (100)	-	5425 (421)
2% citric-P (mg kg ⁻¹)	-	87 400 (400)	-	2513 (133)
2% formic-P (mg kg ⁻¹)	-	133 400 (13 300)	-	7998 (301)
Mehlich 3-P (mg kg ⁻¹)	6.6 (0.9)	-	-	-
Exchangeble Ca (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.1 (0.0)	3.5 (0.8)	32.4(3.7)	2.8 (0.2)
Exchangeble Mg (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.1 (0.0)	1.8 (0.2)	2.8 (0.4)	4.7 (0.4)
Exchangeble K (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.1 (0.0)	1.1 (0.2)	0.4 (0.0)	170.2 (17.3)
Exchangeble Na (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.0 (0.0)	9.2 (3.7)	3.1 (4.8)	1.4 (0.1)
Exchangeble Al (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.3 (0.0)	-	-	0.0 (-)
CEC (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.5 (0.1)	-	-	179.0 (17.9)
Base saturation (%)	40.8 (10.9)	-	-	100 (0)
AcP (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	16.2 (2.5)	-	-	-
AlkP (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	4.5 (0.4)	-	-	-
α -G (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	0.5 (0.1)	-	-	-
AryS (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	0.9 (0.1)	-	-	-
β -G, (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	4.8 (0.5)	-	-	-
BisP (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	1.5 (0.2)	-	-	-
Chit (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	2.4 (0.4)	-	-	-
Leu (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	13.5 (1.4)	-	-	-
Nona (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	28.9 (3.7)	-	-	-
Pyro (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	0.3 (0.1)	-	-	-
Uroni (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	-	-	-	-
Xylo (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	1.2 (0.2)	-	-	-
dsDNA ($\mu g g^{-1}$)	< d1	-	-	_

^{a)}Numbers in parentheses are the standard deviation (n=3). < dl: below the detection limit. EC: electrical conductivity; TOC: total organic carbon; EOOC: easily oxidizable organic carbon; TN: total nitrogen; TS: total sulphur; TP: total phosphorus; Water-P: phosphorus extracted by distilled water; 2% citric-P: phosphorus extracted by 2% citric acid; 2% formic-P: phosphorus extracted by 2% formic acid; Mehlich 3-P: phosphorus extracted by 2% formic acid; Mehlich 3-P: phosphorus extracted by Mehlich 3 procedure; CEC: cation exchange capacity; AcP: acid phosphomonoesterase; AlkP: alkaline phosphomonoesterase; α -G: α -glucosidase; AryS: arylsulfatase; β -G: β -glucosidase; BisP: phosphodiesterase; Uroni: glucuronidase; Xylo: xyloxidase; dsDNA: double-strand DNA.

Table 2

Chemical and biochemical properties of acid Arenosol from Mozambique after the pot experiment. Means followed by different lowercase letters significantly differed among the treatments at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test.

Soil nonomators				Tre	atments				
Son parameters	Control	WSP	PR	WSP+D	WSP+BC	WSP+D+BC	PR+BC	PR+D+BC	ANOVA
pH _{H2O}	4.54 (0.18) ^{a)} c	4.46 (0.18) c	4.55 (0.24) c	6.61 (0.47) ab	5.82 (0.21) b	6.96 (0.29) a	6.16 (0.84) b	7.38 (0.31) a	***
pH _{KCl}	4.09 (0.08) c	4.07 (0.06) c	4.12 (0.07) c	6.20 (0.41) a	4.61 (0.11) b	6.15 (0.35) a	4.74 (0.16) b	6.57 (0.24) a	***
TOC $(g kg^{-1})$	19.75 (0.66) b	18.17 (1.58) b	20.22 (1.39) b	19.55 (1.44) b	22.38 (0.92) a	22.64 (1.41) a	22.98 (0.75) a	23.18 (0.97) a	***
EOOC $(g kg^{-1})$	4.78 (0.30) c	3.83 (1.34) c	3.83 (0.70) c	4.76 (1.28) c	9.17 (0.94) a	7.31 (1.27) b	8.72 (0.48) ab	7.66 (0.83) ab	***
Recalcitrant C (g kg ⁻¹)	14.97 (0.94)	14.33 (2.04)	16.39 (2.08)	14.79 (0.33)	13.21 (1.13)	15.33 (2.67)	14.26 (0.69)	15.51(2.04)	NS
Mehlich 3-P (mg kg^{-1})	11.1 (5.2) d	7.8 (2.0) d	43.7 (6.9) c	48.9 (28.8) bc	76.2 (18.5) b	63.7 (12.1) bc	104.3 (10.6) a	72.3 (16.6) b	***
Exchangeble Ca (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.05 (0.01) c	0.05 (0.02) c	0.06 (0.02) c	0.38 (0.03) a	0.10 (0.01) b	0.34 (0.05) a	0.12 (0.03) b	0.37 (0.02) a	***
Exchangeble Mg (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.03 (0.00) f	0.06 (0.01) e	0.03 (0.01) f	0.26 (0.01) ab	0.14 (0.01) d	0.25 (0.04) b	0.19 (0.03) c	0.30 (0.03 a	***
Exchangeble K (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.06 (0.01) d	0.19 (0.03) b	0.11 (0.02) c	0.20 (0.02) b	0.25 (0.08) b	0.19 (0.05) b	0.43 (0.07) a	0.24 (0.03) b	***
Exchangeble Na (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.09 (0.06)	0.11 (0.09)	0.07 (0.06)	0.09 (0.03)	0.12 (0.09)	0.15 (0.02)	0.09 (0.07)	0.14 (0.00)	NS
Exchangeble Al (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.03 (0.00)	0.16 (0.00)	0.15 (0.04)	0.03 (0.02)	0.02 (0.03)	0.05 (0.04)	0.02 (0.01)	0.12 (0.02)	NS
CEC (cmol_{c} kg ⁻¹)	0.40 (0.03) d	0.52 (0.12) cd	0.42 (0.07) d	0.96 (0.10) ab	0.63 (0.11) c	0.98 (0.14) ab	0.85 (0.02) b	1.06 (0.07) a	***
Base saturation (%)	57.5 (5.6) c	78.8 (8.2) b	64.3 (15.4) b	96.9 (1.6) a	96.8 (1.6) a	94.9 (2.8) a	97.6 (4.3) a	99.1 (0.8) a	***
AcP (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	9.64 (1.63) a	6.65 (3.69) ab	6.03 (1.36) b	2.36 (0.54) c	3.00 (1.27) c	1.01 (0.98) c	2.75 (0.63) c	0.92 (0.82) c	***
AlkP (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	1.42 (0.67) bc	1.95 (3.37) c	0.52 (0.56) c	13.94 (7.89) a	9.74 (4.00) a	10.77 (6.07) a	7.96 (2.73) ab	11.58 (8.79) a	**
α -G (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	0.03 (0.05) c	0.09 (0.16) bc	0.00 (-) c	0.26 (0.03) a	0.16 (0.07) ab	0.19 (0.03) a	0.26 (0.03) a	0.41 (0.17) a	***
AryS (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	0.31 (0.25)	0.34 (0.38)	0.00 (-)	0.25 (0.04)	0.35 (0.12)	0.30 (0.08)	0.42 (0.08)	0.23 (0.06)	NS
β -G, (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	1.63 (0.19)	1.28 (0.91)	0.92 (0.18)	0.97 (0.27)	1.26 (0.30)	1.23 (0.08)	1.21 (0.28)	0.90 (0.06)	NS
BisP (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	0.53 (0.46) abc	0.36 (0.63) bc	0.00 (-) c	1.43 (0.63) a	0.84 (0.83) ab	1.12 (0.32) ab	0.86 (0.05) ab	1.17 (0.68) ab	*
Chit (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	0.51 (0.08)	0.58 (0.51)	0.36 (0.11)	0.41 (0.07)	1.05 (0.87)	0.50 (0.16)	0.78 (0.51)	0.65 (0.41)	NS
Leu (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	2.55 (1.72)	2.93 (2.46)	1.25 (0.27)	3.08 (0.64)	2.77 (0.99)	2.95 (1.27)	3.82 (0.49)	2.57 (0.99)	NS
Nona (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	6.50 (5.64)	11.01 (8.58)	7.88 (10.65)	9.40 (6.28)	7.98 (3.93)	11.99 (2.94)	10.10 (3.93)	6.30 (6.96)	NS
Pyro (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	0.03 (0.05)	0.10 (0.18)	0.00 (-)	0.36 (0.25)	0.09 (0.16)	0.13 (0.15)	0.09 (0.09)	0.16 (0.14)	NS
Uroni (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	0.00 (-)	0.00 (-)	0.00 (-)	0.00 (-)	0.00 (-)	0.05 (0.09)	0.00 (-)	0.06 (0.11)	NS
Xylo (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	0.40 (0.11) a	0.37 (0.32) ab	0.23 (0.04) abc	0.11 (0.09) c	0.20 (0.04) abc	0.09 (0.09) c	0.27 (0.09) abc	0.12 (0.05) bc	*
dsDNA ($\mu g g^{-1}$)	1.86 (0.49)	1.95 (0.65)	1.83 (0.08)	1.49 (0.16)	1.54 (0.29)	1.47 (0.09)	1.11 (0.16)	1.61 (0.27)	NS

NS, *, **, *** Not significant, significant at P = 0.05, P = 0.01 and P = 0.001, respectively. ^aNumbers in parentheses are the standard deviation (n=3).

TOC: total organic carbon; EOOC: easily oxidizible organic carbon; Mehlich 3-P: phosphorus extracted by Mehlich 3 procedure; CEC: cation exchange capacity; AcP: acid phosphomonoesterase; AlkP: alkaline phosphomonoesterase; α -G: α -glucosidase; AryS: arylsulfatase; β -G: β -glucosidase; BisP: phosphodiesterase; Chit: chitinase; Leu: leucine-aminopeptidase; Nona: nonanoate esterase; Pyro: pyrophosphate-phosphodiesterase; Uroni: glucuronidase; Xylo: xylosidase

3.2.2. Enzyme activities

The overall impact of the treatments on enzyme activities was rather limited (Table 2), with significant differences among the treatments only for acid phosphomonoesterase (P<0.001), alkaline phosphomonoesterase (P<0.01), α -glucosidase (P<0.001), phosphodiesterase (P<0.05), and xylosidase (P<0.05). The lowest activities of acid phosphomonoesterase and xylosidase occurred in treatments including biochar and/or dolostone, those able to induce relatively higher pH values. On the contrary, the activities of alkaline phosphomonoesterase, α -glucosidase, and phosphodiesterase were the highest in the treatments including biochar and/or dolostone and/or dolostone, since these enzyme activities increased with pH.

Application of biochar to the soil can influence the soil biota and consequently increase or decrease enzyme activities (Gianfreda and Rao, 2014). However, the effect of biochar on soil enzymes is variable and depends on the interaction between biochar and enzymes' target substrate (Bailey et al., 2011; Lu et al., 2015). For example, Wang et al. (2015a) found an increase of activity of extracellular enzymes involved in the C and S cycles (excluding xylosidase) with the lower application rate of corn biochar (0.5% w/w). Instead, Lone et al. (2015) obtained an increase of phosphatases activity, which are responsible for catalizing the release of available P from P sources through interfering on P cycle (Eivazi and Tabatabai, 1977; Turner, 2010; Kumar et al., 2013). Thus, Wang et al. (2015b) observed a general increase of activity of enzymes related to utilization of N and P with application of biochar. As the optimum pH range of acid phosphomonoesterase and xylosidase is from ~ 4 to 5 (Gianfreda and Rao, 2014) and, in our experiments, the treatments including biochar and/or dolostone led to a soil pH 5, this pH increase could have contributed to depress activities of the two enzymes.

Contrariwise, in the treatments with relatively higher pH values, the alkaline phosphomonoesterase, α -glucosidase, and phosphodiesterase activities were high possibly because they have their optimum pH at values close to 5 (Ekenler and Tabatabai, 2013; Gianfreda and Rao, 2014; Lu et al., 2015). Also Huang et al. (2017) found an increase of alkaline phosphomonoesterase with application of rice straw biochar. Since alkaline phosphomonoesterase and phosphodiesterase are involved in the P cycle and α -glucosidase in the C cycle, it is plausible that their increased activity contributed to the increase of available P and C mineralization (Shukla and Varma, 2011). The high activity of acid phosphatase in our Control and WSP treatment must be related not only to low pH,

but also to P deficiency under these treatments (Wallenstein et al., 2009; Alster et al., 2013; Wen et al., 2017).

3.3. Corn growth, yield, and nutrient uptake

The effect of treatments was significant for corn growth and yield parameters. The treatments with biochar showed the highest (P < 0.001) production of corn dry biomass, root, shoot, and cob, and the largest plant diameter and height (Table 3). The PR and WSP+D treatments did not result in any significant increase of yield parameters. The application of WSP alone even depressed corn yield relative to Control. The use of phosphite as foliar fertilizer has been demonstrated to cause toxicity to plants (Thao et al., 2008; Zambrosi et al., 2017), while its direct application to soil has given contrasting results as it may increase, decrease or have null effect on growth and yield of vegetables (Moor et al., 2009; Thao and Yamakawa, 2009; Gómez-Merino and Trejo-Téllez, 2015).

An explanation to these conflicting results can be found in Bertsch et al. (2009) and Thao and Yamakawa (2009), who referred that phosphite applications to soil in presence of sufficient amounts of available phosphate may induce a synergic effect between phosphite and phosphates, so to promote P absorption into plants. Since plants cannot convert phosphite into phosphate, and accumulation of phosphite in the cells may have negative effects on the plants (Varadarajan et al., 2002; Loera-Quezada, 2015). Thus, the phosphite effect strongly depends on the P status of the plant (Thao and Yamakawa, 2009; Gómez-Merino and Trejo-Téllez, 2015).

Finally, as the plant P status mostly depends on the amount of soil available P, the depressed corn yield obtained with the WSP treatment was ascribed to the very low content of available P in the soil used, which has probably imbalanced the absorption of phosphite and phosphate so to induce negative effects to corn. The corn yield in all treatments including biochar, along to phosphate was attributed to the improvement of both soil chemical and biochemical properties. The decrease of soil acidity together with an increase of available P affected directly the corn yield, while CEC influenced the corn yield indirectly by retaining nutrients. Improving the soil physical properties such as water retention, which have not been measured in this study, may have contributed to the good performance of the treatments including BC. The inefficiency of treatments like PR, WSP+D and, especially, WSP must be related to their limitation to improve soil chemical parameters, particularly pH and CEC in the case of PR, and pH, CEC and available P in the case of WSP.

Table 3

Treatment effect on growth and yield of corn on acid Arenosol from Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters significantly differed among the treatments at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test.

Corn growth and	Treatments								
yield parameters	Control	WSP	PR	WSP+D	WSP+BC	WSP+D+BC	PR+BC	PR+D+BC	ANOVA
Dry biomass, g pot-1	2.2 (0.6) ^{a)} b	0.8 (0.2) c	5.3 (1.4) b	3.3 (2.9) b	52.6 (25.2) a	89.1 (18.2) a	51.1 (36.2) a	70.6 (35.8) a	***
Dry root, g pot ⁻¹	0.4 (0.1) c	0.2 (0.0) c	0.7 (0.2) b	0.6 (0.3) b	4.2 (2.1) a	6.0 (1.2) a	3.5 (1.8) a	7.0 (4.4) a	***
Dry shoot ^{b)} , g pot ⁻¹	1.8 (0.7) b	0.6 (0.2) c	4.4 (1.2) b	2.2 (1.8) b	37.6 (18.5) a	45.8 (7.1) a	34.0 (18.5) a	54.9 (31.8) a	***
Dry cob, g pot ⁻¹	NA (-)	NA (-)	0.2 (0.3) b	0.5 (0.8) b	10.8 (5.9) a	37.3 (13.6) a	13.6 (17.5) a	8.7 (7.8) a	***
Plant diameter, cm	7.8 (2.3) cd	5.4 (0.2) d	8.7 (1.3) bcd	9.0 (1.3) bc	11.7 (2.0) ab	12.9 (1.8) a	13.6 (0.8) a	13.8 (3.1) a	***
Plant height, cm	30.4 (10.8) b	26.5 (9.9) b	46.4 (4.9) b	38.6 (27.9) b	154.7 (71.1) a	158.0 (24.3) a	134.3 (68.2) a	171.3 (16.5) a	***

*** Significant at P = 0.001.^{a)} Numbers in parentheses are the standard deviation (n=3).^{b)} Shoot: stem + leaves; NA: Not available because there was not cob production.

The WSP+D treatment did improve pH, CEC and available P, but its major drawback seemed to be the inability to increase soil organic C. The application of phosphate rock combined with an organic source (e.g. biochar) can increase corn yield (Husnain et al., 2014). A principal component analysis (PCA) was run assessing the variation of soil properties and plant yield parameters as affected by the treatments, which contributed to 62 % of the variation (Fig. S1). PC1 and PC2 were responsible for ~ 51 and 11 % of the variation, respectively. The PCA biplot showed variations of the soil properties and plants yield parameters between the treatments. Many soil and plant parameters showed positive correlation with PC1 (Dim1), contributing for ~ 86% of variability (Table S1). The parameters involved belonged to both chemical (pH_{H2O}, pH_{KCl}, TOC, EOOC, available P, exchangeable Ca, Mg, K, and Al, base saturation, CEC, and Al saturation), and biochemical (α glucosidase and alkaline phosphomonoesterase) properties, but also to yield issues such as dry biomass, root, shoot, cob, leaves, plant height and diameter, P agronomic efficiency, P apparent recovery, P physiologic efficiency, and P harvest index. Other parameters such as dsDNA, phosphodiesterase, acid phosphomonoesterase, leucine-aminopeptidase, chitinase, xylosidase, ßglucosidase, and arylsulfatase showed positive correlation with PC2 (Dim2), contributing ~ 82% of variability.

Treatments where biochar, phosphate rock and dolostone were applied showed higher pH, available P, EOOC, CEC, alkaline phosphomonoesterase, phosphodiesterase, dry biomass, root, cob, and P agronomic efficiency. These results suggest the occurrence of synergies between rocks (phosphate and dolostone) and biochar. Herrero et al., (1998), Pancholy et al., (1975), and Schulten and Schnitzer (1998), asserted that the enzyme activities are more closely related to plant production under native condition or highly disturbed soil than in agricultural systems. In our case, enzyme activities responded mostly to the treatments including biochar, phosphate and dolostone rocks, probably for the change of soil pH.

Inorganic fertilizers alone did not improve corn yield compared with Control. This implied that application of biochar is of paramount importance to increase fertility of this poor sandy soil, possibly because it enhances the effect of inorganic fertilizers via the increase of CEC and soil organic matter content. For the nutrient concentration in plant tissues, ANOVA revealed the existence of significant interactions between plant portion (roots, shoots and cobs) and treatments for C, S, K, Ca, and Mg (Table 4). Treatments like WSP+D+BC, PR+D+BC, and PR+BC caused the highest accumulation of nutrients in shoots and, then, cobs. An effective translocation of nutrients from the roots to shoots and cobs was found in the treatments with biochar. Nutrients uptake showed a biomass-dependent

characteristic, as reported by Tao et al. (2005). This showed again the importance of biochar to improve crop production in nutrient-poor soils.

3.3.1. Phosphorus uptake

The interaction between plant portions (roots, shoots, and cobs) and treatments was significant for P content (mg pot⁻¹) (P < 0.05) (Fig. 1a). In addition, also a significant effect of individual factors (treatments or plant portion) on P content was found (P < 0.001). The WSP+BC, WSP+D+BC, PR+BC, and PR+D+BC treatments induced higher contents of P in shoots and/or cobs, while the difference between roots and cobs was significant only in WSP+D+BC (Fig. 1a). The treatment WSP resulted in the highest concentrations of P in roots and shoots, even though they were not statistically different from those of the Control (Fig 1b). In the case of roots, PR+BC and PR+D+BC treatments displayed the lowest P concentration (Fig. 1b). The high P concentration in the shoots in the WSP treatment contrasted with the respective very low P content (Fig. 1a).

The contrast was explained by the low yield obtained with this treatment, which evidently produced a concentration effect in the small biomass produced. Nutrient concentration may rise for plants under nutrient starvation (Barker and Pilbeam, 2007), as we observed in WSP and Control treatments. Despite phosphate and phosphite uptake and mobility similar, treatments with WSP indicated that corn cannot utilize phosphite as a sole P source (Varadarajan et al., 2002; Thao et al., 2008). Ticconi et al. (2001) and Zambrosi et al. (2017) reported that fertilizations with phosphite decreased yield, despite significant increase of P found in plant tissues, since phosphite cannot play the physiological role of phosphate. The treatments including WSP generally presented higher P concentration in both roots and shoots probably because phosphite accumulated in these plant portions without being converted into phosphate (Varadarajan et al., 2002; Loera-Quezada, 2015).

In addition, WSP+D+BC, PR+BC, and PR+D+BC treatments induced an efficient P translocation from the roots to the cobs (Fig. 1c). The higher P content and translocation in shoots and cobs corresponded to the higher concentration of soil available P, except for WSP+BC, with high values of available P and P content in the shoots, but relatively low P content in the cobs and translocation factors. The P content in plant portions was lowest in all treatments without biochar (Fig. 1a), and pH was lowest in Control, WSP, and PR (Table 2). It is noteworthy that P deficiency inhibits anion uptake, so fostering soil acidification because of unbalanced absorption between cations and anions that reduces the release of OH⁻ by the roots (Shen et al., 2005).

Table 4

		Treatments									
Nutrient		Control	WSP	PR	WSP+D	WSP+BC	WSP+D+BC	PR+BC	PR+D+BC		
	Roots	121.8 (46.0) ^{a)} d	57.6 (2.0) d	229.6 (69.0) d	1427.6 (688.1) d	1427.6 (688.1) d	2185.7 (302.3) d	1343.6 (720.9) d	2444.8 (1465.0) d		
С	Shoot ^{b)}	644.4 (230.8) d	194.0 (55.1) d	1693.2 (362.1) d	14483.8 (7042.7) b	14483.8 (7042.7) b	19695.0 (2528.8) a	14499.9 (7613.8) b	22508.0 (12304.4) a	***	
	Cob	NA ^{c)}	NA	55.5 (96.6) d	3747.4 (2032.2) d	3747.4 (2032.2) d	14 294.8 (4592.6) c	8089.5 (5095.2) cd	4764.7 (230.1) cd		
	Roots	4.3 (2.2) c	2.6 (0.1) c	9.9 (4.6) c	0.0 (-) c	0.0 (-) c	0.0 (0.0) c	19.7 (34.2) c	0.0 (0.0) c		
Ν	Shoot	29.4 (2.3) c	16.8 (7.3) c	75.9 (15.1) c	359.9 (232.6) bc	359.9 (232.6) bc	470.6 (59.7) ab	669.7 (824.2) a	54.5 (94.3) c	*	
	Cob	NA	NA	1.2 (2.0) c	73.5 (39.5) c	73.5 (39.5) c	361.3 (139.8) bc	186.4 (117.6) c	103.6 (2.2) c		
	Roots	15.1 (5.1) f	6.6 (0.3) f	27.3 (6.0) f	165.0 (85.9) f	165.0 (85.9) f	260.3 (34.0) f	165.6 (107.7) f	282.1 (150.5) f		
S	Shoot	83.8 (31.8) f	25.5 (9.9) f	224.1 (65.3) f	1682.5 (819.5) cd	1682.5 (819.5) cd	2437.3 (642.5) ab	2156.5 (1419.0) bc	2965.1 (1600.8) a	***	
	Cob	NA	NA	7.2 (12.4) f	437.4 (238.1) f	437.4 (238.1) f	1831.5 (497.1) de	993.2 (631.3) ef	671.4 (24.0) ef		
	Roots	2.8 (1.1) b	0.7 (0.2) b	16.6 (12.1) b	69.0 (43.2) b	69.0 (43.2) b	63.8 (17.8) b	66.8 (42.0) b	71.1 (48.3) b		
Κ	Shoot	16.5 (12.3) b	11.8 (7.0) b	104.1 (14.9) b	880.7 (538.5) a	880.7 (538.5) a	923.5 (133.6) a	1004.0 (1127.2) a	795.5 (437.5) a	**	
	Cob	NA	NA	1.9 (3.3) b	46.7 (71.4) b	46.7 (71.4) b	234.6 (128.2) b	185.1 (119.6) b	95.8 (33.1) b		
	Roots	0.4 (0.1) c	0.2 (0.2) c	0.6 (0.2) c	0.6 (0.2) c	0.6 (0.2) c	4.0 (3.1) c	1.0 (0.6) c	4.1 (3.3) c		
Ca	Shoot	1.4 (1.4) c	1.2 (0.8) c	8.1 (1.8)	27.5 (22.6) b	27.5 (22.6) b	56.1 (4.9) a	22.6 (18.2) b	57.2 (30.9) a	***	
	Cob	NA	NA	0.0 (0.0) bc	0.4 (0.6) b	0.4 (0.6) b	5.7 (3.0) a	1.4 (0.9) b	2.9 (0.3) a		
	Roots	0.3 (0.1) b	0.2 (0.0) b	1.6 (0.7) b	2.6 (1.3) b	2.6 (1.3) b	4.1 (2.1) b	4.5 (3.4) b	3.2 (2.1) b		
Mg	Shoot	2.7 (1.6) c	2.2 (1.4) c	12.3 (2.0) b	56.8 (31.1) a	56.8 (31.1) a	67.6 (6.1) a	55.8 (46.6) a	82.3 (50.5) a	**	
	Cob	NA	NA	0.2 (0.3) b	7.6 (11.8) a	7.6 (11.8) a	40.1 (3.3) a	20.3 (12.9) a	14.1 (3.3) a		

Amounts of C, N, S, K, Ca, and Mg taken up (mg pot⁻¹) in corn portions after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters significantly different among the treatments at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test.

*, **, *** Significant at P = 0.05, P = 0.01 and P = 0.001, respectively.^{a)} Numbers in parenthesis are standard deviation (n=3).^{b)} Shoot = stem + leaves;^{c)} NA: not available.



Fig. 1 Phosphorus uptake (a), phosphorus concentration (b), translocation factor (c), phosphorus agronomic and physiological efficiencies (d), and apparent phosphorus recovery, and phosphorus harvest index (e) by corn after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters significantly differed among the treatments at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test. The dashed line represents the limit of Translocation Factor (TF); TF > 1 indicates effective translocation, whereas TF< 1 indicates not effective translocation. The whiskers indicate the standard deviation (n=3). NA – Not available data. *** Significant at P = 0.001.

Application of biochar increased (P < 0.001) the agronomic and physiological efficiency of P, apparent nutrient recovery, and harvest index (Fig. 1d,e). The higher agronomic and recovery efficiency in biochar, phosphate rock and dolostone treatments indicated that crop nutrition was optimized by the application of both rocks and biochar (Agegnehu et al., 2016b). Also, the fraction

of P converted into cob, assessed as physiological efficiency (Fig. 1d), was higher in the treatments where biochar was applied together with WSP, phosphate rock or dolostone (P < 0.001). These results demonstrated the positive effect of biochar and both rocks, which included the supply of adequate levels of P. P deficiency was observed on treatments such as Control and WSP alone. In the WSP+BC treatment, biochar may have reduced the negative effect of phosphite by supplying P in form of phosphate.

3.4. Rhizosphere effect on soil properties

3.4.1. Rhizosphere effect on soil chemical properties

Available P concentration in soil differed from rhizosphere to bulk soil (P < 0.05), with higher content in the bulk than in the rhizosphere (Fig. S2). Sas et al. (2001), among others, asserted that roots are able to mobilize sparingly soluble P amounts through exudation of large amounts of organic anions. Because of this, generally, the highest concentrations of soluble P have been found in the rhizosphere (Gerke et al., 1994; Zhao et al., 2010). Instead, in our experiments, the reverse occurred probably because of the higher P absorption induced in the corn rhizosphere by the treatments (Sas et al., 2001; Shen et al., 2005; Marschner et al., 2011). However, Maltais-Landry et al. (2014) found similar available P content in rhizosphere and bulk soil, while Valentinuzzi et al. (2015) argued that uptake of nutrients around rhizosphere contributes to the decrease of available of nutrients in this soil portion. There was no significant effect of rhizosphere on soil pH (in both H₂O and KCl), EOOC, CEC, and exchangeable Ca, Mg, and K (Fig. S2). Principal component analysis (PCA) made on rhizosphere and bulk soil chemical data (Fig. S3a) indicated that a strong and positive correlation occurred between all soil chemical parameters, except exchangeable Al. Also, there was an evident overlapping between rhizosphere and bulk soil clusters, indicating a similarity between the two soil fractions in terms of soil chemical properties. This result reinforces what the univariate analysis has highlighted.

3.4.2. Rhizosphere effect on soil enzyme activities

No interaction was observed between rhizosphere and treatments for α -glucosidase, arylsulfatase, acid phosphomonoesterase, nonanoate-esterase, and leucine aminopeptidase activities, a significant rhizosphere effect (P < 0.05) was found, with higher activities in the rhizosphere than in the bulk except for leucine aminopeptidase for which the reverse was true (Fig. 2). No rhizosphere effect was found for the other enzymes.

While the activity of acid phosphomonoesterase was higher in the rhizosphere than in the bulk (Fig. 2), the concentration of available P show the opposite result. Wen et al. (2017) reported that, under P deficiency, corn roots are able to exudate acid phosphatases into the rhizosphere. Further, plants and microorganisms can increase the solubility of sparingly soluble inorganic P and mineralize organic P by releasing protons, organic acids and several phosphatases (Marschner et al., 2011). Our results demonstrated the occurrence of a corn rhizosphere effect, which included increase of rhizodeposition (protons, organic anions, enzymes), and accelerated nutrient uptake to facilitate the plant growth. Therefore, with the increase of rhizodeposition, microbial biomass also may increase, so leading to the increase of overall enzymes activities and respiration (Burns et al., 2013).

The interaction between rhizosphere and treatments was significant (P < 0.001) only for glucuronidase. The highest glucuronidase activities were found in the rhizosphere of the WSP+BC, WSP+D+BC, PR+BC, and PR+D+BC treatments (Fig. 3). Glucuronidase activity can provide a valuable tool for detecting and monitoring specific fungus strains like *Trichoderma harzianum* in the soil (Arora, 2003), and is correlated with fungal biomass especially in plant infections (Thomma et al., 1999) but here we considered that the aforementioned treatments have promoted fungus colonization of the rhizosphere. Fiorito et al. (2008) reported that this enzyme can be adsorbed onto clay minerals, but in our case the enzyme might have been stabilized by the biochar via adsorption mechanisms.

Negative and strong correlation was found between alkaline phosphomonoesterase *vs.* acid phosphomonoesterase, β -glucosidase nonanoate esterase, and xylosidade; in contrast, positive and strong correlations were found between alkaline phosphomonoesterase and other enzymes such as phosphodiesterase and pyrophosphate-phosphodiesterase (Fig. S3b). Despite an overlapping between rhizosphere and bulk soil, the rhizosphere showed a pattern oriented to the positive part of PC1, where higher activities of α -glucosidase and arylsulfatase were found. The same result was found using univariate analysis.



Fig. 2 Rhizospheric effect on soil acid phosphomonoesterase (P = 0.01), α -glucosidase (P = 0.001), arylsulfatase (P = 0.05), β -glucosidase (P = 0.001), leucine aminopeptidase (P = 0.05), nonanoate esterase (P = 0.001) activities after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique.



Fig. 3 Effect of treatments as affected by corn rhizosphere on soil glucuronidase (P = 0.001) activity after pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique.

4. Conclusions

Simultaneous application of phosphate rock, dolostone, and biochar improved soil properties. Soil pH, CEC, EOOC and available P were the most important in improving soil chemical fertility, but also the increased activities of alkaline phosphomonoesterase, α -glucosidase, and phosphodiesterase improved the soil quality. Phosphate rock alone failed to increase soil pH, but combined with dolostone or biochar was more effective on soil pH correction. Biochar supplied considerable amounts of P and facilitated P sorption, so limiting P leaching on WSP treatments. Zinc phosphite can not be used as sole P fertilizer due to the risk of toxicity to the plants, especially in available P deficient soils.

P uptake appeared to depend on soil treatment. Application of biochar together with phosphate rock/zinc phosphate and/or dolostone increased corn growth and yield. These treatments and corn rhizosphere effect promoted the increase of available P through the increase of exudation of extracellular enzymes. The P agronomic efficiency and P uptake were also high in treatments including biochar.

Application of phosphate rock as source of P is not a new practice, and it is considered agronomically effective and environmentally friendly. Combination of this rock with biochar notably improves P uptake. The combination of phosphate rock, biochar and dolostone is less effective than phosphate rock and biochar, since phosphate rock hardly dissolves at high pH. Further investigation under field condition is needed to validate these results and quantify the long-term benefit.

Acknowledgements

Funds for this work were mainly obtained from "Applied Research and Multi-sectorial Program" (FIAM)" granted by Italian Cooperation and Development Agency (ICDA) to the *Universidade Eduardo Mondlane*, under project contract No. 5.2.1. The authors also acknowledge the Polytechnic University of Marche (Ancona, Italy) for PhD scholarship provided to the first author. Any findings, conclusion and recommendation presented in this document do not necessary reflect the views of the donors.

Bibliography

Adams, F. 1953. Transition of phosphite to phosphate in soils. Soil Sci. 75:361-371.

Agegnehu, G., Bass, A.M., Nelson, P.N., Bird, M.I. 2016b. Benefits of biochar, compost and biocharcompost for soil quality, maize yield and greenhouse gas emissions in a tropical agricultural soil. *Sci. Total Env.* **543**:295–306.

Agegnehu, G., Nelson, P.N., Bird, M.I. 2016a. The effects of biochar, compost and their mixture and nitrogen fertilizer on yield and nitrogen use efficiency of barley grown on a Nitisol in the highlands of Ethiopia. *Sci. Total Env.* **569**:869-879.

Agnelli, A., Cocco, S., Massaccesi, L., Courchesne, F., Ugolini, F.C., Corti, G. 2017. Features of skeleton water-extractable fines from different acidic soils. *Geoderma*. **289**:82-96.

Ahmedna, M., Johns, M.M., Clarke, S.J., Marshall, W.E., Rao, R.M. 1997. Potential of agricultural by-product-based activated carbons for use in raw sugar decolourisation. *J. Sci. Food Agric*. **75**:117–124.

Alburquerque, J.A., Calero, J.M., Barrón, V., Torrent, J., Campillo, M.C., Gallardo, A., Villar, R. 2014. Effects of biochars produced from different feedstocks on soil properties and sunflower growth. *J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.* **177**:16–25.

Allen, D.E., Singh, B.P., Dalal, R.C. 2011. Soil health indicators under climate change: A review of current knowledge. In: Singh, B., Cowie, A., Chan, K. (eds) Soil Health and Climate Change. Soil Biology, vol 29. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Alster, C.J., German, D.P., Lu, Y., Allison, S.D. 2013. Microbial enzymatic responses to drought and to nitrogen addition in a southern California grassland. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **64**:68-79.

Alvarez, E., Viade, A., Fernandez-Marcos, M.L. 2009. Effect of liming with different sized limestone on the forms of aluminium in a Galician soil (NW Spain). *Geoderma*. **152**:1-8.

Anderson, C.R., Condron, L.M., Clough, T.J., Fiers, M., Stewart, A., Hill, R.A., Sherlock, R.R. 2011. Biochar induced soil microbial community change: Implications for biogeochemical cycling of carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus. *Pedobiologia*. **54**:309–320.

Anikwe, M., Eze, J., Ibudialo, A. 2016. Influence of lime and gypsum application on soil properties and yield of cassava (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz.) in a degraded Ultisol in Agbani, Enugu Southeasthern Nigeria. *Soil Till. Res.* **158**:32-38.

Appleton, J.D. 2002. Local phosphate resources for sustainable development in Sub-Saharan Africa. British Geological Survey Report, CR/02/121/N. Keyworth, Nottingham, UK.

Arora, D.K. 2003. Fungal Biotechnology in Agricultural, Food, and Environmental Applications. CRC Press.

Asomaning, S., Abekoe, M., Owusu-Bennoah, E. 2009. phosphate rock dissolution and availability in some soils of semi-deciduous rainforest zone of Ghana. *West African J. Appl. Ecol.* **10(1).**

Atkinson, C.J., Fitzgerald, J.D., Hipps, N.A. 2010. Potential mechanisms for achieving agricultural benefits from biochar application to temperate soils: A review. *Plant Soil*. **337**:1–18.

Bai, X.F., Zhou, X.Q., Li, Z.F., Ni, J.W., Bai, X. 2017. Properties and applications of biochars derived from different biomass feedstock sources. *Inter. J. Agr. Biol. Eng.* **10**:242-250.

Bailey, V.L., Fansler, S.J., Smith, J.L., Bolton, H. 2011. Reconciling apparent variability in effects of biochar amendment on soil enzyme activities by assay optimization. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **43**:296–301. Barker, A.V., Pilbeam, D.J. 2007. Handbook of plant nutrition. Taylor and Francis Group. USA.

Berihun, T., Tadele, M., Kebede, F. 2017. The application of biochar on soil acidity and other

physico-chemical properties of soils in southern Ethiopia. J Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 180:381-388.

Bertsch, F., Ramírez, F., Henríquez, C. 2009. Evaluación del fosfito como fuente fertilizante de fósforo vía radical y foliar. *Agron. Costarricense*. **33**:249-265.

Bhat, J.A., Kundu, M.C., Hazra, G.C., Santra, G.H., Mandal, B. 2010. Rehabilitating acid soils for increasing crop productivity through low-cost liming material. *Sci. Total Envi.* **408**:4346–4353.

Blackwell, P., Joseph, S., Munroe, P., Anawar, H.M., Storer, P., Gilkes, R.J., Solaiman, Z.M. 2015. Influences of biochar and biochar-mineral complex on mycorrhizal colonisation and nutrition of wheat and sorghum. *Pedosphere*. **25**:686–695.

Borchard, N., Siemens, J., Ladd, B., Möller, A., Amelung, W. 2014. Application of biochars to sandy and silty soil failed to increase maize yield under common agricultural practice. *Soil Till. Res.* **144**:184–194.

Burns, R.G., DeForest, J.L., Marxsen, J., Sinsabaugh, R.L., Stromberger, M.E., Wallenstein, M.D., Weintraub, M.N., Zoppini, A. 2013. Soil enzymes in a changing environment: Current knowledge and future directions. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **58**:216–234.

Calderón, F.J., Benjamin, J., Vigil, M.F. 2015. A comparison of corn (*Zea mays* L.) residue and its biochar on soil C and plant growth. *PLoS One*. **10**(**4**):e0121006.

Calvelo Pereira, R., Kaal, J., Camps Arbestain, M., Pardo Lorenzo, R., Aitkenhead, W., Hedle, M., Macías, F., Hindmarsh, J., Maciá-Agulló, J.A. 2011. Contribution to characterisation of biochar to estimate the labile fraction of carbon. *Org. Geoch.* **42**:1331–1342.

Chan, K.Y., Van Zwieten, L., Meszaros, I., Downie, A., Joseph, S. 2007. Agronomic values of green waste biochar as a soil amendment. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* **45**:629–634.

Chen, G.C., He, Z.L., Stoffella, P.J., Yang, X.E., Yu, S., Calvert, D. 2006. Use of dolomite phosphate rock (DPR) fertilizers to reduce phosphorus leaching from sandy soil. *Envi. Poll.* **139**:176–82.

Chien, S.H., Prochnow, L.I., Mikkelsen, R. 2010. Agronomic use of phosphate rock for direct application. *Better Crops.* **94(4)**:21–23.

Chintala, R., Mollinedo, J., Schumacher, T.E., Malo, D.D., Julson, J.L. 2014a. Effect of biochar on chemical properties of acidic soil. *Arch. Agr. Soil Sci.* **60**:393-404.

Chintala, R., Schumacher, T.E., McDonald, L.M., Clay, D.E., Malo, D.D., Papiernik, S.K., Clay, S.A., Julson, J.L. 2014b. Phosphorus Sorption and Availability from Biochars and Soil/Biochar Mixtures. *Clean Soil Air Wat.* **42**:626-634.

Corti, G., Agnelli, A., Cuniglio, R., Fernández Sanjurjo, M., Cocco, S. 2005. Characteristics of rhizosphere soil from natural and agricultural environments. Ch. 3. pp. 57-128. In: Huang P.M. and Gobran GR. 2005. Biogeochemistry of Trace Elements in the Rhizosphere. Elsevier.

Dari, B., Nair, V.D., Harris, W.G., Nair, P.K.R., Sollenberger, L., Mylavarapu, R. 2016. Relative influence of soil- vs. biochar properties on soil phosphorus retention. *Geoderma*. **280**:82–87.

Day, P.R. 1965. Particle fractionation and particle-size analysis, in: Black, C.A. Evans, D. D. Ensminger, L.E., White, J.L., Clark, F.E. (Eds.), Methods of Soil Analysis, part 1, 1st Ed. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, WI, pp. 545–567.

Ding, Y., Liu, Y., Liu, S., Li, Z., Tan, X., Huang, X., Zeng, G., Zhou, L. 2016. Biochar to improve soil fertility. A review. *Agron. Sustain. Dev.* **36**:1-18

Dutta, T., Kwon, E., Bhattacharya, S.S., Jeon, B.H., Deep, A., Uchimiya, M., Kim, K-H. 2017. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and volatile organic compounds (VOCs) in biochar and biochar-amended soil: A review. *Glob. Change Biol. Bioener.* **9**:990 – 1004.

Eivazi, F., Tabatabai, M.A. 1977. Phosphatases in soils. Soil Biol. Bioch. 9:167–172.

Ekenler, M., Tabatabai, M.A. 2013. Responses of phosphatases and arylsulfatase in soils to liming and tillage systems. *J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.* **166**:281-290.

Fiorito, T.M., Icoz, I., Stotzky, G. 2008. Adsorption and binding of the transgenic plant proteins, human serum albumin, β -glucuronidase, and Cry3Bb1, on montmorillonite and kaolinite: Microbial utilization and enzymatic activity of free and clay-bound proteins. *Appl. Clay Sci.* **39**:142–150.

Fornasier, F., Margon, A. 2007. Bovine serum albumin and Triton X-100 greatly increase phosphomonoesterases and arylsulphatase extraction yield from soil. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **39**:682-2684.

Gaskin, J.W., Speir, R.A., Harris, K., Das, K.C., Lee, R.D., Morris, L.A., Fisher, D.S. 2010. Effect of peanut hull and pine chip biochar on soil nutrients, corn nutrient status, and yield. *Agron. J.* **102**:623–633.

Gerke, J., Roemer, W., Jungk, A. 1994. The excretion of citric and malic acid by proteoid roots of Lupinus albus L.; effect on soil solution concentrations of phosphate, iron, and aluminum in the proteoid rhizosphere in samples of an Oxisol and Luvisol. *J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.* **157**:289–294.

Gianfreda, L., Rao, M. 2014. Enzymes in Agricultural Sciences. OMICS Group, USA.

Gil-Sotres, F., Trasar-Cepeda, C., Leiros, M.C., Seoane, S. 2005. Different approaches to evaluating soil quality using biochemical properties. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **37**:877-887.

Gillman, G.P., Sumpter, E.A. 1986. Modifications to the compulsive exchange method for measuring exchange characteristics of soils. *Austr. J. Soil Res.* **24**:61-66.

Glab, T., Palmowska, J., Zaleski, T., Gondek, K. 2016. Effect of biochar application on soil hydrological properties and physical quality of sandy soil. *Geoderma*. **281**:11-20.

Godin, A.M., Lidher, K.K., Whiteside, M.D., Jones, M.D. 2015. Control of soil phosphatase activities at millimeter scales in a mixed paper birch – Douglas-fir forest: The importance of carbon and nitrogen. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **80**:62–69.

Gómez-Merino, F.C., Trejo-Téllez, L.I. 2015. Biostimulant activity of phosphite in horticulture. Scientia Horticul. **196**:82-90.

Haque, I., Lupwayi, N.Z., Ssali, H. 1999. Agronomic evaluation of unacidulated and partially acidulated Minjingu and Chilembwe phosphate rocks for clover production in Ethiopia. *Eur. J. Agron.* **10**:37–47.

Heitkötter, J., Marschner, B. 2015. Interactive effects of biochar ageing in soils related to feedstock, pyrolysis temperature, and historic charcoal production. *Geoderma*. **245–246**:56–64.

Herrero, O., Canet, R., Albiach, R., Pomares, F. 1998. Enzymatical activities and content of mineral nitrogen in soil after the application of two rates of different organic products. *Agrochimica* **42**:296–303.

Hinsinger, P., Plassard, C., Jaillard, B. 2006. Rhizosphere: A new frontier for soil biogeochemistry. J. Geoch. Expl. 88:210–213.

Holford, I.C.R. 1997. Soil phosphorus: its measurement, and its uptake by plants. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* **35**:227-239.

Huang, D., Liu, L., Zeng, G., Xu, P., Huang, C., Deng, L., Wang, R., Wan, J. 2017. The effects of rice straw biochar on indigenous microbial community and enzymes activity in heavy metal-contaminated sediment. *Chemosphere*. **174**:545–553.

Husnain, Rochayati, S., Sutriadi, T., Nassir, A., Sarwani, M. 2014. Improvement of soil fertility and crop production through direct application of phosphate rock on maize in Indonesia. *Procedia Eng.* **83**:336–343.

Hussain, M., Farooq, M., Nawaz, A., Al-Sadi, A.M., Solaiman, Z.M., Alghamdi, S.S., Ammara, U., Ok, Y.S., Siddique, K.H.M. 2017. Biochar for crop production: potential benefits and risks. J. *Soils Sed.* **17**:685-716.

Jain, S., Mishra, D., Khare, P., Yadav, V., Deshmukh, Y., Meena, A. 2016. Impact of biochar amendment on enzymatic resilience properties of mine spoils. *Sci. Total Env.* **544**:410–421.

Jiang, J., Yuan, M., Xu, R., Bish, D.L. 2015. Mobilization of phosphate in variable-charge soils amended with biochars derived from crop straws. *Soil Till. Res.* **146**:139–147.

Jindo, K., Mizumoto, H., Sawada, Y., Sanchez-Monedero, M.A., Sonoki, T. 2014. Physicaland chemical characterization of biochars derived from different agricultural residues. *Biogeosciences*. **11**:6613-6621.

Kauffman, N., Dumortier, J., Hayes, D.J., Brown, R.C., Laird, D.A. 2014. Producing energy while sequestering carbon? The relationship between biochar and agricultural productivity. *Bion. Bio.* **63**:167-176.

Khadem, A., Raiesi, F. 2017. Responses of microbial performance and community to corn biochar in calcareous sandy and clayey soils. *Appl. Soil Eco.* **114**:16-27.

Kumar, S., Chaudhuri, S., Maiti, S.K. 2013. Soil dehydrogenase enzyme activity in natural and mine soil - A review. *Middle East J. Sci. Res.* **13**:898-906.

Lambert, M.J. 1976. Preparation of plant material for estimating a wide range of elements. For. Comm. New South Wales, West Pennant Hills, Australian Research Note 29.

Lehmann, J., Rillig, M.C., Thies, J., Masiello, C.A., Hockaday, W.C., Crowley, D. 2011. Biochar effects on soil biota - A review. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **43**:1812–1836.

Liang, B., Lehmann, J., Solomon, D., Kinyangi, J., Grossman, J., O'Neill, B., Skjemstad, J.O., Thies, J., Luizão, F.J., Petersen, J., Neves, E.G. 2006. Black carbon increases cation exchange capacity in soils. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* **70**:1719-1730.

Liu, C.W., Chen, Y.Y., Kao, Y.H., Maji, S.K. 2014. Bioaccumulation and translocation of arsenic in the ecosystem of the Guandu Wetland, Taiwan. *Wetlands*. **34**:129–140.

Loera-Quezada, M.M., Leyva-González, M.A., Lopéz-Arredondo, D., Herrera-Estrella, L. 2015. Phosphite cannot be used as a phosphorous source but is non-toxic for microalgae. *Plant Sci.* **231**:124-130.

Lone, A.H., Najar, G.R., Ganie, M.A., Sofi, J.A., Ali, T. 2015. Biochar for sustainable soil health: A review of prospects and concerns. *Pedosphere*. **25**:639–653.

Lu, H., Li, Z., Fu, S., Méndez, A., Gascó, G., Paz-Ferreiro, J. 2015. Combining phytoextraction and biochar addition improves soil biochemical properties in a soil contaminated with Cd. *Chemosphere*. **119**:209-216.

Luo, Y., Durenkamp, M., De Nobili, M., Lin, Q., Brookes, P.C. 2011. Short term soil priming effects and the mineralisation of biochar following its incorporation to soils of different pH. *Soil Biol. Bioch.*43:2304-2314.

Maltais-Landry, G., Scow, K., Brennan, E. 2014. Phosphorus mobilization in the rhizosphere of cover crops has little effect on phosphorus cycling in California agricultural soil. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **78**:255-262.

Marschner, P., Crowley, D., Rengel, Z. 2011. Rhizosphere interactions between microorganisms and plants govern iron and phosphorus acquisition along the root axis - Model and research methods. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **43**:883–894.

Marschner, P., Crowley, D., Yang, C.H. 2004. Development of specific rhizosphere bacterial communities in relation to plant species, nutrition and soil type. *Plant Soil*. **261**:199-208.

Martinsen, V., Mulder, J., Shitumbanuma, V., Sparrevik, M., Borresen, T., Cornelissen, G. 2014. Farmer-led maize biochar trials: Effect on crop yield and soil nutrients under conservation farming. *J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.* **177**:681–695.

McDowell, R.W., Dills, R.M., Collins, A.L., Flahive, K.A., Sharpley, A.N., Quinn, J. 2015. A review of the policies and implementation of practices to decrease water quality impairment by phosphorus in New Zealand, the UK, and the US. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst.* **104**:289-305.

Mehlich, A. 1984. Mehlich-3 soil test extractant: a modification of Mehlich-2 extractant. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* **15(12)**:1409-1416.

Meloun, M., Sánka, M., Nemec, P., Kritková, S., Kupka, K. 2005. The analysis of soil cores polluted with certain metals using the Box-Cox transformation. *Env. Poll.* **137**:273–280.

Molnár, M., Vaszita, E., Farkas, É., Ujaczki, É., Fekete-Kertész, I., Tolner, M., Klebercz, O., Kirchkeszner, C., Gruiz, K., Uzinger, N., Feigl, V. 2015. Acidic sandy soil improvement with biochar - A microcosm study. *Sci. Total Env.* **563–564**:855–865.

Moor, U., Pöldma, P., Tönutare, T., Karp, K., Starast, K., Vool, M. 2009. Effect of phosphite fertilization on growth, yield and fruit composition of strawberries. *Sci. Hortic.* **119**:264-269.

Musharo, C., Nyamangara, J. 2011. Effect of Al concentration and liming acid soils on the growth of selected maize cultivar grown on sand soils in Southern Africa. In (ads): Innovation as key to green revolution in Africa, Springer. New York. pp 491-500.

Neumann, G., Römheld, V. 2012. Chapter 14 – Rhizosphere Chemistry in Relation to Plant Nutrition. In: Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants. pp 347–368.

Obia, A., Mulder, J., Martinsen, V., Cornelissen, G., Borresen, T. 2016. In situ effects of biochar on aggregation, water retention and porosity in light-textured tropical soils. *Soil Till. Res.* **155**:35–44.

Odongo, N.E., Hyoung-Ho, K., Choi, H.C., van Straaten, P., McBride, B.W., Romney, D.L. 2007. Improving rock phosphate availability through feeding, mixing and processing with composting manure. *Bioresour. Tech.* **98**:2911–2918.

Pancholy, S.K., Rice, E.L., Turner, J.A. 1975. Soil factors preventing revegetation of a denudated area near an abandoned zinc smelter in Oklahoma. *J. Appl. Ecol.* **12**:337–342.

Pandey, V., Patel, A., Patra, D.D. 2016. Biochar ameliorates crop productivity, soil fertility, essential oil yield and aroma profiling in basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). *Ecol. Eng.* **90**:361–366.

Price, G.W., Astatkie, T., Gillis, J.D., Liu, K. 2015. Long-term influences on nitrogen dynamics and pH in an acidic sandy soil after single and multi-year applications of alkaline treated biosolids. *Agric. Ecosyst. Env.* **208**:1–11.

Qayyum, M.F., Ashraf, I., Muhammad, A., Steffens, D. 2015. Effect of biochar, lime, and compost application on phosphorus adsorption in a Ferralsol. *J. Plant. Nutr. Soil Sci.* **178**:576-581.

Quilliam, R.S., DeLuca, T.H., Jones, D.L. 2013. Biochar application reduces nodulation but increases nitrogenase activity in clover. *Plant Soil*. **366**:83–92.

Rafael, R.B.A., Fernández-Marcos, M.L., Cocco, S., Ruello, M.L., Weindorf, D.C., Cardelli, V., Corti, G. *in press*. Assessment of potential nutrient release from phosphate rock and dolostone for application in acid soils. Pedosphere. in press. DOI 10.1016/S1002-0160(17)60437-5

Ritchey, K.D., Carter Jr, T.E. 1993. Emergence and growth of two non-nodulated soybean genotypes (Glycine max (L.) Merr.) in response to soil acidity. *Plant Soil*. **151**:175–183.

Rothwell, S.A., Elphinstone, E.D., Dodd, I.C. 2015. Liming can decrease legume crop yield and leaf gas exchange by enhancing root to shoot ABA signaling. *J. Exp. Bot.* **66**:2335 – 2345.

Sandhu, S.S., Ussiri, D.A.N., Kumar, S., Chintala, R., Papiernik, S.K., Malo, D.D., Schumacher, T.E. 2017. Analyzing the impacts of three types of biochar on soil carbon fractions and physiochemical properties in a corn-soybean rotation. *Chemosphere*. **184**:473-481.

Sas, L., Rengel, Z., Tang, C. 2001. Excess cation uptake, and extrusion of protons and organic acid anions by Lupinus albus under phosphorus deficiency. *Plant Sci.* **160**:1191–1198.

Schulten, R.H., Schnitzer, M. 1998. The chemistry of soil organic nitrogen: a review. *Biol Fert. Soils*. **26**:1-15.

Shen, J., Li, H., Neumann, G., Zhang, F. 2005. Nutrient uptake, cluster root formation and exudation of protons and citrate in Lupinus albus as affected by localized supply of phosphorus in a split-root system. *Plant Sci.* **168**:837–845.

Shukla, G., Varma, A. 2011. Soil enzymology. Springer Heidelberg Dordrecht Londo New York. Skjemstad, J.O., Taylor, J.A. 1999. Does the Walkley-Black method determine soil charcoal? *Comm. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* **30**:2299-2310.

Soinne, H., Hovi, J., Tammeorg, P., Turtola, E. 2014. Effect of biochar on phosphorus sorption and clay soil aggregate stability. *Geoderma*. **219–220**:162–167.

Spokas, K.A. 2010. Review of the stability of biochar in soils: predictability of O:C molar ratios. *Carbon Manag.* **1**:289–303.

Sposito, G. 2008. The chemistry of soils. Oxford University Press, New York.

Suárez-Abelenda, M., Kaal, J., Camps-Arbestain, M., Knicker, H., Macias, F. 2014. Molecular characteristics of permanganate- and dichromate-oxidation-resistant soil organic matter from a black-C-rich colluvial soil. *Soil Res.* **52**:164-179.

Szilas, C., Koch, C.B., Msolla, M.M., Borggaard, O.K. 2008. The reactivity of Tanzanian Minjingu phosphate rock can be assessed from the chemical and mineralogical composition. *Geoderma*. **147**:172–177.

Tao, S., Liu, W.X., Chen, Y.J., Cao, J., Li, B.G., Xu, F.L., 2005. Fractionation and bioavailability of copper, cadmium and lead in rhizosphere soil. Ch. 10. pp.313-336. In: Huang P.M., Gobran G.R., 2005. Biogeochemistry of trace elements in the rhizosphere. Elsevier.

Thao, H.T.B., Yamakawa, T., Shibata, K., Sarr, P.S., Myint, A.K. 2008. Growth response of komatsuna (*Brassica rapa* var. peruviridis) to root and foliar applications of phosphite. *Plant Soil*. **308**:1–10.

Thao, H.T.B., Yamakawa, T. 2009. Phosphite (phosphorous acid): fungicide, fertilizer or biostimulator. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* **55**:228-243.

Thomma, B.P.H.J., Tadesse, Y.S.H., Jacobs, M., Broekaert, W.F. 1999. Disturbed correlation between fungal biomass and β -glucuronidase activity in infections of Arabidopsis thaliana with transgenic Alternaria brassicicola. *Plant Sci.* **148**:31–36.

Ticconi, C.A., Delatorre, C.A., Abel, S. 2001. Attenuation of phosphate starvation responses by phosphite in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol.* **127**:963–972.

Turner, B.L. 2010. Variation in pH optima of hydrolytic enzyme activities in tropical rain forest soils. *Appl. Env. Micr.* **76**:6485-6493.

Valentinuzzi, F., Mimmo, T., Cesco, S., Al Mamun, S., Santner, J., Hoefer, C., Oburger, E., Robinson, B., Lehto, N. 2015. The effect of lime on the rhizosphere processes and elemental uptake of white lupin. *Envi. Exp. Bot.* **118**:85–94.

Van Raij, B. 2011. Fertilidade do Solo e Maneio de Nutrientes. Instituto Agronómico de Campinas, Piracicaba, Brasil.

Van Straaten, P. 2006. Farming with rocks and minerals: Challenges and opportunities. *An. Acad. Bras. Cienc.* **78**:731–747.

Van Straaten, P. 2002. Rocks for crops: Agrominerals of Sub-Saharan Africa. ICRAF, Nairobi, Kenya.

Van Zwieten, L., Kimber, S., Morris, S., Chan, K.Y., Downie, A., Rust, J., Joseph, S., Cowie, A. 2010. Effects of biochar from slow pyrolysis of papermill waste on agronomic performance and soil fertility. *Plant Soil*. **327**:235–246.

Vanek, S.J., Lehmann, J. 2014. Phosphorus availability to beans via interactions between mycorrhizae and biochar. *Plant Soil*. doi:10.1007/s11104-014-2246-y

Varadarajan, D.K., Karthikeyan, A.S., Matilda, P.D., Raghothama, K.G. 2002. Phosphite, an analog of phosphate, suppresses the coordinated expression of genes under phosphate starvation. *Plant Physiol.* **129**:1232–1240.

Viadé, A., Fernández-Marcos, M.L., Hernández Nistal, J., Alvarez, E. 2011. Effect of limestone of different sizes on soil extractable phosphorus and its concentrations in grass and clover species. *Comm. Soil Sci.Plant Anal.* **42**:381 - 394.

Wallenstein, M.D., Mcmahon, S.K., Schimel, J.P. 2009. Seasonal variation in enzyme activities and temperature sensitivities in Arctic tundra soils. *Glob. Change Biol.* **15**:1631–1639.

Wan, Q., Yuan, J.H., Xu, R.K., Li, X.H. 2014. Pyrolysis temperature influences ameliorating effects of biochars on acidic soil. *Env. Sci. Poll. Res.* **21**:2486-2495.

Wang, T., Camps-Arbestain, M., Hedley, M., Bishop, P. 2012. Predicting phosphorus bioavailability from high-ash biochars. *Plant Soil*. **357**:173–187.

Wang, X., Song, D., Liang, G., Zhang, Q., Ai, C., Zhou, W. 2015a. Maize biochar addition rate influences soil enzyme activity and microbial community composition in a fluvo-aquic soil. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* **96**:265–272.

Wang, X., Zhou, W., Liang, G., Song, D., Zhang, X. 2015b. Characteristics of maize biochar with different pyrolysis temperatures and its effects on organic carbon, nitrogen and enzymatic activities after addition to fluvo-aquic soil. *Sci. Total Env.* **538**:137–144.

Warnock, D.D., Lehmann, J., Kuyper, T.W., Rillig, M.C. 2007. Mycorrhizal responses to biochar in soil - Concepts and mechanisms. *Plant Soil*. **300**:9–20.

Weil, R.R. 2000. Soil and plant influences on crop response to two African phosphate rocks. *Agr. J.* **92**:1167-1175.

Wen, Z., Li, H., Shen, J., Rengel, Z. 2017. Maize responds to low shoot P concentration by altering root morphology rather than increasing root exudation. *Plant Soil*. 1–14.

Yuan, J.H., Xu, R.K., Wang, N., Li, J.Y. 2011. Amendment of acid soils with crop residues and biochars. *Pedosphere*. **21**:302–308.

Zambrosi, F.C.B., Mesquita, G.L., Menino, G., Tanaka, F.A.O., Mattos Jr, D., Quaggio, J.A. 2017. Anatomical and ultrastructural damage to citrus leaves from phosphite spray depends on phosphorus supply to roots. *Plant Soil*. 1–13.

Zhang, G.X., Guo, X.F., Zhu, Y., Han, Z.W., He, Q.S., Zhang, F.S. 2017. Effect of biochar on the presence of nutrients and ryegrass growth in the soil from an abandoned indigenous coking site: The potential role of biochar in the revegetation of contaminated site. *Sci. Total Env.* **601**:469-477.

Zhang, H., Chen, C., Gray, E.M., Boyd, S.E., Yang, H., Zhang, D. 2016. Roles of biochar in improving phosphorus availability in soils: A phosphate adsorbent and a source of available phosphorus. *Geoderma*. **276**:1–6.

Zhao, Q., Zeng, D.H., Fan, Z.P. 2010. Nitrogen and phosphorus transformations in the rhizospheres of three tree species in a nutrient-poor sandy soil. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* **46**:341–346.

Zhao, R., Coles, N., Kong, Z., Wu, J. 2015. Effect of aged and fresh biochars on soil acidity under different incubation conditions. *Soil Till. Res.* **146**:133-138.

Zimmerman, A.R., Gao, B., Ahn, M.Y. 2011. Positive and negative carbon mineralization priming effects among a variety of biochar-amended soils. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **43**:1169-1179.

Supplementary materials

Table S1	
Percentage contribution of variables to the PCA	۱.

 	PC1	PC2
Variables ^a	%	
Arylsulfatase	0.20	17.73
α-glucosidase	2.86	1.37
β-glucosidase	0.30	14.75
Xylosidase	1.67	13.79
Glucuronidase	0.85	0.44
Chitinase	0.28	6.95
Leucine-aminopeptidase	0.39	16.52
Acid phosphomonoesterase	3.57	4.86
Pyrophosphate-phosphodiesterase	0.60	1.87
Phosphodiesterase	2.02	3.73
Alkaline phosphomonoesterase	2.62	0.96
Nonanoate esterase	0.03	1.73
dsDNA	1.52	3.20
pH _{H2O}	4.32	0.25
pH _{KCl}	3.27	1.30
Total organic carbon	3.28	1.46
Easily oxidizible organic carbon	2.97	1.02
Phosphorus extracted by Mehlich 3 procedure	3.23	0.01
Exchangeable Ca	2.54	1.98
Exchangeable Mg	4.05	0.55
Exchangeable K	2.17	0.56
Exchangeable Na	0.41	0.58
Exchangeable Al	4.05	0.80
Cation exchange capacity	3.96	0.53
Base saturation	3.94	0.39
Aluminum saturation	3.94	0.39
Biomass	4.08	0.10
Root	3.01	0.03
Shoot	3.87	0.12
Cob	3.57	0.27
Leaves	3.90	0.02
Diameter	3.59	0.12
Plant height	3.90	0.67
Phosphorus harvest index	4.10	0.23
Phosphorus agronomic efficiency	3.57	0.26
Apparent phosphorus recovery efficiency	3.19	0.17
Phosphorus physiological efficiency	4.22	0.31

^{a)}Numbers of variables in bold contributes most to PC1 or PC2



Fig. S1 Principal component analysis of soil and corn growth and yield parameters⁵ as affected by the treatments of acid Arenosol from Mozambique [contrib. = percentage contribution of variables to the principal components (Dim1 - PC1, Dim2 - PC2)].

(a) graph of individuals (symbols), in which individuals close to each other have similar properties, whereas individuals far apart differ strongly in soil and corn growth and yield parameters. Symbols with bigger size represent the main effect of the group. The values on the axes refer to the percent of total variance explained by the axes.

b) graph of contribution (%) of variables to PCA; contrib.: Intensity of arrows (variables) in scale from 1-3%, in which arrows with color tending light grey has less contribution to PCA, whereas arrows with color tending to black has higher contribution to PCA.

⁵TOC: total organic carbon; EOOC: easily oxidizible organic carbon; Mehlich3_P: phosphorus extracted by Mehlich 3 procedure; CEC: cation exchange capacity; SatAl: aluminium saturation; AcP: acid phosphomonoesterase; AlkP: alkaline phosphomonoesterase; alphaG: α-glucosidase; AryS: arylsulfatase; betaG: β-glucosidase; BisP: phosphodiesterase; Chit: chitinase; Leu: leucine-aminopeptidase; Nona: nonanoate esterase; Pyro: pyrophosphate-phosphodiesterase; Uroni: glucuronidase; Xylo: xylosidase; dsDNA: double-strand DNA; P_Height: plant height.



Fig. S2 Rhizospheric effect on soil pH_{H20} (not significant, P > 0.05), pH_{KCl} (not significant, P > 0.05), available P (P = 0.05), total organic carbon (not significant, P > 0.05), easily oxidiziable organic C (EOOC) (not significant, P > 0.05), cation exchange capacity (CEC) (not significant, P > 0.05), exchangeable Ca, Mg and K (not significant, P > 0.05) after pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique.



Fig. S3 Principal component analysis of soil chemical parameters (a) and enzyme activities (b) as affected by the corn rhizosphere⁶ after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique [contrib. = percentage contribution of variables to the principal components (Dim1 - PC1, Dim2 - PC2)]. The values on the axes (graph a and b) are refer to the percent of total variance explained by the axes.

a) graph of individuals (symbols) and variables (arrows) for chemical parameters; b) graph of individuals (symbols) and variables (arrows) for enzyme activities. Individuals close to each other have similar properties, whereas individuals far apart differ strongly. Symbols with bigger size represent the main effect of the group (Bulk or Rhizo). The grey circle surrounds bulk samples, the light grey circle surrounds rhizosphere soil samples; Contrib.: Intensity of arrows (variables) in scale from 2-8%, in which arrows with color tending to light grey has less contribution to PCA, whereas arrows with color tending to black has higher contribution to PCA.

⁶TOC: total organic carbon; EOOC: easily oxidizable organic carbon; Mehlich3_P: phosphorus extracted by Mehlich 3 procedure; CEC: cation exchange capacity; Sat_Al: aluminium saturation; AcP: acid phosphomonoesterase; AlkP: alkaline phosphomonoesterase; alphaG: α -glucosidase; AryS: arylsulfatase; betaG: β -glucosidase; BisP: phosphodiesterase; Chit: chitinase; Leu: leucine-aminopeptidase; Nona: nonanoate esterase; Pyro: pyrophosphate-phosphodiesterase; Uroni: glucuronidase; Xylo: xylosidase.

CHAPTER 4 - BIOCHAR AND PHOSPHATE ROCK – IMPLICATION ON SOIL BIOLOGICAL AND BIOCHEMISTRY PROPERTIES

Phosphate rock and biochar impact on soil quality, and implication on corn and cowpea yields in an acid Arenosol

Rogério Borguete Alves Rafael^{ab,★}; Maria Luisa Fernández-Marcos^{cf}; ^bDanielle Janaina Westphalen; Stefania Cocco^b; Maria Letizia Ruello^d; Flavio Fornasier^e, Giuseppe Corti^b

^aFaculty of Agronomy and Forestry Engineering, Universidade Eduardo Mondlane, 257, Maputo, Mozambique ^bDepartment of Agriculture, Food and Environmental Sciences, Università Politecnica delle Marche, 60131 Ancona, Italy ^cDepartment of Soil Science and Agricultural Chemistry, Universidad de Santiago de Compostela, 27002 Lugo, Spain ^dDepartment of Materials, Environmental Sciences and Urban Planning, Università Politecnica delle Marche, 60131 Ancona, Italy

^e Consiglio per la ricerca in Agricoltura e l'Analisi della Economia Agraria Centro di Ricerca Viticoltura ed Enologia, Gorizia, Italy

^fInstituto de Biodiversidade Agraria e Desenvolvimento Rural, Universidad de Santiago de Compostela, 27002 Lugo, Spain

*Corresponding author: rogerborguete@gmail.com; rogerio.rafael@uem.mz

Other authors: mluisa.fernandez@usc.es; daniellejanaina76@gmail.com; s.cocco@univpm.it; m.l.ruello@univpm.it; flavio.fornasier@crea.gov.it; g.corti@univpm.it

Manuscript are in preparation for submission
Abstract

Phosphorus (P) is an essential plant nutrient that must be added as fertilizer to agricultural soils. Phosphate rock can be used as a slow release fertilizer in acid soils, contributing not only P, but also Ca and Mg. The low reactivity of most phosphate rocks compels farmers to apply high rates of ground phosphate rock to obtain yields similar to those obtained by application of water soluble P fertilizer. The use of high rates of phosphate rock may contribute environmental pollutants which could affect soil microorganisms and, alter soil fertility. Biochar has been reported to improve soil quality and biological function, ameliorating soil physical properties and increasing soil nutrient availability and enzyme activity. The aim of this study is to assess the application of phosphate rock and biochar to an acid Arenosol, the associated root-induced changes and the resulting impact on soil quality and crop yield. The experiment was run in pots, using a surface soil (0 - 0.2 m) collected from an open scrubland in Marracuene district, Mozambique. The pot trial was conducted in a completely random design, with two crops (corn and cowpea) and three treatments (i. soil only (Control); ii. soil with Phosphate rock (PR) at 30 g pot⁻¹; and iii. soil with phosphate rock at a rate of 30 g pot⁻¹ and baby corn peel biochar (PR+BC) at 0.9% (w:w)). Three replicates of each treatment were performed in each of the cultures. Bulk and rhizosphere soils were sampled at the end of experiment. Soil chemical and biochemical properties as well as plant growth, yield and nutrient uptake were determined at the end of the experiment. Soil pH, available P, easily oxidizible carbon (EOOC), cation exchange capacity (CEC), exchangeable cations increased significantly (P < 0.05) with application of PR+BC treatment compared with others. Biochar treatment failed to increase microbial biomass or soil respiration, but increased the activity of three enzymes of the carbon cycle (β -glucosidase, cellulase, xylosidase), one enzyme of the nitrogen cycle (leucine aminopeptidase) and three enzymes of the P cycle (alkaline phosphomonoesterase, phosphodiesterase, and pyrophosphatase-phosphodiesterase). Moreover, the application of biochar increased of nodulation in cowpea and crop yields. Rhizosphere soils of PR treatment showed increased acid phosphomonoesterase and xylosidase activities. Cowpea rhizosphere induced changes promoted faster mineralization of soil organic matter and N fixation as verified by higher activity of β -glucosidase and chitinase, and nodulation. The root-induced biochemical changes contributed to the improvement of soil quality and crop yields. Phosphate rock applied in combination with biochar to an acid Arenosol can be considered as a slow release fertilizer and increase nutrient recovery efficiency by plants.

Key words: enzyme activities; soil respiration; soil fertility; acid soil

1. Introduction

Phosphorus (P) is an essential plant nutrient that is scarce in most soil parent materials. Because of this, P from different sources must be added as fertilizer to agricultural soils (Holford, 1997). Phosphate rocks are a natural resource that can be used as a source of P in agriculture, particularly in acid soils, especially in countries that own these rocks. Along with P, phosphate rock can contribute to soil other nutrients such as calcium (Ca) and magnesium (Mg) (Rafael et al., *in press*). Direct application of ground phosphate rock to the soil is a good alternative for P supply in developing countries that can not afford phosphate commercial fertilizer, but instead could exploit their own rock outcrops (Sokoto and Singh, 2008; Rafael et al., *in press*).

The low reactivity of most phosphate rocks compared with inorganic P fertilizers compels farmers to apply high rates of ground phosphate rock to obtain yields similar to those obtained by using water soluble P fertilizer (Jemo et al., 2006). As a demonstration of this, Rafael et al. (*in press*) investigated in column experiments the feasibility of using phosphate rock as a fertilizer for direct application in tropical acid soils and found that high rates of ground rock are needed to provide adequate amounts of available P to soil. Despite improving crop yields, the application of high rates of phosphate rock may add contaminants on the soil and affect the soil quality in the medium to long-term (Zapata and Roy, 2004). These contaminants could also affect soil microorganisms and therefore alter soil fertility and sustainable agricultural productivity (Olaniran et al., 2013). Since microorganisms are key in maintaining soil quality and driving processes such as organic matter (SOM) decomposition, nutrient cycling, and plant productivity (Lone et al., 2015), it is important to evaluate the influence of ground phosphate rock on soil biological properties.

Biochar, a solid material obtained from thermochemical conversion of biomass in an oxygenlimited environment, has been reported to improve soil quality and biological functions, while enhancing C sequestration (Lone et al., 2015). Biochar can provide a favourable habitat to microorganisms, and this explains the higher microbial biomass found in biochar amended soils (Lehmann et al., 2011; Lone et al., 2015; Demisie et al., 2014). Lehman et al. (2011) and Lu et al. (2015) reported that biochar pH could affect total microbial abundance. However, Quilliam et al. (2013a) argued that biochar does not provide a significant habitat to soil microorganisms, but instead changes in soil physico-chemical properties and enriches the soil surrounding biochar of metabolically available labile compounds that significantly alter microbial structure and activity, and consequently, affect soil-plant-microorganism interactions. Similarly, Ameloot et al. (2014) reported lower soil microbial activity, abundance and basal cumulative respiration in biochar amended soils. Castaldi et al. (2011) found minimal impact of biochar on soil microbial parameters.

Soil enzyme activity has been used as indicator of biological equilibrium and soil quality (Gil-Sotres et al., 2015; Shukla and Varma, 2011). Increased activity of soil β -glucosidase and dehydrogenase as a result of biochar application has been reported (Pandey et al., 2016). Quilliam et al. (2013b) reported an increase of nitrogenase activity in biochar amended soils. In contrast, Ameloot et al. (2014) and Elzobair et al. (2016a,b) reported a decrease of potential β -glucosidase and leucineaminopeptidase activities, while phosphatase, xylosidase and glucosaminidase were not affected by biochar amendment. The effect of biochar was dependent on the type of enzyme as well as on the type of soil and biochar (Kelly et al., 2015).

Moreover, how does the crop rhizosphere respond to these changes? In the rhizosphere a competition for nutrients between plants and microorganisms occurs, with the latter being more competitive due their higher ability to decompose plant derived chelators and their proximity to the root surface (Marschner et al., 2011). But the competitiveness of microorganism depends strongly on C availability (Marschner et al., 2001). The type and quantity of C available in different root zones will determine the microbial growth and rhizosphere community structures (Yang and Crowley, 2000; Marschner et al., 2001). Plant species, root zone and soil type affects soil microorganisms structure, and in sandy soil the root zone is most relevant (Marschner et al., 2001). Microorganism community in the rhizosphere can be affected by changes in root exudates composition caused by changes in plant nutritional status (Yang and Crowley, 2000).

Various legumes, such as cowpea, are able to access non-labile P under P deficient conditions (Pypers et al., 2006). Exudation of organic anions or phosphatases by legumes and pH changes in the rhizosphere are responsible for P acquisition from sparingly soluble P sources such as phosphate rocks (Jemo et al., 2006). Nitrogen acquisition can be enhanced significantly by symbiotic N₂ fixation by legumes (Lambers et al., 2009). Release of organic compounds from root epidermal and cortical cells fosters the proliferation of microorganisms inside, on the surface and outside the roots (Lambers et al., 2009). Rhizodeposition promotes different chemical, physical, and biological characteristics in the rhizosphere compared with the bulk soil (Lambers et al., 2009; Bakker et al., 2015). The rhizosphere processes depend on soil type and plant species (Erel et al., 2017).

Research assessing biochar effect on soil enzymes and soil microorganism are inconsistent. Furthermore, to our knowledge there is no research appraising the effects of biochar combined with phosphate rock in tropical soils. In a previous paper (Rafael et al., *in press*) we investigated the feasibility of using phosphate rock as a fertilizer for direct application in tropical acid soils using column experiments. We found that high rates of the tested phosphate rock are needed to provide adequate amounts of available P to soil. The application of such high rates of phosphate rock might have adverse effects on the soil and the environment (Zapata and Roy, 2004).

The aim of this study was to investigate soil physic-chemical, biochemical and biological response to the use of phosphate rock and biochar for crop growth purposes. Specifically, we aim to assess the contribution of pH and root-induced changes mediated by phosphate rock and biochar to modify soil physicochemical, biochemical and biological properties. We used an acid Arenosol as substrate for corn and cowpea growth. Acidity and nutrient (particularly P) deficiencies are among the major constraints to crop production in this soil. We hypothesized that, crop growth being meagre in this soil, the application of phosphate rock and biochar would benefit soil quality, while biochar would reduce the possible environmental negative impact of a high dose of phosphate rock and increase crop yield. We also hypothesized that the response of soil enzyme activities, respiration, and microbial C will be crop specific and that the rhizosphere processes would affect the enzyme activity patterns.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Soil sampling and inputs preparation

An acid Arenosol, classified as albic Arenosol (IUSS, 2015), was used for the pot experiments. The soil was collected from the A horizon (0-0.2 m) of an open scrubland located in southern Mozambique (25.72577° S, 032.64835° E). Prior to use, the soil was air-dried and sieved to remove gravels and roots ≥ 2 mm size. Babycorn (*Zea mays* L.) peel was used as feedstock for biochar production using a low-cost home-made pyrolyser made of two concentric cylinders. The pyrolysable material was placed in the inner cylinder, while firewood was burnt in the outer cylinder providing energy to heat the inner cylinder. The pyrolysable material was heated for 4 h and the temperature reached 450°C. After the combustion stopped, the biochar was washed twice with distilled water to eliminate excess ash, then oven dried for 48 h at 60°C. The biochar was then ground using a mortar to obtain particles from 0.063 to 0.25 mm.

The phosphate rock was collected from the Evate district (Nampula Province, Mozambique). Blocks of rocks were fragmented by using a grinding press, and the fragments were then ground using an agate mortar. Rock powder was reduced to particle-size fraction of 0.063-0.25 mm. The dimension of the fraction was obtained as per Rafael et al. (*in press*). A nutrient solution adapted from Vanek and Lehmann (2014) [1 mmol L⁻¹ MgSO₄, 25 μ mol L⁻¹ H₃BO₃, 2 μ mol L⁻¹ MnSO₄, 2 μ mol L⁻¹ ZnSO₄, 0.5 μ mol L⁻¹ (NH₄)₆Mo₇O₂₄] was used to replenish other essential nutrients.

2.2. Pot experiments

In the facility of the Faculty of Agronomy and Forest Engineering (Eduardo Mondlane University, Maputo, Mozambique), the pot trial was designed as a completely random test with two crops (corn and cowpea) and three treatments: 1) soil only (Control); 2) soil with phosphate rock (PR); 3) soil with PR and biochar (PR+BC). For each treatment tree replications were applied. The pots were 17-L plastic buckets, in the bottom of which small holes 10 mm in diameter were drilled to avoid stagnant water. Each pot was prepared with a soil layer of 6 kg on the bottom, and then a layer of 4 kg soil homogenized with the inputs so to make a 15 cm thickness with an approximate bulk density of 1.5 kg dm⁻³. Biochar was applied at 0.9% (w:w), equivalent to 27 ton ha⁻¹ (for a soil depth of 0.2 m with a bulk density of 1.5 kg dm⁻³). Phosphate rock was applied at 30 g pot⁻¹ to provide 249 mg pot⁻¹ of available P. These amounts were equivalent to about 22.5 ton ha⁻¹ of phosphate rock and 187 kg ha⁻¹ of available P (20 cm soil depth, bulk density of 1.5 kg dm⁻³) predicted by neutral ammonium citrate extraction (Rafael et al., *in press*).

The soil in the pots was pre-incubated for 10 d to allow an initial dissolution of phosphate powder, and to avoid possible negative effects on plant growth due to biochar volatile substances (Vanek and Lehmann, 2014, Dutta et al., 2017). During the pre-incubation, each pot was irrigated three times per week with 500 mL of distilled water. After this period, three corn (*Zea mays* L., MRI594 - Hybrid white early maturity cultivar) or cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp, IT98K-1105-5 early maturity cultivar) seeds per pot were sown for each experiment (on February 26th, 2016), but only one emerged plant per pot was left. During the growing period (90 and 60 d for corn and cowpea, respectively) the soil temperature ranged from 34.1 ± 5.1 to 32.1 ± 3.8 °C, and all the pots were watered with 500 mL of distilled water once per week, and fertirrigated every two d with 300 mL of nutrient solution (NS). Fertirrigation was made during the first 70 and 40 d (for corn and cowpea, respectively), while watering lasted during growing period. The watering frequency was increased to three times per week due the high water demand of corn and cowpea plants in vegetative stage, starting from 6 and 4 weeks (for corn and cowpea, respectively) after the emergence.

Pest Control was made once per week by alternating fungicide Amistar Top (active substances: azoxystrobin and difenoconazole) + insecticide/acaricide Agromectin 1.8 EC (active substance: abamectin) with fungicide Ridomil Gold (active substances: metalaxyl + mancozeb) + insecticide/acaricide HITCEL 44% EC (active substances: profenofos + cypermethrin). Plants were harvested at 90 and 60 d after emergence (for corn and cowpea, respectively) when they were fruiting. Dry (60 °C) total biomass and shoot weight were determined. Then, soil samples were collected separating rhizosphere and bulk soil, considering as rhizosphere the soil adhering to the roots (Cocco et al., 2013).

2.3. Physic-chemical properties of soil, plant, and biochar

Prior to the experiments, the soil particle-size distribution was determined by the pipette method (Day, 1965) after the soil was disaggregated in distilled water for 24 h. Soil (1:2.5 w:v) and biochar (1:100 w:v) pH were determined potentiometrically in water and KCl (1 M solution) suspensions by a combined glass-calomel electrode. For biochar samples, the suspensions in water or KCl were heated in a water bath to 90 °C, stirred for 20 min to allow dissolution of the soluble components, and cooled to room temperature before pH determination (Ahmedna et al., 1997).

Total carbon (TC), total nitrogen (TN) and total sulphur (TS) in soil, biochar, and plant samples were determined using a CHNS-O analyser (EA1110, Carlo Erba Instruments, Milan, Italy). The total contents of P, Ca, Mg, K, Na, Fe, Mn and Cu in plants and biochar were determined by dry ashing 0.5 g plant or biochar at 500 °C for 16 h in a muffle furnace and dissolving the ash in a 5 M HCl solution (Lambert, 1976). A simple colorimetric method based on ascorbic acid reduction of the ammonium phosphomolybdate complex was used to measure P in the solutions (Kuo, 1996). The concentrations of Ca, Mg, K, Na, Fe, Mn, and Cu were measured by inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES) a Perkin Elmer Optima 8300 spectrometer as described by Boss and Fredeen (1997).

The Walkley-Black (Nelson and Sommers, 1996) method was used to estimate easily oxidisable organic C (EOOC) in soil and biochar (Pansu and Gautheyrou, 2006). The Mehlich 3 reagent (Mehlich, 1984) was used to extract available P from soil samples. Extractable P in biochar was determined by water, 2% citric acid, and 2% formic acid extractants using a suspension of 0.1 g of sample and 30 mL of extractant, shaken at 120 rpm for 48 h in 50 mL centrifuge tubes. The suspension was then centrifuged (~ 2700 g, 15 min) and the supernatant filtered using Whatman No. 42 filter paper prior to colorimetric determination (Zhang et al., 2016). Cation exchange capacity (CEC) and

exchangeable cations in soil and biochar were determined by the BaCl₂ method (Gillman and Sumpter, 1986).

2.4. Soil biochemical and biological properties

Potential enzyme activities in soil were determined as per Fornasier and Margon (2007). Enzymes were desorbed by heteromolecular exchange using an excess of exogenous protein. Thus, 250 mg soil samples were placed in 2-mL Eppendorf tubes with glass beads and 1 mL of 50 mM tris–HCl buffer solution at pH 7.5, containing lysozyme as the desorbing protein. The tube was subjected to beadbeating (3 min, 30 strokes s⁻¹) using a Retsch MM400 mill, then centrifuged for 5 min at 20,000 *g*. The enzyme activity was assayed fluorometrically in microplates using 4-methyl-umbelliferyl and L-Leucine-7-amino-4-methylcoumarine derivatives. The activities of arylsulfatase, chitinase, glucuronidase, α -glucosidase, β -glucosidase, cellulase, xylosidase, acid phosphomonoesterase were determined in 200 mM morpholineethanesulfonic acid solution at pH 6, and the activity of leucine aminopeptidase (leu) in 50 mM tris–HCl buffer solution at pH 7.5.

Double-strand DNA (dsDNA) was determined on 500 mg soil aliquots that were placed in 2-mL Eppendorf tubes and added of glass beads and 1 mL of 0.12 M sodium phosphate buffer (pH 8.0) solution. The tubes were submitted to bead-beating (2 min, 30 strokes s⁻¹) and then centrifuged for 5 min at 20,000 g. The dsDNA content was quantified on aliquots of the supernatant by fluorometry using PicoGreen1 reagent (Life Technologies) according to the instructions of the manufacturer. Root nodules visible at naked eye were counted per each plant.

Soil basal respiration was determined at the end of the experiment by static incubation of 50 g of soil samples of each treatment (made in duplicate) at 60% humidity with 10 mL of 1M NaOH inside 2-L jars at 25°C as described by Vance et al. (1987). The CO₂ concentration produced was measured by titration with 0.5M HCl at the following times (h): 24, 48, 72, 96, 120, 168, 240, 336, 432, 528. Soil microbial biomass was determined at the end of the experiment by the fumigation-extraction (Vance et al., 1987). The quantification of the extracted C was made by the Walkley-Black method.

2.5. Calculation of phosphorus use efficiency

Nutrients taken up (mg pot⁻¹) by roots, shoots (stem + leaves), and cobs or pods were calculated by multiplying their nutrient concentration (mg kg⁻¹) by their weight. Phosphorus harvest index (PHI) was calculated as follows (Agegnehu et al., 2016):

$$PHI\ (\%) = \frac{GPU}{TPU} \times 100$$

where: GPU is P in the cobs or pods (mg pot⁻¹), and TPU is total P in the plant (cob or pod + stem + leaves) (mg pot⁻¹).

Fertilizer P use efficiency was expressed by the following components:

i) Agronomic efficiency (AE) is defined as the additional grain production per unit of P applied, and was calculated as:

$$AE (g g^{-1}) = \frac{GY_{f-} GY_u}{P_a}$$

where: GY_f is the cob (or pod) yield of the fertilized pot (g), GYu is the cob (or pod) yield of the not fertilized pot (g), and P_a is the quantity of P applied as biochar and/or P fertilizer (g) (Agegnehu et al., 2016).

ii) Apparent P recovery efficiency (ARE), or P uptake efficiency, was calculated as:

$$ARE (\%) = \frac{P_f - P_u}{P_a} \times 100$$

where: P_f is the P in cob (or pod) + stem + leaves of the fertilized pot (g), P_u is the P in cob (or pod) + stem + leaves of the not fertilized pot (g), and P_a is the quantity of P applied (g) (Agegnehu et al., 2016).

iii) Physiological efficiency (PE), which expresses the ability of the plant to transform P absorbed from fertilizers into grain yield, was calculated as:

$$PE (gg^{-1}) = \frac{GY_f - GY_u}{P_f - P_u}$$

where: GY_f is the cob (or pod) yield of the fertilized pot (g), GYu is the cob (or pod) yield of the unfertilized pot (g), P_f is the P in cob (or pod) + shoot of the fertilized pot (g), P_u is the P in cob (or pod) + shoot of the unfertilized pot (g) (Agegnehu et al., 2016).

2.6. Statistical analysis

R version 3.1.2 (2014-10-31) was used for statistical analysis. The experimental data were analysed by analysis of variance (ANOVA), after a *boxcox* transformation (Meloun et al., 2005) of the data to perform parametric tests (Shapiro-Wilk normality test and Bartlett test of homogeneity of

variances) when necessary. A multiple comparison Duncan test (at 95% significance level) was used to compare the means. A principal component analysis (PCA) was performed to identify the variables capable of explaining most of the variability and correlations among potential enzyme activities, chemical parameters and cowpea or corn yields determined as response to treatments and rhizosphere soil processes.

3. Results

3.1. Characteristics of soil and inputs used in the experiments

The soil used in the experiment was sandy, strongly acid, and low in organic carbon, available nutrients and cation exchange capacity (CEC). The deficiency of nutrients and the very low CEC and water retention capacity are the main cause of the infertility of such soils. The phosphate rock showed alkaline pH and contained high amounts of P (Table 1). The babycorn peel biochar displayed high base saturation, strongly alkaline pH, and contained considerable amounts of total organic C, N, S, total P, extractable P (water – P, 2% citric acid P, and 2% formic acid P), exchangeable K, and CEC.

3.2. Soil chemical properties at the end of the experiment

The treatments significantly affected pH in H₂O and KCl, EOOC, available P, CEC (only for cowpea), exchangeable Ca, Mg, K, and Al (only for corn), and base saturation (Table 2). On the contrary, the TOC and exchangeable Na were not affected. Soil pH, EOOC, available P, CEC, exchangeable Ca, Mg, K, and base saturation were higher and exchangeable Al was lower in PR+BC treatment than in the Control. In contrast, PR alone did not produce any significant effect on the soil pH, EOOC, and exchangeable Mg and K, but increased Mehlich-3 P and exchangeable Ca. PR+BC treatment supplied 20 and 44% more available P than PR treatment in corn and cowpea, respectively, as well as 40 and 100% more exchangeable Ca respectively for corn and cowpea. Biochar appeared to contribute significantly for both CEC and available P.

Table 1

Physic-bio-chemical properties of acid Arenosol from Mozambique, phosphate rock, and biochar used in the pot experiment.

Parameters	Soil before the trial	Phosphate rock ^{a)}	Babycorn peel biochar
pH _{H2O}	4.3 (0.1) ^{b)}	8.2 (0.1)	9.6 (0.1)
pH _{KCl}	4.3 (0.0)	6.5 (0.1)	8.9 (0.1)
Sand (g kg ⁻¹)	937 (2)	-	-
Silt (g kg ⁻¹)	47 (5)	-	-
Clay $(g kg^{-1})$	16 (3)	-	-
EC ($dS m^{-1}$)	0.0 (-)	0.2 (0.0)	0.9 (0.0)
TOC $(g kg^{-1})$	22.4 (0.5)	-	579.4 (59.3)
EOOC $(g kg^{-1})$	3.1 (0.5)	-	289.7 (15.6)
$TN (g kg^{-1})$	< d1	-	27.1 (0.6)
$TS (g kg^{-1})$	< d1	-	53.9 (4.0)
$TP(g kg^{-1})$	-	239 (0.6)	7.9 (0.6)
Total Ca (g kg ⁻¹)	-	363 (3)	5.1 (0.2)
Total Mg $(g kg^{-1})$	-	<dl< td=""><td>6.6 (0.2)</td></dl<>	6.6 (0.2)
Water-P $(g kg^{-1})$	-	1.4 (0.1)	5.4 (0.2)
2% citric-P (g kg ⁻¹)	-	87.4 (0.2)	2.5 (0.1)
2% formic-P (g kg ⁻¹)	-	133.4 (7.7)	8.0 (0.2)
Mehlich 3-P (mg kg ⁻¹)	6.6 (0.5)	-	-
Exchangeble Ca (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.1 (0.0)	3.5 (0.5)	2.8 (0.1)
Exchangeble Mg (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.1 (0.0)	1.8 (0.1)	4.7 (0.2)
Exchangeble K (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.1 (0.0)	1.1 (0.1)	170.2 (10.0)
Exchangeble Na (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.0 (0.0)	9.2 (2.1)	1.4 (0.1)
Exchangeble Al (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.3 (0.0)	-	0.0 (-)
CEC (cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	0.5 (0.1)	-	179.0 (10.3)
Base saturation (%)	40.8 (6.3)	-	100 (0)
AcP (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	16.2 (1.4)	-	-
AlkP (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	4.5 (0.2)	-	-
$\operatorname{Cell}(\operatorname{nm} g^{-1} h^{-1})$	0.2 (0.1)	-	-
α -G (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	0.5 (0.1)	-	-
AryS (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	0.9 (0.1)	-	-
β -G, (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	4.8 (0.3)	-	-
BisP (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	1.5 (0.1)	-	-
Chit (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	2.4 (0.2)	-	-
Leu (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	13.5 (0.8)	-	-
Nona (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	28.9 (2.1)	-	-
Pyro (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	0.3 (0.1)	-	-
Uroni (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	-	-	-
Xylo (nmol g^{-1} h^{-1})	1.2 (0.1)	-	-
$dsDNA (\mu g g^{-1})$	< d1	-	-

^{a)} The Ca, Mg, K, Na, Al (cmol_c kg⁻¹) in phosphate rock are cations extractable by BaCl₂. ^{b)}Numbers in parentheses are the standard errors (n=3). < dl: below the detection limit. EC: electrical conductivity; TOC: total organic carbon; EOOC: easily oxidizable organic carbon; TN: total nitrogen; TS: total sulphur; TP: total phosphorus; Water-P: phosphorus extracted by distilled water; 2% citric-P: phosphorus extracted by 2% citric acid; 2% formic-P: phosphorus extracted by 2% formic acid; Mehlich 3-P: phosphorus extracted by 2% citric acid; 2% formic exchange capacity; AcP: Acid phosphomonoesterase; AlkP: Alkaline phosphomonoesterase; cell: Cellulase; α -G: α -Glucosidase; AryS: Arylsulfatase; β -G: β -Glucosidase; BisP: Phosphodiesterase; Uroni: Glucuronidase; Xylo: Xyloxidase; dsDNA: double-strand DNA

No significant interaction was found between treatments and soil (bulk and rhizosphere) and crops (corn and cowpea) on soil chemical properties. Significant interaction between treatments and soil compartment was only found for exchangeable K, in which rhizosphere soil of PR+BC treatment had high concentration of exchangeable K (Fig. S1 of supplementary material). Also, there was significant interaction between crops and soil compartment, and between treatments and crops on soil pH (H₂O and KCl). Soil pH (H₂O and KCl) in cowpea bulk and corn rhizosphere soils was higher than corn bulk soil (Fig. S2 of supplementary material). Treatment PR in both crops and corn Control presented lower pH_{H2O} , while corn PR+BC treatment had higher pH_{KCl} , followed by cowpea PR+BC treatment.

3.3. Soil biochemical and biological properties at the end of the experiment

Significant (P < 0.05) interaction was found between the treatments and soil (bulk and rhizosphere) for acid phosphomonoesterase, alkaline phosphomonoesterase, phosphodiesterase, β -glucosidase, cellulase, leucine-aminopeptidase, pyrophosphatase-phosphodiesterase and xylosidase activities (Fig. 1). Although differences were not always significant, most enzyme activities were higher in rhizosphere than in bulk soil in Control and PR treatment. On the contrary, in treatment PR+BC most enzyme activities were higher in bulk soil than in rhizosphere.

In the rhizosphere soil, treatment PR resulted in the highest activities of acid phosphomonoesterase and xylosidase, while treatment PR+BC resulted in the highest activity of leucine aminopeptidase and the lowest activity of acid phosphomonoesterase; no effect of treatment was observed for the other determined enzyme activities. In the bulk soil, treatment PR+BC resulted in the highest activities of alkaline phosphomonoesterase, phosphodiesterase, β -glucosidase, cellulase, leucine aminopeptidase, pyrophosphatase-phosphodiesterase and xylosidase; no effect of treatment was observed for acid phosphomonoesterase activity. For each type of enzyme, there was not significant difference between bulk soils of treatments Control and PR.

Table 2

Treatments effect on soil (bulk and rhizosphere) chemical properties after the pot experiments with acid Arenosol from Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among treatments at $P \le 0.05$ by Duncan multiple mean comparison test.

		Cor	n	Cowpea				
Chemical parameters		Treatments						
	Control	PR	PR+BC	ANOVA	Control	PR	PR+BC	ANOVA
pH _{H2O}	4.56 (0.13) ^{a)} b	4.43 (0.17) b	5.33 (0.11) a	**	5.09 (0.12) a	4.55 (0.05) b	5.00 (0.11) a	**
pH _{KCl}	4.04 (0.06) b	4.03 (0.04) b	4.49 (0.04) a	***	4.22 (0.02) b	4.08 (0.02) c	4.36 (0.04) a	***
TOC, g kg ⁻¹	18.09 (1.14)	20.40 (0.66)	21.15 (0.99)	NS	18.86 (0.35)	18.90 (1.00)	21.12 (0.23)	NS
EOOC, g kg ⁻¹	4.11 (0.36) b	4.01 (0.48) b	7.19 (0.44) a	***	3.99 (0.37) b	4.23 (0.37) b	6.67 (0.53) a	**
Mehlich 3 - P, mg kg ⁻¹	4.15 (1.15) c	76.31 (2.37) b	90.72 (2.60) a	***	3.98 (0.99) c	79.28 (5.33) b	112.36 (4.19) a	***
CEC, $\text{cmol}_{c} \text{ kg}^{-1}$	0.43 (0.06)	0.49 (0.07)	0.66 (0.10)	NS	0.36 (0.08) b	0.52 (0.08) ab	0.75 (0.14) a	*
Exchange Ca, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.05 (0.01) b	0.10 (0.01) a	0.12 (0.01) a	***	0.04 (0.00) c	0.08 (0.01) b	0.12 (0.01) a	**
Exchange Mg, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.05 (0.00) b	0.05 (0.00) b	0.12 (0.01) a	***	0.05 (0.01) b	0.05 (0.01) b	0.15 (0.03) a	***
Exchange K, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.18 (0.03) b	0.15 (0.03) b	0.33 (0.07) a	*	0.16 (0.04) b	0.20 (0.04) b	0.39 (0.09) a	*
Exchange Na, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.00 (0.00)	0.00 (0.00)	0.00 (0.00)	NS	0.00 (0.00)	0.01 (0.00)	0.01 (0.01)	NS
Exchange Al, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.16 (0.02) a	0.19 (0.02) a	0.07 (0.01) b	**	0.12 (0.03)	0.19 (0.03)	0.09 (0.02)	NS
Base saturation, %	62.45 (1.78) b	60.47 (1.35) b	88.54 (0.39) a	***	67.96 (2.01) b	63.23 (2.12) c	87.09 (2.77) a	***

NS, *, **, *** Not significant, significant at P = 0.05, P = 0.01 and P = 0.001, respectively. ^a)Numbers in parentheses are the standard errors (n=6). TOC: total organic carbon; EOOC: easily oxidizable organic carbon; Water-P: water-extractable phosphorus; Mehlich 3-P: available phosphorus extracted by Mehlich 3 method; CEC: cation exchange capacity



Fig. 1 Effect of interaction between treatments (Control, PR, and PR+BC) and soil compartiments (bulk and rhizosphere) on soil acid phosphomonoesterase (P = 0.05), alkaline phosphomonoesterase (P = 0.001), phosphodiesterase (P = 0.001), β -glucosidase (P = 0.05), cellulase (P = 0.05), leucine aminopeptidase (P = 0.05), pyrophosphate phosphodiesterase (P=0.05), and xylosidase (P=0.01) activities after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique in both corn and cowpea. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among treatments at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test. The whiskers indicate the error bars (n=6).

Cowpea always presented higher (P < 0.05) activity of all enzymes (excluding Glucuronidase) than corn (Table S1 of supplementary material). In addition, significant (P < 0.05) interaction was found between crop type (corn and cowpea) and soil (bulk and rhizosphere) in β -glucosidase and chitinase (Fig. 2). The activities of β -glucosidase and chitinase were higher in rhizosphere than in bulk soil for cowpea, while in the case of corn there was no difference between rhizosphere and bulk soil. No significant impact of the treatments was found on double-strand DNA, soil microbial biomass (excluding corn), and soil basal respiration in 528 h (Table 3).

For corn, treatment PR presented lower soil microbial biomass than Control. In turn, cowpea nodulation in treatment PR+BC showed an increase of about 10 and 4 fold compared to the Control and PR treatments, respectively. Along the period of respiration measurement, for both crops soil basal respiration showed a dramatic increase from 24 to 168 h, thereafter started to increase slowly until 528 h (Fig. 3). There was not significant influence of treatment or soil (bulk and rhizosphere) for corn on soil basal respiration, while a significant (P < 0.05) influence of both factors was found for cowpea. For corn, the curves for different treatments overlapped during the whole period and the same did the curves for both soil compartments (Fig. 3).



Fig. 2 Effect of interaction between crops (corn and cowpea) and soil compartment (bulk and rhizosphere) on soil β -glucosidase (P = 0.01) and chitinase (P = 0.05) activities after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among treatments at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test. The whiskers indicate the error bars (n=6).

Table 3

Treatments effect on soil (bulk and rhizosphere) biological properties after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among treatments at $P \le 0.05$ by Duncan multiple mean comparison test.

Diala si sal		Cor	'n		Cowpea				
Biological		Treatments				Treatments			
parameters	Control	PR	PR+BC	ANOVA ^a	Control	PR	PR+BC	ANOVA	
dsDNA, µg g ⁻¹	1.6 (0.2) ^{a)}	2.2 (0.2)	1.3 (0.3)	NS	2.5 (0.1)	3.3 (0.3)	3.2 (0.3)	NS	
SMB, mg C kg ⁻¹	17.1 (3.7) a	5.8 (1.0) b	10.0 (2.8) ab	*	6.7 (1.8)	3.3 (1.0)	7.5 (1.9)	NS	
SR, mg CO ₂ kg ⁻¹	341.5 (37.8)	357.5 (17.6)	375.2 (26.2)	NS	343.6 (43.2)	390.2 (27.5)	337.5 (25.2)	NS	
Nod. per plant ^{b)}	-	-	-	-	19.3 (3.7) b	50.0 (17.1) b	189.0 (40.7) a	**	

NS, *, ** Not significant, significant at P = 0.05 and P = 0.01, respectively. ^{a)}Numbers in parentheses are the standard errors (n=6). ^{b)}Nod. - Nodules (Means of three repetitions); dsDNA - Double-stand DNA; SMB - Soil microbial biomass; SR - Soil respiration in 528 h;



Fig. 3 Soil basal respiration (mg $CO_2 kg^{-1}$) in corn and cowpea as affected by treatment and soil compartment during the respiration period of 528 h at end of the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique. The whiskers indicate the error bars (n=3).

In contrast, the cowpea soil basal respiration curves apparently showed higher CO₂ release for PR treatment and rhizosphere soil from 168 to 528 h. Moreover, significant interaction between both factors was observed in cowpea, the soil basal respiration being higher for rhizosphere than bulk soil in treatments Control and PR, but not significantly different in PR+BC treatment (Fig. 4). Principal component analysis (PCA) was run to assess the variation of soil chemical and biochemical properties as affected by soil compartment (rhizosphere and bulk), treatment (Control, PR, and PR+BC), and plant species (corn and cowpea). PC1 and PC2 explained 41.2 and 19.4% of the variation, respectively (Fig. 5).



Fig. 4 Effect of interaction between treatments (Control, PR, and PR+BC) and soil compartments (bulk and rhizosphere) on soil basal respiration (mg CO₂ kg⁻¹) after 528 h in corn and cowpea at the end of the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among treatments at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test. The whiskers indicate the error bars (n=3).

Several soil chemical and biochemical properties parameters showed positive correlation with PC1, contributing ~ 61.9% of the variability (Table S1 of Supplementary materials). These parameters were grouped into chemical (Available P) and biochemical (arylsulfatase, α -glucosidase, β -glucosidase, glucuronidase, chitinase, leucine aminopeptidase, pyrophosphate phosphodiesterase, phosphodiesterase and alkaline phosphomonoesterase activities). Conversely, parameters such as pH_{H2O}, pH_{KCl}, TOC, EOOC, exchangeable Ca, Mg, K, and Al, CEC, base saturation, cellulase, xylosidase, acid phosphomonoesterase, and nonanoate esterase activities showed positive correlation

with PC2 contributing ~ 87.4% of the variability (Table S2 of Supplementary materials). The PCA biplot grouped the samples according to treatment and plant species, but rhizosphere and bulk soil samples overlap almost completely (Fig. 5a, c, and d).



Fig. 5 Ordination plots (principal component analysis: Dim1 = PC1 and Dim2 =PC2) of chemical and biochemical properties after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique. (*a*) the circles surround samples from bulk and rhizosphere soils; *b*) graph of contribution (%) of variables to PCA; *c*) the circles surround samples from treatments Control, PR and PR+BC; and *d*) the circles surround samples from corn and cowpea). The values in the axis legend (graphs *a*), *b*), *c*) and *d*)) refer to % of total variance explained by the axis component. Individuals (symbols) close to each other have similar properties, whereas individuals far apart differ strongly in the chemical and biochemical properties. The main effect of each group (graphs a, c, and d) are represented by bigger symbols.

3.4. Crops growth and yield

Both PR and PR+BC treatments significantly improved corn and cowpea growth and yield parameters compared to Control (Table 4). It is worth noting that Control treatment in corn failed to produce cobs, while in cowpea only one out of three Control replicates produced pods. In general, the treatment PR+BC showed higher dry biomass, root, stem, leaves, and fruit (cobs or pods), plant height, and stem diameter than the Control for both corn and cowpea, but also higher dry biomass, root, stem, leaves and fruit (except in corn) yield than PR treatment. Application of PR+BC increased production of dry biomass by roughly 10 and 13 times compared to the Control, and ~ 90 and 74 % in relation to PR treatment, for corn and cowpea, respectively. In addition, cowpea dry pod yield increased by at least 1802% and 1268% with PR+BC and PR compared to the Control for corn and cowpea, respectively.

3.5. Macronutrient uptake by crops

Both treatment and plant portion (root, stem, leaves, and fruits (cobs or pods)) affected (P <0.05) the elemental (C, N, S, P, K, Ca, and Mg) contents (mg pot⁻¹) in the vegetal tissues for both corn and cowpea (Table 5). Moreover, significant (P<0.05) interaction between plant portion and treatment was found (except for Ca in corn). In corn, the highest content of most macronutrients in each organ was found in treatment PR+BC, according to the highest yield. Concerning singular nutrients, C and S often accumulated in stem, the organ that accumulated most of plant biomass; N, K, Ca and Mg accumulated in leaves and P in stem, leaves or cob.

Also in cowpea the highest content of most macronutrients in each organ was found in treatment PR+BC. C, N, S, P and Mg in treatments PR and PR+BC accumulated in pods, which accounted for most of the plant biomass; in Control, where the stem accounted for most of the plant biomass, C, N and S accumulated in this organ while P and Mg accumulated in leaves. Ca accumulated in leaves in all treatments, and K accumulated in fruit, leaves or stem.

Table 4

Treatments effect on corn and cowpea yield and growth parameters after pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among treatments at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test.

		Cor	'n		Cowpea					
Yield and growth		Treatments								
parameters	Control	PR	PR+BC	ANOVA	Control	PR	PR+BC	ANOVA		
Dry biomass, g pot ⁻¹	9.8 (3.8) ^{a)} c	51.4 (7.2) b	97.6 (7.4) a	***	1.77 (0.10) c	12.95 (1.65) b	22.47 (1.16) a	***		
Dry root, g pot ⁻¹	1.3 (0.3) c	5.2 (1.1) b	9.4 (1.2) a	**	0.41 (0.06) b	0.62 (0.29) b	1.98 (0.36) a	*		
Dry stem, g pot ⁻¹	2.7 (1.4) c	17.8 (4.4) b	45.2 (7.1) a	**	0.71 (0.14) b	1.89 (0.20) b	4.52 (1.03) a	*		
Dry leaves, g pot ⁻¹	5.7 (2.1) c	14.4 (1.8) b	22.1 (2.1) a	**	0.46 (0.14) b	3.34 (1.08) ab	5.88 (1.19) a	*		
Dry fruit, g pot ⁻¹	NA (-)	14.0 (0.2) a	21.0 (3.9) a	**	0.56 ^b (-) c	7.10 (0.19) b	10.09 (1.15) a	*		
Plant height, cm	43.7 (13.6) b	146.0 (15.2) a	172.3 (7.7) a	***	21.00 (1.53) b	27.00 (1.53) a	26.67 (0.33) a	*		
Diameter of stem, cm	0.6 (0.1) c	1.1 (0.1) b	1.3 (0.1) a	**	0.48 (0.04) b	0.47 (0.02) b	0.71 (0.02) a	**		
Root length, cm	27.7 (3.8)	38.7 (3.5)	40.3 (4.3)	NS	26.33 (4.48)	35.00 (3.61)	26.67 (3.53)	NS		

NS, *, **, *** Not significant, significant at P = 0.05, P = 0.01 and P = 0.001, respectively; NA – not available because this treatment did not produced cob; ^{a)} Numbers in parentheses are the standard errors (n=3). ^bOnly one repetition produced pod

Table 5

Plant nutrient contents (mg pot⁻¹) in corn and cowpea after pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among treatments at $P \le 0.05$ by Duncan multiple mean comparison test.

]	Plant			Corn						Cowpea			
nı	utrient		Treatments ANOVA			Treatments			ANOVA				
co	ontents	Control	PR	PR+BC	Plant	Treat.	Interaction	Control ^{b)}	PR	PR+BC	Plant	Treat.	Interaction
С	Fruit	NA	5632.8 (74.0) ^{a)} bc	7971.7 (1454.0) b				187.1 (-) e	2668.9 (52.9) ab	3696.8 (488.2) a			
	Leaves	2045.5 (819.6) d	5840.5 (540.0) bc	8458.4 (731.5) b	**	***	** ***	123.0 (33.9) e	826.3 (435.4) cd	2028.7 (428.5) ab	**	***	***
	Stem	960.3 (516.5) e	6928.9 (1502.0) bc	16899.1 (2056.2) a				189.0 (42.4) e	687.2 (64.9) cd	1553.9 (343.6) bc			
	Roots	465.8 (139.4) e	2048.1 (390.2) d	3459.5 (379.9) cd				108.8 (9.6) e	224.1 (96.5) de	646.9 (96.0) cd			
Ν	Fruit	NA	209.4 (2.8) ab	436.7 (200.1) a				18.2 (-) cde	196.7 (4.4) a	280.8 (35.5) a			
	Leaves	98.1 (45.8) cd	192.2 (12.4) abc	250.5 (15.4) ab	***	*** ***	***	15.7 (3.4) cde	70.8 (44.5) bc	161.4 (29.7) a	**	***	***
	Stem	32.3 (21.0) ef	155.1 (38.3) bcd	392.5 (64.7) a				22.0 (4.0) bcde	25.1 (5.0) bcde	61.9 (12.9) b			
	Roots	17.1 (3.2) f	58.2 (12.5) def	75.2 (15.5) de				10.2 (1.8) e	14.7 (7.8) de	49.7 (10.1) bcd			
S	Fruit	NA	1044.2 (27.7) bc	1335.5 (313.8) b				30.3 (-) def	502.8 (50.7) a	505.9 (118.0) a		***	***
	Leaves	378.7 (154.9) de	933.2 (60.2) bc	1416.2 (164.0) b	***	***	***	21.6 (7.2) f	141.6 (78.7) bcd	307.2 (74.0) ab	**		
	Stem	188.2 (94.7) ef	1233.7 (251.9) b	3015.7 (351.3) a				30.9 (5.7) def	103.1 (18.8) cde	228.8 (75.4) abc			
	Roots	79.5 (29.5) f	314.0 (53.4) de	509.5 (42.5) cd				14.8 (2.0) f	26.5 (9.0) ef	98.1 (18.9) cde			
Р	Fruit	NA	20.8 (2.2) bcde	62.4 (10.8) ab				1.5 (-) cd	25.0 (2.5) ab	55.7 (14.3) a		***	**
	Leaves	15.2 (4.2) cde	13.3 (1.5) cde	43.9 (11.3) bc	*	***	***	0.7 (0.3) d	14.7 (9.5) b	26.3 (9.7) ab	**		
	Stem	11.6 (8.2) de	9.1 (1.1) cde	162.4 (96.9) a				0.5 (0.1) de	1.5 (0.8) cd	8.9 (3.7) b			
	Roots	8.1 (4.9) de	4.2 (1.1) e	34.0 (20.8) bcd				0.4 (0.1) de	1.4 (1.0) d	6.7 (1.6) bc			
Κ	Fruit	NA	125.9 (27.2) cd	304.1 (51.0) abc				5.6 (-) cd	85.2 (9.0) ab	132.4 (15.1) ab			
	Leaves	102.1 (50.5) d	184.7 (32.3) bcd	469.0 (54.7) a	***	***	**	10.6 (6.1) c	8.8 (0.3) c	200.9 (16.9) a	**	***	**
	Stem	34.2 (27.6) e	122.1 (56.4) d	447.7 (123.1) ab				10.5 (2.0) c	63.9 (7.2) b	239.7 (108.7) a			
	Roots	15.8 (7.7) e	67.4 (15.6) de	179.1 (39.4) bcd				5.5 (1.8) cd	6.4 (4.9) cd	49.9 (14.6) b			
Ca	Fruit	NA	5.8 (3.2)	5.2 (0.6)				0.5 (-) e	5.7 (0.6) bc	5.3 (0.7) bc			
	Leaves	16.2 (7.3)	36.0 (9.2)	38.9 (9.1)	***	***	NS	1.4 (0.5) cd	14.6 (4.7) b	40.3 (1.1) a	***	***	*
	Stem	1.7 (0.8)	8.0 (3.2)	9.8 (2.6)			110	0.7 (0.2) d	4.9 (0.8) bc	14.1 (6.5) b			
	Roots	1.0 (0.4)	5.3 (1.7)	9.3 (3.4)				0.4 (0.1) d	1.1 (0.5) d	5.2 (1.6) bc			
Mg	Fruit	NA	15.4 (5.0) b	26.8 (4.7) ab	***			1.6 (-) ef	12.9 (1.0) abc	23.8 (1.4) a		***	*
	Leaves	16.3 (6.3) bc	25.8 (5.1) ab	44.2 (11.4) a		***	**	2.1 (0.6) def	3.6 (1.8) de	12.5 (0.9) abc	*		
	Stem	3.6 (1.9) d	14.9 (4.6) c	43.8 (10.9) a				1.1 (0.3) ef	3.6 (0.8) cde	21.9 (11.5) ab	-		
	Roots	1.5 (0.3) d	4.7 (1.8) cd	10.8 (3.2) bc				0.4 (0.1) fg	0.7 (0.4) efg	6.9 (2.0) bcd			

NS, *, **, *** Not significant, significant at P = 0.05, P = 0.01 and P = 0.001, respectively. NA – not available because did not produced cob. ^{a)}Numbers in parentheses are the standard errors (n=3). ^{b)}Only 1 repetition produced pod.

As for macronutrient concentrations (g kg⁻¹), significant (P < 0.05) interaction was found between plant portion and treatments for C, N, S, P, K, Ca, and Mg concentration (mg kg⁻¹), except for K in corn and P and Ca in cowpea. Plant portion or treatment affected concentration (P< 0.05) of P, K, Ca and Mg in corn, and N, P, K, Ca and Mg in cowpea (Fig. 6 and 7). N and P concentrations in cowpea were highest in leaves or fruit. Higher N concentration in cowpea was found in Control (leaves, fruit and stem), while in corn was similar between treatments mostly in fruit, leaves and roots (except fruit in Control), resulting from a concentration effect (lower biomass yield); Not significant difference was found in P concentration between treatments and plant portions (excluding fruit in Control) in corn; however, in cowpea treatment PR+BC resulted in higher P concentration than PR and Control treatments.



Fig. 6 Effect of interaction between treatments (Control, PR, and PR+BC) and plant organs (root, stem, leave, and fruit) on N and P concentration (g kg⁻¹) after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique. Symbols represent: *, ***, *** significant at P = 0.05, P = 0.01 and P = 0.001, respectively for no interaction but significant effect of individual factors (treatments or plant organs). The whiskers indicate the error bars (n=3).



Fig. 7 Effect of interaction between treatment (Control, PR, and PR+BC) and plant organs (root, stem, leave, and fruit) on K, Ca, and Mg concentration (g kg⁻¹) after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique. Symbols represent: *, **, *** significant at P = 0.05, P = 0.01 and P = 0.001, respectively for no interaction but significant effect of individual factors (treatments or plant organs). The whiskers indicate the error bars (n=3).

K concentrations were higher in cowpea than in corn. K concentration in corn was highest in root and leaves, while in cowpea K concentration was highest in stem or leaves. In corn, higher K concentration was found in roots and leaves, and PR+BC treatments had higher K concentration; while in cowpea, there was higher K concentration in PR+BC treatment in stem and leaves, than in PR and Control treatments. Ca and Mg concentrations in both crops were highest in leaves. Ca concentration in corn was highest in leaves of all treatments, while in cowpea, PR+BC treatment had higher concentration. Mg concentration in corn was highest in Control leaves, resulting from a concentration effect, while in cowpea there was not significant difference between treatments or plant portions.

3.5.1. Phosphorus use efficiency

The P use efficiency by both crops was assessed as agronomic efficiency (AE), physiological efficiency (PE), apparent recovery efficiency (ARE), and harvest index (HI). The P AE and HI were affected by the crop but not by the treatment, the AE being higher in corn while the HI was higher in cowpea (Fig. 8). For the ARE and PE, a significant (P<0.05) interaction was found between crop and treatment. In both crops, the ARE was higher in treatment PR+BC than in PR; the PE was higher in treatment PR than in PR+BC in corn, while there was no significant difference between treatments in cowpea.



Fig. 8 Phosphorus agronomic (AE, g g⁻¹) and physiological (PE, g g⁻¹) efficiencies, apparent nutrient recovery (ARE, %), and harvest index (HI, %) by corn and cowpea after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among treatments at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test. Symbols represent: NS, *, **, *** Not significant, significant at P = 0.05, P = 0.01 and P = 0.001,

respectively for no interaction but significant effect of individual factors (treatments or crops). The whiskers indicate the standard error (n=3).

4. Discussion

4.1. Soil, phosphate rock and biochar physicochemical properties

The soil used in the trial had low fertility, and soil pH correction, replenishment of soil organic matter and plant nutrients are mandatory to increase the soil fertility (Kimetu et al., 2008). The phosphate rock is considered suitable to be applied to this soil, so to increase available P and other nutrients such as Ca and Mg (Chien et al., 2010; Rafael et al., *in press*). Biochar can be a source of both labile and recalcitrant C, cation exchange capacity (CEC), available nutrients, liming potential and water retention capacity, all of which will result in improving soil fertility and crop yield (Yuan et al., 2011).

Biochar application was responsible for the significant increase of soil pH, for both corn and cowpea cultivation, in treatment PR+BC. Lehmann et al. (2011) reported the ability of biochar to increase soil pH, CEC, and EOOC. In addition, biochar contributed to the increase of available P in PR+BC treatment because of the soluble P content in the biochar (Table 1), which is therefore a potential source of P (Wang et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2016).

Our results indicate that soil rhizosphere pH (H₂O and KCl) in cowpea was not lower (P<0.05) than pH of bulk soils, while corn rhizosphere soils had higher pH (H₂O and KCl) than bulk soils (Fig. S2 of supplementary material). Plants can change the chemical conditions in the rhizosphere, in particular by releasing H⁺/OH⁻ or organic anions, and influence the mobility of P from sparingly soluble P sources (Bertrand et al., 1999; Hinsinger et al., 2006). In our study root – induced alkalinisation in corn probably was due OH⁻/HCO₃⁻ exudation by roots (Hinsinger, 2001), indicating higher uptake of anions (probably phosphate), which was promoted by PR+BC treatments. Rhizosphere acidification can increase under P deficiency (Zhou et al., 2009). The physic-chemical properties of biochar such as pH, CEC and C content influence nutrient availability and microbial community (Hussain et al., 2017).

According with Hinsinger (2001), acidification of the rhizosphere is expected to occur in the rhizosphere of N_2 fixing legumes particularly efficient at using P from phosphate, but in our study cowpea rhizosphere pH did not differ from bulk. The reason are because the H⁺ released by roots are consumed in the dissolution of phosphate rock and do not contribute to any pH decrease in the rhizosphere (Hinsinger, 2001). Also, measuring only change in pH is rather poor indicator of H⁺ or

OH⁻/HCO₃⁻ actually released by roots (Hinsinger, 2001; Dakora and Philips, 2002; Neumann and Römheld, 2012).

4.2. Soil biochemical and biological properties

Since the soil microbial community produces enzymes in response to any soil change that modifies the organic substrate or other soil factors (Sinsabaugh et al., 2002), the enzymatic activity can be used as an indicator of soil changes (Schloter et al., 2003; Allen et al., 2011; Jain et al., 2016). The effect of treatments on enzyme activities was enzyme specific. Acid phosphomonoesterase and xylosidase activities were highest in rhizosphere soil of treatments Control and PR, probably due to the lower pH values (bulk and rhizosphere) compared with PR+BC treatment. PR treatment did not differ significantly from the Control for most enzymes assessed, excluding β -glucosidase and xylosidase in rhizosphere. The optimum pH range of acid phosphomonoesterase and xylosidase is from ~ 4 - 5 (Gianfreda and Rao, 2014). These enzymes are pH dependent, and in treatment PR+BC the pH (bulk and rhizosphere) was ~ 5, this could have depressed the activities of both enzymes.

However, in the PR + BC treatment most of the enzyme activities are higher in bulk soil; perhaps the biochar is preferentially concentrated in non-rhizospheric soil, creating a more favourable environment for biological activity. Biochar liming effect caused higher pH (but no significant difference was found between bulk and rhizosphere) on PR+BC treatment compared with Control and PR treatments, and increased the activity of these enzymes. Also, Jain et al. (2016) and Huang et al. (2017) found an increase of alkaline phosphomonoesterase with application of biochar ascribed to the increase of soil pH. These results suggest that biochar addition change soil properties, such as rhizosphere microorganism communities as reported by Lehmann et al. (2011). The effect of biochar on soil enzyme activity depends on soil type and the particular enzyme (Hussain et al., 2017).

Cowpea rhizosphere had higher activity of β -glucosidase (involved in C cycle) and chitinase (involved in both N and C cycles) than bulk soil, due the ability of legumes to release C compounds around the root zone and promote different chemical, physical, and biological characteristics in the rhizosphere compared with the bulk soil (Hinsinger et al., 2006; Lambers et al., 2009; Bird et al., 2011; Bakker et al., 2015). Legumes have rhizosphere processes than corn (Hinsinger, 2001). These results suggest that cowpea rhizosphere is able to decompose soil organic matter faster than corn rhizosphere. Cowpea was able also to significantly acquire N through symbiotic fixation, mainly in treatment PR+BC (Lambers et al., 2009; Laberge et al., 2011). Cowpea nodules enhance rhizosphere

priming effect by releasing rhizodeposits that accelerate soil organic matter decomposition (Zhu and Cheng, 2012).

There was not significant difference among treatments in soil microbial biomass in cowpea, but significantly higher soil basal respiration was found from 168 to 528 h in PR treatment than in Control or PR+BC. Conversely, higher acumulated soil basal respiration was found in cowpea rhizosphere of PR treatment than in bulk soil (Fig. 4). Marschner (2011), asserted that higher microbial activity in rhizosphere leads to higher soil basal respiration. Several factors can contribute to microbial composition in the rhizosphere, however, the plant itself exert highly selective effect that is greater than that of the soil (Marschner et al., 2001, 2004). Biochar is resistant to soil microorganism degradation and its recalcitrance makes reducing the release of CO₂ from the soil (Hussain et al., 2017; Zhu et al., 2017), in accordance with the respiration in PR+BC lower than in PR and not different from Control.

For corn, our results indicate that in the short term biochar did not increase soil microbial biomass or respiration; on the contrary, PR treatment reduced the total soil microbial biomass compared with Control. Similarly, Castaldi et al. (2011) and Ameloot et al. (2014) reported for field trials that, in the medium term, soil microbial activity was either not affected or inhibited to different extents in the biochar-amended plots. Lehmann et al. (2011) and Hussain et al. (2017), among others, reported that biochar has strong influence on soil microbial community composition and abundance, and C forms. The increase of soil microbial biomass may result in net nutrient immobilization, while a decrease can cause a net release of nutrients (Marschner, 2011).

The application of biochar did significantly increase most enzyme activities as well as nodulation in cowpea. Different from our results, in medium-term trials Quilliam et al. (2013) found no significant difference in the total number of nodules between biochar-amended and unamended soil. In this study the soil biological and biochemical properties were clearly affected by soil (bulk and rhizosphere), treatments and plant species. Enzymes such as phosphodiesterase, α -glucosidase, arylsulfatase, chitinase, leucine aminopeptidase, β -glucosidase, and alkaline phosphomonoesterase were significantly affected by both plant species and soil (bulk and rhizosphere), β -glucosidase and chitinase highest in cowpea rhizosphere. The increase of availble P significantly increased the activities of α -glucosidase, β -glucosidase, phosphodiesterase, pyrophosphate phosphodiesterase, and alkaline phosphomonoesterase (Fig. S3 of Supplementary materials). Similarly, the activities of these enzymes correlated to soil EOOC concentration (Fig. S4 of Supplementary materials). The activity of acid phosphomonoesterase significantly decreased with increase of soil EOOC (Fig. S5 of Supplementary materials).

These enzymes are extracellular enzymes involved mostly in C, N, S and P cycles and can be released by plants (Shukla and Varma, 2011). For example, glucosidases are responsible for cellulose degradation, are useful as soil quality indicators, and are derived mostly from soil microorganism like fungi (Turner et al., 2002; Shukla and Varma, 2011), while arylsulfatase, that plays an important role in S cycle, mainly originates from fungi, bacteria and plants (Li and Sarah, 2003). Wang et al. (2015) reported an increase of soil enzymes related with N and P cycles after aplication of corn biochar. Biochar may be responsible for the stimulation of degradation of proteins and N rich substances and lead to the increase of leucine aminopeptidase (Wang et al., 2015). In addition, phosphatases are important for mineralization of P, and are also dependent on microbial activities (Jain et al., 2016). Biochar effects on soil enzyme activity are highly variable (Bailey et al., 2011). In this study we demonstrated that baby corn peel biochar significant affects enzymes related to C, N, and P cycles in an acid Arenosol. Plant rhizosphere played an important role influencing the enzyme activities.

4.3. Crops yield in response to the treatments

Both corn and cowpea yields increased dramatically in PR+BC and PR treatments compared with the Control. There has been reported an increase of yield by direct application of phosphate rock to acid soils (Vanlauwe et al., 2000; Somado et al., 2006; Sokoto and Singh, 2008; Chien et al., 2011). To date, no report regarding simultaneous application of phosphate rock and biochar to acid soils was found. The increase of soil available P affects crops yield and root weight (Edwards, 1991; McLaughlin and James, 1991; Wright et al., 1991). Plants with root well developed are able to absorb nutrients efficiently. In our study, dry root biomass was significantly higher in treatments with higher soil available P.

4.4. Nutrient uptake and concentration in corn and cowpea

Nutrient uptake (mg pot⁻¹) in both corn and cowpea were related to plant biomass, higher nutrient uptake being registered in PR+BC treatment because this treatment produced higher yield for both crops. Corn accumulated C, N, S, P, and Mg always in stem on treatment PR+BC, while cowpea always accumulated the same elements in pods for the same treatment. K and Ca always accumulated in leaves in both crops. The highest N, P, and K concentrations (mg kg⁻¹) in leaves, for both corn and cowpea, were found in Control, due the dilution effect in treatments PR and PR+BC, where pant growth was higher than in Control. N concentration in cowpea was higher than in corn, being in the

typical ranges for legumes and grasses, respectively (Barker and Bryson, 2007). P concentration in cowpea was within the sufficient range in PR and PR+BC treatments (Sanchez, 2007). P concentration in corn lay within the sufficient range in PR+BC treatment, but, quite surprisingly, was below this range in PR treatment. The higher P concentrations in cowpea than in corn in PR and PR+BC treatments, despite the similar values of soil Mehlich-3 P, are congruent with the dilution associated to higher biomass production in corn.

K concentration was also higher in cowpea than in corn. Highest concentrations in PR+BC treatment for both crops reflect the capacity of biochar to supply K and are consistent with the highest soil exchange K in this treatment. In both crops, K concentrations in leaves lay in the sufficient K ranges for corn and legumes (Mengel, 2007) in Control and PR+BC treatment and below this range in PR treatment. Ca concentrations were much lower in corn than in cowpea, in accordance with the general statement that monocotyledons contain much less Ca than dicotyledons (Pilbeam and Morley, 2007) and were allocated preferentially in leaves. In cowpea, the Ca concentrations were lowest in Control, in accordance with the lower soil exchange Ca. Also, Mg concentrations were lower in corn than in cowpea and were allocated preferentially in leaves, being within the reported sufficiency ranges (Merhaut, 2007).

4.4.1. Phosphorus use efficiency

High nutrient use efficiency by plants greatly enhances the efficiency of applied fertilizers, reducing costs and preventing nutrient losses to ecosystems and the concomitant degradation of soil and water quality (Baligar et al., 2001). The harvest index (HI) is a characteristic of the plant species or cultivar, being in the present case higher for cowpea than for corn, irrespective of treatment. Cowpea was more efficient than corn in using P from phosphate rock, as illustrated by the higher apparent recovery efficiency in treatment PR (Fig. 8). Cowpea has been reported to be able to access non-lablie P under P-deficiency conditions (Pypers et al., 2006). Krasilnikoff et al. (2003) found considerable activity of root-induced rhizosphere processes leading to higher P uptake from sparingly soluble P sources by cowpea. Due to N fixation, legumes take up small amounts of nitrate, which leads to an imbalance between anion and cation uptake with the subsequent excretion of H⁺ ions, which acidify the rhizosphere and release P from phosphate rock (Weil, 2000; Neumann and Römheld, 2012).

The ability of the plant to transform P acquired from fertilizer into grain yield, assessed as physiological efficiency (PE), was higher for corn in PR treatment, and for this treatment was higher

in corn than cowpea. In addition, PR+BC treatment in both crops presented higher ARE, meaning that greater efficiency in P uptake was provided by biochar. This higher ARE may be related to the higher available P or higher pH (Table 2) or to higher phosphatase (alkaline phosphomonoesterase, phosphodiesterase and pyrophosphatase-phosphodiesterase) activities (Fig. 1); it might also be related to the water holding capacity contributed by biochar (not measured). Therefore, the application of phosphate rock in combination with biochar to and acid Arenosol can be considered as slow release fertilization, with the benefit of increasing P recovery efficiency.

Interaction of plants and soil microorganism has a great effect on nutrient use efficiency by plants (Baligar et al., 2001). Plants can also exude phosphatases that mobilize organic P, resulting in an increase of available P. Because the EOOC was higher in treatments including biochar, part of available P may have been provided by phosphatases activities. The root-induced change in soil pH plays a key role in the availability of several nutrients and enzyme activities (Duncan, 1994; Baligar and Fageria, 1997; Hinsinger et al., 2006; Neumann and Römheld, 2012). Sauerbeck et al. (1990) and Lambers et al. (1998), asserted that root-induced changes can affect nutrient availability in the rhizosphere through: i) modification of the rhizosphere pH; ii) exudation of organic acids, chelators, reductants and oxidants; iii) extracellular enzymes to turn over organically bound nutrients; and iv) provide subtract to microbial biomass. In our study, the most plausible mechanism in which phosphate rock and baby corn peel biochar increased P (and other nutrients) availability to corn and cowpea, was related with point *iii*), with implication on increased yield, as verified by interaction between treatments and soil (bulk and rhizosphere) on activities of most of the enzymes measured.

Conclusions

Simultaneous application of phosphate rock and biochar increased soil pH, available P, EOOC, CEC, and alkaline cations in both corn and cowpea. The root-induced changes on soil chemical properties was not affected by treatments. Interaction between treatments *versus* soil compartments or crops *versus* soil compartments was enzyme specific. Rhizosphere soils where phosphate rock was applied alone increased acid phosphomonoesterase and xylosidase activities, both C and P cycle enzymes, while contribution of higher pH (bulk and rhizosphere) soils in phosphate rock and biochar treatment increased activities of C (β -glucosidase, cellulase), N (leucine aminopeptidase), and P (alkaline phosphomonoesterase, phosphodiesterase, and pyrophosphatase-phosphodiesterase) cycle enzymes. Cowpea rhizosphere induced changes contributed most for faster mineralization of soil

organic matter and N fixation as verified by higher activity of β -glucosidase and chitinase, and nodulation.

Biochar can minimize the negative impact of high dose of phosphate rock. Biochar treatment failed to increase microbial biomass due to recalcitrance of biochar. The biochemical root induced changes improved soil quality and increased crops yield. Application of phosphate rock in combination with biochar to acid Arenosol can be considered slow release fertilizer with the benefit to increase nutrient efficiency recovery by plants.

Acknowledgements

Funds for this work were mainly obtained from "Applied Research and Multi-sectorial Program" (FIAM)" granted by Italian Cooperation and Development Agency (ICDA) to the *Universidade Eduardo Mondlane*, under project contract No. 5.2.1. The authors also acknowledge the Polytechnic University of Marche (Ancona, Italy) for PhD scholarship provided to the first author. Any findings, conclusion and recommendation presented in this document do not necessary reflect the views of the donors.

Bibliography

Agegnehu, G., Nelson, P.N., Bird, M.I. 2016. The effects of biochar, compost and their mixture and nitrogen fertilizer on yield and nitrogen use efficiency of barley grown on a Nitisol in the highlands of Ethiopia. *Sci.Total Env.* **569**: 869-879.

Ameloot, N., Sleutel, S., Case, S.D.C., Alberti, G., McNamara, N.P., Zavalloni, C., Vervisch, B., Vedove, G.D., De Neve, S. 2014. C mineralization and microbial activity in four biochar field experiments several years after incorporation. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **78**:195–203.

Bagayoko, M., Alvey, S., Neumann, G., Buerkert, A. 2000. Root-induced increases in soil pH and nutrient availability to field-grown cereals and legumes on acid Arenosols of Sudano-Sahelian West Africa. *Plant Soil*. **225**:117–127.

Bailey, V.L., Fansler, S.J., Smith, J.L., Bolton, H. 2011. Reconciling apparent variability in effects of biochar amendment on soil enzyme activities by assay optimization. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **43**:296–301. Bakker, M.G., Chaparro, J.M., Manter, D.K., Vivanco, J.M. 2015. Impacts of bulk soil microbial community structure on rhizosphere microbiomes of Zea mays. *Plant Soil.* **392**:115–126.

Baligar, V.C., and N. K. Fageria. 1997. Nutrient use efficiency in acid soils: nutrient management and plant use efficiency pp. 75–93. In: A. C. Monitz, A.M.C. Furlani, N. K. Fageria., C. A. Rosolem, and H. Cantarells (eds.), Plant-Soil Interactions at Low pH: Sustainable Agriculture and Forestry Production. Brazilian Soil Science Society Campinas, Brazil.

Baligar, V., Fageria, N., He, Z. 2001. Nutrient use efficiency in plants. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.*32: 921–950.

Barker, A.V., Bryson, G.M. 2007. Nitrogen. In: Barker, A.V. and Pilbeam, D.J. (eds.): Handbook of Plant Nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA. pp. 21-50.

Bertrand, I., Hinsinger, P., Jaillard, B., Arvieu, J.C. 1999. Dynamics of phosphorus in the rhizosphere of maize and rape grown on synthetic, phosphated calcite and goethite. *Plant Soil*. **211**:111–119.

Bird, J.A., Herman, D.J., Firestone, M.K. 2011. Rhizosphere priming of soil organic matter by bacterial groups in a grassland soil. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **43**:718–725.

Boss, C.B., Fredeen, K.J. 1997. Concepts, instrumentation and techniques in inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry. Perkin Elemer, USA.

Castaldi, S., Riondino, M., Baronti, S., Esposito, F.R., Marzaioli, R., Rutigliano, F. a., Vaccari, F.P., Miglietta, F. 2011. Impact of biochar application to a Mediterranean wheat crop on soil microbial activity and greenhouse gas fluxes. *Chemosphere*. **85**:1464–1471.

Chien, S.H., Prochnow, L.I., Mikkelsen, R. 2010. Agronomic use of phosphate rock for direct application. *Better Crops.* **4**:21–23.

Chien, S.H., Prochnow, L.I., Tu, S., Snyder, C.S. 2011. Agronomic and environmental aspects of phosphate fertilizers varying in source and solubility: An update review. Nutri. Cycl. Agro. **89**:229–255.

Dakora, F.D., Phillips, D.A. 2002. Root exudates as mediators of mineral acquisition in low-nutrient environments. *Plant Soil*. **245**:35-47.

De Feudis, M., Cardelli, V., Massaccesi, L., Bol, R., Willbold, S., Cocco, S., Corti, G., Agnelli, A. 2016. Effect of beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) rhizosphere on phosphorous availability in soils at different altitudes (Central Italy). *Geoderma*. **276**:53–63.

Demisie, W., Liu, Z., Zhang, M. 2014. Effect of biochar on carbon fractions and enzyme activity of red soil. *Catena*. **121**:214–221.

Duncan, R. R. 1994. Genetic manipulation. pp. 1–38. In: R. E. Wilkinson. (ed.), Plant-Environment Interactions. Marcel Dekker Inc., New York, NY.

Dutta, T., Kwon, E., Bhattacharya, S.S., Jeon, B.H., Deep, A., Uchimiya, M., Kim, K.-H. 2017. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and volatile organic compounds (VOCs) in biochar and biochar-amended soil: A review. *Glob. Change Biol. Bio.* **9**:990 – 1004.

Edwards, A.C. 1991. Soil acidity and its interaction with phosphorus availability for a range of different crop types. In: Wright, R.J. et al., (Eds), Plant-soil interactions at low pH. Developments in Plant and Soil Sciences, vol 45. Springer, Dordrecht. p.299-305.

Elzobair, K.A., Stromberger, M.E., Ippolito, J.A. 2016a. Stabilizing effect of biochar on soil extracellular enzymes after a denaturing stress. *Chemosphere*. **142**:114–119.

Elzobair, K.A., Stromberger, M.E., Ippolito, J.A., Lentz, R.D. 2016b. Contrasting effects of biochar versus manure on soil microbial communities and enzyme activities in an Aridisol. *Chemosphere*. **142**:145–152.

Erel, R., Bérard, A., Capowiez, L., Doussan, C., Arnal, D., Souche, G., Gavaland, A., Fritz, C., Visser, E.J.W., Salvi, S., Le Marié, C., Hund, A., Hinsinger, P. 2017. Soil type determines how root and rhizosphere traits relate to phosphorus acquisition in field-grown maize genotypes. *Plant Soil*. **412**:115–132.

Gil-Sotres, F., Trasar-Cepeda, C., Leiros, M.C., Seoane, S. 2005. Different approaches to evaluating soil quality using biochemical properties. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **37**:877-887.

Hinsinger, P. 2001. Bioavailability of soil inorganic P in rhizosphere as affected by root-induced chemical changes: a review. *Plant Soil*. **237**:173-195.

Hinsinger, P., Plassard, C., Jaillard, B. 2006. Rhizosphere: A new frontier for soil biogeochemistry. *J. Geoch. Expl.* **88**:210–213.

Huang, D., Liu, L., Zeng, G., Xu, P., Huang, C., Deng, L., Wang, R., Wan, J. 2017. The effects of rice straw biochar on indigenous microbial community and enzymes activity in heavy metal-contaminated sediment. *Chemosphere*. **174**:545–553.

Hussain, M., Farooq, M., Nawaz, A., Al-Sadi, A.M., Solaiman, Z.M., Alghamdi, S.S., Ammara, U., Ok, Y.S., Siddique, K.H.M. 2017. Biochar for crop production: potential benefits and risks. *J. Soils Sed.* **17**:685-716.

IUSS Working Group WRB. 2015. World Reference Base for Soil Resources 2014, update 2015. International soil classification system for naming soils and creating legends for soil maps. World Soil Resources Reports No. 106. FAO, Rome.

Jain, S., Mishra, D., Khare, P., Yadav, V., Deshmukh, Y., Meena, A. 2016. Impact of biochar amendment on enzymatic resilience properties of mine spoils. *Sci. Total Env.* **544**:410–421.

Jemo, M., Abaidoo, R.C., Nolte, C., Tchienkoua, M., Sanginga, N., Horst, W.J. 2006. Phosphorus benefits from grain-legume crops to subsequent maize grown on acid soils of southern Cameroon. *Plant Soil.* **284**:385–397.

Johnston, A.E., Goulding, K.W.T. 1990. The use of plant and soil analysis to predict the potassium supplying capacity of soil. In: *Development of K Fertilizer Recommendations*. Bern: International Potash Institute, pp. 177–201.

Kelly, C.N., Calderón, F.C., Acosta-Martínez, V., Mikha, M.M., Benjamin, J., Rutherford, D.W., Rostad, C.E. 2015. Switchgrass biochar effects on plant biomass and microbial dynamics in two soils from different regions. *Pedosphere*. **25**:329–342.

Kimetu, J.M., Lehmann, J., Ngoze, S.O., Mugendi, D.N., Kinyangi, J.M., Riha, S., Verchot, L., Recha, J.W., Pell, A.N. 2008. Reversibility of soil productivity decline with organic matter of differing quality along a degradation gradient. *Ecosystems*. **11**:726–739.

Kirkby, E.A., Pilbeam, D.J. 1984. Calcium as a plant nutrient. Plant Cell Environ. 7: 397-405.

Krasilnikoff, G., Gahoonia, T., Nielsen, N.E. 2003. Variation in phosphorus uptake efficiency by genotypes of cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata*) due to differences in root and root hair length and induced rhizosphere processes. *Plant Soil*. **251**:83–91.

Laberge, G., Haussmann, B.I.G., Ambus, P., Høgh-Jensen, H. 2011. Cowpea N rhizodeposition and its below-ground transfer to a co-existing and to a subsequent millet crop on a sandy soil of the Sudano-Sahelian eco-zone. *Plant Soil*. **340**:369–382.

Lambers H., Chapin F.S., Pons T.L. 1998. Mineral Nutrition. In: Plant Physiological Ecology. Springer, New York, NY.

Lambers, H., Chapin, F.S., Pons, T.L. 1998. Plant ecophysiology. Springer, New York.

Lambers, H., Mougel, C., Jaillard, B., Hinsinger, P. 2009. Plant-microbe-soil interactions in the rhizosphere: An evolutionary perspective. *Plant Soil*. **321**:83–115.

Lehmann, J., Rillig, M.C., Thies, J., Masiello, C.A., Hockaday, W.C., Crowley, D. 2011. Biochar effects on soil biota - A review. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **43**:1812–1836.

Li, X., Sarah, P. 2003. Arylsulfatase activity of soil microbial biomass along a Mediterranean-arid transect. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **35**:925–934.

Lone, A.H., Najar, G.R., Ganie, M.A., Sofi, J.A., Ali, T. 2015. Biochar for sustainable soil health: A review of prospects and concerns. *Pedosphere*. **25**:639–653.

Lu, H., Li, Z., Fu, S., Méndez, A., Gascó, G., Paz-Ferreiro, J. 2015. Combining phytoextraction and biochar addition improves soil biochemical properties in a soil contaminated with Cd. *Chemosphere*. **119**:209–216.

Marschner, P. 2011. Rhizosphere Biology, Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants: Third Edition. Elsevier Ltd. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-384905-2.00015-7

Marschner, P., Yang, C.-H., Lieberei, R., Crowley, D. 2001. Soil and plant specific effects on bacterial community composition in the rhizosphere. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **33**:1437–1445.

Marschner, P., Crowley, D., Yang, C.H. 2004. Development of specific rhizosphere bacterial communities in relation to plant species, nutrition and soil type. *Plant Soil*. **261**:199–208.

Marschner, P., Crowley, D., Rengel, Z. 2011. Rhizosphere interactions between microorganisms and plants govern iron and phosphorus acquisition along the root axis – Model and research methods. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **43**:883–894.

McLaughlin, M.J., James, T.R. 1991. Effect of phosphorus supply to the surface roots of wheat on root extension and rhizosphere chemistry in an acidic subsoil. In: Wright, R.J. et al., (Eds), Plant-soil interaction at low pH. p.205-214.

Mengel, K. 2007. Potassium. In: Barker, A.V. and Pilbeam, D.J. (eds.): Handbook of plant nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA. pp. 91-120.

Merhaut, D.J. 2007. Magnesium. In: Barker, A.V. and Pilbeam, D.J. (eds.): Handbook of plant nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA. pp. 145-181.

Nelson, D.W., Sommers, L.E. 1996. Total carbon, organic carbon, and organic matter. In: Sparks, D.L. et al., (eds.). Methods of Soil Analysis Part 3—Chemical Methods. SSSA Book Series, 5.3. SSSA, ASA, Madison, WI., USA. pp. 961-1010.

Neumann, G., Römheld, V., 2012. Chapter 14 – Rhizosphere Chemistry in Relation to Plant Nutrition, in: Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants. pp. 347–368.

Olaniran, A.O., Balgobind, A., Pillay, B. 2013. Bioavailability of heavy metals in soil: Impact on microbial biodegradation of organic compounds and possible improvement strategies. *Inter. J. Mol. Sci.* **14**:10197–10228.

Olsson, P.A., Wallander, H. 1998. Interactions between ectomycorrhizal fungi and the bacterial community in soils amended with various primary minerals. *FEMS Micr. Eco.* **27**:195–205.

Pandey, V., Patel, A., Patra, D.D. 2016. Biochar ameliorates crop productivity, soil fertility, essential oil yield and aroma profiling in basil (Ocimum basilicum L.). *Eco. Eng.* **90**:361–366.

Pansu, M., Gautheyrou, J. 2006. Handbook of soil analysis: Mineralogical, Organic and Inorganic Methods. Springer-Verlad, Berlin Heidelberg, New York.

Pilbeam, D.J., Morley, P.S. 2007. Calcium. In: Barker, A.V. and Pilbeam, D.J. (eds.): Handbook of Plant Nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA. pp. 121-144.

Pypers, P., Van Loon, L., Diels, J., Abaidoo, R., Smolders, E., Merckx, R. 2006. Plant-available P for maize and cowpea in P-deficient soils from the Nigerian Northern Guinea savanna - Comparison of E- and L-values. *Plant Soil*. **283**:251–264.

Quilliam, R.S., Glanville, H.C., Wade, S.C., Jones, D.L. 2013a. Life in the "charosphere" - Does biochar in agricultural soil provide a significant habitat for microorganisms? *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **65**:287–293.

Quilliam, R.S., DeLuca, T.H., Jones, D.L. 2013b. Biochar application reduces nodulation but increases nitrogenase activity in clover. *Plant Soil*. **366**:83–92.

Sanchez, C.A. 2007. Phosphorus. In: Barker, A.V. and Pilbeam, D.J. (eds.): Handbook of Plant Nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA. pp. 51-90.

Sauerbeck, D.R., Helal, H.M. 1990. Factors affecting the nutrient efficiency in plants. pp.11–17. In: N. El Balsam, M. Dambroth and B. C. Loughman. (eds.), Genetic Aspects of Plant Mineral Nutrition. Kluwer Academic Pub- lisher, Dordrecht the Netherlands.

Schrader, L.E. 1978. Uptake, accumulation, assimilation, and transport of nitrogen in higher plants. In: D.R. Nielsen, J.G. MacDonald, eds. *Nitrogen in the Environment. Vol. 2. Soil-Plant-Nitrogen Relationships*. New York: Academic Press, pp. 101–141.

Shukla, G., Varma, A. 2011. Soil enzymology. Springer. Berlin, Heidelberg.

Sokoto, A.L., Singh, A. 2008. Yield and yield components of cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp.) as influenced by Sokoto phosphate rock and placement methods in the semi-arid zone of Nigeria. *Nutr. Cycl. Agr.* **81**:255–265.

Somado, E.A., Sahrawat, K.L., Kuehne, R.F. 2006. Rock phosphate – P enhances biomass and nitrogen accumulation by legumes in upland crop production systems in humid west Africa. *Biol. Fertil. Soils*. **43**:124-130.

Steinbeiss, S., Gleixner, G., Antonietti, M. 2009. Effect of biochar amendment on soil carbon balance and soil microbial activity. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **41**:1301–1310.

Syers, K., Bekunda, M., Cordell, D. 2011. Phosphorus and food production. UNEP Year Book 34–45.
Turner, B.L., Hopkins, D.W., Haygarth, P.M., Ostle, N. 2002. β-Glucosidase activity in pasture soils. *Appl. Soil Eco.* **20**:157–162.

Vance, E.D., Brookes, P.C., Jenkinson, D.S. 1987. An extraction method for measuring microbial biomass C. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **19**:703-707.

Vanek, S.J., Lehmann, J. 2014. Phosphorus availability to beans via interactions between mycorrhizae and biochar. *Plant Soil*. doi:10.1007/s11104-014-2246-y

Vanlauwe, B., Nwoke, O.C., Diels, J., Sanginga, N., Carsky, R.J., Deckers, J., Merckx, R. 2000. Utilization of rock phosphate by crops on a representative toposequence in the Northern Guinea savanna zone of Nigeria: response by *Mucuna pruriens*, *Lablab purpureus* and maize. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **32**:2063–2077.

Wang, T., Camps-Arbestain, M., Hedley, M., Bishop, P. 2012. Predicting phosphorus bioavailability from high-ash biochars. *Plant soil*. doi:10.1007/s11104-012-1131-9

Weil, R.R. 2000. Soil and plant influences on crop response to two African phosphate rocks. *Agr. J.* **92**:1167–1175.

Wright, R.J., Baligar, V.C., Belesky, D.P., Snuffer, J.D. 1991. The effect of phosphate rock dissolution on soil chemical prorperties and wheat seedling root elongation. *Plant Soil*. **134**: 21-30.

Yang, C., Crowley, D.E. 2000. Rhizosphere microbial community structure in relation to root location and plant iron nutritional status. *Appl. Env. Micr.* **66**:345–351.

Yuan, J.H., Xu, R.K., Wang, N., Li, J.Y. 2011. Amendment of acid soils with crop residues and biochars. *Pedosphere*. **21**:302–308.

Zapata, F., Roy, R.N. 2004. Use of phosphate rocks for sustainable agriculture. FAO, Rome, Italy.

Zhang, H., Chen, C., Gray, E.M., Boyd, S.E., Yang, H., Zhang, D. 2016. Roles of biochar in improving phosphorus availability in soils: A phosphate adsorbent and a source of available phosphorus. *Geoderma*. **276**: 1–6.

Zhou, L.L., Cao, J., Zhang, F.S., Li, L. 2009. Rhizospher acidification of faba bean soybean and maize. *Sci. Total Env.* **407**:4356-4362.

Zhu, B., Cheng, W. 2012. Nodulated soybean enhances rhizosphere priming effects on soil organic matter decomposition more than non-nodulated soybean. *Soil Biol. Bioch.* **51**:56–65.

Zhu, L.X., Xiao, Q., Shen, Y.F., Li, S.Q. 2017. Effects of biochar and maize straw on the short-term carbon and nitrogen dynamics in a cultivated silty loam in China. *Env. Sci. Poll. Res.* **24**:1019–1029.

Supplementary Material

Table S1

Effect of corn and cowpea on soil enzyme activities after pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among crops at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test.

E	Cro		
Enzyme	Corn	Cowpea	ANOVA
Acid phosphomonoesterase (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	10.41 (0.87) ^{a)} b	14.06 (1.26) a	*
Alkaline phosphomonoesterase (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	5.25 (1.38) b	9.32 (1.61) a	***
α -Glucosidase (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	0.43 (0.09) b	0.84 (0.10) a	**
Arylsulfatase (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	0.52 (0.09) b	0.84 (0.08) a	***
β -Glucosidase (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	2.42 (0.24) b	4.33 (0.35) a	***
Phosphodiesterase (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	0.72 (0.15) b	1.38 (0.16) a	***
Cellulase (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	0.04 (0.02) b	0.17 (0.03) a	***
Chitinase (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	1.70 (0.24) b	3.51 (0.30) a	***
Leucine aminopeptidase (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	4.94 (0.83) b	9.57 (0.90) a	***
Nonanoate esterase (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	14.80 (2.05) b	26.79 (2.85) a	***
Pyrophosphate- phosphodiesterase (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	0.30 (0.07) b	0.63 (0.09) a	**
Glucuronidase (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	0.29 (0.06)	0.32 (0.07)	NS
$Xyloxidase (nmol g^{-1} h^{-1})$	0.48 (0.06) b	0.84 (0.09) a	***

NS, *, **, *** Not significant, significant at P = 0.05, P = 0.01 and P = 0.001. ^{a)}Number in parenthesis are standard error (n =3).

Variables ^{a)}	PC1	PC2
pH _{H2O}	1.40	3.51
pH _{KCl}	2.80	8.42
TOC	1.17	2.29
EOOC	3.56	6.08
Available P	3.94	1.40
Exchange Ca	2.57	5.05
Exchange Mg	4.22	7.86
Exchange K	2.39	5.72
Exchange Al	1.39	1.57
CEC	1.87	4.59
Base Saturation	4.27	8.35
Arylsulfatase	7.23	0.48
α-Glucosidase	7.44	0.56
β-Glucosidase	6.65	4.05
Cellulase	4.24	6.02
Xylosidase	5.21	6.76
Glucuronidase	2.26	0.01
Chitinase	6.83	2.44
Leucine aminopeptidase	6.97	0.70
Acid phosphomonoesterase	0.41	14.10
Pyrophosphate phosphodiesterase	5.96	2.49
Phosphodiesterase	7.80	0.34
Alkaline phosphomonoesterase	6.30	0.01
Nonanoate esterase	2.64	6.80
Microbial biomass C	0.46	0.13
Soil respiration	0.00	0.27
^{a)} Numbers of variables in bold contri	bute most to PO	C1 or PC2

Table S2Contribution of variables to PCA



Fig. S1 Effect of interaction between treatments (Control, PR, PR+BC) and soil compartment (bulk and rhizosphere) on exchangeable K (P = 0.05) after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among treatments at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test. The whiskers indicate the standard error (n=6).



Fig. S2 Effect of interaction between crops (corn and cowpea) *versus* soil components (bulk and rhizosphere) and treatments (Control, PR, PR+BC) *versus* crops on soil pH (H₂O and KCl) after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among treatments (or crops) at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test. The whiskers indicate the error bars (n=6).



Fig. S3 Linear regression between available (Mehlich 3) P (mg kg⁻¹) and soil enzyme activities (nmol kg⁻¹ h⁻¹) after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique.



Fig. S4 Linear regression between EOOC (g kg⁻¹) and soil enzyme activities (mmol kg⁻¹ h⁻¹) after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique.



Fig. S5 Linear regression between pH_{H2O} and soil enzyme activities (mmol kg⁻¹ h⁻¹) after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol from Mozambique.

CHAPTER 5 - BENEFITS OF BIOCHAR FOR SOIL QUALITY

Benefits of biochars and NPK fertilizer for soil quality, nutrient uptake and cowpea growth (*Vigna unguiculata L.*) in an acid Arenosol

Rafael, Rogério Borguete Alves^{ab,★}; Fernández-Marcos, Maria Luisa^{cf}; Cocco, Stefania^b; Ruello, Maria Letizia^d; Fornasier, Flavio^e, Corti, Giuseppe^b

^aDepartment of Rural Engineering, Faculty of Agronomy and Forestry Engineering, Universidade Eduardo Mondlane, 257, Maputo, Mozambique

^bDepartment of Agriculture, Food and Environmental Sciences, Università Politecnica delle Marche, 60131 Ancona, Italy

^cDepartment of Soil Science and Agricultural Chemistry, Universidad de Santiago de Compostela, 27002 Lugo, Spain

^dDepartment of Materials, Environmental Sciences and Urban Planning, Università Politecnica delle Marche, 60131 Ancona, Italy

^e Consiglio per la ricerca in Agricoltura e l'Analisi della Economia Agraria Centro di Ricerca Viticoltura ed Enologia, Gorizia, Italy

^fInstituto de Biodiversidade Agraria e Desenvolvimento Rural, Universidad de Santiago de Compostela, 27002 Lugo, Spain

*Corresponding author: rogerborguete@gmail.com;

Other authors: mluisa.fernandez@usc.es; s.cocco@univpm.it; m.l.ruello@univpm.it; flavio.fornasier@crea.gov.it; g.corti@univpm.it

Manuscript under review in Pedosphere JournalPreliminary results published as oral communication on 1st World Conference on Soil and Water Conservation under Global Change (CONSOWA) – Lleida, Catalonia, Spain, from 12-16 June 2017

Abstract

Fertilization is required for optimum plant growth, particularly in unfertile soils, while optimizing the nutrient use efficiency is an alternative to reduce inorganic fertilizer needs and reduce environment problems due nutrient leaching. This study investigated soil properties and cowpea yield responses to the application of biochars from different feedstocks in combination with NPK fertilizer. Eight treatments (Control; full dose of NPK (12-24-12) + urea (46% N) fertilizers; baby corn peel (BC1), tree branch (BC2), and rice husk (BC3) biochars applied at rate of 0.9 % (w:w); each type of biochar was combined with 1/2 and full dose of fertilizers) were assessed in a greenhouse experiment with an acid Arenosol for 70 d. Soil pH increased significantly in treatments with BC1 and BC2, while CEC and available P were higher in the treatments with BC1. BC1 and BC2 also induced higher activity of enzymes related with P and higher cowpea yield. Similar soil properties and cowpea yield parameters were obtained with the full and half dose of NPK fertilizer for each type of biochar. Biochar in combination with NPK fertilizer improved soil chemistry and enzymatic activities, allowing decrease fertilizer application and food production costs in acid soils.

Key words: Biochar, cowpea growth, acid soil, soil fertility, potential enzyme activity

1. Introduction

Acid Arenosols are problematic for crop growth due to their low nutrient content and retention capacity, and limited water holding capacity. Scarcity of organic matter combined with nutrient leaching and depletion are the main causes of the low quality in acid Arenosols (Atkinson et al., 2010; Agegnehu et al., 2016a). Given low physicochemical attributes in such soils, they require sustainable practices to improve medium to long term soil fertility (Syers et al., 2011; Marenya et al., 2012). Also substantial N, P, and K inputs are required to obtain optimal production (Martins et al., 2014). As these soils represent 22% of African soils (Jones et al., 2013) and are often used for agricultural production, improvement in their fertility is of paramount importance for regional food security.

Optimizing fertilizer use efficiency and developing more efficient fertilizing strategies, including the use of less expensive nutrient sources such as waste materials and biomass, while preventing environmental impacts due to groundwater leaching, is an alternative to reduce the need for inorganic fertilizers (Blackwell et al., 2015; Wen et al., 2016). Additionally, the introduction of biochar as an organic amendment in these systems would help to increase fertilizer efficiency and crop productivity (Waters et al., 2011; Dari et al., 2016), while contributing to long-term soil C sequestration (Atkinson et al., 2010; Ameloot et al., 2013; Bamminger et al., 2014; Awasthi et al., 2016).

Biochar is a solid product obtained by pyrolysis of biomass at 300 to 600 °C in an oxygen-lacking system. Biochar contains 40 to 80% C, which is mainly represented by aromatic compounds, and has high surface area, porosity, and variable charge (Anawar et al., 2015; Blackwell et al., 2015). Biochar is considered a valuable resource for problematic soils such as acid Arenosols, as it may help the soil to retain nutrients (Uchimiya et al., 2011; Anawar et al., 2015), improve soil biological properties (Bamminger et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2015), and increases soil pH (Atkinson et al., 2010; Anderson et al., 2011; Anderson et al., 2014). By increasing soil pH, biochar improves nutrient availability to plants (Agegnehu et al., 2015, 2016 a, b; Anawar et al., 2015). For instance, Molnár et al. (2015) reported an improvement of soil chemical and biological properties after application of biochar in combination with NPK fertilizer in an acid Arenosol. Rice husk biochar improved soil pH, available P, cation exchange capacity and exchangeable K and Ca in acid soil (Masulili et al., 2010). Agegnehu et al. (2016a) noted that the agronomic efficiency, apparent recovery efficiency, and physiological efficiency on barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) increased significantly upon application of biochar and NPK fertilizers in a Nitisol. Biochar applied together with inorganic fertilizers facilitated decrease application rates, improving plant growth and nutrition, and increasing the soil biological fertility

(Uchimiya et al., 2010; Blackwell et al., 2015; Wen et al., 2016). Most of the biochar properties depend upon the pyrolysis temperature and the type of feedstock (Atkinson et al., 2010; Anawar et al., 2015; Molnár et al., 2015), while the soil-biochar interactions depend on soil properties and biochar particle size (Anawar et al., 2015; Solomain and Anawar, 2015). Biochar from diverse feedstocks may differently affect soil properties, and subsequently the crop yield (Waters et al., 2011). Because of this, the extent to which biochars can reduce the inorganic fertilizer rate while obtaining similar yields to those obtained with recommend rates needs to be investigated, since a reduced fertilizer application has a positive impact on both environment and social issues, especially for poor countries and farmers.

The objective of this study was to determine the effect of biochars in combination with NPK fertilizer on: *i*) chemical and biochemical properties of an acid Arenosol; *ii*) N, P, and K uptake and use efficiency by cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L.); and *iii*) cowpea growth and yield. We hypothesized that biochars will affect soil properties which will increase NPK fertilizer efficiency and cowpea yield, while reducing environmental problems due the leaching of nutrients. Nutrient contents and recalcitrance of biochars will determine their interaction with soil and influence on plant growth.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Soil sampling and inputs preparation

An acid Arenosol was used for the pot experiments. Soil was collected from the A horizon (0-0.2 m) of an open scrubland located in southern Mozambique (25.72577° S, 032.64835° E). Prior to use, the soil was air dried and sieved to remove gravels and roots ≥ 2 mm. Babycorn (*Zea mays* L.) peel, mango tree branch (*Mangifera indica* L.) and rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) husk were used as feedstocks for biochar production using a low-cost handmade pyrolyser made of two concentric cylinders. The pyrolysable material was placed in the inner cylinder, while firewood was burnt in the outer cylinder providing energy to heat the inner cylinder. The pyrolysable material was heated for 4 h, and the temperature reached 450°C. After the combustion stopped, the biochar was washed out twice with distilled water to eliminate excess ash, then oven dried for 48 h at 60°C. The biochar was then ground using a mortar to obtain particles from 0.063 to 0.25 mm in size.

NPK commercial fertilizer (12-24-12) was used as N, P, and K source for basal fertilization, and urea (46% N) was used for N top dressing fertilization. A nutrient solution adapted from Vanek and

Lehmann (2014) [1 mmol L⁻¹ MgSO₄, 25 μ mol L⁻¹ H₃BO₃, 2 μ mol L⁻¹ MnSO₄, 2 μ mol L⁻¹ ZnSO₄, 0.5 μ mol L⁻¹ (NH₄)₆Mo₇O₂₄] was used to replenish other essential nutrients.

2.2. Pot experiments

A greenhouse pot trial was carried out using a completely randomized design with eight treatments and three replicates. The following treatments were assessed: 1) Control, with no treatment (C); 2) NPK (12-24-12) fertilizer + urea (46%) at rates of 830 mg pot⁻¹ (~ 400 kg ha⁻¹) and 217 mg pot⁻¹ (~ 104.3 kg ha⁻¹), respectively; 3) baby corn peel biochar + 415 mg pot⁻¹ of NPK + 108.5 mg pot⁻¹ of urea (BC1+1/2NPK); 4) baby corn peel biochar + 830 mg pot⁻¹ of NPK + 217 mg pot⁻¹ of urea (BC1+NPK); 5) mango tree branch biochar + 415 mg pot⁻¹ of NPK + 108.5 mg pot⁻¹ of urea (BC2+1/2NPK); 6) mango tree branch biochar + 830 mg pot⁻¹ of NPK + 217 mg pot⁻¹ of urea (BC2+NPK); 7) rice husk biochar + 415 mg pot⁻¹ of NPK + 108.5 mg pot⁻¹ of urea (BC2+NPK); 7) rice husk biochar + 415 mg pot⁻¹ of NPK + 108.5 mg pot⁻¹ of urea (BC3+1/2NPK); 8) rice husk biochar + 830 mg pot⁻¹ of urea (BC3+NPK).

The pots were prepared with 17 L plastic buckets with a diameter of 30 cm. At the bottom three small holes of 10 mm diameter each were opened to avoid stagnant water. In each pot 6 kg of soil was placed at the base, and this was overlaid by a homogeneous mixture of 4 kg soil with the corresponding treatment. All biochars were applied at 0.9 % (w:w), equivalent to 27 ton ha⁻¹ for a soil depth of 0.2 m with a bulk density of 1500 kg m⁻³. The full dose of NPK fertilizer corresponded to 99.6 mg pot⁻¹ N, 199.2 mg pot⁻¹ P₂O₅, and 99.6 mg pot⁻¹ K₂O, equivalent to 75 kg N ha⁻¹, 65 kg P ha⁻¹, and 62 kg K ha⁻¹, respectively.

The pots were pre-incubated for 10 d to avoid possible negative effects of biochar volatile substances on plant growth (Vanek and Lehmann, 2014, Dutta et al., 2016). During the pre-incubation period, each pot was irrigated five times with 500 mL of distilled water each time. After this period, basal fertilization with NPK was performed and three cowpea seeds (IT98K-1105-5 early maturity cultivar) were sown per pot on February 26th, 2016; after emergence, only one plant was left per pot. During the early growing stage (60 d) the soil temperature ranged from 32.0 ± 4.2 to 34.2 ± 5.6 °C, and pots were watered with 500 mL of distilled water once per week, and ferti-irrigated every two d with 300 mL of nutrient solution. Thereafter, the watering frequency was increased to three times per week due the higher water demand by the plants in the growing vegetative stage. Pest Control was made once per week by alternating fungicide Amistar Top (active substances: azoxystrobin and difenoconazole) + insecticide/acaricide Agromectin 1.8 EC (active substance: abamectin) with fungicide Ridomil Gold (active substances: metalaxyl + mancozeb) + insecticide/acaricide HITCEL

44% EC (active substances: profenofos + cypermethrin). Plants were harvested 60 d after emergence when they were fruiting. Dry (60 °C) total biomass and shoot weight were determined. Then, soil samples were collected separating rhizosphere and bulk soil, considering rhizosphere the soil adhering to the roots (Cocco et al., 2013).

2.3. Physicochemical properties of soil, plant, and biochar

Prior to the experiments, the soil particle-size distribution was determined by the pipette method (Day, 1965) after the soil was disaggregated in distilled water for 24 h. Soil (1:2.5 w:v) and biochar (1:100 w:v) pH were determined in water and KCl (1 M solution) suspensions by a combined glass-calomel electrode. For biochar samples, the suspensions in water or KCl were heated in a water bath to 90 °C, stirred for 20 min to allow dissolution of the soluble components, and cooled to room temperature before pH determination (Ahmedna et al., 1997).

Total carbon (TC), total nitrogen (TN) and total sulphur (TS) in soil, biochar, and plant samples were determined using a CHNS-O analyser (EA1110, Carlo Erba Instruments, Milan, Italy). The total content of P, Ca, Mg, K, Na, Fe, Mn and Cu in plants and biochar were determined by dry ashing 0.5 g plant or biochar at 500 °C for 16 h in a muffle furnace and dissolving the ash in a 5 M HCl solution (Lambert, 1976). A simple colorimetric method based on ascorbic acid reduction of the ammonium phosphomolybdate complex was used to measure P in the solutions (Kuo, 1996). The concentration of Ca, Mg, K, Na, Fe, Mn, and Cu were measured by inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES) on a Perkin Elmer Optima 8300 spectrometer (in Ancona, Italy) as described by Boss and Fredeen (1997).

The Walkley-Black method was used to estimate easily oxidizable organic carbon (EOOC) in soil and biochar (Pansu and Gautheyrou, 2006). Mehlich 3 reagent (Mehlich, 1984) was used to extract available P from soil samples. Extractable P of biochar was determined by water, 2% citric acid, and 2% formic acid extractants using a suspension of 0.1000 g of sample and 30 mL of extractant, shaken at 120 rpm for 48 h in 50 mL centrifuge tubes. The suspension was then centrifuged (~ 2700 g, 15 min) and the supernatant filtered using Whatman No. 42 filter paper prior to colorimetric determination (Zhang et al., 2016). Cation exchange capacity (CEC) and exchangeable cations in soil and biochar were determined by the BaCl₂ method (Gillman and Sumpter, 1986). Biochar volatile matter was determined by weight loss after heating; the muffle furnace was set to 950 °C, then samples were heated for 2 min on the outer ledge of the furnace (300 °C) with the door open, and then for 3 min on the edge of the furnace (500 °C) (Zhao et al., 2015). The biochar ash content was

determined as the remaining weight at 750 °C (Jindo et al., 2014).

2.4. Soil biochemical and biological properties

Potential enzyme activities in soil were determined as per Fornasier and Margon (2007). Enzymes were desorbed by heteromolecular exchange using an excess of exogenous protein. As such, 250 mg soil samples were placed in 2-mL Eppendorf tubes with glass beads and 1 mL of 50 mM tris–HCl buffer solution at pH 7.5, containing lysozyme as the desorbing protein. The tube was subjected to bead-beating (3 min, 30 strokes s⁻¹) using a Retsch MM400 mill, then centrifuged for 5 min at 20,000 *g*. Enzyme activity was assayed fluorometrically in microplates using 4-methyl-umbelliferyl and L-Leucine-7-amino-4-methylcoumarine derivatives. The activities of arylsulfatase, chitinase, glucuronidase, α -glucosidase, β -glucosidase, cellulase, xylosidase, acid phosphomonoesterase were determined in 200 mM morpholineethanesulfonic acid solution at pH 6, and the activity of leucine aminopeptidase (leu) in 50 mM tris–HCl buffer solution at pH 7.5.

Double-strand DNA (dsDNA) was determined on 500 mg soil aliquots that were placed in 2-mL Eppendorf tubes glass beads and 1 mL of 0.12 M sodium phosphate buffer (pH 8.0) solution. The tubes were submitted to bead-beating (2 min, 30 strokes s⁻¹) and then centrifuged for 5 min at 20,000 g. The dsDNA content was quantified on aliquots of the supernatant by fluorometry using PicoGreen1 reagent (Life Technologies) according to the instructions of the manufacturer. Root nodules visible at naked eye were counted per each plant.

2.5. Calculation of N, P, and K use efficiency

Nutrients taken up by roots, shoots (stem + leaves), and pods are expressed in mg pot⁻¹ and were calculated by multiplying nutrient concentrations (mg kg⁻¹) in roots, shoots and pods by their respective yield. Nitrogen, P, and K harvest indexes (HI) were calculated as follows:

$$HI(\%) = \frac{NPU}{TNU} \times 100,$$

where: NPU – nutrient uptake (mg pot⁻¹) in pods; TNU – total nutrient uptake (mg pot⁻¹) by the plant (pod + shoot) (Agegnehu et al., 2016a).

Fertilizer N-, P-, and K-use efficiency was expressed by four indexes:

i) Agronomic efficiency (AE) is defined as the grain production per unit of applied N, P and K, and was calculated as follows:

$$AE (g g^{-1}) = \frac{GY_{f-} GY_{u}}{N_a},$$

where: GY_f is the pod yield of the fertilized pot (g), GYu is the pod yield of the unfertilized pot (g) for each replicate, and N_a is the quantity of N, P, and K applied as biochar, NPK fertilizer, and urea (g) (Agegnehu et al., 2016a).

ii) Apparent N, P, and K recovery efficiency (ARE), also called the N, P, and K uptake efficiency, was calculated as follows:

$$ARE (\%) = \frac{N_f - N_u}{N_a} \times 100,$$

where: N_f is the N, P, and K uptake (pod + shoot) of fertilized pot (g), N_u is the N, P, and K uptake (pod + shoot) of the unfertilized pot (g) for each replicate, and N_a is the quantity of applied N, P, and K (g) (Agegnehu et al., 2016a).

iii) Physiological efficiency (PE) expresses the ability of the plant to transform N, P, and K absorbed from the fertilizer into grain yield, and was calculated as follows:

$$PE(gg^{-1}) = \frac{GY_f - GY_u}{N_f - N_u},$$

where: GY_f is the pod yield of the fertilized pot (g), GYu is the pod yield of the unfertilized pot (g) for each replicate, N_f is the N, P, and K uptake (pod + shoot) of fertilized pot (g), N_u is the N, P, K uptake (pod + shoot) of the unfertilized pot (g) for each replicate (Agegnehu et al., 2016a).

iv) The N, P, and K translocation factor defined as the ratio of N, P, and K concentration in the shoots (pod or leaves or stem) to those in the roots was calculated as follows (Liu et al., 2014):

$$TF = \frac{N_{shoots}}{N_{roots}},$$

where N_{shoots} and N_{roots} are N, P, and K concentration (mg kg⁻¹) in the shoots and roots, respectively. TF > 1 indicated that the plant translocates N, P, and K effectively from the roots to the shoots (pod or leaves or stem).

2.6. Statistical analysis

R version 3.1.2 (2014-10-31) was used for statistical analysis. The experimental data were analysed by analysis of variance (ANOVA), after a *boxcox* transformation (Meloun et al., 2005) of the data to perform parametric tests (Shapiro-Wilk normality test and Bartlett test of homogeneity of variances) when necessary. A multiple comparison Duncan test (at 95% significance level) was used

to compare the means. Principal components analysis (PCA) was performed to identify the variables capable of explaining most of the variability and correlation among potential enzyme activities, chemical parameters and cowpea yield determined response of treatments and rhizosphere soil processes.

3. Results

3.1. Characteristics of soil and inputs used in the experiments

The soil used in the experiment was sandy, strongly acid, and low in TOC content, available nutrients and CEC (Table 1). The deficiency of nutrients and the very low CEC and water retention capacity are the main cause of the infertility of such soils. The three biochars differed significantly for their physicochemical properties, except for base saturation that always ranged from 99 to 100% (Table I). Baby corn peel biochar (BC1) and mango tree branch biochar (BC2) displayed strongly alkaline pH, while rice husk biochar (BC3) had a pH close to neutrality. Among the biochars, BC2 showed a moisture higher than BC3 and the highest content of ash, while BC3 had the highest volatile matter content. BC1 and BC2 contained large amounts of TOC, but BC1 presented higher content of TOC, TN, TS, total phosphorus (TP), extractable P (water – P, 2% citric acid P, and 2% formic acid P), exchangeable K, and CEC.

3.2. Soil chemical properties after the treatments

The treatments significantly affected pH in H₂O and KCl, available P, CEC, exchangeable Ca, Mg, K, and Al, and base saturation (Table 2). Conversely, the TOC, EOOC, and exchangeable Na were not affected. Soil pH, available P, and CEC were higher and exchangeable Al was lower than the Control in all treatments with BC1 and BC2. In contrast, inorganic fertilization alone did not produce any significant effect on the soil, while combinations with BC3 affected only base saturation. For each type of biochar, both the full and half dose of NPK did not produce differences in terms of available macronutrients or CEC, while pH was lower in the BC1+NPK treatment than in BC1+1/2NPK. Both CEC and available P appeared to be directly supplied by BC1, whose application resulted in the highest CEC and available P, especially with the full dose of NPK fertilizer.

3.3. Soil biochemical and biological properties after the treatments

Significant impact of the treatments was only observed for xylosidase, acid phosphomonoesterase, alkaline phosphomonoesterase, phosphodiesterase, and pyrophosphate phosphodiesterase (Table 2). The effect of biochar depended on the enzyme activity considered and the type of biochar. The xylosidase activity was the lowest in the Control and in BC3+1/2NPK treatment, while application of NPK alone or treatments including tree branch biochar resulted in the highest activity of this enzyme. The highest acid phosphomonoesterase activity occurred in the NPK treatment, while the lowest activity of this enzyme occurred in both treatments with BC1 and in the BC3+1/2NPK treatment. For this enzyme, treatments including biochar did not differ significantly from the Control.

In contrast, the highest alkaline phosphomonoesterase and phosphodiesterase activities occurred in BC1+1/2NPK and BC2+NPK treatments and the lowest in BC3+1/2NPK treatment. The pyrophosphatase-phosphodiesterase activity was highest in BC2+NPK treatment and lowest in BC3+1/2NPK treatment. The dsDNA concentration was higher in BC3+NPK treatment than in all the other treatments with biochar (Table 2). With respect to the Control, cowpea nodulation showed an increase of about 4-7 fold in the treatments with biochar, while nodulation was not significantly improved by inorganic fertilizers alone.

3.4. Cowpea growth and yield

Almost all treatments significantly improved both cowpea growth and yield parameters (Table 3). Exceptions were the BC2+1/2NPK and BC3+1/2NPK treatments, which failed to produce pods. In general, the treatments with biochar showed higher dry biomass, root, shoot, and pods, number of leaves, plant height, and plant diameter than the Control, but also higher dry biomass and pod yield than NPK treatment. Application of BC1+NPK increased the production of dry biomass by roughly 4-5 times with respect to the Control, and 70% with respect to NPK treatment. In addition, dry pod yields increased by at least 783 and 121% with BC1 and BC2 (except BC2+1/2NPK) compared with the Control and NPK treatments, respectively. However, the NPK treatment increased the pod yield by 300% compared to the Control. Plant height, stem diameter, and number of leaves were similarly affected by all treatments. Apparently, these parameters respond positively to inorganic fertilization.

Table 1

Main physic-chemical and biological characteristics of acid Arenosol of Mozambique and biochars used in the experiment. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among biochars at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test.

Parameters	Soil before the trial	Baby corn peel biochar (BC1)	Mango tree branches biochar (BC2)	Rice husk biochar (BC3)	ANOVA ^{a)}
Sand, g kg ⁻¹	938.30 (3.55) ^{b)}	-	-	-	-
Silt, g kg ⁻¹	45.50 (7.50)	-	-	-	-
Clay, g kg ⁻¹	16.25 (6.25)	-	-	-	-
pH-H ₂ O	4.25 (0.21)	9.63 (0.07) a	9.26 (0.14) b	7.58 (0.06) c	***
pH-KCl	4.25 (0.04)	8.90 (0.17) a	8.70 (1.07) a	7.15 (0.03) b	**
Moisture, %	-	5.20 (1.67) ab	12.33 (7.09) a	3.40 (0.50) b	*
Volatile matter, %	-	78.00 (2.40) b	44.77 (9.09) c	90.10 (3.11) a	***
Ash, %	-	22.63 (2.66) b	52.77 (6.57) a	6.57 (2.70) c	***
EC, dS m ⁻¹	0.03 (0.00)	0.86 (0.00) a	0.25 (0.00) b	0.16 (0.00) c	***
TOC, g kg ⁻¹	22.35 (0.89)	579.37 (102.57) a	646.35 (36.39) a	372.62 (10.14) b	**
EOOC, g kg ⁻¹	3.13 (0.78)	289.67 (27.04) a	132.70 (41.40) b	146.38 (4.99) b	***
TN, g kg-1	< LOD	27.08 (1.12) a	8.04 (0.45) b	6.04 (0.16) c	***
TS, g kg ⁻¹	< LOD	53.90 (6.86) a	39.34 (2.22) b	19.47 (0.53) c	***
TP, g kg ⁻¹	-	7.86 (0.97) a	3.35 (2.20) b	1.38 (0.19) c	***
Water-P, mg kg ⁻¹	-	5425.72 (420.51) a	1088.76 (951.54) b	1313.61 (115.43) b	***
2% citric-P, mg kg ⁻¹	-	2513.15 (132.96) a	213.67 (71.45) b	52.27 (3.95) c	***
2% formic-P, mg kg ⁻¹	-	7997.70 (301.21) a	1321.50 (6.90) b	995.40 (82.03) c	***
Mehlich 3-P, mg kg ⁻¹	6.59 (0.86)	-	-	-	-
Exch Ca, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.07 (0.01)	2.78 (0.22) b	14.31 (1.15) a	3.13 (1.00) b	***
Exch Mg, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.05 (0.02)	4.65 (0.37) a	2.13 (0.10) b	3.95 (1.11) a	***
Exch K, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.08 (0.03)	170.16 (17.33) a	23.69 (1.03) b	29.79 (7.72) b	***
Exch Na, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.00 (0.00)	1.41 (0.12) b	4.56 (0.19) a	1.64 (0.18) bc	***
Exch Al, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.29 (0.02)	0.0 (-) c	0.28 (0.21) a	0.03 (0.05) b	***
CEC, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.49 (0.06)	179.00 (17.95) a	44.97 (2.57) b	38.55 (9.90) b	***
Base saturation, %	40.82 (10.90)	100.00 (0.00)	99.37 (0.42)	99.93 (0.12)	NS
AcP (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	16.22 (2.47)	-	-	-	-
AlkP (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	4.53 (0.35)	-	-	-	-
Cell (nmol $g^{-1}h^{-1}$)	0.18 (0.11)	-	-	-	-
α -G (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	0.49 (0.08)	-	-	-	-
AryS (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	0.94 (0.09)	-	-	-	-
β -G, (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	4.78 (0.49)	-	-	-	-
BisP (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	1.52 (0.19)	-	-	-	-
Chit (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	2.28 (0.38)	-	-	-	-
Leu (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	13.48 (1.37)	-	-	-	-
Nona (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	28.93 (3.65)	-	-	-	-
Pyro (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	0.34 (0.12)	-	-	-	-
Uroni (nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)	0.0 (-)	-	-	-	-
Xylo (nmol $g^{-1} h^{-1}$)	1.21 (0.16)	-	-	-	-
dsDNA (ug g ⁻¹)	1.35 (0.19)	-	-	-	-

NS, *, **, *** Not significant, significant at P = 0.05, P = 0.01 and P = 0.001, respectively. ^a)Analysis of variance was made just for biochars samples. ^b)Numbers in parentheses are the standard deviation (n=3). EC: electrical conductivity; TOC: total organic carbon; TN: total nitrogen; TS: total sulphur; TP: total phosphorus; EOOC: easily oxidizable organic carbon; Water-P: available phosphorus extracted by distilled water; Mehlich 3-P: available phosphorus extracted by Mehlich 3 method; 2% citric-P: available phosphorus extracted by 2% citric acid solution; 2% formic-P: available phosphorus extracted by 2% formic acid solution; CEC: cation exchange capacity; Exch Ca: exchangeable Ca; AcP: acid phosphomonoesterase; AlkP: alkaline phosphomonoesterase; cell: cellulase; α -G: α -glucosidase; AryS: arylsulfatase; β -G: β -glucosidase; BisP: phosphodiesterase; Chit: chitinase; Leu: leucine aminopeptidase; Nona: nonanoate esterase; PyroP: pyrophosphate phosphodiesterase; Uroni: glucuronidase; Xylo: xyloxidase; dsDNA: double-strand DNA.<LOD: below the limit of detection.

Table 2

Treatments effect on soil chemical and biochemical properties after the pot experiments with acid Arenosol of Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among treatments at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test.

Chemical and biochemical	Treatments						ANOVA		
parameters	Control	NPK	BC1+1/2NPK	BC1+NPK	BC2+1/2NPK	BC2+NPK	BC3+1/2NPK	BC3+NPK	
pH-H ₂ O	4.3 (0.01) ^{a)} c	4.4 (0.1) c	5.7 (0.2) a	5.2 (0.4) b	5.5 (0.2) ab	5.7 (0.4) ab	4.5 (0.1) c	4.4 (0.2) c	***
pH-KCl	4.0 (0.1) c	4.0 (0.1) c	5.0 (0.4) a	4.5 (0.2) b	4.8 (0.1) ab	5.1 (0.4) a	4.0 (0.1) c	4.0 (0.1) c	***
TOC, g kg ⁻¹	20.6 (1.2)	21.7 (2.5)	21.9 (1.7)	22.8 (3.1)	24.6 (4.0)	23.9 (2.4)	21.9 (2.1)	23.0 (2.3)	NS
EOOC, g kg ⁻¹	4.2 (1.8)	4.2 (0.8)	6.9 (2.6)	6.7 (2.0)	6.9 (1.8)	5.5 (3.0)	5.2 (1.9)	4.8 (1.6)	NS
Mehlich 3 - P, mg kg ⁻¹	14.7 (5.7) c	31.8 (18.8) bc	93.8 (9.7) a	107.8 (19.6) a	55. 7 (4.9) b	41.2 (18.6) bc	33.5 (15.8) bc	50.5 (15.4) bc	***
Ca, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.1 (0.0) c	0.1 (0.0) c	0.2 (0.1) ab	0.2 (0.1) b	0.3 (0.0) a	0.4 (0.1) a	0.1 (0.0) c	0.1 (0.0) c	***
Mg, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.0 (0.0) e	0.1 (0.0) de	0.3 (0.1) ab	0.3 (0.1) a	0.1 (0.0) c	0.1 (0.1) bc	0.1 (0.1) c	0.1 (0.0) cd	***
K, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.1 (0.1) c	0.1 (0.0) c	0.5 (0.5) ab	0.6 (0.3) a	0.1 (0.0) c	0.1 (0.0) c	0.1 (0.1) b	0.1 (0.0) c	**
Na, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0(0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	NS
Al, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.3 (0.1) a	0.2 (0.1) ab	0.0 (0.0) e	0.1 (0.0) d	0.1 (0.0) d	0.0 (0.0) d	0.2 (0.1) bc	0.2 (0.0) c	***
CEC, cmol _c kg ⁻¹	0.5 (0.2) c	0.4 (0.1) c	1.0 (0.5) ab	1.1 (0.4) a	0.6 (0.1) b	0.6 (0.2) b	0.6 (0.2) bc	0.4 (0.1) c	*
Base saturation, %	41.9 (5.6) c	46.4 (15.2) c	97.1 (1.3) a	93.2 (2.3) a	91.6 (2.2) a	93.0 (0.9) a	60.5 (7.5) b	61.7 (1.4) b	***
AryS, nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	0.37 (0.26)	0.81 (0.12)	0.86 (0.09)	0.67 (0.14)	0.88 (0.32)	1.00 (0.18)	0.23 (0.11)	0.51(0.64)	NS
α - G, nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	0.10 (0.11)	0.65 (0.09)	0.70 (0.32)	0.48 (0.17)	0.56 (0.47)	0.88 (0.19)	0.00 (0.00)	0.53 (0.69)	NS
β - G, nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	2.30 (0.21)	5.51 (0.94)	3.52 (0.72)	3.71 (0.66)	5.06 (3.84)	6.05 (0.39)	2.12 (1.30)	4.67 (4.51)	NS
Cell, nmol $g^{-1}h^{-1}$	0.03 (0.05)	0.25 (0.08)	0.05 (0.05)	0.12 (0.15)	0.17 (0.29)	0.27 (0.05)	0.00 (0.00)	0.15 (0.27)	NS
Xylo, nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	0.46 (0.09) c	1.29 (0.20) a	0.66 (0.07) b	0.6 (0.2) b	1.53 (1.29) a	1.16 (0.07) a	0.4 (0.1) c	1.01 (1.02) b	*
Uroni, nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	0.06 (0.10)	0.08 (0.13)	0.27 (0.06)	0.20 (0.03)	0.24 (0.24)	0.25 (0.04)	0.00 (0.00)	0.11 (0.20)	NS
Chit, nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	1.32 (0.62)	3.37 (0.65)	2.92 (1.19)	2.59 (1.26)	2.50 (1.99)	3.44 (0.19)	0.82 (0.38)	3.75 (3.80)	NS
Leu, nmol $g^{-1}h^{-1}$	4.66 (2.89)	13.53 (2.61)	13.17 (4.58)	10.56 (6.52)	11.85 (7.39)	19.05 (5.64)	2.13 (0.80)	11.10 (13.33)	NS
AcP, nmol $g^{-1}h^{-1}$	11.66 (2.24) ab	18.25 (2.06) a	6.90 (0.25) b	4.73 (1.68) b	11.96 (6.69) ab	12.80 (1.52) ab	5.70 (2.81) b	13.14 (10.15) ab	*
BisP, nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	0.49 (0.45) bc	1.67 (0.27) abc	2.44 (0.59) a	1.18 (0.23) abc	2.13 (1.00) ab	2.81 (0.72) a	0.12 (0.20) c	1.72 (2.26) abc	*
Pyro, nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	0.31 (0.39) bc	0.61 (0.23) ab	1.06 (0.45) ab	0.25 (0.14) bc	1.39 (1.32) ab	2.36 (1.10) a	0.03 (0.05) c	1.14 (1.82) abc	*
AlkP, nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	3.35 (2.61) cd	9.28 (2.28) abc	30.79 (14.21) a	10.86 (2.69) abc	20.26 (9.91) ab	25.78 (8.16) a	1.97 (1.27) d	11.03 (14.85) bcd	**
Nona, nmol g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	8.92 (1.08)	24.47 (5.11)	9.87 (1.78)	8.38 (6.72)	12.45 (9.40)	10.57 (1.47)	7.24 (3.28)	21.40 (20.43)	NS
dsDNA, μg g ⁻¹	2.80 (0.34) abc	3.98 (1.39) ab	2.33 (1.26) bc	1.55 (0.55) c	2.06 (0.69) c	1.28 (0.25) c	2.32 (1.27) bc	4.24 (1.23) a	*
Number of nodules per pot	29.3 (13.2) b	109.7 (49.9) ab	170.7 (40.1) a	200.7 (25.0) a	151.7 (82.8) a	143.8 (8.0) a	132.8 (42.9) a	130.3 (94.5) a	*

NS, *, **, *** Not significant, significant at P = 0.05, P = 0.01 and P = 0.001, respectively. ^aNumbers in parentheses are the standard deviation (n=3). TOC: total organic carbon; EOOC: easily oxidizable organic carbon; Water-P: available phosphorus extracted by distilled water; Mehlich 3-P: available phosphorus extracted by Mehlich 3 method; CEC: cation exchange capacity; AcP: acid phosphomonoesterase; AlkP: alkaline phosphomonoesterase; Cell: cellulase; α -G: α -glucosidase; AryS: arylsulfatase; β -G: β -glucosidase; BisP: phosphodiesterase; Chit: chitinase; Leu: leucine aminopeptidase; Nona: nonanoate esterase; Pyro: pyrophosphate phosphodiesterase; Uroni: glucuronidase; Xylo: xyloxidase; dsDNA: double-strand DNA.

Principal component analysis (PCA) was run to assess the variation of soil properties and plant yield parameters as affected by the treatments, which contributed to 57.2% of the variation (Fig. 1). PC1 and PC2 explained 35.9 and 21.3% of the variation, respectively. The PCA biplot showed variations of the soil properties and plant yield parameters between the treatments (Fig. 1a). Several soil and plant parameters showed positive correlation with PC1, contributing for ~ 71.2% of the variability (Table S1 of Supplementary materials).



Fig. 1 Principal component analysis on soil and cowpea growth and yield parameters as affected by the treatments after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol of Mozambique; (a. Graph of individuals; b. Contribution of variables to PCA (Dim1 = PC1 and Dim2 = PC2)).

Table 3

	Treatments									
Cowpea yield	Control	NPK	BC1+1/2NPK	BC1+NPK	BC2+1/2NPK	BC2+NPK	BC3+1/2NPK	BC3+NPK	ANOVA	
Biomass, g pot ⁻¹	6.5 (2.1) ^{a)} e	18.2 (1.5) d	29.5 (6.2) abc	32.1 (2.9) a	26.7 (2.9) abc	29.8 (6.6) ab	22.1 (4.5) cd	23.8 (0.6) bcd	***	
Pod yield, g pot ⁻¹	1.7 (0.5) c	6.8 (3.5) b	15.0 (5.1) a	19.5 (2.2) a	0.3 (0.3) c	16.7 (2.0) a	2.1 (2.7) c	11.4 (2.7) ab	***	
Roots, g pot ⁻¹	0.4 (0.1) c	1.7 (0.4) b	1.9 (0.7) b	1.8 (0.6) b	5.1 (0.2) a	2.6 (2.1) b	4.1 (1.8) ab	2.0 (0.9) b	***	
Shoot ^{b)} , g pot ⁻¹	4.4 (2.3) c	9.7 (3.3) bc	12.5 (1.8) b	10.8 (1.1) bc	21.3 (2.7) a	10.5 (6.6) bc	16.0 (5.6) ab	10.3 (1.6) bc	***	
Plant height, cm	20.3 (1.3) b	29.7 (5.7) a	28.3 (4.5) a	30.3 (2.5) a	29.7 (3.5) a	29.3 (0.6) a	26.3 (2.5) a	30.7 (3.8) a	*	
Diameter of stem, cm	0.5 (0.0) b	0.6 (0.1) a	0.9 (0.1) a	0.9 (0.1) a	0.8 (0.1) a	0.7 (0.1) a	0.7 (0.1) a	0.7 (0.1) a	**	
Number of leaves	12.0 (0.0) b	20.3 (5.0) a	27.0 (5.2) a	28.7 (4.0) a	21.7 (3.1) a	23.0 (8.2) a	21.7 (1.2) a	23.0 (4.4) a	*	

Treatments effect on cowpea growth parameters and yield with acid Arenosol of Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among treatments at $P \le 0.05$ by Duncan multiple mean comparison test.

*, **, *** Significant at P = 0.05, P = 0.01 and P = 0.001, respectively. ^aNumbers in parentheses are the standard deviation (n=3). b) Shoot = stem + leaves.

These parameters were grouped into chemical (pH_{H2O}, pH_{KCl}, TOC, available P, exchangeable Ca and Al, and base saturation), biochemical (arylsulfatase, α -glucosidase, glucuronidase, leucine aminopeptidase, pyrophosphate phosphodiesterase, phosphodiesterase, alkaline phosphomonoesterase activities, and number of nodules), and cowpea yield (dry biomass, plant height, and N and P content in roots) properties. Conversely, parameters such as CEC, β -glucosidase, cellulase, xylosidase, chitinase, acid phosphomonoesterase, nonanoate esterase activities, and dsDNA showed positive correlation with PC2 contributing ~ 48.1% of the variability (Table S1 of Supplementary materials). Moreover, strong and positive correlation was found among available P, alkaline phosphomonoesterase and glucuronidase activities, dry biomass and pods, while negative correlation was found among available P, cellulase, xylosidase, acid phosphomonoesterase, nonanoate esterase activities, and dsDNA.

In addition, a strong and positive correlation was found among CEC, chitinase and xylosidase activities, while negative correlation was found among CEC, cellulase, β -glucosidase, acid phosphomonoesterase, nonanoate esterase activities, and dsDNA (Fig. 1b). These results suggested the occurrence of a synergistic effect between NPK fertilizer and biochar, in particular with BC1 and BC2, which showed higher values of the aforementioned parameters (Fig. 1a).

3.5. Macronutrient uptake by cowpea

Both treatment and plant portion (root, shoot or pod) affected (P < 0.05) the elemental (C, N, P, S, K, Ca, and Mg) contents in the vegetal tissues (Table 4). Moreover, significant interaction between plant portion and treatment was found. For the Control, NPK, both BC3, BC1+1/2NPK and BC2+1/2NPK treatments, the highest contents of most macronutrients were found in shoots. In the BC1+NPK and BC2+NPK treatments, the highest contents of most macronutrients were found in pods. Concerning singular nutrients, N was often accumulated in pods, K and Mg in shoots, and Ca in shoots. Treatments significantly (P < 0.01) influenced the contents of all macronutrients in cowpea shoots and pods, and all nutrients but C in roots. Inorganic fertilization led to the highest allocation of C, S, P, Ca, and Mg in shoots and, only for P, in roots. Treatments with BC3 were not significantly different from NPK contents for C, S, and Mg in shoots and for P in roots.

Table 4

amo	ng treatine	$1113 \text{ at } 1 \times 0.05 \text{ by}$		inean comparison	test.										
Plant					Treatm	ents				ANOVA					
	utrient ontents	Control	NPK	BC1+1/2NPK	BC1+NPK	BC2+1/2NPK	BC2+NPK	BC3+1/2NPK	BC3+NPK	Plant	Treatment	Interaction			
	Pod	447 (172) de ^{a)}	2470 (1140) c	3842 (395) c	5786 (217) b	87 (150.3) f	4826 (181) b	735 (937) e	3353(210) c						
С	Root	711 (293) cd	1449 (396) c	1584 (182) c	953 (514) d	3775 (526) c	990 (1019) cd	1872 (584) c	1465 (618) c	***	**	***			
	Shoot ^{b)}	890 (45) d	10034 (3407) a	6005 (1219) b	2336 (275) с	4608 (878) b	3056 (1005) c	9935 (2869) a	7089 (950) ab						
	Pod	29 (5) g	181 (78) d	370 (13) b	480 (47) ab	5 (9) h	362 (64) b	43 (49) g	246 (42) d						
Ν	Root	36 (19) gh	74 (10) d	111 (3) d	71 (36) de	198 (55) cd	60 (62) e	111 (22) d	79 (49) ef	*	**	***			
	Shoot	35 (18) gh	266 (181) d	300 (115) c	96 (22) d	272 (83) cd	98 (30) d	551 (300) a	144 (51) d						
	Pod	77 (33) e	485 (232) cd	720 (107) c	1016 (101) ab	16 (27) g	865 (158) b	142 (187) f	662 (40) c						
S	Root	121 (57) ef	271 (34) cd	272 (32) cd	160 (83) d	709 (131) c	143 (156) de	332 (135) cd	255 (109) cd	***	**	***			
	Shoot	160 (18) d	1596 (526) a	1011 (210) ab	420 (68) cd	911 (97) b	505 (107) cd	1476 (462) a	1244 (189) a						
	Pod	5 (2) ef	34(19) c	74 (5) ab	103 (7) a	1 (1) g	47 (7) b	10 (14) f	39 (4) b						
Р	Root	5 (3) ef	21 (1) c	36 (7) c	15 (11) de	33 (10) c	10 (7) e	24 (8) c	20 (11) c	*	***	***			
	Shoot	2 (1) f	118 (100) a	93 (29) a	36 (20) c	30 (9) c	21 (15) c	58 (34) b	25 (12) c						
	Pod	14 (13) g	52 (20) e	161 (60) c	134 (92) d	3 (6) j	145 (43) cd	20 (23) h	89 (76) e						
Κ	Root	17 (17) gh	19 (10) de	107 (35) d	24 (23) de	67 (25) ef	25 (23) de	50 (19) fg	21 (13) f	***	***	***			
	Shoot	21 (20) i	230 (73) b	642 (248) a	362 (132) b	103 (28) d	116 (33) d	163 (36) c	511 (46) ab						
	Pod	2 (1) h	5 (1) gh	4 (1) gh	6 (6) fg	2 (3) i	21 (5) d	3 (3) gh	17 (4) de						
Ca	Root	4 (3) h	6 (5) gh	7 (1) gh	4 (3) fg	20 (13) de	16 (13) de	9 (3) de	6 (3) e	***	***	**			
	Shoot	18 (19) de	374 (135) a	65 (39) bc	39 (14) c	121 (62) b	180 (46) ab	61 (33) bc	203 (69) ab						
	Pod	4 (3) ef	16 (4) c	39 (13) b	33 (22) bc	1 (2) g	37 (13) bc	7 (7) f	20 (12) c						
Mg	Root	4 (4) ef	8 (5) d	9 (2) d	4 (3) de	23 (7) c	10 (12) d	15 (6) c	7 (4) d	***	**	***			
2	Shoot	10 (8) d	212 (80) a	44 (31) b	22 (9) c	46 (18) b	32 (12) bc	46 (21) b	82 (30) ab						

Plant nutrient contents (mg pot⁻¹) in cowpea after greenhouse experiment with acid Arenosol of Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among treatments at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test.

*, **, *** Significant at P = 0.05, P = 0.01 and P = 0.001, respectively.^{a)}Numbers in parentheses are the standard deviation (n=3).^{b)}Shoot = stem + leaves.

The highest contents of macronutrients in pods were found in treatments with BC1 or BC2. The highest contents of macronutrients in roots and shoots were found in the treatments with biochar. In most cases, the macronutrient contents in pods for the combined treatments (biochar + NPK) were higher in the treatments with the full NPK dose, and higher than for NPK alone, indicating positive effects of the biochar and NPK combination. Conversely, the macronutrient contents in shoots and roots often decreased with the full NPK dose; comparisons of Control, NPK, Biochar+1/2NPK, and Biochar+NPK suggested in some cases the occurrence of antagonism between BC1 or BC2 and NPK fertilization for macronutrient allocation in roots and shoots. For example, compared to the Control, N in shoots increased by 660% with the NPK treatment, by 757% with BC1+1/2NPK, and by only 174% with BC1+NPK.

The translocation of nutrients to pods is of paramount importance, as they are the edible plant parts. The BC1+NPK treatment, followed by BC2+NPK, gave the highest contents of C, N, S, and P in pods, while the BC1+1/2NPK treatment produced the highest contents of K and Mg in pods, and BC2+NPK gave the highest contents of Ca in pods. With respect to the other treatments, those including BC1 and BC2 showed higher accumulation of plant essential nutrients, particularly in pods, and this was likely favored by the higher dry biomass and root uptake stimulated by nodulation.

4. Discussion

4.1. Soil and biochar physicochemical properties

In this soil, liming and nutrient replenishment with inorganic fertilizers are useful to correct soil acidity and increase nutrient availability in the short term (Rosberg et al., 2006), but the problems of low CEC and water retention capacity remain. The application of biochar, besides providing certain nutrients, has a liming effect and gives rise to an increase of CEC and water retention capacity, all of which will increase crop yield. According to several authors, different properties among biochars depend on feedstock composition and pyrolysis conditions (Spokas et al., 2011; Enders et al., 2012; Lu et al., 2014; Fang et al., 2015). Since we used the same pyrolysis conditions throughout this study, differences among biochars were attributed to the nature of the feedstock. Enders et al. (2012) found that biochar produced using slow pyrolysis with corn stover feedstock at temperatures of 400 and 500 °C had 18-20% ash, 45-63% TC, and 68-40% volatile matter, respectively; values are comparable to those found in our study. Volatile matter is related with stability to decomposition, as biochars with ~ 40% volatile matter can be decomposed in ~ 100 years, while those with volatile matter >80%

have zero C sequestration value (Enders et al., 2012). However, this parameter is highly variable and plays a role in plant and soil microoganism response to biochar amendment (Spokas et al., 2011). Following this rationale, BC3 has little use for C sequestration, BC1 is rather easily decomposable, and BC2 can be considered as the most recalcitrant biochar (Purakayastha et al., 2015).

Biochars were rich in C but also in plant nutrients, mainly P (Dari et al., 2016). In fact, biochar has high potential to release P to soil (Hall and Bell, 2015), but it can also increase soil N use efficiency (Zheng et al., 2013; Zhu et al., 2014; Agegnehu et al., 2016). The biochars obtained for this study represented sources of K and exchangeable sites (especially BC1), and because of this have great potential to increase soil CEC, improving soil nutrient retention (Liang et al., 2006). The reduction of soil acidity was ascribed to the alkalinity of the biochar, as reported by many authors (e.g. Chan et al., 2007; Zheng et al., 2013; Zhu et al., 2014; Dai et al., 2017), and attributed to carbonates and organic anions (Yuan et al., 2011a, b; Bera et al., 2016). An increase of available P and K by application of biochars to soil was previously reported by Tammeorg et al. (2014).

4.2. Soil biochemical and biological properties

This soil also showed generalized low potential enzyme activities, and this was likely due to the low EOOC content (Table I), as reported by many authors (e.g. Hannachi et al., 2015; Godin et al., 2015). However, even though most of the enzymes present in the soil are extracellular (Lu et al., 2015), it is well-known that the soil microbial community replies faster than other soil properties to any change able to modify the soil organic substrate or nutritional status (Sinsabaugh et al., 2002). Because of this, biochemical (potential enzyme activity and dsDNA content) and biological (cowpea nodulation) properties were used as indicators of soil changes (Allen et al., 2011; Bera et al., 2016).

Even though an improved soil potential enzyme activity via biochar amendment has been reported by many authors (e.g. Demisie et al., 2014; Lu et al., 2015; Pandey et al., 2016), in our case the overall impact of the treatment was limited. Bera et al. (2016) assessed biochar and manure effects together with NPK fertilizer and found a greater activity of acid phosphomonoesterase in NPK treatments without biochar application. The activities of phosphodiesterase, pyrophosphate phosphodiesterase, and alkaline phosphomonoesterase are well correlated with soil pH, as also reported by Chen et al. (2013), Purakayastha et al. (2015), and Bera et al. (2016). In fact, the lowest activity of these enzymes was found in the BC3+1/2NPK treatment, which had one of the lowest pH values in both H₂O and KCl, but the pyrophosphate phosphodiesterase and alkaline phosphomonoesterase activities were significantly lower in this treatment than in NPK treatment (with a similar pH). The amount of dsDNA depends on soil microbial biomass content, and the addition of organic amendments (compost or manure) to soil has been reported to increase the content of dsDNA (Hannachi et al., 2015). In our study, the addition of BC1 and BC2 (the longer lasting biochars) reduced the dsDNA concentration, while the application of the easily decomposable biochar (BC3) with the full NPK dose maintained a dsDNA concentration similar to that of inorganic fertilizer and the Control. The different behaviour of the biochars was attributed to their labile C content. In fact, a lower content of labile C makes BC1 and BC2 less palatable for microorganisms because of the relatively high content of recalcitrant C, which has been demonstrated to be able to inhibit groups of the microbial community (Sun et al., 2014). Rice husk biochar is instead relatively labile and thereby enhances soil microbial activities (Purakayastha et al., 2015), so increasing the amount of dsDNA.

An increase of root nodulation in legumes by application of biochar has been previously reported by several authors (e.g. Agegnehu et al., 2015; Mete et al., 2015; Mollinedo et al., 2016). Several studies have also reported an increase of biological N fixation in the presence of biochar (e.g. Ogawa and Okimori, 2010; Lone et al., 2015). The mechanism responsible for the increase of nodulation in biochar amended soils depends on the finer structural pores of the biochar, which provide a favourable niche in which oxygen concentration declines and nitrogenase activity increases (Thies and Rilling, 2009). This hypothesis is supported by the high CEC of the biochar, which can exchange NH₄⁺ with the soil solution, so modifying N availability to the plants and stimulating nodulation and fixation (Lone et al., 2015). Other mechanisms depend on the increase of available K (Lone et al., 2015), immobilization of inorganic N (Nelissen et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2017), and increase of P availability, which is correlated with the increase of pH in acid soils (Brewer et al., 2012; Lone et al., 2015).

The increase of pH in acid soils enhances nodulation and N fixation since *Rhizobium* increases its activity at neutral soil pHs (Lone et al., 2015). However, Revell et al. (2012) reported that a higher rate of biochar decreases nodulation efficiency. In our study, a significant correlation between Mehlich-3 P and the number of nodules was found, while for pH the correlation was not significant, even though the pH increase with respect to the Control and inorganic fertilizers was in parallel with the nodulation increase. Hence, the most plausible mechanisms able to explain the increased nodulation in all treatments with biochar was the improvement of the soil physicochemical conditions, which likely favoured the development of N-fixing bacteria (Mete et al., 2015; Lone et al., 2015). This may be ascribed to the favourable habitat for the growth of symbiont microorganisms provided by biochar (Lehman et al., 2011).

4.3. Cowpea yield in response to the treatments

Cowpea yields improved dramatically with biochar treatments. No differences in pod and root yields were found between complete and half rate NPK fertilizer in the BC1 treatments. BC1 and BC2 were mainly responsible for soil chemical and biochemical improvement, with the consequence on cowpea yields. Therefore, these results suggested that amendment with biochar together with chemical fertilizer offer an appropriate strategy to achieve higher crop productivity without compromising the soil quality (Pandey et al., 2016). Effects of the biochar application on crop yield have been reported previously by van Zwieten et al. (2010), Gregory et al. (2014), and Domene et al. (2015). This is likely due to the CEC generated by biochar, capable of retaining nutrients conveyed by inorganic fertilization. Also Mete et al. (2015) reported synergistic effects between biochar and NPK fertilizer on soybean yield.

Surprisingly, the BC2+1/2NPK treatment, which gave the highest shoot and root yields, failed to produce pods, indicating that nutrients were preferentially allocated in roots and shoots. The increase of cowpea yield with application of biochar is associated with the improvement of soil physicochemical and biochemical properties. The decrease of acidity together with the increase of available P and CEC were responsible for the increase of cowpea yield. However, water retention capacity, although not measured in this study, undoubtedly contributed to yield improvement. Pod yields were strongly and positively correlated with N, P, and K content, and root nodulation (Fig. 1b). Positive and strong correlations were also found among cowpea (dry biomass and pods) and soil parameters such as pH, CEC, exchangeable Ca, Mg, and K, available P, EOOC, glucuronidase, and alkaline phosphomonoesterase (Fig. 1b).

4.4. N, P, and K concentration and translocation by cowpea

The effect of treatments on N concentration of plant portions (root, shoot and pod) was not significant; however, significant interaction between treatments and plant parts was found. For P, there was a significant effect of treatment on plant concentration, but no significant effect of plant portion (root, shoot, and pod) was found. For K, the effect of treatment and plant portion was significant, but no significant interaction between treatment and plant part was found (Fig. 2). Higher P concentration was found in roots and pods of the treatments including BC1. The same treatments gave higher K concentration in plants. Choudhary and Kumar (2014) determined that N, P, and K uptake by cowpea is influenced by soil K and P levels, which induce root nodulation leading to more N uptake. BC1 featured high K and P concentrations which evidently contributed to N and P supply.

The translocation factors calculated for pods and shoots (stem + leaves) indicated effective translocation of N to pods in almost all treatments, and of K in some treatments, while P was effectively translocated to pods only in the Control (Fig. 3). In addition, an effective translocation was observed from roots to shoots for the three elements. High concentration of K in shoots can be considered as important to facilitate the translocation of other nutrients from the roots to the plant top (Conti and Geiger, 1982). Higher concentration of K in shoots indicates higher K uptake efficiency (Samal et al., 2010).

4.5. N, P, and K use efficiency by cowpea

The effect of treatments was significant (*P*<0.001) for N, P, and K agronomic efficiency, physiological efficiency, apparent recovery efficiency, and harvest index (with exception of K). Treatments including BC1 presented higher N agronomic efficiency, physiological efficiency, apparent recovery efficiency, and harvest index (Fig. 4). A higher N apparent recovery efficiency was found in the BC1+1/2NPK treatment. Higher P harvest index was found in the Control, BC1+NPK, and BC2+NPK treatments. Treatments like BC1, BC2+NPK, and BC3+NPK presented higher P agronomic efficiency, physiological efficiency, and apparent recovery efficiency. The BC1, BC2+NPK, BC3+NPK, and NPK treatments showed higher K agronomic efficiency and apparent recovery efficiency.



Fig. 2 N, P and K uptake (mg kg⁻¹) by cowpea after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol of Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among treatments at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test. The whiskers indicate the standard deviation (n=3).



Fig. 3 N, P, and K translocation factor by cowpea in pod and shoot (stem + leaves) after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol of Mozambique. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among treatments at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test. The whiskers indicate the standard deviation (n=3).

The higher agronomic and physiological efficiency were ascribed to the better nutrient uptake and efficient utilization for production growth and yield attributes (Sanginga et al., 2000; Singh et al., 2003; Randal et al., 2006; Choudhary and Kumar, 2014). Higher N, P, and K uptake by cowpea in these treatments implies that the biochar treated soil maintained higher concentration of these nutrients in soil solution (Muthukumar and Udaiyan, 2002; Agegnehu et al., 2015; Agegnehu et al., 2016a, b). Similarly, Steiner et al. (2007) and van Zwieten et al. (2010) observed a high availability of soil nutrients in treatments with biochars. High nutrient uptake efficiency is expected in acid soil amended with biochar because of the increased CEC, together with more favourable root environmental conditions as the acidity and available Al are reduced (Chan et al., 2007; van Zwieten et al., 2010).

4.6. Rhizosphere processes influencing cowpea growth

4.6.1. Rhizosphere effect on soil chemical properties

The cowpea rhizosphere was not significant for pH (both in H₂O and KCl) and available P, while it was significant (P<0.05) for CEC and exchangeable Ca and Mg (Fig. 5). This was a rather unexpected result as, generally, plant species belonging to the families of *Fabaceae* and *Poaceae* have a strong rhizosphere effect on available P and biological properties (Dotaniya and Meena, 2015). This is mainly due to the fact that N source fertilizers affect rhizosphere pH through H⁺ or OH⁻ displacement in reply to the absorption of NH₄⁺ or NO₃⁻, respectively, and to denitrification/nitrification reactions (Marschner et al., 2005; Bleam, 2012; Dotaniya and Meena, 2015; Murphy et al., 2017). Thus, changes of the rhizosphere pH may promote nutrient conversion from non-available to available forms, so modifying biochemical activities too.

In our case, the absence of a rhizosphere effect for pH and available P was attributed to the addition of biochar. Houben and Sonnet (2015) asserted that biochars have potential for reducing rhizosphere acidification, and this is probably due to the reduction of H⁺ activity. Further, the higher values of CEC and exchangeable Ca and Mg in the bulk soil relative to the rhizosphere were attributed to the constraint of plant charge balancing (e.g. van Beusichem et al., 1988; Bleam, 2012). Because of this, during the growing season plant roots are forced to uptake more cations (Ca, Mg, K) than anions because of the self-production of anions, and this absorption is balanced by releasing H⁺. However, the effect of H⁺ release on acidification and availability of nutrients like P is made null by biochar application (Inal et al., 2007; Marschner et al., 2011).



Fig. 4 N, P, and K agronomic (AE, g g⁻¹) and physiological efficiency (PE, g g⁻¹), apparent nutrient recovery (ARE, %), and harvest index (HI, %) by cowpea after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol of Mozambique. AE, PE, ARE, and HI are significant at P = 0.001, except HI for K. Means followed by different lowercase letters differed significantly among treatments at P < 0.05 by Duncan multiple mean comparison test. The whiskers indicate the standard deviation (n=3).



Fig. 5 Cowpea rhizosphre effect on pH-H₂O (not significant) and pH-KCl (not significant), available P (mg kg⁻¹) (not significant), cation exchange capacity (CEC, cmol_c kg⁻¹) (P = 0.05), exchangeable Ca (cmol_c kg⁻¹) (P = 0.01), and exchangeable Mg (cmol_c kg⁻¹) (P = 0.01) after pot experiment with acid Arenosol of Mozambique (Bulk – Bulk soil; Rhizo – Rhizospheric soil)⁷.

⁷Features of the boxes: upper whisker represents the maximum value excluding outliers; upper part of the box represents the upper quartile (25% of data is greater than this value); horizonal whisker represents the median (50% of data is greater than this value); lower part of the box represents the lower quartile (25% of data is less than this value); lower whisker represents the minimum value, excluding outliers; points located out of the upper and lower whisker are outliers.

Principal component analysis (PCA) was run assessing the variation of soil chemical properties as affected by the rhizosphere, which contributed to ~ 70% of the variation. PC1 and PC2 were responsible for 51.3 and 16.8% of the variation, respectively (Fig. 6a). The PCA biplot showed variations of the soil properties between bulk and rhizosphere soils. Soil parameters such as pH (in H₂O and KCl), exchangeable Al, base saturation, and Al saturation showed positive correlation with PC1 contributing ~ 57% of the variability (Table S2 of Supplementary materials). Instead, parameters such as available P, exchangeable Ca, Mg and K, and CEC showed positive correlation with PC2 contributing ~ 70% of the variability. The cowpea rhizosphere usually showed higher content of exchangeable Al and Al saturation, and lower pH (both in H₂O and KCl), EOOC, TOC, available P, exchangeable Ca, Mg, and CEC compared with the bulk soils. With respect to the bulk soil, Ruan et al. (2004) reported lower pH and higher extractable Al values in the rhizosphere of tea plant after litter incorporation and N fertilization. Therefore, under acidification a decrease of alkaline nutrients (such as Ca and Mg) and available P contents were expected in the rhizosphere (Dotaniya and Meena, 2015). In our experiment, the cowpea rhizosphere influenced nutrient availability by increasing nutrient uptake from biochar and NPK fertilizer, and led to higher nutrient efficiency of the treatments where a half dose of NPK fertilizer was applied.



Fig. 6 Principal component analysis of soil chemical parameters (a) and enzyme activities (b) as affected by the rhizosphere of Cowpea after the pot experiment with acid Arenosol of Mozambique (contrib. = contribution (%) of variables to the principal components (Dim1 - PC1 and Dim2 - PC2)).

a) graph of individuals (symbols) and variables (arrows) for chemical parameters; b) graph of individuals (symbols) and variables (arrows) for enzyme activities. Individuals close to each other have similar properties, whereas individuals far apart differ strongly. Symbols with bigger size represent the main effect of the group (Bulk or Rhizo). The grey circle surrounds bulk samples, the light grey circle surrounds rhizosphere soil samples; Contrib.: Intensity of arrows (variables) in scale from 2-8%, in which arrows with color tending to light grey has less contribution to PCA, whereas arrows with color tending to black has higher contribution to PCA.

4.6.2. Rhizosphere effect on soil potential enzyme activities

Significant differences between bulk and rhizosphere soils were found only for the activities of alkaline phosphomonoesterase, leucine aminopeptidase, α -glucosidase, nonanoate esterase, and glucuronidase. For alkaline phosphomonoesterase and leucine aminopeptidase there was a significant interaction between the soil component (bulk or rhizosphere) and the treatments (Fig. S1 of Supplementary materials). Bulk soil of the BC1+1/2NPK, BC2+1/2NPK, and BC2+NPK treatments showed higher activities of alkaline phosphomonoesterase than the rhizosphere soil; treatments with the higher soil pH. Chhabra et al. (2013) stated that soil pH can affect the production and the persistence of alkaline phosphomonoesterase during plant decomposition, and the addition of biochar could have promoted a pH increase able to trigger the decomposition of the fine organic remnants present in the soil. For leucine aminopeptidase, only the bulk soil of the BC2+NPK treatment showed higher activities than the rhizosphere soil, as also reported by Bell et al. (2015).

This enzyme is related to the N cycle, and this result suggests that soil N resource availability was different between the rhizosphere and bulk soil. The increase of both these potential enzyme activities was related to soil chemical changes promoted by the BC1+1/2NPK, BC2+1/2NPK, and BC2+NPK treatments, and was ascribed to the higher pH and nutrient availability able to support a greater microbial biomass (Trabelsi et al., 2017). This did not affect all the potential enzyme activities as the activity of some enzymes are higher in strongly acid conditions. Further, soil pH and moisture (higher in biochar treatments) have been identified by Bell et al. (2015) as the key factors affecting the plant rhizosphere bacterial community structure and functions.

No significant interaction between soil component (bulk or rhizosphere) and treatment was found for glucuronidase, nonanoate esterase, and α -glucosidase. However, rhizosphere soil presented higher activities of these three enzymes compared with the bulk soil (Fig. S2 of Supplementary materials). A PCA on enzyme data as affected by rhizosphere soil, which explained 82.4% of the variations, subdivided into 68.2% for PC1 and 14.2% for PC2 (Fig. 6b). We found negative and strong
correlation between nonanoate esterase and alkaline phosphomonoesterase, while positive and strong correlation was found between nonanoate esterase and acid phosphomonoesterase. This result gave an indication that nonanoate esterase activity in soil depends on soil pH; preferably acid pH.

There was a clear difference between rhizosphere and bulk soil in terms of potential enzyme activities. Rhizosphere soil showed higher activities of nonanoate esterase and acid phosphomonoesterase, while bulk soil presented higher activity of alkaline phosphomonoesterase, leucine aminopeptidase, pyrophosphate-phosphodiesterase, and phosphodiesterase. These results demonstrated the occurrence of a rhizosphere effect on plant uptake since the form in which a nutrient is absorbed by plants largely determines the rhizosphere acidification or alkalinisation (Yong-liang et al., 2002). This rhizosphere effect depends on plant species, but most plants and soil microorganisms are able to release H⁺ ions, organic anions (e.g. citrate, malate and oxalate), and enzymes (phosphatases, peptidases, and others) to increase nutrient uptake (Marschner et al., 2011). Zhou et al. (2009) and Maltais-Landry (2015), reported that *Fabaceae* species had a greater rhizosphere effect, with lower pH, higher organic acid release, and major phosphatase activity than cereals. In our case, since the sandy soil used had low pH buffering capacity, the effect of the released H⁺ ions, organic anions and enzymes by cowpea roots in soil was evident.

5. Conclusions

This study showed that the application of biochars in combination with NPK fertilizer in acid Arenosol improved soil chemical properties and potential enzyme activities. These changes in soil properties were accompanied by higher cowpea N, P, and K uptake and efficiency from the treatments containing biochars, and therefore higher cowpea growth and yield were obtained. Cowpea rhizosphere had a major effect on potential activities of enzymes related with P and N cycles. Application of biochar resulted in higher activity of alkaline phosphomonoesterase and leucine aminopeptidase in bulk soil, while rhizosphere soil always promoted the activities of glucuronidase, nonanoate esterase, and α -glucosidase.

Among the biochars, baby corn peel biochar (BC1) followed by the mango tree branches biochar (BC2) were more influential on soil properties and cowpea yield than rice husk biochar (BC3). Higher pH, available P and K, and CEC of BC1 were the dominant characteristics affecting the soil. Conversely, higher pH, Ca, and CEC of BC2 contributed to the main changes in soil properties. Rice husk biochar (BC3) was less effective in improving soil properties and cowpea yield. Application of

biochars increased the N, P, and K use efficiency by cowpea. Under cowpea cultivation, soil properties and yield parameters were generally equal with a full or half dose of NPK for each type of biochar, indicating that poor farmers can reduce fertilizer application, and consequently the cost of food production, by increasing biochar in soil. Further investigation under field condition is needed to validate these results and quantify the long-term benefit of biochars.

Acknowledgements

Funds for this work were mainly obtained from the "Applied Research and Multi-sectorial Program" (FIAM)" granted by Italian Cooperation and Development Agency (ICDA) to the *Universidade Eduardo Mondlane*, under project contract No. 5.2.1. The authors also acknowledge the Polytechnic University of Marche (Ancona, Italy) for PhD scholarship provided to the first author. Any findings, conclusion and recommendation presented in this document do not necessary reflect the views of the donors.

Bibliography

Agegnehu, G., Bass, A.M., Nelson, P.N., Bird, M.I. 2016a. Benefits of biochar, compost and biocharcompost for soil quality, maize yield and greenhouse gas emissions in a tropical agricultural soil. *Sci. Total Environ.* **543**:295–306.

Agegnehu, G., Bass, A.M., Nelson, P.N., Muirhead, B., Wright, G., Bird, M.I. 2015. Biochar and biochar-compost as soil amendments: Effects on peanut yield, soil properties and greenhouse gas emissions in tropical North Queensland, Australia. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **213**:72–85.

Agegnehu G, Nelson PN, Bird MI. 2016b. The effects of biochar, compost and their mixture and nitrogen fertilizer on yield and nitrogen use efficiency of barley grown on a Nitisol in the highlands of Ethiopia. *Sci. Total Environ.* **569-570**:869-879.

Ahmedna, M., Johns, M.M., Clarke, S.J., Marshall, W.E., Rao, R.M. 1997. Potential of agricultural by-product-based activated carbons for use in raw sugar decolourisation. *J. Sci. Food Agric*. **75**:117–124.

Allen, D.E., Singh, B.P., Dalal, R.C. 2011. Soil health indicators under climate change: A review of current knowledge. Soil Biology. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Ameloot, N., De Neve, S., Jegajeevagan, K., Yildiz, G., Buchan, D., Funkuin, N.Y., Prins, W., Bouckaert, L., Sleutel, S. 2013. Short-term CO₂ and N₂O emissions and microbial properties of biochar amended sandy loam soils. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* **57**:401–410.

Anawar, H.M., Akter, F., Solaiman, Z.M., Strezov, V. 2015. Biochar: An emerging panacea for remediation of soil contaminants from mining, industry and sewage wastes. *Pedosphere*. **25**:654–665.

Anderson, C.R., Condron, L.M., Clough, T.J., Fiers, M., Stewart, A., Hill, R.A., Sherlock, R.R. 2011. Biochar induced soil microbial community change: Implications for biogeochemical cycling of carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus. *Pedobiologia (Jena)*. **54**:309–320.

Anderson, C.R., Hamonts, K., Clough, T.J., Condron, LM. 2014. Biochar does not affect soil N-transformations or microbial community structure under ruminant urine patches but does alter relative proportions of nitrogen cycling bacteria. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **191**:63–72.

Atkinson, C.J., Fitzgerald, J.D., Hipps, N.A. 2010. Potential mechanisms for achieving agricultural benefits from biochar application to temperate soils: A review. *Plant Soil*. **337**:1–18.

Awasthi, M.K., Wang, Q., Ren, X., Zhao, J., Huang, H., Awasthi, S.K., Lahori, A.H., Li, R., Zhou, L., Zhang, Z. 2016. Role of biochar amendment in mitigation of nitrogen loss and greenhouse gas emission during sewage sludge composting. *Bioresour. Technol.* **219**:270–280.

Bamminger, C., Zaiser, N., Zinsser, P., Lamers, M., Kammann, C., Marhan, S. 2014. Effects of biochar, earthworms, and litter addition on soil microbial activity and abundance in a temperate agricultural soil. *Biol. Fertil. Soil.* **50**:1189-1200.

Bell, C.W., Asao, S., Calderon, F., Wolk, B., Wallenstein, M.D. 2015. Plant nitrogen uptake drives rhizosphere bacterial community assembly during plant growth. *Soil Biol Biochem.* **85**:170–182.

Bera, T., Collins, H.P., Alva, A.K., Purakayastha, T.J., Patra, A.K. 2016. Biochar and manure effluent effects on soil biochemical properties under corn production. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* **107**:360–367.

Blackwell, P., Joseph, S., Munroe, P., Anawar, H.M., Storer, P., Gilkes, R.J., Solaiman, Z.M. 2015. Influences of biochar and biochar-mineral complex on mycorrhizal colonisation and nutrition of wheat and sorghum. *Pedosphere*. **25**:686–695.

Bleam, W.F. 2012. Acid-Base Chemistry. In Bleam WF (Ed.), Soil and environmental chemistry. Chapter 7. Elsevier, Waltham, MA.

Boss, C.B., Fredeen, K.J. 1997. Concepts, instrumentation and techniques in inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry. Perkin Elemer, USA.

Brewer, C.E., Hu, Y.Y., Schmidt-Rohr, K., Loynachan, T.E., Laird, D.A., Brown, R.C. 2012. Extent of pyrolysis impacts on fast pyrolysis biochar properties. *J. Environ Qual.* **41**:1115–1122.

Chan, K.Y., Van Zwieten, L., Meszaros, I., Downie, A., Joseph, S. 2007. Agronomic values of green waste biochar as a soil amendment. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* **45**:629–634.

Chen, J., Liu, X., Li, L., Zheng, J., Qu, J., Zheng, J., Zhang, X., Pan, G. 2015. Consistent increase in abundance and diversity but variable change in community composition of bacteria in topsoil of rice paddy under short term biochar treatment across three sites from South China. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* **91**:68–79.

Chen, J., Liu, X., Zheng, J., Zhang, B., Lu, H., Chi, Z., Pan, G., Li, L., Zheng, J., Zhang, X., Wang, J., Yu, X. 2013. Biochar soil amendment increased bacterial but decreased fungal gene abundance with shifts in community structure in a slightly acid rice paddy from Southwest China. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* **71**:33–44.

Chhabra, S., Brazil, D., Morrissey, J., Burke, J., O'Gara, F., Dowling, D.N. 2013. Fertilization management affects the alkaline phosphatase bacterial community in barley rhizosphere soil. *Biol. Fertil. Soils*. **49**:31–39.

Choudhary, V.K., Kumar, P.S. 2014. Nodulation productivity and nutrient uptake of cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp) with phosphorus and potassium under rainfed conditions. *Comm. Soil Sci. Plant. Anal.*, **45**:321-331.

Cocco, S., Agnelli, A., Gobran, G.R., Corti, G. 2013. Changes induced by the roots of *Erica arborea* L. to create a suitable environment in a soil developed from alkaline and fine-texture marine sediments. *Plant Soil*. **368**:297-313.

Conti, T.R., Geiger, D.R. 1982. Potassium nutrition and translocation in sugar beet. *Plant Physiology* **70**:168-172.

Dai, Z., Zhang, X., Tang, C., Muhammad, N., Wu, J., Brooks, P.C., Xu, J. 2017. Potential role of biochars in decreasing soil acidification – A critical review. *Sci. Total Environ.* **581-582**:601-611.

Dari, B., Nair, V.D., Harris, W.G., Nair, P.K.R., Sollenberger, L., Mylavarapu, R. 2016. Relative influence of soil- vs. biochar properties on soil phosphorus retention. *Geoderma*. **280**:82–87.

Day, P.R. 1965. Particle fractionation and particle-size analysis. *In*: Black, C.A., Evans, D.D., Ensminger, L.E., White, J.L., Clark, F.E. (Eds.), Methods of soil analysis, part 1 - 1st Ed. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, WI, p. 545–567.

Demisie, W., Liu, Z., Zhang, M. 2014. Effect of biochar on carbon fractions and enzyme activity of red soil. *Catena*. **121**:214–221.

Domene, X., Hanley, K., Enders, A., Lehmann, J. 2015. Short-term mesofauna responses to soil additions of corn stover biochar and the role of microbial biomass. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* **89**:10–17.

Dotaniya, M.L., Meena, V.D. 2015. Rhizosphere Effect on Nutrient Availability in Soil and Its Uptake by Plants: A Review. Proc. Natl. *Acad. Sci. India Sect B – Biol. Sci.* **85**:1–12.

Dutta, T., Kwon, E., Bhattacharya, S.S., Jeon, B.H., Deep, A., Uchimiya, M., Kim, K.H. 2016. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and volatile organic compounds (VOCs) in biochar and biochar-amended soil: A review. *GCB Bioenergy*. doi: 10.1111/gcbb.12363.

Enders, A., Hanley, K., Whitman, T., Joseph, S., Lehmann, J. 2012. Characterization of biochars to evaluate recalcitrance and agronomic performance. *Bioresour. Technol.* **114**:644–653.

Fang, Y., Singh, B., Singh, B.P. 2015. Effect of temperature on biochar priming effects and its stability in soils. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* **80**:136–145.

Fornasier, F., Margon, A. 2007. Bovine serum albumin and Triton X-100 greatly increase phosphomonoesterases and arylsulphatase extraction yield from soil. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* **39**:682-2684.

Gillman, G.P., Sumpter, E.A. 1986. Modifications to the compulsive exchange method for measuring exchange characteristics of soils. *Austr. J. Soil Res.* **24**:61-66.

Godin, A.M., Lidher, K.K., Whiteside, M.D., Jones, M.D. 2015. Control of soil phosphatase activities at millimeter scales in a mixed paper birch – Douglas-fir forest: The importance of carbon and nitrogen. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* **80**:62–69.

Gregory, S.J., Anderson, C.W.N., Camps Arbestain, M., McManus, M.T. 2014. Response of plant and soil microbes to biochar amendment of an arsenic-contaminated soil. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **191**:133–141.

Hall, D.J.M., Bell, R.W. 2015. Biochar and compost increase crop yields but the effect is short term on sandplain soils of Western Australia. *Pedosphere*. **25**:720–728.

Hannachi, N., Cocco, S., Fornasier, F., Agnelli, A., Brecciaroli, G., Massaccesi, L., Weindorf, D., Corti, G. 2015. Effects of cultivation on chemical and biochemical properties of dryland soils from southern Tunisia. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **199**:249–260.

Houben, D., Sonnet, P. 2015. Impact of biochar and root-induced changes on metal dynamics in the rhizosphere of *Agrostis capillaris* and *Lupinus albus*. *Chemosphere*. **139**:644–651.

Inal, A., Gunes, A., Zhang, F., Cakmak, I. 2007. Peanut/maize intercropping induced changes in rhizosphere and nutrient concentration in shoots. *Plant Phys. Bioch.* **45**:350 – 356.

Jindo, K., Mizumoto, H., Sawada, Y., Sanchez-Monedero, M.A., Sonoki, T. 2014. Physical and chemical characterization of biochars derived from different agricultural residues. *Biogeosciences*. **11**:6613-6621.

Jones, A., Breuning-Madsen, H., Brossard, M., Dampha, A., Deckers, J., Dewitte, O., Gallali, T., Hallett, S., Jones, R., Kilasara, M., Le Roux, P., Micheli, E., Montanarella, L., Spaargaren, O., Thiombiano, L., Van Ranst, E., Yemefack, M., Zougmoré, R. (Eds.), 2013. Soil atlas of Africa. European Commission, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg. 176 pp.

Kuo, S. 1996. Phosphorus. *In*: Sparks, D.L. (Eds.), Methods of soil analysis Part 3 – Chemical methods. Soil Science Society of America, American Society of Agronomy, Madison. p. 869–919.

Lambert, M.J. 1976. Preparation of plant material for estimating a wide range of elements. National Library of Australia.

Liang, B., Lehmann, J., Solomon, D., Kinyangi, J., Grossman, J., O'Neill, B., Skjemstad, J.O., Thies, J., Luizão, F.J., Petersen, J., Neves, E.G. 2006. Black carbon increases cation exchange capacity in soils. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* **70**:1719-1730.

Liu, C.W., Chen, Y.Y., Kao, Y.H., Maji, S.K. 2014. Bioaccumulation and translocation of arsenic in the ecosystem of the Guandu Wetland, Taiwan. *Wetlands*. **34**:129–140.

Lone, A.H., Najar, G.R., Ganie, M.A., Sofi, J.A., Ali, T. 2015. Biochar for Sustainable Soil Health: A Review of Prospects and Concerns. *Pedosphere*. **25**:639–653.

Lu, H., Li, Z., Fu, S., Méndez, A., Gascó, G., Paz-Ferreiro, J. 2015. Combining phytoextraction and biochar addition improves soil biochemical properties in a soil contaminated with Cd. *Chemosphere*. **119**:209–216.

Lu, K., Yang, X., Shen, J., Robinson, B., Huang, H., Liu, D., Bolan, N., Pei, J., Wang, H. 2014. Effect of bamboo and rice straw biochars on the bioavailability of Cd, Cu, Pb and Zn to Sedum plumbizincicola. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **191**:124–132.

Maltais-Landry, G. 2015. Legumes have a greater effect on rhizosphere properties (pH, organic acids and enzyme activity) but a smaller impact on soil P compared to other cover crops. *Plant Soil*. **394**:139–154.

Marenya, P., Nkonya, E., Xiong, W., Deustua, J., Kato, E. 2012. Which policy would work better for improved soil fertility management in sub-Saharan Africa, fertilizer subsidies or carbon credits? *Agric. Syst.* **110**:162–172.

Marschner, P., Crowley, D., Rengel, Z. 2011. Rhizosphere interactions between microorganisms and plants govern iron and phosphorus acquisition along the root axis - model and research methods. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* **43**:883–894.

Marschner, P., Solaiman, Z., Rengel, Z. 2005. Rhizosphere properties of *Poaceae* genotypes under P-limiting conditions. *Plant Soil*. **283**:11–24.

Martins, E.S., Silveira, C.A.P., Bamberg, A.L., Martinazzo, R., Bergmann, M., Angelica, R.S. 2014. Silicate agrominerals as nutrient sources and soil conditioners for tropical agriculture. 16th World Fertilizer Congress of CIEC p.138-140.

Masulili, A., Utomo, W.H., Syechfani, M.S. 2010. Rice husk biochar for rice based cropping system in acid soil 1. The characteristics of rice husk biochar and its influence on the properties of acid sulfate soils and rice growth in West Kalimantan, Indonesia. *J. Agric. Sci.* **2**:39–47.

Mehlich, A. 1984. Mehlich-3 soil test extractant: a modification of Mehlich-2 extractant. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant. Anal.* **15**:1409-1416.

Meloun, M., Sánka, M., Nemec, P., Kritková, S., Kupka, K. 2005. The analysis of soil cores polluted with certain metals using the Box-Cox transformation. *Environ. Pollut.* **137**:273–280.

Mete, F.Z., Mia, S., Dijkstra, F.A., Abuyusuf, M., Hossain, A.S.M.I. 2015. Synergistic effects of biochar and NPK fertilizer on soybean yield in an alkaline soil. *Pedosphere*. **25**:713–719.

Mollinedo, J., Schumacher, T.E., Chintala, R. 2016. Biochar effects on phenotypic characteristics of "wild" and "sickle" Medicago truncatula genotypes. *Plant Soil*. **400**:1-14.

Molnár, M., Vaszita, E., Farkas, É., Ujaczki, É., Fekete-Kertész, I., Tolner, M., Klebercz, O., Kirchkeszner, C., Gruiz, K., Uzinger, N., Feigl, V. 2015. Acidic sandy soil improvement with biochar - A microcosm study. *Sci. Total Environ.* **563–564**:855–865.

Murphy, D.J., Baggs, E.M., Morley, N., Wall, D.P., Paterson, E. 2017. Nitrogen availability alters rhizosphere processes mediating soil organic matter mineralization. *Plant Soil*. 1-12.

Muthukumar, T., Udaiyan, K. 2002. Growth and yield of cowpea as influenced by changes in arbuscular mycorrhiza in response to organic manuring. *J. Agr. Crop Sci.* **188**:123–132.

Nelissen, V., Rütting, T., Huygens, D., Staelens, J., Ruysschaert, G., Boeckx, P. 2012. Maize biochars accelerate short-term soil nitrogen dynamics in a loamy sand soil. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* **55**:20–27.

Ogawa, M., Okimori, Y. 2010. Pioneering works in biochar research, Japan. *Aust. Soil Res.* **48**:489–500.

Pandey, V., Patel, A., Patra, D.D. 2016. Biochar ameliorates crop productivity, soil fertility, essential oil yield and aroma profiling in basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). *Ecol. Eng.* **90**:361–366.

Pansu, M., Gautheyrou, J. 2006. Handbook of soil analysis: Mineralogical, organic and inorganic methods. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, New York.

Purakayastha, T.J., Kumari, S., Pathak, H. 2015. Characterization, stability, and microbial effects of four biochars produced from crop residues. *Geoderma*. **239–240**:293–303.

Randal, P.J., Abaidoo, R.C., Hocking, P.J., Sanginga, N. 2006. Mineral nutrient uptake and removal by cowpea, soybean and maize cultivars in west Africa, and implication for carbon cycle effect on soil acidification. *Exp. Agr.* **42**:475–494.

Revell, K.T., Maguire, R.O., Agblevor, F.A. 2012. Field trials with poultry litter biochar and its effect on forages, green peppers, and soil properties. *Soil Sci.* **177**:573–579.

Thies, E.J., Rilling, M.C. 2009. Characteristics of biochar: Biological properties. In: Lehmann and Joseph. (Ed.), Biochar for environmental Management: Science and Technology. Earthscan, London, pp. 85-102.

Rosberg, I., Frank, J., Stuanes, A.O. 2006. Effect of liming and fertilization on tree growth and cycling in a scots pine ecosystem in Norway. *For. Eco. Manag.* **237**:197-207.

Ruan, J., Ma, L., Shi, Y., Zhang, F. 2004. Effects of litter incorporation and nitrogen fertilization on the contents of extractable aluminium in the rhizosphere soil of tea plant (*Camallia sinensis* (L.) O. Kuntze). *Plant Soil*. **263**:283–296.

Samal, D., Kovar, J.L., Steingrobe, B., Sadana, U.S., Bhadoria, P.S., Claassen, N. 2010. Potassium uptake efficiency and dynamics in the rhizosphere of maize (*Zea mays* L.), wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.), and sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) evaluated with a mechanistic model. *Plant Soil*. **332**:105–121. Sanginga, N., Lyasse, O., Singh, B.B. 2000. Phosphorus use efficiency and nitrogen balance of cowpea breeding lines in low P soil of the derived savanna zone in West Africa. *Plant Soil*. **220**:119–128.

Singh, A., Bhadoria, P.B.S., Rakshit, A. 2003. Simulation of phosphorus uptake by peanut in low phosphorus supplying soil. *Ital. J. Agr.* **7**:65–71.

Sinsabaugh, R.L., Carreiro, M.M., Alvarez, S. 2002. Enzyme and microbial dynamics of litter decomposition. *In*: Burns, R.G. Dick, R.P. (Eds.), Enzymes in the environment - Activity, ecology, and applications. Marcel Dekker, Inc. New York.

Spokas, K.A., Novak, J.M., Stewart, C.E., Cantrell, K.B., Uchimiya, M., DuSaire, M.G. 2011. Qualitative analysis of volatile organic compounds on biochar. *Chemosphere*. **85**:869-882. Steiner, C., Teixeira, W.G., Lehmann, J., Nehls, T., Vasconcelos de Macêdo, J.L., Blum, W.E.H., Zech, W. 2007. Long term effects of manure, charcoal and mineral fertilization on crop production and fertility on a highly weathered Central Amazonian upland soil. *Plant Soil*. **29**:275–290.

Sun, D., Meng, J., Liang, H., Yang, E., Huang, Y., Chen, W., Jiang, L, Lan, Y., Zhang, W., Gao, J. 2014. Effect of volatile organic compound absorbed to fresh biochar on survival of *Bacillus mucilaginosus* and structure of soil microbial communities. *J. Soils Sed.* **15**:271-281.

Syers, K., Bekunda, M., Cordell, D. 2011. Phosphorus and food production. UNEP Year Book. p34–45.

Tammeorg, P., Simojoki, A., Mäkelä, P., Stoddard, F.L., Alakukku, L., Helenius, J. 2014. Biochar application to a fertile sandy clay loam in boreal conditions: Effects on soil properties and yield formation of wheat, turnip rape and faba bean. *Plant Soil*. **374**:89–107.

Trabelsi, D., Cherni, A., Zineb, A.B., Dhane, S.F., Mhamdi, R. 2017. Fertilization of phaseolus vulgaris with the Tunisian rock phosphate affects richness and structure of rhizosphere bacterial communities. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* **114**:1–8.

Uchimiya, M., Klasson, K.T., Wartelle, L.H., Lima, I.M. 2011. Influence of soil properties on heavy metal sequestration by biochar amendment: 1. Copper sorption isotherms and the release of cations. *Chemosphere*. **82**:1431–1437.

van Beusichem, M.L., Kirby, E.A., Baas, R. 1988. Influence of nitrate and ammonium nutrition on the uptake, assimilation and distribution of nutrients in *Ricinus communis*. *Plant Physiology*. **86**:914-921.

van Zwieten, L., Kimber, S., Morris, S., Chan, K.Y., Downie, A., Rust, J., Joseph, S., Cowie, A. 2010. Effects of biochar from slow pyrolysis of papermill waste on agronomic performance and soil fertility. *Plant Soil*. **327**:235–246.

Vanek, S.J., Lehmann, J. 2014. Phosphorus availability to beans via interactions between mycorrhizae and biochar. *Plant Soil*. doi 10.1007/s11104-014-2246-y

Waters, D., Van Zwieten, L., Singh, B.P., Downie, A., Cowie, A.L., Lehmann, J. 2011. Biochar in soil for climate change mitigation and adaptation. *In*: Singh, B.P. Annette, L. (Eds.), Soil health climate change. *Soil Biology*. **29**:345-368.

Wen, Z., Shen, J., Blackwell, M., Li, H., Zhao, B., Yuan, H. 2016. Combined applications of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilizers with manure increase maize yield and nutrient uptake via stimulating root growth in a long-term experiment. *Pedosphere*. **26**:62–73.

Yang, J., Li, H., Zhang, D., Wu, M., Pan, B. 2017. Limited role of biochars in nitrogen fixation through nitrate adsorption. *Sci. Total Environ.* **592**:758-765.

Yong-liang, C., Shi-jie, H., Yu-mei, Z. 2002. The rhizosphere pH change of *Pinus koraiensis* seedlings as affected by N sources of different levels and its effect on the availability and uptake of Fe, Mn, Cu and Zn. *J. For. Res.* **13**:37–40.

Yuan. J.H., Xu, R.K., Wang, N., Li, J.Y. 2011a. Amendment of acid soils with crop residues and biochars. *Pedosphere*. **21**:302–308.

Yuan, J.H., Xu, R.K., Zhang, H. 2011b. The forms of alkalis in the biochar produced from crop residues at different temperatures. *Bioresour. Technol.* **102**:3488–3497.

Zhang, H., Chen, C., Gray, E.M., Boyd, S.E., Yang, H., Zhang, D. 2016. Roles of biochar in improving phosphorus availability in soils: A phosphate adsorbent and a source of available phosphorus. *Geoderma*. **276**:1–6.

Zhao, R., Coles, N., Kong, Z., Wu, J. 2015. Effects of aged and fresh biochars on soil acidity under different incubation conditions. *Soil Till. Res.* **146**:133–138.

Zheng, H., Wang, Z., Deng, X., Herbert, S., Xing, B. 2013. Impacts of adding biochar on nitrogen retention and bioavailability in agricultural soil. *Geoderma*. **206**:32–39.

Zhou, L.L., Cao, J., Zhang, F.S., Li, L. 2009. Rhizosphere acidification of faba bean, soybean and maize. *Sci. Total Environ.* **407**:4356–4362.

Zhu, Q-H., Peng, X-H., Huang, T-Q., Xie, Z-B., Holden, N.M. 2014. Effect of biochar addition on maize growth and nitrogen use efficiency in acidic red soils. *Pedosphere*. **24**:699–708.

Supplementary Materials

Table S1

Contributions of the variables to the principal components (PC1 and PC2).

Variables ^{a)}	PC1	PC2
variables		1.02
nHuao	4 27	2 21
pH ₁₄₂₀	373	1.64
	5.75 1 75	1.04
FOOC	1.75	1.02
AP	2 12	3.88
Fychangeable Ca	3.03	0.77
Exchangeable Mg	1.87	6 44
Exchangeable K	0.87	4 66
Exchangeable Na	0.19	2 29
Exchangeable Al	4.05	1.57
CEC	1.57	5 31
Base saturation	4.35	3.17
ArvS	5.30	1 29
a-G	4.41	1.84
ß-G	3 69	5 41
p-O Cell	2.85	5.62
Xylo	2.83	6 16
Uroni	2.02 4 83	0.10
Chit	3.68	3.85
Leu	4.95	2.18
AcP	0.41	10 69
Pyro	4.12	2.50
BisP	5.68	1 44
AlkP	5.64	0.02
Nona	0.79	7.74
dsDNA	0.51	3.31
Number nodules	3.26	0.68
Dry biomass	3.96	1.74
Dry root	0.57	0.03
Dry shoot	0.78	0.22
Dry leaves	0.70	0.10
Dry pods	1.96	2.12
Stem diameter	2.31	3.67
Plant height	2.63	0.18
Root depth	0.02	1.34
N in root	1.93	0.38
P in root	1.21	0.58
K in root	1.19	1.95

^{a)}Numbers of variables in bold contribute most to PC1 or PC2. TOC: total organic carbon; EOOC: easily oxidizable organic carbon; AP: available phosphorus; CEC: cation exchange capacity; AryS: arylsulfatase; α -G: α -glucosidase; β -G: β -glucosidase; Cell: cellulase; Xylo: xyloxidase; Uroni: glucuronidase; Chit: chitinase; Leu: leucine aminopeptidase; AcP: acid phosphomonoesterase; Pyro: pyrophosphate phosphodiesterase; BisP: phosphodiesterase; AlkP: alkaline phosphomonoesterase; Nona: nonanoate esterase; dsDNA: double-strand DNA.

components (PC1 and PC2).			
Variables ^{a)}	PC1	PC2	
	%		
pH _{H2O}	11.28	4.46	
рН _{КСI}	10.60	6.93	
TOC	0.49	2.58	
EOOC	3.97	2.26	
AP	6.69	11.75	
Exchangeable Ca	8.13	12.06	
Exchangeable Mg	9.47	12.66	
Exchangeable K	5.57	22.21	
Exchangeable Na	0.01	9.26	
Exchangeable Al	9.16	3.00	
CEC	8.28	11.41	
Base saturation	13.17	0.71	
Al saturation	13.17	0.71	
^{a)} Numbers of variables in bold contribute most to PC1 or			

Table S2Contributions of the variables to the principalcomponents (PC1 and PC2).

^{a)}Numbers of variables in bold contribute most to PC1 or PC2. TOC: total organic carbon; EOOC: easily oxidizable organic carbon; AP: available phosphorus; CEC: cation exchange capacity.



🖨 Bulk 🖨 Rhizo

Fig. S1 Rhizosphere effect on soil alkaline phosphomonoesterase (P = 0.001) and leucine aminopeptidase (P = 0.01) activities after pot experiment with acid Arenosol of Mozambique. Features of the boxes: upper whisker represents the maximum value excluding outliers; upper part of the box represents the upper quartile (25% of data is greater than this value); horizonal whisker represents the median (50% of data is greater than this value); lower part of the box represents the noise the upper quartile (25% of data is less than this value); lower whisker represents the minimum value, excluding outliers; points located out of the upper and lower whisker are outliers.



Fig. S2 Rhizosphere effect on soil α -glucosidase (P = 0.05), nonanoate esterase (P = 0.001), and glucuronidase (P = 0.001) activities after pot experiment with acid Arenosol of Mozambique. Features of the boxes: upper whisker represents the maximum value excluding outliers; upper part of the box represents the upper quartile (25% of data is greater than this value); horizonal whisker represents the median (50% of data is greater than this value); lower part of the box represents the lower quartile (25% of data is less than this value); lower whisker represents the minimum value, excluding outliers; points located out of the upper and lower whisker are outliers.

CHAPTER 6 - DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Phosphate rock, dolostone and biochar are available resources in Mozambique. This opens an opportunity to use these local resources as soil amendment for improving soil fertility, mainly in acid poor soils. In this doctoral research, several aspects regarding characterization and agronomic effectiveness of these resources were evaluated as preliminary study in this subject in Mozambique before field experiments for widespread recommendation for the farmers. In addition, plant-soil relationship response to application of these inputs was assessed. All the experiments were run in controlled conditions, pot trials established in greenhouse with an acid Arenosol, very deficient in nutrients, which is one of the representative soils types from the Southern region of Mozambique. Therefore, the novelty found in this research can be resumed as follows:

1. Local phosphate rock and dolostone can be used as slow release fertilizer and amendment in strongly acid soils. These rocks are composed respectively, by fluoroapatite and dolomite, both less soluble minerals if compared with other minerals from their family (e.g. hydroxyapatite or chlorapatite in the case of phosphate rock and calcite for calcareous rock). These rocks are potential sources of P, Ca, and Mg with the additional benefit of liming. The release of nutrients by these rock fertilizers is controlled by surface reactions and affected by particle size, acidity, and time.

2. Single application of phosphate or dolostone to acid Arenosol fails to improve soil fertility, but tremendous improvement of soil fertility is achieved in combination with biochar. Baby corn peel biochar can be used as P and K source, with the additional benefit of liming. Simultaneous application of phosphate rock and biochar can be a suitable combination to improve soil fertility and crop yields in acid soils. Biochar can ensure short-term availability of P, while the phosphate rock assure the mid to long-term. Application of high rate of phosphate rock did not interfere negatively in soil microbial biomass. These findings are paramount because higher rate of phosphate rock is needed to reach similar results as those found with water soluble P fertilizer.

3. Root-induced change was enzyme and crop-specific, and was affected by application of phosphate rock and biochar. Cowpea root-induced acidification was higher than corn, which means that cowpea is more efficient absorving nutrients from phosphate rock. Rhizosphere soils where phosphate rock was applied alone increased acid phosphomonoesterase and xylosidase activities, P and C cycle enzymes, respectively, while the higher soil pH (bulk and rhizosphere) in phosphate rock and biochar treatments increased the activities of C (β -glucosidase, cellulase), N (leucine aminopeptidase), and P (alkaline phosphomonoesterase, phosphodiesterase, and pyrophosphatase-

phosphodiesterase) cycle enzymes. Rhizosphere is an active environment which regulate nutrient availability through the activation of extracellular enzymes. Therefore, root induced changes contributed to the faster mineralization of soil organic matter and possible N_2 fixation in cowpea as verified by root nodulation.

4. Biochar properties vary with feedstock. Application of baby corn peel, tree branch, and rice husk biochars improved soil quality. Baby corn peel and tree branch biochar are relatively more recalcitrant, have liming effect in soil, higher CEC than rice husk biochar, and are more suitable for application to acid soils. Under cowpea cultivation, soil properties and yield parameters were generally equal with a full or half dose of commercial NPK fertilizer for each type of biochar, indicating that poor farmers can reduce fertilizer application, and consequently the cost of food production, by increasing biochar in soil.

5. In general, both corn and cowpea yields dramatically increased with simultaneous application of phosphate rock or dolostone and biochar, or biochar in combination with inorganic fertilizer with respect to the Control due soil fertility improvement. The yield increase reflect increase of profit and food security, however further evaluation under field conditions assessing both agronomic effectiveness and economic benefit is necessary to validate these results. For phosphate rock, strategies to increase its reactivity must be applied. Practically it can be done by: i) using staple crops that can solubilize phosphate through root induced acidification; ii) Processing techniques (e.g. phosphor-composting, inoculation with mycorrhiza fungi) before application should be considered. A mixture of finer (0.063 - 0.25 mm) and medium (0.25 - 0.5 mm) particle sizes represent a good balance to apply in soil so the cost of grinding can be reduced. Biochar has paramount importance as soil amendment and to increase crop yield. However, 1.1 % (w:w) biochar in 1 hectare (for a soil depth of 20 cm with a soil bulk density of 1.5 kg dm⁻³) would require approximately 545 ton ha⁻¹ of fresh biomass (assuming that dry weight biomass correspond to ~ 20 % of fresh biomass weight, and biochar production efficiency is ~ 30% of feedstock dry weight). Therefore, biochar production demands a huge amount of biomass making it impossible to be applied in larger areas due to the lack of availability of enough biomass, unless wastes are used as raw materials for biochar production, and also to the operational cost inherent to its application. Evaluation of biomass value chain is mandatory before making a recommendation regarding biochar in larger areas. In this study a waste residue was used as feedstock, which would be a potential source of feedstock biomass. Further research regarding biochar should focus on identifying appropriate farm systems it could be coupled.